Climate and Community – Building back better

How within a community organisation setting people are coming together to tackle the climate emergency, alongside responding to the social crises generated by austerity and the COVID-19 pandemic.

Ian Matthew Sullivan

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) | School of Sociology and Social Policy

> The University of Leeds The Priestley Centre

> > June 2023

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is his own and that appropriate credit has been given where reference has been made to the work of others.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

© 2023 The University of Leeds and Ian Matthew Sullivan

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr Katy Wright, Dr Lina Brand-Correa, Professor Paul Chatterton, and Professor Julia Steinberger. Their faith in me and their support throughout the process has got me through the PHD process. I have learned so much from each of you. Your patience, insights, knowledge, and skills have been invaluable to me. Hopefully, I can continue to learn from you as I pursue my post-PHD career. I would also like to thank the University of Leeds School of Sociology, especially the postgraduate programme leads, and the Priestely Centre, for giving me this opportunity and for everything I have learned from the activities, seminars, and events that you have organised.

Thank you to the board, staff, and volunteers of the Kirkstall Valley Development Trust, as well the people that joined The A65 Travel Group. You enabled me to carry out a yearlong study, made me welcome, and shared your thoughts and ideas in such an open and honest way. You have shaped the research and made it what it is. The work that you do is so invaluable and your dedication and energy to make your community better for all people is an inspiration to me.

Finally, I'd like to thank my family. Firstly, my wife Shell for agreeing to let me do this at the outset, for putting up with me through the tricky moments, and your support and patience as I have got it finished. To my broader family who supported me back when I first went to university, I would not have got to this stage without you. To my children, Eifur and Mati, thank you for keeping me grounded and ensuring there was always a world outside of the PHD.

I would like to dedicate this to Eifur and Mati, I know climate change will impact on your lives more than mine and I hope that one day (when you are a little older) you will be proud of my very small contribution to tackling it.

Abstract

Tackling the climate emergency is the biggest challenge of our time. Radical changes are needed across society, yet it is not clear how communities can play their part. Whilst there is a pressing and urgent need for climate action, communities are also grappling with intersecting crises from austerity and COVID-19. Rather than viewing these as separate issues, I explore how people are coming together to tackle climate change, alongside the social crises generated by austerity and the COVID-19 pandemic. To gain insight into how these issues interlink, I use ethnographic and action research methodologies through a case study of a community organisation in Leeds. I apply a community resilience framework to analyse their strategies, tactics, and programmes of work. The key strands of community resilience that I employ are community resilience as adaptation, coping, and transformation. Community resilience as adaptation focuses on how the organisation adjusted to the neoliberal political and economic environment to enable them to build a stronger community institution. One of the aims of adaptation was to help the community to cope, which was based on supporting people to manage and minimise adverse impacts during the COVID-19 pandemic. Community resilience as transformation was about trying to bring about more radical change as a response to crises. There are two contributions that this research makes to fill gaps in the current literature. Firstly, I show how different strands of community resilience can co-exist, interact, support, and inhibit one another. Secondly, I demonstrate how community resilience as transformation can be built using symbiotic and interstitial strategies, which again can interact within single projects. Applying these ideas to climate action, I argue that effective action in a community setting must be collaborative, take account of the community context, and it does not necessarily start from a position of tackling the climate emergency. To be effective, fair, and to improve life for people, climate action cannot ignore the realities of how community led approaches operate and it must seek to make our communities better places to live.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1 – Introduction	9
1.1 The Background and purpose	9
1.2 Research Objectives	11
1.2.1 Understand the barriers and opportunities for effective community climate action through lens of community resilience	
1.2.2 Investigate how a community organisation is responding to intersecting crises through empirical evidence	13
1.2.3 Explore how a collaborative approach between the researcher and participants can contri towards the aims of the organisation, including climate action.	
1.3 The context: an intersection of three crises	15
1.4 Core concepts that are used in this research	18
1.4.1 The neoliberal policy context	19
1.4.2 Symbiotic and interstitial approaches to transformation – the Olin Wright framework	20
1.4.3 Resilience as adaptation	22
1.4.4 Resilience as transformation	23
1.4.5 The interaction of resilience as adaptation and transformation	24
1.5 Research Questions	25
1.6 Structure of the thesis	25
1.6.1 Chapter 2 - Literature Review	26
1.6.2 Chapter 3 – Research Methods	26
1.6.3 Chapter 4 - Working within current structures to build resilience	27
1.6.4 Chapter 5 – Community resilience as transformation	28
1.6.5 Chapter 6 – What does this research suggest about tackling the climate emergency?	30
1.6.6 Chapter 7 – Conclusion	31
Chapter 2 – Literature Review	32
2.1 Literature Review Introduction	32
2.2 Community resilience and how it relates to my research	33
2.2.1 Place-based and values-based ideas of community resilience	35
2.2.2 Community resilience and community wellbeing	37
2.3 A critical conception of community resilience	39
2.4 Resilience as a contested term	42
2.4.1 The Roots of Resilience	42
2.4.2 Resilience as a contested term	44

2.5 The Key Strands of Community Resilience in my research	47
2.5.1 A community resilience framework	47
2.5.2 Resilience as adaptation	49
2.5.3 Community resilience as transformation	52
2.5.4 The values that underpin the key strands of community resilience	52
2.5.5 Interstitial strategies for building community resilience	54
2.5.6 Symbiotic approaches to community resilience	56
2.6 The intersecting crises of austerity, COVID-19, and the climate emergency	58
2.6.1 Austerity, rollback, rollout neoliberalism, and community resilience	59
2.6.2 The COVID-19 social crisis and community resilience	63
2.6.3 The climate emergency and community resilience	66
2.7 Conclusion and next steps	69
Chapter 3 – Research Methods	71
3.1 Introduction	71
3.2 An interdisciplinary research approach	72
3.2.1 The sociological dimension of the research	73
3.2.2 The human geography dimension of the research	74
3.2.3 How I brought sociology and human geography together	74
3.3 Ethnography and action research as the key methodological approaches of this research	75
3.3.1 Ethnographic methodological approach	75
3.3.2 The action research methodological approach	76
3.3.3 Combining ethnography and action research	77
3.4 A case study approach	78
3.4.1 Developing the research through co-production with the case study organisation	79
3.4.2 The limitations of a single case study	80
3.4.3 Sampling	81
3.4.4 How the case study organisation functioned	81
3.5 The ethnographic methods used and how they contributed towards the results	83
3.5.1 Participant observation method	84
3.5.2 Interviews as an ethnographic method	86
3.6 The action research methods used and how they contributed towards the results	89
3.6.1 The importance of the workshop in developing the action research	92
3.6.2 Developing the action research groups and how they contributed towards the research	94
3.7 The impact of COVID-19 on the research fieldwork - how my field site was on and offline	97
3.8 Positionality and reflexivity within my research	99
3.9 Data Analysis	102
3.9.1 Data analysis development through building a data set	102
3.9.2 Constructing categories and coding	103

3.9.3 Moving to deductive analysis and data saturation	104
3.9.4 Finalising a theoretical framework and the final thematic categories	105
3.10 Ethics	108
3.10.1 Building trust and the role of gatekeepers	108
3.10.2 Informed consent	109
3.10.3 The decision to use the real name of the case study organisation	112
3.10.4 Ensuring benefits of the research for those that took part	113
3.10.5 The ethics of withdrawing from the research site	115
3.11 Conclusion and next steps	116
Chapter 4 – Community resilience through adaptation to austerity and COVID-19	
4.1 Introduction	117
4.1.1 The data and analysis used to inform the findings in this chapter	120
4.2 The austerity policy environment and acquiring resources to support the community	121
4.3 Dealing with vulnerabilities and the strategies developed to tackle them	126
4.3.1 The intersecting crises that the community faced	126
4.3.2 Dealing with the social impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic	130
4.3.3 Phase two of the pandemic and building community resilience	141
4.4 The limitations of community resilience in relation to austerity and COVID-19	146
4.4.1 The impacts on the community organisation of the neoliberal policy environment	151
4.5 Conclusion	155
Chapter 5 – Community Resilience as transformation	158
5.1 Introduction	158
5.1.1 The data and analysis used to inform the findings in this chapter	161
5.2 Developing social empowerment within KVDT through practices and social relationships	162
5.2.1 Collaboration for social connection, developing autonomy, and social recognition	162
5.2.2 Collaboration to generate practical ideas for transformation	167
5.3 Generating community resilience as transformation through community asset building	171
5.3.1 KVDT's symbiotic engagements to acquire community assets	171
5.3.2 Interstitial strategies to develop community assets - the Kirkstall Valley Farm	174
5.3.3 Connecting the strands of strategies to develop community assets	181
5.4 Community activism to develop active travel	182
5.4.1 Participating in political processes for climate action	184
5.4.2 Linking activity to broader issues and COVID-19 recovery	188
5.4.3 Interstitial action at street level	190
5.4.4 Connecting the strands of community activism	195
5.5 Conclusion	
Chapter 6 – Community resilience and tackling the climate emergency	199
6.1 Introduction	199

6.1.1 The data and analysis used to inform the findings in this chapter	201
6.2 The climate policy environment	202
6.2.1 The national policy environment and its impact on climate action at the community level	203
6.3 Local approaches to tackling the climate emergency – the Leeds context	206
6.3.1 The council moves towards recognising the climate emergency	206
6.3.2 Council-community interaction lacks a framework for transformation	208
6.3.3 Climate emergency within intersecting crises	211
6.4 How community resilience as adaptation can limit transformation and what this says about tackling the climate emergency at the community level	214
6.5 The role of community-based action in tackling the climate emergency	222
6.5.1 Contributing to climate action through creating a positive sense of place	224
6.5.2 Different perspectives of community-led approaches within KVDT	229
6.6 Time, the neoliberal policy environment and community action for the climate emergency	232
6.6.1 Time and the neoliberal policy approaches to the climate emergency	233
6.6.2 Time, community resilience, and climate related transformation	234
6.6.3 Time and developing participatory processes for tackling the climate emergency	235
6.6.4 Time and the pressures on people through the intersecting crises that communities face.	236
6.7 Conclusion	237
Chapter 7 – Conclusion	240
7.1 How my findings answered the research questions	240
7.1.1 How did the case study organisation support community resilience as adaptation to the impacts of austerity and COVID-19?	241
7.1.2 Within KVDT what were the key strategies developed to build community resilience as transformation?	244
7.1.3 What do the community resilience approaches outlined in this research suggest about tackling the climate emergency at community level?	247
7.2 How the research addressed the objectives	250
7.2.1. Understand the barriers and opportunities for effective community climate action throu lens of community resilience	
7.2.2 Investigate how a community organisation is responding to intersecting crises through empirical evidence	251
7.2.3 Explore how a collaborative approach between the researcher and participants can contract towards the aims of the organisation, including climate action	
7.3 The significance and implications of my findings	254
7.3.1 Community resilience is a complex set of processes to tackle a complex set of problems	254
7.3.2. Changes at national and council level could make a significant difference to tackling the climate emergency	257
7.3.3 Community level approaches to climate action involve tackling intersecting crises	258
7.3.4 Intersecting crises threaten to undermine the potential of climate action	
7.3.5 Communities want to play a role in tackling the problems that they face	

7.4 The academic contribution the study makes	259
7.5 Areas for further research	262
7.5.1 Community Resilience within community climate action	262
7.5.2 The barriers between council and community engagement from a council perspective	263
7.5.3 Explore the links between social movements and place-based movements	263
7.6 Concluding thoughts	264
References	
Annex A – Overview of the interviews and list of questions	293
Annex B Overview of the workshops	295

Chapter 1 – Introduction

1.1 The Background and purpose

This research focuses on how people in a community organisation worked together to tackle the crises of austerity, COVID-19, and climate change. Through an in-depth case study of a Leeds based Community Benefit Society, the Kirkstall Valley Development Trust (KVDT), I was able to observe how the crises and the social impacts they created were viewed within the organisation and how the organisation developed a range of strategies to respond at the community level. At the beginning of my research, I was interested in community responses to the climate emergency and wanted to conduct a study that combined ethnography and action research. My intention was to focus on analysing and developing community activities that contributed towards tackling the climate emergency. However, when I began my fieldwork, it became evident that whilst KVDT had a range of strategies for creating local sustainability and contributing to community-based climate action, climate action within this setting could not be divorced from the wider aims of the organisation, which entailed supporting the community through austerity and COVID-19. Thus, I was researching how the three crises intersected with one another and what this means for developing community action for tackling the climate emergency in a period of broader crisis.

A key element within this research is that communities are grappling with vulnerabilities caused by neoliberal political, economic, and social policy prescriptions (Wright, 2021). The national and local austerity and the COVID-19 policy responses, both underlined by

neoliberal ideas, created the context in which KVDT operated. This was evident in terms of the what the organisation was responding to, such as a reduction of services, a lack of ways for the community to come together, vulnerability due to low pay and insecure work, or social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic. The neoliberal context also shaped key elements of how the organisation itself could function. This was evident in areas such as acquiring funding, interacting with the council and council processes, and strategies for acquiring and developing community assets. Therefore, through this research I explore how this community organisation navigated the prevailing political, economic, and social policy environment. I look at the barriers and opportunities that were evident, and the range of strategies and tactics that they developed to succeed in this environment. This entailed adapting to the political and economic context that they operated in, and how alongside this they attempt to develop and pursue strategies for creating more fundamental transformative change within their community.

The approach that I take is to connect the strategies and actions that I observed and helped to develop, to ideas about community resilience. Community resilience is defined within this research as how social groups "sustain and advance their well-being in the face of challenges to it" (Hall and Lamont, 2013, p. 232). This means that I look at the links between social and contextual conditions and community efforts to respond. Whilst KVDT themselves did not talk in terms of resilience, (instead people talked of "building community" or "bringing the community together"), they were motivated by a desire to tackle what they saw as the most pressing issues facing the community, such as a lack of local services caused by austerity, food insecurity, and social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic. Alongside this they had strategies focused on creating more environmentally sustainable projects in response to the climate emergency. My analysis categorises KVDT's efforts into two: resilience as adaptation and resilience as transformation. Where my research makes a unique contribution, is to show, when looking at efforts to tackle the climate emergency, community resilience as adaptation and community resilience as transformation interact, both supporting and detracting from one another in critical ways.

The contribution that this research makes it to demonstrate how the community organisation that I spent over a year researching moved between non-transformative and transformative strategies across the range of issues that they were dealing with, and that this is a key dimension of understanding community efforts to tackle the problems that they face. For those that want to push more radical and transformative climate action approaches, my research suggests that this must be based on the local context, must take account of differing motivations, and that the reality of seeking change at the community level requires strategies and actions that may not directly contribute towards tackling the climate emergency. Through this research, I show how taking account of this context can highlight limitations in the power that communities have. Conversely, it can also demonstrate how climate action can be developed in a way that takes account of different forms of vulnerability, how it can tackle the impacts of other crises, and what meaningful solutions look like when generated by the community. I want to contribute towards understandings of how climate action can improve life in the local context, something that my research suggests should be central to community-based climate mitigation work. Furthermore, I want to highlight the role that research itself can play in contributing towards this improvement and how it can support community led efforts to tackle the intersecting crises that they face.

1.2 Research Objectives

In this section, I outline the three research objectives before explaining how the research sets about meeting them. The three research objectives are to:

1. Understand the barriers and opportunities for effective community climate action through a lens of community resilience.

2. Investigate how a community organisation is responding to intersecting crises through empirical evidence.

3. Explore how a collaborative approach between the researcher and participants can contribute towards the aims of the organisation, including climate action.

To meet the research objectives, this research begins by shining a light on how KVDT were working to mitigate the social impacts felt after the 2008 Global Financial Crisis, the subsequent UK austerity programme, and during the COVID-19 pandemic. This can broaden our understanding of community driven action, with implications for what climate action means within this context. To achieve my three objectives, I used a case study of a community organisation in Leeds. Merriam (2009, p. 39) defines a case study as, "an in-depth description and analysis of a bounded system." I focused on one case with the aim of contributing towards community resilience theory on how communities are coping with the impacts of neoliberalism, adapting to these impacts, and seeking to create transformation. Using a case study enabled me to dig into the 'how' of their work and explore their approaches, strategies, and programmes. This meant looking at how they worked within the current system and their work to build alternatives outside of, or beyond, the current dominant neoliberal environment. Through this, I could create more generalised conclusions that are of interest to academics, policymakers and people working within not-for-profit organisations.

1.2.1 Understand the barriers and opportunities for effective community climate action through a lens of community resilience

The initial motivation for this research, as outlined in objective 1, was to contribute towards understandings of the barriers and opportunities that were evident when developing community level climate in the UK. Through this, I contribute towards a research agenda about the role that community action can play in the move towards net zero. Through a range of ethnographic approaches, that included participant observation, interviews, and workshops, I was interested in how those seeking to transform their communities used a range of strategies and tactics. The strategies and tactics that I observed entailed working within current political and economic structures, alongside strategies to create projects that built beyond those structures and were outside of neoliberal values. In this way, when applied to tackling the climate emergency, my research was about understanding how community action to tackle the climate emergency entailed efforts to create healthier, fairer, and a stronger place-based community.

Through my research I was able to observe how KVDT generated strategies and programmes of work that aimed at playing a role in tackling the climate emergency, but I was also able to see how these activities served a broader purpose of being part of responses to the social impacts of austerity and COVID-19. KVDT's ability to develop climate action was impacted by stresses and strains that were placed on the community during the period of COVID-19. Analysis of the neoliberal approaches to governance and the social impacts that it generated at the community level contributed to this research objective through illustrating the range of ways in which this policy environment shaped community level conditions and action, including the ways that KVDT approached responding to the climate emergency. Through highlighting these linkages, I contribute to a key area of study about what role community organisations can play in the move towards net zero in the coming decade.

1.2.2 Investigate how a community organisation is responding to intersecting crises through empirical evidence

I set out to investigate how my case study organisation responded to intersecting crises. My experiences when in the field highlighted to me that climate action could not be divorced from the broader crises that communities were dealing with. The neoliberal policy environment is the context in which community organisations operate in the UK. Wacquant (2012, p. 66) defines neoliberalism as a political project that is "an articulation of state, market and citizenship that harnesses the first to impose the stamp of the second onto the third." In the UK context, following the 2008 financial crash, this entailed a rolling back of the functions of the state and a pushing of market principles into more aspects of society (Aiken et al., 2017). However, Peck and Theodore (2012) argue that the form of neoliberalism that exists is a context specific process that creates crises and has a "lurching dynamic", which includes policy failure, opportunism, and contradiction. I investigate how this was expressed through interactions between the local council and KVDT, how the council responded to the crises generated by the neoliberal policy agenda, and how the council sought solutions to those crises through working with a community organisation. The "lurching dynamic" is explored through the range of responses, often designed within a fragmented system and as short-term

remedies to specific problems, which suggested a lack of an overall blueprint for dealing with the crises that communities faced. I look at how KVDT interacted with the state, and agencies connected to the state, to tackle vulnerability, to attempt to generate community transformation, and secure resources necessary for their work and necessary for KVDT to survive as an organisation within a neoliberal environment.

To meet this objective, I analyse how KVDT responded to the austerity environment of reduced services and look at how they developed strategies to create community support structures and programmes of support, such as their work on education and the COVID-19 response. I am also interested in how KVDT adapted the organisation to the restrictions of operating in a neoliberal environment. This was important, as alongside the reduction of state services there were opportunities for KVDT to work within the system to acquire funding and develop partnerships to meet community need, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic. This component of the research contributed to this objective through understanding the barriers that the neoliberal policy environment generated to prevent effective community action across the range of issues that they were grappling with during my research.

1.2.3 Explore how a collaborative approach between the researcher and participants can contribute towards the aims of the organisation, including climate action.

Objective 3 was a key component of this research, as I wanted to explore how a collaborative approach between myself and participants could contribute to the aims of the organisation. I was able to do this through an action research approach. Through action research, I was able to play an active role in developing strategies for creating, imagining, and co-producing inspiring alternatives to the current status-quo (Chatterton, 2019). The research approaches combined ethnography and action research qualitative methods, which contributed to how research can generate partnerships for knowledge generation. This enabled applied practice based on how research can contribute towards solving practical problems in the world (Angelstam et al., 2013). Thus, it supported an approach to research that is interested in contributing towards tackling some of the major and complex issues that we face today.

My fieldwork took place over roughly thirteen months from June 2020 to July 2021. During this period, I conducted a range of approaches to immerse myself within the workings of KVDT, employing a range of qualitative techniques to generate data and develop a "thick description" of what was happening within the organisation (Merriam, 2009). I conducted participant observation at all levels of the organisation. I observed around eight board meetings, two annual general meetings, attended the farm strategic and planning groups, attended the 'After School Club' for three months, planted vegetables on the farm, observed the COVID-19 food distribution, as well as working as a volunteer carrying out food deliveries throughout the course of the COVID-19 pandemic. The range of activities I observed and participated in enabled me to build relationships with people in KVDT from board level through to paid staff and regular volunteers. This ethnographic approach supported the development of research that explored the culture of the organisation through understanding the day-to-day activities and practices.

1.3 The context: an intersection of three crises

In this section, I outline the three crises that were evident in my research setting, as the focus of this research is on placing climate action in a community setting within the broader context of the impacts of and responses to austerity and COVID-19 at the community level. In the United Kingdom (UK), there has been a period of state retrenchment and the weakening of the social safety net, alongside calls by the government for communities to become more resilient and deal with the challenges that they face (Donoghue and Edmiston, 2020). The 2008 financial crash and the subsequent great recession became an opportunity for the government in the UK to further push the cause of neoliberalism through austerity and a shrinking of the functions of the state to pay off the debts created by bank bailouts (Farnsworth and Irving, 2018). Through austerity there has been an expansion of the neoliberal agenda to roll back the state and roll out neoliberal principles into more aspects of society (Hall and Lamont, 2013; Aiken et al., 2017). The impacts have been felt at the community level, especially in cities in northern England, such as Leeds, with people suffering from

low pay and insecure work, a reduction of important services, and a fraying of community support structures (Johns, 2020; Wilson and Buzzeo, 2021).

This austerity context informs this research in two ways. Firstly, this research seeks to understand the impacts that austerity has had on communities. Secondly, I contend that we need to understand how communities themselves are responding to the impacts of austerity, the ways that they attempt to tackle the vulnerabilities that processes of austerity create and exacerbate, and how they seek to build community resilience in the face of the challenges that they face. Developing strong organisations able to support the community is important within a context of public institutions, especially at a community level, being under threat or disappearing (Klein, 2014). In short, how organisations are building community resilience is an important aspect of the urban social struggle in contemporary neoliberalism (Deverteuil, 2015). Through digging into their response to austerity during my research, I was able to understand how they adapted to this environment and attempted to pursue strategies to support the community and to build a strong organisation in the environment of austerity.

In reference to COVID-19, Wright (2021, pp. 114-115) observes that, "existing policy agendas have acted to shape prevailing patterns of vulnerability, inequality and disadvantage which affected how the pandemic has affected different groups." This quote highlights the links between the situation generated by austerity and the conditions when the COVID-19 pandemic began. Many people in the lowest paid jobs or insecure work found themselves at the forefront of a social crisis with jobs losses, reduced hours, and lack of certainty about entitlement to state financial support (Sandor, 2021; Wilson and Buzzeo, 2021). To respond to this social crisis, in Leeds, the council model that developed was one of partnership with newly established community care hubs and the council empowered the hubs to respond to the specific needs in their location (Gordon et al., 2022). Whilst not set up to for this purpose, and emergency response was outside of their strategy and expertise, KVDT shifted their focus and became the community care hub for their area. My research took place during this period, so I was able to observe how the COVID-19 response operated.

The response to the social crisis that was generated by COVID-19 tells us much about the interaction between top-down policy responses and the ways in which community resilience is generated as a result. It offers a window in which to explore the co-constituted nature of community resilience in an urban setting (Deverteuil et al., 2021). It also shows that rather than being continually strengthened, community resilience can be weakened by being forced to deal with a series of crises (Harrison, 2013). Through the community response to the COVID-19 crisis, I explored what this demonstrated about the ability of communities to work with others to tackle vulnerability, what it showed about community strength and flexibility, and what it suggested about the barriers and limits to this form of community action.

Alongside the immediate crises generated by austerity and the COVID-19 pandemic, a larger crisis is unfolding, the climate emergency. The UK Climate Change Committee, which can also be referred to as the Committee on Climate Change, (CCC) argue that concerted action across all aspects of how we live in the UK is essential if we are to reduce greenhouse gases in the atmosphere and make considerable progress towards net zero by 2030 (CCC, 2019; 2019b; 2020). According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), to limit warming to 1.5 or even 2 degrees it requires "accelerated mitigation actions at all scales" (Grubb et al., 2022, p. 153). To achieve this transformation, we need profound changes to how we live, work, and play across the whole of society (Shove, 2010). In the UK, the Climate Change Act (2008) and recent commitment to net zero by 2050 are heralded as the most ambitious climate plans in the world and are central to the UK's self-image as a leader on climate mitigation (Lockwood, 2013; CCC, 2019a). In the UK, the CCC (2021, p. 11) calls for a "whole of society endeavour" to dramatically reduce carbon emissions in the coming decade.

The scale of the challenge requires far-reaching changes that cannot be achieved from a purely top-down policy approach, and needs active participation and collaboration of people, business, and civil society (Howarth et al., 2021). However, what this looks like, and how community is operationalised within this collaboration, is ill-defined and uncertain (Howarth et al., 2021). I want to add to debates about the role of civil society

and community organisations in responding to the climate emergency. I explore what factors shape their responses, how their responses link to their broader efforts to tackle vulnerability and build a sense of community. I want to understand how this places climate action within a broader agenda of community response to the intersecting crises that communities face and what this tells us about the opportunities and limitations for communities to play an active role in tackling the climate emergency over the next decade.

1.4 Core concepts that are used in this research

In this section, I outline the key concepts and theories that I will use throughout this research, which are community resilience, neoliberalism, and symbiotic and interstitial strategies for transformation as outlined by Eric Olin Wright (2010, 2018). This research is focused on the 'how' of community resilience within a community organisation. As Twigger-Ross et al., (2015) argues, efforts to build resilience do not exist in a vacuum, therefore this research provides insight into how the policies and approaches to governance created the conditions in which KVDT were operating, shaped the options that were open to them, and impacted upon their strategies, which I link to ideas around developing community resilience. Through looking at how KVDT operated within the neoliberal policy environment during a time of intersecting crises, I base my analysis inside a community resilience framework. In this way, this research contributes towards a growing body of academic work that aims to advance community resilience as a concept by exploring how current structures generate vulnerability and how communities respond to this vulnerability through a range of strategies and tactics (Wright, 2021). In my research, I am interested in the relationships between top-down policy approaches that are evident within UK, how these policy approaches create crises that require communities to be resilient and shape the responses that are open to communities (Deverteuil et al., 2021).

Resilience has been criticised as a catch all term, which can be vague and uninspiring (Humbert and Joseph, 2019). However, in my research, the two key strands of community resilience that I explore are the ideas of how self-organisation can be

focused on adaptation and transformation (Keck and Sakdapolrak, 2013). Where my research contributes to the development of the concept of community resilience is through demonstrating how the different strategies, tactics, and programmes of work that are evident in community resilience as adaptation and transformation are linked and have a relational dynamic. Therefore, my research explores the relationship between the impacts of neoliberal policy at the community level and how those seeking to build community resilience use a range of strategies to achieve it.

1.4.1 The neoliberal policy context

Wacquant (2012, p. 66) defines neoliberalism as a political project that is "an articulation of state, market and citizenship that harnesses the first to impose the stamp of the second onto the third." Within the UK context, following the 2008 financial crash, this entailed a rolling back of the functions of the state and a pushing of market principles into more aspects of society (Aiken, 2017). This research explores how this created the context in which my case study organisation was responding to community need and were attempting to develop community transformation, and how it shaped the approaches of the organisation, around areas such as building community assets and securing funding.

The neoliberal policy environment is the context in which community organisations operate in the UK and whilst my study foregrounds community resilience, understanding the relationship between community resilience and neoliberal policy is an important dimension of the framing of my research. My aim is not to provide a complete account of what neoliberalism is, or is not, instead I seek to use neoliberalism as a framing for the crises that my case study organisation responded to during my research period.

Peck and Theodore (2012) argue that neoliberalism is a context specific set of processes that generates crises and has a "lurching dynamic", which means that rather than being a clear blueprint or following a linear trajectory it includes policy failure, opportunism, improvisation, and contradictions. Within my research I explore how the pushing of market principles impacted on the case study organisation and how the lurching dynamic was evident in a range of policy approaches to deal with the

intersecting crises generated by austerity, COVID-19, and the climate emergency. I apply this to interactions between the local council and KVDT.

How the council responded to the intersecting crises that form the context of my research and how they sought solutions to those crises through working with a community organisation is explored within this neoliberal framing through the range of approaches undertaken, often designed within a fragmented system, and as short-term remedies to specific problems. This suggests a lack of an overall blueprint for dealing with the crises that communities faced. I look at how KVDT interacted with the state and agencies connected to the state to tackle vulnerability, to attempt to generate community transformation, and secure resources necessary for their work and for KVDT to survive as an organisation.

The immediate backdrop to my research was the COVID-19 pandemic. During this period there was an increase in state intervention in the lives of ordinary people both through the lockdowns that were in force for much of my research period, food distribution, and other interventions such as the furlough scheme. This speaks to an important component of neoliberalism in that it is not monolithic and, like capitalism itself, is better understood as a hybrid system with variants in how state, economic and civil society power operates (Olin Wright, 2010). Deverteuil (2015) argues that neoliberalism is not a complete project and there are gaps and ambiguities in how a neoliberal approach is implemented. Therefore, whilst neoliberalism is the dominant power structure and dominant logic within the UK, it lacks coherence in certain respects and does not govern all activities (Olin Wright, 2010). However, I argue that despite this unprecedented state intervention in response to COVID-19, it does not mean that we should disregard neoliberalism as an important unit of analysis, as I show through my findings chapters, as the interventions were time bound and once the crisis began to recede there was a return to a largely neoliberal agenda.

1.4.2 Symbiotic and interstitial approaches to transformation – the Olin Wright framework

To support the idea of community resilience as transformation I apply the thinking of Eric Olin Wright (2010; 2018). In his work he critiques capitalism and proposes

strategies of change. Within my research there are two key dimensions that I use from Olin Wright that enable me to advance the idea of community resilience as transformation, which are symbiotic and interstitial approaches.

Olin Wright (2010) describes symbiotic approaches as those in which groups seeking change work in partnership with the powerful to solve practical problems when their interests converge. Symbiotic strategies, when applied to areas such as community organising rely on associational power, which is the ability to organise in a voluntary capacity to join together to assert their interests (Olin Wright, 2010). Through this research. I apply this to how my case study organisation attempted to work with the state on projects aimed at transformation. Through a combination of a lack of resources after over a decade of austerity budget cuts and the scale of the COVID-19 crisis, many councils have sought different approaches to supporting community, which has the potential to create new possibilities for partnership between councils and community organisations to tackle complex challenges (Cottam, 2021). For instance, many councils have declared 'Climate Emergencies' and developed participatory processes with people, promising bold and urgent action (Willis, 2020; Howarth et al., 2021). As a response to COVID-19 a new spirit of mutual aid was forged with partnerships between civil society and councils (Tiratelli and Kaye, 2020). I am interested in how these strategies represent a symbiotic approach and what they say about community resilience in a time of intersecting crises.

Interstitial strategies are "various kinds of processes that occur in the spaces and cracks within some dominant social structure of power" (Olin Wright, 2010, p. 322). This supports what I have outlined regarding neoliberalism, in that it is an incomplete project that is not rolled out in monolithic ways (Deverteuil, 2015). Through applying ideas about interstitial strategies, I explore how my case study attempted to build relatively small, alternative non-capitalist structures within the margins of the overall system (see North et al., 2017; Featherstone, 2013). In the Olin Wright framework, the aim of these approaches is to increase civil society power without directly challenging the power held by political and economic actors (Olin Wright, 2010).

Within my case study I am interested in how interstitial approaches promote logics outside of profit and market rationality, how they are experimental activities grounded and are grounded in the local context (Seyfang and Smith, 2007). I show how KVDT worked within the cracks or on the margins of this incomplete project to attempt to grow and exert their power. Developing the idea of community resilience as transformation by using the ideas of Olin Wright enables me to explore the relationship between civil society, the state, and economy during a time of crisis. It also supports the research to look at what these relationships tell us about the possibilities and challenges of creating alternatives within or beyond the current neoliberal system.

1.4.3 Resilience as adaptation

The first aspect of community resilience that informs my study is community resilience as adaptation. Adaptation resilience can be defined as "adjusting to a new normal...accepting that your world has changed" (Twigger-Ross et al., 2014, p. 2). Therefore, this research explored how the community organisation adjusted to this new normal within the social context of austerity, COVID-19, and the need to develop action to tackle the climate emergency. I was interested in how they navigated this adjustment, what they prioritised, and how they tackled vulnerability and developed community strength. I look at how they did this by working within existing structures, such as seeking funding from and delivering programmes for the council, which was evident in the education programme and the COVID-19 response. Within this I highlight the aspects of how this work went beyond coping to include non-transformative change (Twigger-Ross et al., 2014; Wright, 2021). Through exploring how the organisation attempted to provide services that had been lost through austerity, how they supported people that were vulnerable to the social impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, and how they attempted to work with the council to further their objectives and support the community, I draw out the dynamic elements of resilience contained within adaptation and show how community resilience as adaptation can be actively produced, generate agency at the community level, and alter social relations (Deverteuil and Golubchikov, 2016).

1.4.4 Resilience as transformation

The second strand of community resilience that is important for my research is community resilience as transformation. Resilience as transformation is about "owning the need to change" (Twigger-Ross et al., 2014, p. 3). Resilience as transformation brings in ideas of how communities are working to change their situation to meet both current and future threats (Twigger-Ross et al., 2014). Community resilience as transformation is useful in thinking about responses to the climate emergency, as it is explicitly concerned with change (Wright, 2021). I contribute towards ideas about what these changes could look like at the community level and how they could contribute towards developing alternatives to business as usual and challenge the status-quo (Schmid and Smith, 2021). I did this through engaging with the different projects of KVDT, such as the Kirkstall Valley Community Farm, and through developing action research projects that focused on creating change. In the action research component of this research, I generated projects that engaged with the council and projects that fostered community activism and sought to generate street level changes.

To support the idea of community resilience as transformation I applied the thinking of Eric Olin Wright (2010; 2018). In his work he critiques capitalism and proposes strategies of transformation. There are two key dimensions that I use from Olin Wright that enabled me to advance the idea of community resilience as transformation. The two key strategies of transformation that were evident within KVDT were symbiotic and interstitial approaches. Olin Wright (2010) describes symbiotic approaches as those in which groups seeking change work in partnership with the powerful as their interests converge to solve practical problems. I analyse how KVDT interacted with the council to develop the Kirkstall Valley Farm, as well as other projects that attempted to gain control of former mills in the area and develop them for community benefit. I look at what these strategies represent, as well as how developing them through symbiotic approaches created opportunities but had limitations. Interstitial strategies are "various kinds of processes that occur in the spaces and cracks within some dominant social structure of power" (Olin Wright, 2010, p. 322). I show how KVDT worked within the

cracks or on the margins to attempt to grow and exert their power. Developing the idea of community resilience as transformation using the ideas of Olin Wright enabled me to explore the relationship between civil society, the state, economy, and to look at what these relationships tell us about the possibilities and challenges of creating alternatives within or beyond the current neoliberal system.

1.4.5 The interaction of resilience as adaptation and transformation

The third dimension of community resilience that this study explores is how community resilience as adaptation and community resilience as transformation interact within my research setting. I apply this to KVDT's work to tackle the climate emergency. Through a single case I was able to explore the interaction between the different elements of community resilience and show how they could co-exist within a single setting, and in some instances, how strategies to pursue certain elements of community resilience could limit the ability to deliver on others. My case study generated empirical evidence of community resilience through an in-depth analysis of the organisation's strategies, its programs, activities, people, and the processes that make up the organisation (Cresswell et al., 2018). I add to resilience thinking by demonstrating how adaptation and transformation could be co-present within a single setting and that there can be a relational dynamic between community resilience as adaptation and community resilience.

I apply this relational dynamic between different community resilience strategies to how KVDT were tackling issues around austerity, COVID-19, and what the implications of their approaches to tackling intersecting crises says about the potentials and limits to tackling the climate emergency at the community level. By drawing together ideas of how climate action sits alongside action to tackle other crises and showing how strategies for community resilience can co-exist within a single setting, I am contributing towards understandings of climate action that are relevant to academia, policy formation, and civil society. Through this, I contribute towards academic understandings of how place-based change can be brought about in a world of intersecting crises, uncertainty, inequality and of unequal power. I show how the concept of community

resilience can be applied to community efforts to tackle the climate emergency through approaches that can be characterised as community resilience as adaptation and community resilience as transformation.

1.5 Research Questions

To support my research objectives (see section 1.2), I have one overarching research question that will be answered via three sub questions. The sub questions are answered over three findings chapters. This research addressed the following questions:

How are people coming together within the case study organisation to tackle climate change, alongside the social crises generated by austerity and the COVID-19 pandemic?

- 1. How did the case study organisation support community resilience as adaptation to the impacts of austerity and COVID-19? (Chapter 4)
- 2. Within KVDT what were the key strategies developed to build community resilience as transformation? (Chapter 5)
- 3. What do the community resilience approaches outlined in this research suggest about tackling the climate emergency at community level? (Chapter 6)

1.6 Structure of the thesis

This research looked at the three crises that KVDT faced in austerity, COVID-19, and the climate emergency, and the role that neoliberal policy played in either creating, perpetuating, or constraining community level responses to those crises. In Chapter 2, I use the literature review to highlight the several aspects of discussion on the concept of resilience and the neoliberal policy environment. Following this, Chapter 3 outlines the key aspects of my methodology and my ethnographic and action research approaches to generating the empirical data that forms the basis of my findings. In Chapter 4, I begin my findings by looking at austerity and COVID-19 and how KVDT attempted to

work within the system to tackle the social impacts that they saw in their area. I link this to adaptation resilience, showing the vulnerabilities that existed within their community, how they attempted to secure resources to tackle those vulnerabilities and the strengths and weakness of this approach. In Chapter 5, I answer the second sub question, moving on to community resilience as transformation. In this chapter I look at the range of strategies that were developed in KVDT to achieve transformation. This includes internal organisation within the group, as well as the external strategies that were developed to build community resilience as transformation. Finally, I bring this back to climate change to show the interaction between the different resilience strategies and the different crises that the community was confronted with.

1.6.1 Chapter 2 - Literature Review

The literature review explores the different dynamics of the concept of resilience and the neoliberal context in which my research took place. I demonstrate how diverse ways of thinking about resilience impact upon how it used in research, as well as what my research contributes towards the concept and thinking about resilience. To do so, I begin by outlining what I mean by a critical conception of community resilience. I demonstrate that a focus on how resilience operates at the community level can enable a politicisation of the problems that top-down neoliberal policies and discourses generate. Finally, I go into more depth about the ideas contained within the strands of resilience that are relevant to this research. I build on the work of Twigger-Ross et al., (2011; 2015) and Keck and Sakdapolrak (2013) looking at community resilience as adaptation and transformation. Alongside an exploration of the key academic work on resilience, the literature review explores the relevant national and city level policy context in the UK. This frames the research findings within the neoliberal policy agenda and approaches, which is a key component of how I develop ideas about community resilience.

1.6.2 Chapter 3 – Research Methods

The research method supports the twin objectives of seeking to create research that contributes towards interdisciplinary thinking and a research project that contributes

towards the aims of the case study organisation. It does so through a range of qualitative techniques under the broad banners of ethnography and action research. Ethnography is a deep immersion within a group as a participant and observer to understand the culture within the group (Merriam, 2009). In this research, ethnography enabled me to understand how the organisation operated, what drove the people that led it, worked for it, and volunteered. This made it possible for me to connect the practices that were evident in the everyday with their strategies and ambitions to build a picture of how the different elements of community resilience were conceived and built. Based upon the understandings gained, and my experiences of being a participant observer, I was able to generate action research projects to contribute towards KVDT through developing climate focused actions. The action research element was focused on creating projects that would support local efforts to contribute towards tackling the climate emergency. The projects and approaches were experimental and action orientated. The aim was to support those that took part to play a positive role in creating the local area that they wanted to live in (Gibson-Graham, 2008).

1.6.3 Chapter 4 - Working within current structures to build resilience

This chapter answers research question 1, how did the community organisation support community resilience as adaptation to the impacts of austerity and COVID-19? I begin by focusing on the 'how' of working within the current political and economic structures to build community resilience during austerity and the COVID-19 pandemic. This required looking at how KVDT developed the community organisation, how vulnerabilities were generated within the community, and their strategies for tackling them. The focus of this chapter is on community resilience as adaptation and the relationship between top-down policy approaches and community level approaches. This contributes to my research goal of developing an account of community resilience by exploring the role of social and economic policy in shaping the context of adversity and vulnerability within the community (Joseph, 2013; Deverteuil et al., 2021; Wright, 2021). Through looking at strategies and plans that were developed by KVDT and how the organisation interacted with the state, I build a picture of how they sought out opportunities to establish and strengthen the organisation and support the community.

Finally, I discuss the limitations inherent within this approach and how dealing with multiple crises can deplete community resilience (Harrison, 2013).

This chapter contributes towards literature on community resilience as adaptation through analysing how austerity and the COVID-19 crises intertwined and were felt at a community level (Arrieta, 2022). This is the first element of how this research contributed to understandings of the relationship between top-down resilience agendas and community responses (Deverteuil et al., 2021). I add to debates by illustrating tensions that exist between how top-down governance operates through favouring short-term solutions that fix the symptoms rather than causes, and how this impacted on KVDT's ability to generate longer-term stability for the organisation and support for the community. I highlight how community organisations were seen as useful for the council if their work supported the council's short terms aims.

1.6.4 Chapter 5 – Community resilience as transformation

After analysing community resilience as adaptation in Chapter 4, this chapter moves on to community resilience as transformation. This chapter focuses on research question 2, within a community organisation setting what types of transformations do they promote and what are the key strategies that can be developed to create change? It does so through an exploration of the types of transformations that were promoted within KVDT and through the action research projects that I developed. Through looking at the processes and projects, I outline the key strategies that were used to try and generate transformational change within KVDT's context. This chapter also introduces the action research components of my project and analysis of how action research contributed towards strategies for creating place-based transformation. I begin by looking at the internal dynamics of KVDT and the action groups that I created. I argue that processes of organising at the community level were important to develop an environment in which alternatives could develop. This applied to a twin focus on developing new practices and altering social relationships (Moulaert et al., 2005; Mathie and Cunningham, 2003).

The chapter then looks at external strategies of transformation through a community resilience lens. To do so, I answer questions of the contributions of symbiotic and

interstitial strategies alongside one another, as in many instances both were present in different elements of a single project. I look at the links between symbiotic and interstitial strategies and how the two complemented each other when developing community resilience as transformation. Community resilience as transformation was about attempts to develop spaces outside of the market, for community benefit (Gibson-Graham, 2008). The first example used is of the Kirkstall Valley Farm, which was a Community Supported Agriculture (CSA) project. The farm demonstrated how an approach of collective property, social production and social organisation could build alternatives beyond capitalism in the here and now (Chatterton and Pusey, 2020). In this way, it was an interstitial project as it was built in the gaps of neoliberalism to develop a social economy "in which voluntary associations in civil society directly organize various aspects of economic activity" (Olin Wright, 2010, p. 140). I use the example of the Kirkstall Valley Farm to demonstrate the relationship between interstitial and symbiotic approaches by demonstrating how acquiring an asset through a symbiotic approach can further interstitial approaches to community transformation. A further example of the symbiotic approach to developing community assets was how KVDT attempted to develop partnerships with local actors to bring neglected buildings back into community control. In this chapter, I highlight barriers to achieving change through symbiotic approaches, due to a mixture of power dynamics and being forced to compete in an environment that prioritises the market.

Following this, I illustrate how through action research I developed projects that aimed to engage and mobilise the community in neighbourhood activity, outside of KVDT controlled spaces. This involved engaging in political processes to increase agency, underpinned by the value of democracy. Democracy as a value was about people having a say over decisions which affect them (Olin Wright, 2010; 2018). It also entailed building networks with other local actors. This work was centred around efforts to develop active travel within the local area. What was important in the action research through the *A65 Sustainable Travel Group* and the Craftivist project was tackling the issues that people faced and playing a role in making the area a better place to live, with a stronger sense of community (Christakopoulou et al., 2001). In many ways this approach was experimental, the politics was not fully formed at the outset and was

developed through activity (Pickerill, 2021). The groups focused on projects and approaches that were practical and achievable (Berkes and Ross, 2013). Through this chapter, I demonstrate how self-organised groups tried to assert their agency, showed solidarity with other people and groups in their area, and focused on issues alongside attempting to build a sense of community.

1.6.5 Chapter 6 – What does this research suggest about tackling the climate emergency?

In the final findings chapter, I draw together the ideas that have been developed in the previous findings chapters to look specifically at what this research suggests about tackling the climate emergency at the community level. This answers research question 3, "what do the community resilience approaches outlined in this research suggest about tackling the climate emergency at community level?" However, this is not simply a summary of those chapters, I build on the ideas, arguments, and propositions to contribute towards the concept of community resilience in relation to tackling the climate emergency. This entails looking at dominant UK policy approaches to dealing with the climate emergency and what impact this has on the perceptions, ideas and strategies that are open to those working in civil society. Following that, I return to the idea that at the community level KVDT are tackling intersecting crises and that this impacts on their ability to work towards tackling the climate emergency. Within this, I add in another idea of Olin Wright about social power. He defines social power as, "power rooted in the capacity to mobilize [sic] people for cooperative, voluntary collective actions of various sorts in civil society" (Olin Wright 2010, p. 121). To operationalise this in relation to my work I relate it to the ideas of adaptation and transformation resilience to show how the important dynamic is between dealing with vulnerability, which often entails short-term approaches, and attempting to work towards more long-term trajectories of change. Finally, I contribute towards another dimension of the climate emergency discussion by looking at how time is a crucial factor and what the policy environment and the strategies that I observed and helped develop suggest about community approaches for tackling the climate emergency at the speed required.

I focus on community resilience as illustrated through the work of KVDT and draw together the work of adaptation and transformation resilience as they co-exist within my research setting. This contributes to the overall question of how climate action is developed within a context of intersecting crises. I develop ideas on the realities of community resilience through exploring the interaction of adaptation and transformation resilience activities. Through this chapter, I highlight the distinct role that community led action can play as part of the broader mix of approaches to tackling the climate emergency. I relate this to community resilience by arguing that climate action in this setting should be based on an interplay of knowledge, vision, strategy, and opportunity (Wright, 2021). A key argument that I develop is that climate action in this setting was about starting from the context of the community, namely the interplay between tackling vulnerability and building alternatives.

1.6.6 Chapter 7 – Conclusion

I finish by drawing together the research elements and how they contribute towards answering the overall research question (see 1.5). I also set out how this research contributes towards the broader body of research that is interested in answering questions about how at different levels we tackle the biggest challenge of our time, the climate emergency. What I highlight is how, when working at the community level, approaches must take account of the broader challenges that communities are facing. This is imperative, as that is how the community that I researched approached tackling the climate emergency through their work.

Chapter 2 – Literature Review

2.1 Literature Review Introduction

This chapter sets out the relevant literature and how it relates to my study of community resilience in a community organisation setting. The first aim of this chapter is to outline the important literature on the concept of resilience and how my research contributes towards furthering this concept, through an exploration of community resilience, based on empirical evidence. After setting out the broad ideas of resilience, I look at the various aspects of resilience that are prevalent in resilience research and how they relate to community resilience. This enables me to relate my research to the important dimensions of community resilience that were evident in the literature, such as acquisition and mobilisation of resources, strategic leadership, agency, and networks. The elements of community resilience that I detail are focused on processes of adaptation and transformation (Twigger-Ross et al., 2011, 2015; Keck and Sakdapolrak, 2013).

To add to the idea of community resilience as transformation, I draw on the work of Eric Olin Wright. Olin Wright's (2010; 2018) anti-capitalism thinking critiques capitalism and proposes strategies of transformation. This is alongside a focus on where processes of social empowerment in civil society sit in relation to the state and economy. This creates space to explore what these strategies and processes can tell us about the possibilities or challenges of creating alternatives, either within or beyond the current neoliberal system. I show how Olin Wright's ideas for strategies of transformation based on working interstitially and symbiotically can support strategies of community resilience as transformation. By linking the work of Olin Wright to a community resilience framework I contribute towards academic understandings of how place-based change can be brought about in a world of crisis, uncertainty, and a climate emergency.

To contribute towards my research goals this chapters begins with an outline of the way that I understand resilience and how my research contributes towards a critical understanding of the concept of community resilience. I then focus on the key aspects of community resilience and how they relate to my research. Following this, I discuss the roots of resilience across academic disciplines and how this has impacted on the concept and its usage. This leads to a discussion of the ways that resilience is a contested term, how this contestation informs my study and how my study can either incorporate criticisms or provide evidence that can overcome them. As resilience is a response to a crisis or emergency, I then outline how the community resilience in my study was based on responses to austerity, COVID-19, and the climate emergency. I do this through exploring the important UK national and council level policies and the literature that relates to them.

2.2 Community resilience and how it relates to my research

Resilience is used across multiple disciplines, but when in relation to people and social systems it can be applied at an individual, community, national or international levels to show how actors at the respective level of focus respond to adversity or crisis (Twigger-Ross et al., 2011; Humbert and Joseph, 2019). Rather than exploring individual traits or systems thinking, community resilience focuses on the social aspects of resilience and the collective conditions that necessitate the need for it (Wright, 2021). What is common across all definitions of resilience is that it is a response to some form of adversity, change, uncertainty, threat, or crisis (see Macrae, 2014; Magis, 2010; Twigger-Ross et al, 2011; Humbert and Joseph, 2019). Thus, the first task of community resilience thinking is to understand what it is that groups and communities are responding to (Department for International Development, 2011). Much work on resilience tends to focus on large-scale disasters and emergencies, but there is also the need to understand how communities are responding to more localised and common events (Johnson and Osuteye, 2019). When explored from the community level, this can lead to a focus on the everyday practices that people and communities develop in response to the crises that they are facing (Ryan, 2015).

There is no agreed definition of community resilience but some of the core ideas are based on a response to an emergency or crisis, in which the community self-organises

to tackle vulnerability and/or build community autonomy, which can consist of adaptation, coping, and transformation to improve life in the present and prepare for future challenges (Twigger-Ross et al., 2015). This links to the work of Humbert and Joseph (2019, p. 215), who state, "resilience relies on ideas of self-organisation, adaptation, transformation and survival in the face of adversity or crisis." In some ways this provides flexibility for academics, policymakers and communities that are developing resilience strategies, as people are free to develop resilience processes in ways that matter to them (Wilding, 2011). There is a risk that this flexibility and range of ways of viewing resilience can make it a vague term that limits its value as a working concept (Mikulewicz, 2019). Norris et al., (2008) argue that resilience is more of a metaphor, meaning that it is a useful way to explain a range of actions that are undertaken in response to crisis.

Another aspect contained within the various ways of looking at community resilience is people and communities self-organising (Twigger-Ross et al., 2011). This can lead to a focus within resilience research on the processes that are developed in response to crisis, either in anticipation, preparation, or during the crisis itself (McCrea et al., 2014). Across the literature there are many different types of process that are considered. Firstly, strategic thinking, which includes elements such as vision, leadership, and planning (Walton et al., 2013). Secondly, the importance of developing social networks and of relationships between people and place (Berkes and Ross, 2013). Allied to this is the importance of developing expertise and knowledge that can support action (Berkes and Ross, 2013). This leads to an approach to resilience research that explores the notion of agency and collective action as central processes in developing community resilience (Berkes and Ross, 2013; Magis 2010). Thus, within resilience as a set of processes, what matters is vision, leadership, expertise, knowledge, and how these are used to mobilise people for collective action to tackle vulnerability and build community autonomy.

To support the development of community resilience processes, community resources are important. For Magis (2010, p. 401), resilience is "the existence, development, and

engagement of community resources by community members". This links the importance of the existence of resources, the processes that are in place to develop those resources, and to what ends they are deployed. The resources can be based on people, culture, associations, the economy, and infrastructure (Magis, 2010). Therefore, in and of themselves resources do not lead to resilience, but they can be important within the development of processes that enhance resilience capacity (McCrea et al., 2014). This makes a focus on the various resources a key component of resilience as they enable communities to build capacity, networks, and institutions of support that can be rooted within the area (Twigger-Ross et al., 2011). These capacities often exist before the emergency but can be drawn upon to navigate the period of crisis (Twigger-Ross et al., 2014). Thus, community resilience in these understandings is about the processes developed to respond to crisis and the existence, development, and deployment of resources to navigate a crisis.

Brown (2014) critiques the idea of resilience as a process, arguing that more attention needs to be paid towards imbalances of power and the conflict that can occur over resources. This suggests that more attention needs to be paid to how developing community resilience and responding to different crises may incur costs that can make a person or community less able to be resilient over time (Harrison, 2013). Thus, more work is needed that looks at how resilience can be strengthened but how resources can become depleted and acquiring them can deplete the ability to become resilient to different crises (Harrison, 2013). This means we must explore power imbalances and potential conflicts that exist within resilient processes and strategies (Brown, 2014). Community resilience approaches can support this through exploring the power dynamics that exist between community groups and the state and how responding to a range of crises can deplete their capacities and the resources that they need to function.

2.2.1 Place-based and values-based ideas of community resilience

Using the term community resilience adds complications to the notion of resilience as there are variations in ideas about what community is and means (Norris et al., 2008).

Two important aspects to draw out are place-based and values-based ideas community. What matters to Hall and Lamont (2013) is the idea of how communities are "bound together", which can be through place, an organisation, or through other characteristics, such as class. Community is a complex idea, which takes in a variety of elements from the built geography, the local economy, the natural environment, and the social dimension (Norris et al., 2008). A focus on place is important in building resilience, as place plays a key role in shaping patterns of risk, relationships and belonging so can underpin resilience (Wright, 2021). Another dimension where geographically bounded community is important in resilience is that from a governmental perspective place is recognised within bounded administrative areas (Horlings, 2016). This shapes places due to the services that are available, the assets that exist, and economic resources (Matarrita-Cascante et al., 2017). Place is relevant as structural processes, for instance decisions by national or local government or how the economy and market operate, shape places differently and shape the opportunities and barriers that exist within a place (Horlings et al., 2020). This means it is important to understand how place provides opportunity and constraint, be it through the physical geography, job opportunities, or the impacts that are felt from political, economic, and social processes that impact upon it (Routledge, 2017; Horlings et al., 2020). This means that when looking at crises, for instance the social impacts from austerity and COVID-19, we should look at how they unfold in a specific area. This leads to an approach that recognises the role, or potential role that people can play in shaping their local community around issues that matter to them (Marsden, 2013).

In a simple sense, community can be thought of as collectives that tie people together (Bauman, 2001). Olin Wright (2010, p. 79) takes this further and describes community as "any social unit within which people are concerned about the well-being of other people and feel solidarity and obligations towards others." This suggests a need to understand how community is constructed by those involved, how relationships are formed, and what values and motivations drive the community. This can support the development of community resilience thinking through a focus on how people articulate ideas of what community is and means, it draws in ideas of what stories they tell about their community, the perceived vulnerabilities, and strengths. This matters in reference

to community resilience as it relates to the strategies that communities develop, how they attempt to mobilise the community, and how they support people who are suffering from the social impacts of the crises that they face. It also requires a focus on the values that underpin this, which are important to the types of relationships that can develop, how committed those relationships are, as well as to the types of strategies that develop out of them (Walton et al., 2013). Thus, community as place and community as values matter in terms of the material conditions that exist, the connections that people feel, as well as the meanings that people attach to the place (Adger et al., 2011). Where community as place and community as values thinking can be built upon is through highlighting how crises unfold in a specific place and the ways in which communities respond, the types of processes that they develop, the values that underpin them, and the outcomes that they work towards.

2.2.2 Community resilience and community wellbeing

Many writers about resilience highlight the links between resilience and wellbeing (McCrea et al., 2014; Magis, 2010). In these accounts, resilience is a process which aims to "sustain wellbeing in the face of challenges" (Hall and Lamont, 2013, p. 232). Thus, the challenge, or crisis, is the starting point, resilience is the process, and wellbeing is the outcome (McCrea et al., 2014). Within the literature there are several dimensions of wellbeing that relate to community resilience. For instance, "the satisfaction with the local place of residence taking into account the attachment to it, the social and physical environment, and the services and facilities" (Forjaz et al., 2011, p. 734). This links community resilience and wellbeing to the importance of place, the social dimension of community, the impacts of geography, and access to services that people need to support them. Where wellbeing can support accounts of community resilience is through taking ideas of satisfaction, attachment, services, and facilities and exploring how these factors inform the strategies, approaches, and motivations that underpin community resilience processes.

Magis (2010) argues that resilience is about how you build and deploy community resources to support the community to thrive in the face of uncertainty. There are

several elements of this that relate to the literature on wellbeing. Firstly, how this informs strategies to improve life for people with approaches that focus primarily on community level solutions. What is important here is tackling the issues that people face and playing a role in making the area a better place to live, with a stronger sense of community (Christakopoulou, 2001). This relates to a 'eudaimonic' conception of wellbeing, that is primarily concerned with how people can flourish in society (Brand-Correa et al., 2020). At the community level, this idea of wellbeing relates back to resilience strategies and approaches as it necessitates looking at how resources are acquired and deployed, how this is done to enable people to flourish within a strong community, and which strategies are generated for creating the right conditions for the community to flourish in the face of crisis.

A second aspect that links community resilience and wellbeing are the ways that community resilience aims to increase wellbeing by creating processes that remove barriers that people face to participate in society (Brand-Correa et al., 2020). It also means understanding how, within a local place-based context, organisations can build a sense of community in which belonging, and fulfilment of need are met through cooperation (Forjaz et al., 2011). This points to the important aspect of the community dimensions of resilience, and how areas like co-operation and collective approaches to flourishing are vital characteristics. Secondly, is the idea of the barriers that prevent people achieving wellbeing. This means that we must explore what those barriers are, with a focus on the structures that create the barriers that communities face.

The final dimension of wellbeing that informs my study is based on two elements. Firstly, there is the interaction between individual and collective scales (White, 2010). Whilst I am interested in community resilience, it is a reminder that when seeking to tackle vulnerability and create an environment in which the community can thrive, part of this work is about supporting individuals, which can be especially true during a period of crisis. The idea of scales from the individual towards collective is important when thinking about how organisations are developing community resilience in the face of crises, threats, and emergencies that are created at the national and international levels. Secondly, there is an approach to wellbeing that looks at how it relates to and

prioritises the satisfaction of human need (Pirgmaier and Steinberger, 2019). In a resilience framing, this can be linked to ideas of vulnerability and how people and organisations work to help people to meet needs in the face of crises. For community resilience thinking this leads to a need to further understand how efforts to support people to meet their needs impacts on the strategies and approaches that are undertaken to develop community resilience during intersecting crises. This highlights the links between improving wellbeing for individuals, seeking community level solutions, and working through a collective endeavour.

2.3 A critical conception of community resilience

Through this study I will contribute towards a critical conception of community resilience. Key to this is viewing resilience relationally, between how the government uses it, often to further justify the abandonment of communities, and how resilience at the community level is forged in response to crises that government policy prescriptions generate and exacerbate (Deverteuil et al., 2021). Whilst acknowledging how resilience as a top-down imposed strategy can be problematic, it is important to go beyond a narrow conception of resilience and understand how it manifests itself in strategies and actions employed by those seeking to support communities (Wright, 2021). We must reject the idea that resilience is binary, either generated by purely government policy or through community endeavour, or overwhelmingly positive or negative, and resist the notions that resilience is purely about people and communities becoming apolitical subjects adapting to political, social, and economic changes outside of their control (Deverteuil et al., 2021; Wright, 2021). To forge a critical conception of community resilience, we must interrogate the political, economic, and social structures in which resilience strategies are developed to understand how social conditions, such as economic downturns and welfare policies, influence, limit, or undermine resilience (Dagdeverin et al., 2016).

This research starts from the position that the UK is seeing a profound change to its welfare system and that the dominant approach within this threatens certain groups (Deverteuil, 2015; Wright, 2021; Deverteuil and Golubchikov, 2016). The crises that communities face are generated through a complex mix of global, national, and local

factors, and this combination is making everyday life more difficult (Wright, 2021). There are also ever-present risks, such as from a changing climate and economic difficulties (Beck, 2009). The COVID-19 pandemic illustrated how unexpected crises can happen and how new crises intersect with the vulnerabilities that already exist within a community (Wilson and Buzzeo, 2021). Thus, a key component of understanding community resilience is to explore the "role of policy and government in the production and distribution of risks" (Wright, 2021, p. 2). This means that the starting point is to explore how neoliberal governance of a reduction of welfare provision, deregulation of the labour market, and pushing market rationalities into more aspects of society creates crises within communities (Harvey, 2005; Donoghue and Edmiston, 2020).

Rather than viewing resilience as a tool that can be used to gloss over issues such as accountability, inequality, or the role that governance approaches play in generating crises, as Mackinnon and Derickson (2013) argue that resilience does, I contend that a critical approach to community resilience can highlight the social impacts that are felt in the community, as well as how communities struggle to tackle the crises that they face. Donoghue and Edmiston (2020), describe the paradox within contemporary neoliberalism as neoliberalism generates structurally created crises, but the dominant thinking that informs policies and pushes communities to be more resilient also strips them of the tools with which to be resilient. I shall explore this more in Section 2.6, as I look at the policy context of austerity, COVID-19, and the climate emergency.

Alongside an exploration of the intersecting crises that communities must deal with, a community resilience framing can be used to explore the creative responses developed to tackle the constraints that communities face (Hall and Lamont, 2013). A critical approach to community resilience is about "making links to higher levels of analysis and broader scales" (Wright, 2021, p. 7). In this way, a critical conception of community resilience is less about individual traits, but a combination of resilience as imposed from above and the social frameworks that are created at the community level in response to the crises that they face (Hall and Lamont, 2013). In other words, when looked at from above, policies and strategies that promote or call for resilience are new ways of

justifying the removal of support for social groups (Deverteuil et al., 2021). However, when viewed from the community level, resilience can incorporate tactics and strategies that attempt to achieve change from below (Ryan, 2015).

This ties a critical approach to community resilience back into the ideas contained with resilience as a process, as it requires us to explore the processes that are developed within the community, how they seek to develop community strength in the face of crises, and what their efforts to self-organise tell us about the challenges and opportunities that are open to communities in times of crisis (Berkes and Ross, 2013). This means that community resilience is both an imposed condition by the powerful, but responses to it suggest that communities are not simply passive and powerless (Wright, 2021). In this way, using the concept of community resilience critically can help us to develop a better understanding of the urban struggle (Deverteuil, 2015). The aim is to politicise the conditions that communities are operating in by exploring how crises are generated, the constraints communities face in responding, and what the reality of those responses are (Deverteuil et al., 2021).

Through a critical approach to community resilience, the aim is to explore how individuals and groups are operating within a complex environment, where different forms of vulnerability intersect (Wright, 2021). As communities are facing a range of intersecting crises, resilience framings can be applied to different forms of community resilience as they exist in response to both smaller-scale localised crises and in response to more seismic events that impact at national and even international levels (Johnson and Osuteye, 2019). To do so, a critical conception of community resilience can focus on how individuals and groups think about resilience, its desirability, and how it can entail a combination of reactive and proactive processes to create change (Twigger-Ross et al., 2011). It can draw attention to how the different strands of community resilience processes are active and dynamic (Deverteuil and Golubchikov, 2016).

2.4 Resilience as a contested term

2.4.1 The Roots of Resilience

Resilience as a concept is used across multiple disciplines, such as ecology, engineering, and psychology, with increasing usage across political science, sociology, international development, and disaster planning (Martin-Breen and Anderies, 2011). In many ways, this contributes towards the discrepancies in views about how it should be theorised and how it should be applied. The roots and multidisciplinary aspects of resilience thinking have impacted upon how resilience has been used in social science and within political policy and discourse. It has led to accusations it is a vague term and therefore lacks the clarity needed to be useful (Humbert and Joseph, 2019). Resilience thinking has its roots in ecological science, in which resilience is celebrated as an ability of an organism or a structure to withstand disturbances and maintain function (Derickson, 2016). In ecological thinking, Gunderson (2000) identifies two key strands. The first, centres on the capacity of an ecosystem to withstand disturbance alongside the amount of time it takes for it to return to a stable state following the disturbance. The second is adaptive capacity, which introduces the idea of modification and how a system can have multiple stable states. This means that, following the disturbance, the system can return to an equilibrium but be modified away from its state prior to the disturbance. Thus, ecological thinking introduces two ideas that inform broader discussion on resilience and lead to contestation over the usage of the term in social science (see 2.4.2), which are the ideas of maintaining function and returning to a stable state in the face of a disturbance, even if there is some form of modification.

In engineering, resilience is about how a structure can maintain equilibrium when put under stress (Bourbeau, 2013). This leads to a way of viewing resilience as how structures can recover quickly from some form of damage, which may be slight or catastrophic, and may have long-term consequences in terms of the viability of the structure (Blockley, 2015). A second important aspect of resilience within engineering is how structures maintain function following a disturbance (Martin-Breen and Anderies, 2011). Third, is adaptive capacity, in which buildings can be reorganised following a

crisis (Martin-Breen and Anderies, 2011). Another aspect prominent within engineering is a focus on how to design and build buildings so that they can be resilient to future risk (Blockley, 2015). Dias (2015) argues that resilience in structural engineering is about recovering from a shock or stress, but he argues that resilience is a metaphor for several actions that may be contained within this recovery process. Thus, like in ecology we have ideas of recovering from a disturbance or stress, maintaining function, and modification. Engineering resilience introduces two further ideas that are evident in social science resilience thinking, looking at resilience in relation to future risk and how it is a metaphor for different types of actions that develop resilience.

Resilience is also prominent in health and psychology literatures. In these fields it is often applied to individuals and viewed as a trait more than a process (Luthar et al., 2000; Anat et al., 2021). Jacelon (1997) explored literature within health and argued that it showed that resilience is viewed as a trait primarily, but it is also a process through response to environmental stimuli. In the psychology literature, resilience as a trait is seen as the ability to cope with and adapt to stressful events whilst maintaining mental and physical health (Anat et al., 2021). Across both Jacelon (1997) and Anat et al., (2021) they proffer several personal traits that aid resilience, such as high intelligence, emotional strategies, self-reliance, positive family life, being active in social activities, and a positive outlook. The idea of resilience as a trait and the approach that seeks to uncover attributes of resilience, which are seen as positive in relation to those that are less resilient, have informed the use of resilience in policy and social science.

There are three elements from the multidisciplinary use that inform how it is used in social science and create challenges for its use as a critical concept. Firstly, there is the idea that I have identified across ecology and engineering about returning to a previous state, with the potential for some modification. When applied to social systems this is often viewed as how they bounce back from and adapt to a crisis (Twigger-Ross et al., 2014). Secondly, across the three disciplines outlined, resilience is seen as a positive and something that either should be celebrated or aspired towards. This is controversial in social science, as I shall explore in detail in 2.4.2. Thirdly, resilience from a

characteristic of successful individuals or communities and groups (Wright, 2021). Once again, this is controversial and ignores how resilience can be depleted as well as enhanced by the need to respond to crises (Harrison, 2013). How it is used in ecology, engineering, psychology and health, impact upon its use and what some see as its desirability in social science (see Derickson, 2016). I shall now explore the contested nature of the concept of resilience within social science and examine how this has impacted upon my use of the concept of community resilience.

2.4.2 Resilience as a contested term

Part of the contestation over the term resilience in social science originates from its roots in ecological science and engineering, with a concern that resilience as a concept "naturalises" a social system, removing agency, conflict, and power, and therefore tends to be used as an apolitical concept (Keck and Sakdapolrak, 2013; Dagdeverin et al., 2016). Owing to how it has evolved from natural sciences into social science and policy thinking, among other areas, there are those who argue that it is an inherently conservative term (Mackinnon and Derickson, 2013). When applied to how groups are working to envision and create alternative economic and environmental approaches, it can be seen as an "uninspiring political vision that fetishizes the status quo" (Derickson, 2016, p. 161). Thus, resilience thinking puts communities in the position of reacting to political and economic processes outside of their control and lacks emancipatory potential (Derickson, 2016). This leads to important challenges to the idea and desirability of applying resilience thinking in a time of intersecting crises, and whether from a community perspective resilience can be about more than simply returning to an unsustainable state (Deverteuil et al., 2021). Rather than discard resilience on the grounds of it being a conservative concept, as Derickson would have us do, we need to look at the range of responses that are undertaken to tackle the vulnerabilities that exist within communities and what this suggests about power and agency within a community setting (Wright, 2021).

The second strand of the critique of resilience is that it is used by those with political and economic power to justify the rollback of the state and the rollout of markets into

more aspects of society (Donoghue and Edmiston 2020; Donoghue, 2022). This leads to debates about the extent to which the term has been co-opted to justify governmental approaches that push market competition into more aspects of society and support the reduction of the welfare state (Joseph, 2013). In this context, especially when used by governments, resilience is portrayed as a binary state, in which individuals and communities are either resilient or not (Bourbeau, 2013). Within this framing, the idea and discourse that communities ought to be resilient is seen as troubling when applied to the idea that they must accept the current unjust status-quo (Bourbeau, 2013; White and O'Hare, 2014). To address this, resilience thinking needs to consider power, analyse who decides which needs are being met, and explore the politics that underpins and manages the distribution of resources (Brown, 2014). There is nothing inherently positive or negative about resilience, the key areas to examine are about who is wielding the term and to what ends (Deverteuil and Golubchikov, 2016). As I argued in section 2.3, a critical conception of community resilience can highlight the barriers and opportunities for communities to create change within a period of political, economic, and social crisis, such as has been experienced with austerity, the COVID-19 pandemic and with the climate emergency.

The governmental promotion of resilience can feed into deficiency narratives that enable politicians to abdicate responsibility for dealing with social problems, instead blaming individuals and social groups for the adverse situations that they find themselves in (Donoghue, 2022). This is evident across a range of issues, such as family breakdown, worklessness, alcohol and drug use, rather than highlighting structural causes of inequality and poverty (Derickson 2016). A significant critique of resilience argues that governmental and powerful groups conceptions and promotion of resilience are used to discipline people living in poverty (Donoghue and Edmiston, 2020). Both through a reduction of state support and a pushing of marketisation, commodification and financialisaton of welfare, resilience becomes a governmental tool to tie people into the neoliberal system (Donoghue and Edmiston, 2020; Donoghue, 2022).

The promotion of resilience, especially by the government, is used to shift responsibility for dealing with social problems on to individuals (Joseph, 2013). Therefore, rather than exploring how the social structure generates vulnerabilities, vulnerability is individualised (Dagdeverin et al., 2016). Citizens are reconceptualised within this model as active citizens who have the agency to overcome socio-economic problems, which justifies the removal of support and creates a policy and discourse environment in which individuals should have the tools to overcome crisis (Donoghue and Edmiston, 2020; Joseph, 2013). Whilst my research is based on community responses to the crises that they face, including the long-term impacts of the financial crisis through the politics of austerity, deciding on the validity of the idea of resilience as a tool to discipline people living in poverty is outside the scope of the study. However, what is important is placing resilience outside of individualised notions and within the social structures that exist (Dagdeverin et al., 2016).

What the critiques of resilience demonstrate is that taking a resilience framing can have both regressive and progressive potentials (White and O'Hare, 2014). Creating resilient communities cannot be naively thought of as inherently positive, for instance people living in poverty may be forced to be resilient to cope with a situation that they cannot change (Berkes and Ross, 2013). In a situation where the overarching government policy is state withdrawal and increasing market power, communities are expected to continually adapt as the economy and environment changes and resilience framings can foster a sense that the right response is to "keep taking 'knock after knock' and get better at coping" (Derickson, 2016, p. 163). Bourbeau (2013), refers to this as the dark side of resilience, as it may not always be desirable and pursuing resilience may stand in the way of creating more positive change. The climate and COVID-19 crises bring this issue to the fore, as we must ask whether it is desirable to attempt to build back to what existed before the pandemic, especially with the urgent need to address the climate emergency (Deverteuil et al. 2021). To Derickson (2016), this means we need a more radical and transformative framing than resilience enables. However, taking a broader view of resilience can support looking at strategies that involve coping,

adaptation, and transformation in the face of crises and threats (Keck and Sakdapolrak, 2013).

2.5 The Key Strands of Community Resilience in my research

2.5.1 A community resilience framework

Having outlined the concept of community resilience, the roots of resilience, and some of the challenges to the idea of resilience, I now review the literature for the key strands of community resilience as they relate to my research. Twigger-Ross et al., (2011) identify four strands of resilience for analytical purposes. They are resilience as resistance, bounce back, adaptation, and transformation. In terms of resistance, this is a form of resilience that focuses on pushing back against the crisis (Ryan, 2015). Resilience as bouncing back is an attempt to return to business as usual, get back to how things were prior to the crisis, or simply recover back to a similar state to before the crisis. In this conception, resistance and bounce back resilience are reactive, either attempting to oppose the change through resistance, or recover from the disturbance in the case of bounce back. Adaptation resilience is about adjusting to the impact of the crisis, accepting that things that will not return to the prior state, and trying to begin to operate in a way that reduces vulnerability in the face of the changing circumstances (Twigger-Ross et al., 2014). Transformation is about taking control of the need to change, with future hazards and threats in mind (Twigger-Ross et al., 2014). Adaptation and transformation are seen as more proactive in this model. Both adaptation and transformation approaches seek to reduce vulnerability whilst recovering from the crisis whilst attempting to develop processes that prepare the individual or community to be better able to navigate future crises. Transformation is more explicitly focused on creating radical change with the intention of dealing with future threats (Twigger-Ross et al., 2014).

Keck and Sakdapolrak (2013) outline a framework for resilience based on three aspects: coping, adaptive capacity, and transformation. Coping is focused on managing within and trying to overcome crisis. Coping in this framework is reactive, short-term,

and with a low chance of altering the status-quo (Keck and Sakdapolrak, 2013). Adaptive capacity has backwards and forward-looking elements, is more of a long-term project, and has some potential to create incremental change (Keck and Sakdapolrak, 2013). Transformation within their framework is about creating capacity to meet future crises by developing alternative social forms and institutions. Whilst there are many similarities between the two frameworks, Keck and Sakdapolrak's (2013) model adds some important dimensions to that developed by Twigger-Ross et al. (2011; 2014). Firstly, the idea of coping, whilst sharing similarities with bounce back resilience, gives a sense of just trying to get through the crisis and surviving. Their notion of adaptation, again whilst similar, focuses more on how communities use past experiences to adjust and prepare to face future crises. Finally, both frameworks see transformation as radical change with the most potential for altering the status-quo and the strongest forwardlooking dimension. Both frameworks also highlight the need for resilience to be a process and based on building strong institutions.

Wilding (2011) argues that resilience is more of a metaphor in which many different actions and processes can be present. Outlining the different dimensions of resilience is important for analytical purposes, but this idea of resilience as a metaphor, especially in a period of multiple crises, means that we must look at how those different strands of resilience can co-exist and influence each other, both positively and negatively, through exploration of the types of responses communities generate. This means looking at strategies, tactics, and activities, as well as what motivates those that are working to support their communities. Within intersecting crises that span considerable time, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, coping may be the only option open to individuals and groups for certain periods of the crisis, or adaptation may be prevalent to deal with the ongoing crisis and its changing nature. It is important to look at how groups and individuals adjust strategies and tactics, what options are open to them, and how vulnerability shifts throughout a period of crisis. This may mean that within the response to a crisis there are elements of all the strands of resilience that are within the framework.

Another important aspect is that there is a tendency in social science to either focus on vulnerability or transformation and that this may miss a key point, that groups can combine everyday coping and adaptation and use these strategies to create spaces in which more transformative strategies and projects can develop. Whilst the desire to focus on "spectacular evidence of transformation" (Deverteuil, 2015, p. 219) is understandable, and receives much attention, it ignores a whole strand of struggle that is focused on being active and adaptive (Deverteuil, 2015). Resilience strategies can be a response to extraordinary events or through pressures of more mundane everyday stresses (Johnson and Osuteye, 2019). Thus, in the face of a myriad of challenges, groups develop collective capacity to sustain, renew and create new trajectories (Wilding, 2011). What needs to be explored further, through analysis of the strands of resilience as they present themselves at the community level, is how this can entail shifting between different forms of resilience. What is required is an exploration of strategies and tactics that are a mixture of reactive and proactive responses, and may have elements that do, and some that do not, attempt to challenge or shift power dynamics to any great extent. This means we should explore the relationship between the different forms of resilience that are evident and how they can support or detract from one another. I shall now explore resilience as adaptation and transformation in more depth, as these are the two strands that are most evident within my research setting.

2.5.2 Resilience as adaptation

Within this section, I explore how resilience as adaptation can relate to the idea of community resilience. As outlined in 2.5.1, adaptation resilience is about adjusting to a new normal but can go beyond merely coping and include some change (Twigger-Ross et al., 2015). The aim is to mitigate some of the worst impacts of the crisis and support people to cope through adjustment and compromise (Bouchard, 2013). Within the literature there is a connection made to coping which, as I have shown, can also be viewed as its own strand of resilience. In terms of community resilience, this relationship between coping and adaptation needs further exploration. Community resilience strategies may involve supporting people to cope but the overarching strategy may be

one of adaptation. For instance, community resilience strategies may be about helping people to cope in a crisis, but central to achieving that may be adaptation, as the organisation engages with decision-makers in the local council or attempts to secure resources in the form of money and community spaces, which can be used to help people to cope. What is of interest in terms of community resilience as adaptation is what the strategies tells us about how the community actors are adapting to the broader political and economic environment so that they can support people at an individual and community level. Connecting how the organisation operates to function in this environment with their community level ambitions and programmes of work can shed light on the relationship between coping and adaptation.

A crucial element of community resilience as adaptation in the present context is about how individuals and communities adjust to roll back and roll out neoliberalism (Deverteuil, 2015) (see 2.6.1 for more detail). These processes impact on civil society as government logics, from quantification of results, to creating a civil society that adheres to market-based principles of organisation and delivery, are pushed onto the range of actors that fill the gaps left by the state (Aiken, 2016; Espiet-Kilty, 2016). Aiken et al., (2017) argue that community organisations that exist to counteract the erosions that come from this have these logics forced onto them if they wish to work with state actors. This leads many to dismiss the potential of much community action to challenge this status-quo, and worse, it is easily co-opted into this environment and community practices can reinforce, strengthen and further advance the very forces that they are acting to negate (Swyngedouw 2011, 2014). This means that we must look at the limits of what community resilience as adaptation can achieve for altering power dynamics and challenging the status-quo. Through viewing resilience as adaptation as a relationship between governmental approaches and community responses, we can create a fuller understanding of the dynamics of community resilience as adaptation. Rather than dismissing this form of action, or overly celebrating its potential to create fundamental change, we should explore both the opportunities and limits that exist in this environment, seeking to understand what working with state actors, such as local councils, can achieve.

Exploring the possibilities and limits of community action is important in the present as many social structures that communities rely on to help navigate through and protect them from the potential impacts of crisis are under threat or disintegrating (Bauman, 1999; 2001; Klein, 2014). Wright (2021) argues that there is a limit to community resilience and that repeated crises do not necessarily generate more resilience. In fact, they can deplete it and create new vulnerabilities (Harrison, 2013). Community has become a governing technique where, with a reduction of state support, people and communities are asked to step into the gaps that a reduction in state support creates, both in the everyday and in response to crises (Aiken, 2016). This leads to a need to explore the ways in which the very things the government is calling on communities to cope with, adapt to, and bounce back from are in the main the social impacts created by the processes that they have unleashed.

Within the critique of resilience as a concept, part of the argument advanced is that it is conservative in nature, either through seeking to return to a previous pre-disturbance state, or through lack of challenge to an unjust and inequitable status-quo (Mackinnon and Derickson, 2013; Derickson, 2016). An important dimension that this argument does not pay enough attention to is how community and social systems more broadly are unstable and constantly evolving spaces (Vale, 2014). When viewed in this way, research on efforts to adapt to crises can open avenues of exploration around future trajectories of urban spaces that incorporates the complexity that co-exists within them. This is partly a question about the relationships between adjusting to the present situation and a focus on potential future trajectories (Wright, 2021). Even if the focus is primarily on supporting the community to cope or adapt to political and economic context within a crisis or emergency, organisations can develop participation, networks, and a longer-term vision for change (Twigger-Ross et al., 2015). This draws out the dynamic elements of resilience contained within adaptation, showing that it can be actively produced, create agency, and alter social relations (Deverteuil and Golubchikov, 2016).

2.5.3 Community resilience as transformation

Community resilience as transformation is concerned with many of the same elements as other strands of resilience, for instance acquisition of and engagement of resources and community infrastructure, developing networks of people, strategic thinking, leadership, and engagement with politics (Magis, 2010; Berkes and Ross, 2013; Walton et al., 2013). As discussed in 2.5.1, resilience as transformation is about taking ownership of the need to change in response to a crisis, with a focus on creating change in the present alongside a forward-looking element (Keck and Sakdapolrak, 2013). This brings into focus the idea that community resilience as transformation needs to look at the crises, the processes developed, the strategies employed, and the types of futures that those involved want to create.

Within the literature there is a dual aspect that is of interest, which can be explored further when applying a critical conception of community resilience. The first aspect is how community resilience processes use local expertise, local networks, the economic resources that exist within the community, and the local institutions that can support the response (Twigger-Ross et al., 2011). The community level response should then be set in the context of how vulnerabilities are generated by economic and social policies that may limit the capacities at the local level (Wright, 2021). Where there is a gap in the literature is in how strategies are developed to build the local capacity to develop community resilience as transformation and where those strategies sit in terms of engagement with the state, the economy, and broader civil society. This is where the work of Olin Wright (2010; 2018) can add to community resilience as transformation through a focus on the values that underpin the processes, as well as the types of strategies and approaches that groups develop to build alternatives to the current status-quo. I shall now explore these in more detail.

2.5.4 The values that underpin the key strands of community resilience

The work of Olin Wright (2010, 2018) points to the importance of community, solidarity, equality, fairness, and increased participation in democracy as key values that can

support the building of alternatives to capitalist market-orientated logics. Olin Wright acknowledges that there is a lot of crossovers in these categories. For instance, building a strong community based on participation and solidarity can enable an increased participation in democracy and more influence over the decisions that affect the area. Equally, supporting the community to engage in these decisions can strengthen social relationships and community bonds. What needs to be considered is how both processes and the outcomes that are being worked towards are important, which includes developing a value set that transcends capitalist values (Pirgmaier and Steinberger, 2019). Moulaert et al., (2005) argues that creating an environment in which social relationships can develop and be transformed can play a key role in developing alternative processes. In relation to community resilience, the processes that are developed and the values that underpin them can be applied to how those within the community aim to build community strength and harness the power that exists within the community (Mathie and Cunningham, 2003).

Rather than being an abstract idea, where an exploration of the values that underpin community responses to crises is important, is in how processes that are forged and the values that underpinned them can generate practical ideas for action (Berkes and Ross, 2013). This supports questions of how through empowering the community through involvement, innovative ideas for transformation can be developed. In an environment in which there is much uncertainty about the ability to develop alternatives successfully, understanding the methods as well as impacts matters (Oosterlynck et al., 2013). This supports the development of the concept of community resilience through looking at how increasing collaboration, fostering social connection, building autonomy, and social recognition can play a role in developing an environment in which transformation strategies can be developed (Olin Wright, 2018). This leads to a need to focus on the new forms of social relationships that are generated, and how this contributes towards creating innovative ideas and fresh solutions (Ayob et al., 2016).

Underpinning resilience are the notions of power and agency, which can be to affect decisions, to self-organise, or to effectively mobilise people and the community (Magis, 2010; Berkes and Ross, 2013). For Olin Wright, power within civil society and the

voluntary sphere is based on the ability of voluntary associations of people to come together, mobilise, and work together for communal ends (Olin Wright, 2010). This means that how a community functions is a key element of their ability to tackle the problems that they face and to exploit opportunities to improve their area (Christakopoulou et al., 2001). This draws together ideas of making their area a good place to live, building a social community, a political community, and fostering a sense of belonging (Christakopoulou et al., 2001; White, 2010). This relates back to the values that drive action towards areas such belonging, ability to fulfil need through cooperation, reciprocal influence, and emotional connection (White, 2010; Forjaz et al., 2011). Therefore, there is an emphasis on the relational between individuals and collective processes to meet human need and tackle crises.

2.5.5 Interstitial strategies for building community resilience

In this section, I want to highlight how work in human geography and sustainable transitions literature can support a fuller conception of community resilience. This is through exploring how those literatures' view and analyse different types of interstitial approaches to achieving sustainable transformation. Interstitial projects are those that occur in the gaps and cracks of the dominant capitalist structure (Olin Wright, 2010). This builds on the argument that neoliberalism is not all-encompassing or rolled out in monolithic ways, and therefore there are opportunities to build alternative structures within the margins of the overall system (see North et al., 2017; Featherstone, 2013). In the Olin Wright framework, strategies that work at the margins or in the gaps of neoliberalism are about how non-capitalist structures and programmes can be developed at relatively small scales, the aim of which is to increase civil society power but not attempt to directly challenge the power held by political and economic actors (Olin Wright, 2010). Gibson-Graham (2006) argues that these types of projects are about an ethic within community economic development that prioritises non-capitalist forms of organisation and this can also be applied to how services and community structures are run and delivered. In this context, interstitial approaches are about promoting logics outside of profit and market rationality through experimental activities grounded in the local context (Seyfang and Smith, 2007).

Within sustainable transitions literature, an area of focus that relates to interstitial strategies are 'grass roots innovations', which are community-based projects that develop innovative organisational approaches, harness technology, and generate locally led projects to create greater local sustainability, often in relation to production and consumption (Seyfang and Smith, 2007; Seyfang and Longhurst, 2016). Moulaert et al., (2005) introduce the idea that key elements of grass roots innovations are about satisfying a local need. Building on Middlemiss and Parrish (2010), one of the issues for communities is that there are limitations in terms of their power, resources, and influence, which threaten to limit the potential of these types of projects through lack of funding, local buy in or burn out of volunteers. Community resilience can contribute to this argument by highlighting the role that crises play in exacerbating these factors, the relationship between national and local policy, how local economies exist within the broader economy at city and national levels, and showing the range of strategies and activities that communities generate to tackle the intersecting crises that they face. A critical conception of community resilience can build on sustainable transitions approaches by linking interstitial strategies to the broader structural context to highlight the strengths and weaknesses of this type of approach to creating community level sustainability in a time of crisis.

Another dimension of interstitial literature sits in human geography and tends to focus on projects of prefiguration or post-capitalism (see Pickerill, 2019; Chatterton and Pusey, 2020). Jeffrey and Dyson (2021) argue that prefigurative politics is about embodying the change that you want to create alongside improvisation to imagine and enact the alternative futures that you wish to see. In this way, there is crossover between the ends and the means of the activity. There are similarities between ideas of interstitial and prefigurative strategies, but interstitial approaches are more pragmatic in terms of working in the gaps alongside working within the system, which entails negotiations and compromises (Bouchard, 2013). This leaves space to consider how projects are not completely removed from people's everyday experiences of life in capitalism and how the politics is developed through action, experimentation, and not necessarily ideological or a complete blueprint at inception (Chatterton and Pickerill, 2010; Pickerill, 2021). Analysis of interstitial strategies can build an understanding of

community resilience as transformation through showing how the strategies and the projects are developed alongside, through or within efforts to adapt to life under capitalism.

Post-capitalism literature focuses on how a commons approach of collective property, social production and social organisation through co-ownership, co-production and comanagement can build alternatives beyond capitalism in the here and now (Chatterton and Pusey, 2020). These approaches can help go beyond the dominant logic of individualism, alienation, greed, and self-interest that defines much of the current statusquo (Olin Wright, 2010). Much of this literature is interested in the community level and how place can be a site of local transformation through developing alternative economic structures within a politics of possibility, rather than looking at the barriers that dominant capitalist approaches create (Gibson-Graham, 2006). This links to the idea of interstitial strategies through the idea of generating collective approaches to production, organisation, and property. The work of Gibson-Graham incorporates how research and action can prioritise supporting local communities and the environment with a commitment to creating social connection. Where community resilience can contribute to this literature is through showing how strategies that encompass these elements play out as part of a wider set of projects, and what this says about the reality of building alternatives in a broad-based community organisation responding to intersecting crises.

2.5.6 Symbiotic approaches to community resilience

Olin Wright (2010) highlights symbiotic strategies as those that try to solve certain realworld issues that are faced by elites, dominant groups, the capitalist political and economic system, as well as those seeking to create change from the community or civil society level. This is about transformation through partnership between elites and other less powerful actors. Olin Wright applies this analysis to production, exchange, and politics. Symbiotic strategies, when developed from below rely on associational power, which is the ability of the working class to organise and influence state policy, most notably through trade unions (Olin Wright, 2010). This can also be applied to how civil society or community organisations attempt to work with the state on projects aimed at transformation. This is particularly pertinent at present as austerity has seen

sever budget cuts within local government and from this context the COVID-19 pandemic emerged to put even greater strain on councils and communities. With fewer resources and diminished local council power due to financial restraints, many councils have been forced by circumstance to seek different approaches to supporting community (Cottam, 2021). This is where community resilience as transformation can connect with symbiotic strategies to highlight the opportunities and limits of engagement between the community level actor, the council and other powerful actors to engage in partnerships for transformative change. This can be applied broadly to community transformation to tackle the crises that communities face and more specifically to efforts to engage symbiotically to tackle the climate emergency.

In spite, and in some cases a result of the difficulties described above, there are new possibilities opening at a local level in terms of climate change and as a response to the COVID-19 pandemic. In part, this is due to necessity but also to harness the energy of local communities to help tackle complex challenges (Cottam, 2021). In some instances, communities are coming to the fore to tackle the issues that they face and the local state is recognising that innovative approaches to community engagement, whether through choice or necessity, can help to reimagine the relationship between the state and communities (Cottam, 2021). Both in response to climate change and COVID-19 there have been attempts to reconfigure the relationship between the local state and community (Cottam, 2021). For instance, many councils have declared 'Climate Emergencies' and developed participatory processes with people, promising bold and urgent action (Willis, 2020; Howarth et al., 2021). As a response to COVID-19 a new spirit of mutual aid was forged with partnerships between civil society and councils (Tiratelli and Kaye, 2020). These participatory processes need to be analysed around how much they are supporting adaptation to threats and problems, how much they are simply about seeking to bounce back to the previous unsustainable state, and in what ways they are demonstrative of possibilities to transform towards a new normal (Deverteuil et al., 2021). This draws together the community resilience framework and the work of Olin Wright on symbiotic approaches to transformation by looking at how the context shapes responses, what the process and aims of those responses are, and how

the relationship between the state and civil society creates barriers and opportunities for achieving significant change.

Another dimension where community resilience can link to the work of Olin Wright is through how people and community groups can engage in politics to tackle the crises that communities face. One of the issues that he identifies is that people do not have a say in many of the decisions that affect them (Olin Wright, 2010). This creates an urban environment in which many feel locked out of decision-making, that the political and business elites are doing things to them rather than acting in their interests, and that often these decisions are based on furthering the interests of capital (Chatterton, 2019). This means that a key question when engaging in democracy or with institutions that make decisions that impact on communities, is whether people can participate meaningfully in the decisions that affect them (Olin Wright, 2018). From a community resilience perspective, mobilising and creating conditions in which people can engage with the political decisions that affect them can be empowering and renew belief in the political agency that exists in a community (Poupart, 2007). From the community perspective, drawing people together can strengthen the community by enabling people to participate in community activities and engage with local politics (Doyal and Gough, 1991). This can link to the idea of community resilience as a process in which communities self-organise and develop strategies to influence decisions that impact on their area (Berkes and Ross, 2013). By viewing how symbiotic strategies are developed in times of crisis can add to understandings of community resilience and where the opportunities are to push for different types of change.

2.6 The intersecting crises of austerity, COVID-19, and the climate emergency

In the *Community Resilience Development Framework (CRDF)* the government called for strong action in response to emergencies from within communities and promoted the idea that, "Community resilience is enabled when the public are empowered to harness local resources and expertise to help themselves and their communities" (Cabinet Office, 2019, p. 2). This framework aligned resilience thinking with broader strategies of governance towards security, industrial strategy, working with civil society, and tackling issues such as loneliness. It can be seen as a continuation of a broader policy agenda

for a more limited role for government in all but the most severe emergencies, and an increased role for local authorities, civil society, and individuals (Wright, 2021). Resilience is also promoted in the latest Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government strategy (2019, p. 6), "Integrated and resilient communities with high levels of participation and trust can support local prosperity, improve health and wellbeing, and help protect and enhance the local environment." The government talks of the importance of strong communities in terms of supporting wellbeing, creating prosperity, identity, a sense of belonging, access to amenities, and community spaces. They underscore the value of knowing neighbours, taking part in social life, and how vibrant local civil society can help create this. Taken together, these two strategies highlight what Donoghue and Edmiston (2020) refer to as the rise of 'active citizenship', in which rather than the government seeking to intervene to create the conditions in which communities can thrive, or deal with the crises that they face, the government promotes the view that communities themselves can generate the resources and manage the processes that will support community resilience. In this section, I discuss the three crises of austerity, COVID-19, and the climate emergency. Whilst calling for stronger communities and community resilience, the policy approaches from national and local government makes developing community resilience more difficult and exacerbate the crises that communities face.

2.6.1 Austerity, rollback, rollout neoliberalism, and community resilience

The current political, economic, and social structures that are prevalent within contemporary capitalism are central dynamics that generate crises at the community level (Deverteuil, 2015). With a dependence on market expansion and perpetual growth, capitalism is prone to crises (Hall and Davis, 2021). Furthermore, in the early part of the twenty first century, partly because of these inherent conditions of the capitalist system, society is confronted by risks, such as economic shocks and climate change (Beck, 2009; 2016). In part, this is due to a rearticulation of the state and society that Wacquant (2012) argues is the political project of neoliberalism. In this political project state power is used primarily to further the interests of capital and push the market into more aspects of society (Harvey, 2005). In practical terms, the key to understanding

modern political solutions to societal problems is how pro-growth economics, corporate expansion, commodification, marketisation, and individualisation have become the dominant values driving political approaches (Chatterton, 2016). This complements how resilience is promoted from the national government level and makes a certain conception of resilience appealing to government in the UK policy context, as it links well with the idea that there is no alternative, and thus we must adapt to the crises and learn to cope (Joseph, 2013).

The first major economic crisis of the twenty first century was the 2008 financial crash and the great recession that followed (Farnsworth and Irving, 2018). This crisis became an opportunity in the UK to push austerity, which entailed a shrinking of the functions of the state to pay off the debts created by bank bailouts (Farnsworth and Irving, 2018). In the UK, at a national level, this entailed a reduction of state spending on social services and local government, a more punitive welfare regime, and less focus on the state as a force for redistribution, leading to a rise in inequality between individuals and communities (Hall, 2019; Lobao et al., 2018). A complementary aspect of this rollback of the state and services was a focus on getting communities and individuals to be responsible for dealing with social issues and delivering services (Hall and Lamont, 2013; Aiken et al., 2017). This was typified by David Cameron's "Big Society" idea, in which the aim was to make individuals and non-state actors more responsible for tackling social problems, with the notion that community groups, amongst other actors, could fill the void left by the retreat of the state (Cameron, 2011). To many, this was simply turning community into an instrument for delivering on tasks that were previously the preserve of government (Aiken, 2016). This rollback of the state to achieve fiscal consolidation was accompanied by a narrative that people and communities must become more resilient, take ownership of their problems, and respond to the challenges that they face (Donoghue and Edmiston, 2020). There is a gap in this literature in terms of looking empirically at the social impacts of austerity and how the accompanying narratives on resilience impacts on the strategies, approaches, and ideas of those attempting to develop community level solutions to the problems that have been created.

At a local level, the 2008 financial crisis and the decade of austerity that followed has created a profound crisis, as local government has endured the severest budget cuts in decades (Bailey et al., 2015). Having faced many rounds of cuts there have been inevitable service reductions, impacting upon council's abilities to support communities, with lower-income groups feeling the main impacts of national level austerity (Lowndes and Gardner, 2016; Taylor-Gooby and Stoker, 2011). During this time, there has been a narrowing of innovation as austerity has meant there are fewer resources available, and the dominance of a market led philosophy limits the range of approaches that government and councils pursue (Cottam, 2021). From 2009 to 2019 the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government saw an 86% cut in their spending (Johns, 2020). This created a fragility within the local state that limits its reach and has diminished local state power (Cottam, 2021). This raises questions of the ways in which those seeking to develop community resilience are filling in the gaps in provision that have been created, how this rollback process informs the approaches that they take, and whether these are seeking to adapt to this environment or use the space created to build beyond the status-quo.

In contemporary neoliberalism, complementing the rollback process is a roll out process, which has seen a re-engineering of the state to support the interests of capital and push market rationality into more spheres of society (Wacquant, 2012). Drawing on the work of Harvey (2005), who focuses on the political-economy dynamic of neoliberalism, the primary function of the state is to create an institutional framework that promotes "private property rights, free markets, and free trade" (Harvey, 2005, p. 2). Privatisation and deregulation of business are key features that limit the power of the state to control business practice (Harvey, 2005). One of the impacts of this has been a rise in precarious employment, zero-hours contracts and the gig economy during the post-2008 period (Clarke and Cominetti, 2019).

A second aspect of roll-out neoliberalism is that state action is focused on creating markets in areas that they do not exist, for instance welfare provision, healthcare and much that is traditionally thought of as public sector (Harvey, 2005). This is within a loose set of political beliefs that sees market mechanisms as the primary way of

organising goods and services (Thorsen and Lie, 2007). This has involved, in the UK, privatising many aspects of welfare service delivery and selling public assets (Lobao et al., 2018). Within this framework, institutions are less responsive towards new demands of social justice and equity, making bringing about policy change outside of neoliberal approaches difficult (Forno and Graziano, 2014). These approaches of government are aiming to reimagine community and the relationship between civil society, the state, and the market (Hall and Lamont, 2013; Olin Wright, 2018). More evidence is needed to analyse how this environment creates vulnerabilities, limitations and barriers that impact on those attempting to support the community. Alongside this, community resilience thinking can help us to understand how this environment also creates opportunities for community organisations in terms of resource acquisition and relationships with the state. Therefore, community resilience ideas can help to draw out the relational aspect between government policy and how communities are responding to the context and developing community resilience strategies, which can create a fuller picture of community resilience in a time of austerity.

To support the processes of roll back and roll out neoliberalism there is a broader cultural narrative that believes we thrive or fail due to our own individual actions (Aiken et al., 2017; Webster and Rivers, 2019). This is a process characterised as individualisation where, "each individual is held responsible and accountable for his or her own actions and well-being" (Harvey, 2005, p. 65). Individualisation has two core elements. Firstly, there is a top-down antipathy towards collectivist strategies and the institutions and approaches that foster them (Peck and Tickell, 2002). In place of collective strategies, the government calls on individuals to be resilient to reduce the responsibility of the state to address social inequities and to place the individual at the centre of developing strategies to overcome issues that are generated by the structural context they find themselves in (Donoghue and Edmiston, 2020). Secondly, this process involves a shift of welfare policy towards disciplinary and punitive measures for those that may rely on state support (Wacquant, 2012). In many ways, this has led to a stigmatisation of vulnerable, marginalised, and poorer people by citing dependency culture within those who rely on the welfare state (Espiet-Kilty, 2016). Rather than dismissing resilience in this context as purely a vehicle to advance the idea that

individuals and communities must take responsibility for tackling the issues that they face, we should look at how this environment informs community approaches and how the community envisages creating alternatives from within this context. In this way, community resilience can illustrate the relationship between government policies, discourses, and community level solutions for developing resilience through collaborative and collective strategies of social support.

Despite acknowledging the dominance of neoliberal approaches and values through rollout and rollback neoliberalism, it is important to understand the limits of neoliberalism (Pinson and Morel Journel, 2012). The term itself is seen as a "slippery" concept in which critics put many of the ills that they see within society (Peck and Theodore, 2012, p. 4). When viewing neoliberalism as a process we must explore where other rationalities exist within policy, its incompleteness in terms of how it has been rolled out, and how neoliberal ideas for policy mix with other approaches to produce hybrids (Pinson and Morel Journel, 2012). When looking at the crises generated or exacerbated by the current system, we need to explore how neoliberalism can be challenged and where spaces form to create alternatives (Peck and Theodore, 2012). Where community resilience can contribute to this is through looking at how those who want to tackle vulnerability and build community autonomy go about this in the current context, the factors that limit their ambitions and abilities to deliver on developing community resilience, and how they develop strategies to exploit the contradictions that exist.

2.6.2 The COVID-19 social crisis and community resilience

In December 2019, the Chinese government reported a new coronavirus, which caused "a pandemic of acute respiratory disease, named 'coronavirus disease 2019' (COVID-19), which threatens human health and public safety" (Hu et al., 2021, p. 141). It quickly spread across the world, the World Health Organisation declared a global health emergency, and the UK recorded its first case in late January 2020 (Aspinall, 2020). The UK's first national lockdown came into force on 26th March 2020 and was scheduled to be in place for twelve weeks (Institute for Government, 2022). The government's initial response conforms to the principles outlined in the *Emergency*

Response and Recovery guidance, "At a high level these will be to protect life, contain and mitigate the impacts of the emergency and create the conditions for a return to normality" (Cabinet Office, 2013, p. 10). The COVID-19 pandemic was an emergency that required an immediate response at national and local levels, but what sets the COVID-19 emergency apart from many other emergency scenarios the government guidance is aimed at, is that it continued at various levels of severity for over eighteen months. COVID-19 was a public health emergency, but it was also a social and economic emergency as it intersected with the social, political, and economic conditions that had been created within UK capitalism over the preceding decade (Sandor, 2021). These factors created a situation in which the state intervened in ways that were unimaginable just a few months earlier (Mair, 2020).

To help people to cope during the emergency the government introduced a series of pieces of legislation. These are important as they shaped the economic and social impact of the pandemic upon individuals and communities. To prevent millions of people being made redundant, especially in "accommodation and food, administrative services, arts and entertainment, aviation, and wholesale and retail" (Pope and Shearer, 2021, p. 6), chancellor Rishi Sunak introduced the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme, commonly known as furlough. The scheme was initially due to run until May 2020 but it was extended, finally finishing in September 2021 (Pope and Shearer, 2021). In the initial stages, the furlough scheme supported people who could not work with up to 80% of their wages, with a cap of £2,500 per month (Pope and Shearer, 2021; Quilter-Pinner et al., 2020). It is estimated to have supported over 11 million jobs during the pandemic and cost more than £69 billion (Pope and Shearer, 2021; Atkinson, 2021). Another important support measure was the raising of Universal Credit by £20 per week, alongside an easing of the process via which claims could be made (Edmiston et al., 2021).

The measures to support incomes and jobs were important throughout the period of enforced social distancing, yet many people in the lowest paid jobs, or insecure work, found themselves cut adrift through losing their jobs, reduced hours, or lack of certainty about whether they were entitled to state financial support (Sandor, 2021; Wilson and

Buzzeo, 2021). Many of those in less secure work prior to the pandemic were in the sectors that were shut down, and many fell through the cracks of government support, meaning that other forms of community support were needed to help people cope during the COVID-19 emergency (McDoland and Sandor, 2021). Many of those people were already struggling to escape poverty or were experiencing in-work poverty prior to the pandemic, and this was exacerbated by the onset of the pandemic (Sandor, 2021). This highlights how the crises of austerity and COVID-19 were intertwined and how the impacts of the austerity policy agenda meant that the COVID-19 pandemic impacted upon groups that were already vulnerable (Wright, 2021).

Outside of public health impacts, the other defining feature of the initial stages of the COVID-19 pandemic was an increase in food insecurity across the country. Over 2 million people deemed vulnerable to the health impacts of the virus were asked to stay in their homes and away from others, which was known as shielding (Tiratelli and Kaye, 2020). The national government provided funds for food packages, which councils distributed, and many councils created their own schemes to expand the criteria towards those that had to self-isolate or were deemed vulnerable to food insecurity, due to poverty (Lambie-Mumford et al, 2021). As well as the national government and local council driven COVID-19 policies and initiatives, informal mutual aid groups mushroomed at the hyper local level (Curtin et al., 2021). In Leeds, as in many other areas, council led food initiatives were delivered through partnerships with third sector organisation, a response that was "unprecedented in their scale, operationalisation, coordination and the level of resources required" (Lambie-Mumford et al, 2021, p. 5). This leads to questions about how this complex web of groups and activities interacted, the ways in which the more formal response of council community partnerships was organised, and the ways in which the community delivery represented mutual aid in the sense of generating solidarity to fulfil unmet needs (Spade, 2020).

In terms of the formal response, the third sector partnerships between the council and local organisations were critical to the success of the local response to COVID-19 (Gordon et al., 2022). In some ways, this demonstrated an innovative approach to community engagement from councils in many areas as they facilitated the locally led

work and supported it financially, dispensed with a top-down approach, and supported a more community driven form of delivery (Tiratelli and Kaye, 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic and the social crisis it generated, as well as the interaction between government policy, council initiatives, and community responses, can further many of the debates within resilience thinking. For instance, whether this crisis was another example of short-term responses in which community filled gaps within government welfare provision, whether the COVID-19 response can be seen as a focus on resilience as adaptation, or did it offer a glimpse of resilience as transformation with a new way for the council and community organisations to deliver real change. Thus, ideas contained within community resilience concepts can be applied to the COVID-19 pandemic to look at how responding to this major crisis strengthened community resilience or potentially weakened it.

2.6.3 The climate emergency and community resilience

In 2008, the UK first set out a framework for reducing carbon and adapting to climate change with the UK Climate Change Act, which was the world's first such plan and created a sense in the UK government that they were an international leader in climate change mitigation and adaptation (Lockwood, 2013). The 2008 act set out an emissions reduction goal of 80% by 2050 and ambition was raised in 2019 with a legally binding commitment to reach net zero by 2050 (CCC, 2020). In the *Net Zero Strategy: Build Back Greener* (2021) strategy, the government set out its main aims of reducing emissions by decoupling emissions from economic growth, whilst maintaining the latter. They also set out their position of supporting the creation of green industry and jobs, linking this to their place-based agenda known as levelling up. A further element of their approach was a reliance on advancing technology to reduce carbon and the key role of the private sector to deliver the transition to net zero. Within this strategy, resilience is promoted in terms of adapting to the impacts of climate change and reducing hazards. There is a focus on ensuring that sectors, from farming, energy, fishing, and other areas

like biodiversity, adapt to the impacts of climate change and continue to function in a changing climate.

Within UK climate change policy, place has a role within resilience framings, primarily related to reducing risks and the need for climate adaptation, rather than within mitigation discourse (Evans, 2022). At a national level, the UK government has called for evidence to create a new national resilience framework. Their focus is "anticipate, assess, prevent, mitigate, respond to, and recover from known, unknown, direct, indirect and emerging risks" (Cabinet Office, 2021, p. 43). At a regional level, the Yorkshire and Humber Climate Action Plan states that resilience is needed to, "protect our homes and communities, our water, energy, transport and communications infrastructure, our farming and food systems, and our nature and biodiversity from climate impacts" (Gouldson et al., 2021, p. 7). They link this to the need to protect health and wellbeing as climate change threatens the infrastructure people in the region rely upon. Both the national and regional plans require a focus on place, as a site of risk, and require the mobilisation of community to play a role in acknowledging, preparing for, and bouncing back from anticipated climate impacts. This highlights the importance of a focus on place to understand the links between the climate emergency, its impacts, and how resilience is perceived at national and regional levels of government. What is lacking is analysis of how resilience and community resilience can play a role in climate action focused on mitigation.

A key criticism of government efforts to move towards net zero is that in an era when the prevailing policy approach is state withdrawal, the promotion of markets, and the power of the private sector, there is a lack of ambition to rise to the challenge that decarbonisation presents and a lack of willingness to engage in the strong state action that is needed to reduce carbon at the rate that the science demands (Klein, 2014). Howarth et al., (2021) argue that the UK has created a strong narrative with climate policies and targets but that a change of approach is needed, with a national framework that supports council and community level action. The Committee on Climate Change (CCC, 2020) argued that a national plan is needed to engage people across society, especially over the coming decade when urgent action is required. At the national level

climate change is downplayed and presented as manageable by the government (Willis 2020). There is a lack of a clear national framework for comprehensive action and a lack of resources available to meet the challenge (Marsden et al., 2014; Howarth et al., 2021). The ambition to reach net zero by 2050 is important, yet there is little discussion of the far-reaching implications of what climate action entails (Willis, 2020a). There is a real risk that mitigation policies will be ineffective or rejected if the public do not understand the significant issues (Lorenzoni et al., 2007). For those seeking to push more transformative solutions and approaches the national context presents a serious barrier (Bailey and Wilson, 2009). It is neither a policy nor discourse environment in which the values of social justice are discussed as part of the climate solution (Demski et al., 2019).

Within climate change at a local level, there have been moves in recent years to experiment with new institutional models that foreground partnerships and inclusivity (Howarth et al., 2021). This can be seen through citizen's assemblies and climate juries that have happened across the country. Those that have analysed the assemblies and juries have concluded that this form of deliberate democracy, in which citizens are informed of the issues and debate them, often leads to them recommending more ambitious and far-reaching policies (Cherry et al., 2021). These are promising developments as they can make citizens central to democratic decision-making (Cherry et al., 2021). Within Leeds, a climate jury was set up by the Leeds Climate Commission and a representative sample of local people were given evidence from academic, policy and business experts, before making recommendations for action (Bryant, 2019). Their priority recommendations included taking the bus franchise back into public ownership, drastically reducing car usage, community action to retrofit homes, creating a green investment fund, and climate change education (Bryant, 2019). Leeds City Council also declared a climate emergency, with the ambition of making Leeds a carbon neutral city by 2030 and called on the national government to support this through funding and increased powers (Leeds Climate Commission, 2019). This demonstrates a willingness to look at innovative approaches to citizen engagement and developing policy within climate change.

Despite some promising signs, there are clear limitations in council and community engagement and a lack of a framework to support community level mitigation efforts (Howarth et al., 2021). Across the UK, community action provides inspiring examples of what communities are doing and can serve to motivate further climate action, as well as inform council level policy processes (Evans, 2022). However, to build truly broadbased community level action there is a need to understand how to mobilise a diverse range of people in climate mitigation actions (Howarth et al., 2021; Tiratelli et al., 2021). The analysis on community level climate action shows that carbon reduction is often only one element, alongside other areas such as attempting to have more say over decisions that affect communities, or through projects to improve the areas where people live and tackle the challenges that they face, for instance around food, cost of living, community cohesion, or active travel (Tiratelli et al., 2021; Evans, 2022). Research that focuses on community resilience can build on this work and inform current debates on community-based climate action by linking it to the political context of austerity, COVID-19, and the climate emergency. More research is needed that shows the ways in which communities navigate these crises and the types of climate actions that they develop in this context.

2.7 Conclusion and next steps

Through exploring dimensions of community resilience, I make two key contributions towards the resilience literature. Firstly, I show how adaptation and transformation can both be evident in a single setting, drawing out the relational dynamic when it comes to tackling the climate emergency as part of dealing with intersecting crises. Linked to this, I show that organisations can be pragmatic and pursue both strategies as part of a broad response to a single crisis. What I add to the literature is to demonstrate how community resilience as adaptation and transformation intersect and interact, with potential positive and negative implications. Secondly, a further contribution of this study is to the idea of community resilience as transformation, especially in relation to how it can play a role in climate mitigation activities.

Through my conception of community resilience, I create a fuller picture of how those working on the ground in communities, dealing with emergencies, threats, and everyday challenges, adapt to their context and build beyond it. In this way, I am filling a gap in the academic literature by illuminating the relationships between the broad challenges that neoliberalism creates at the community level, how its intersecting emergencies place strains on communities and generate vulnerabilities at the community level, and the different strategies and tactics that communities develop in this context. Whilst often research either focuses on efforts to adapt to the political and economic environment or build alternatives at the community scale, I highlight how these distinctions do not always reflect the reality on the ground within communities. When applied to efforts to rise to the challenge of tackling the climate emergency, this research contributes toward academic thinking on this subject by framing climate mitigation efforts at a community level alongside the broader challenges that people face, the policy environment in which mitigation is taking place, and an understanding of how these intersect with the potential to bolster and limit one another.

Having set out the main arguments across the key literatures, this research proceeds as follows. In Chapter 3, I outline the key methods that I used to generate the data that informs the findings. I discuss some of the limitations that this created, as well as how it positioned my study as critiquing contemporary neoliberalism. My research sought to contribute to finding solutions to the problems that the community faced. Following that, I set out my findings across Chapter 4, 5, and 6. I begin by looking at how KVDT developed community resilience as adaptation and supported the community to cope during the intersecting crises of austerity and COVID-19. Following that, I turn my attention to processes and strategies that were developed to build community resilience as transformation. Finally, I bring this back to the area of the climate emergency and what the combinations of resilience approaches and strategies can contribute towards understandings of tackling the climate emergency at the community level.

Chapter 3 – Research Methods

3.1 Introduction

This chapter outlines my methodological approach to the research, the research methods that I used, the difficulties that I encountered, and how my research method supported answering the research questions. To answer the overall research question, "how are people coming together within the case study organisation to tackle climate change, alongside the social crises generated by austerity and the COVID-19 pandemic?", I conducted an in-depth study of a Leeds based community organisation, KVDT. I begin this chapter (3.2) by outlining how my research used an interdisciplinary approach that brought together sociological and human geography literatures and methods. Following this, I show how I used ethnography and action research as the two main research approaches (see 3.3). Ethnography allowed for deep immersion within the research site to examine people's interactions in their natural setting (Merriam, 2009; Cresswell et al., 2018). Using a case study approach (see 3.4), this immersion complimented the action research, and I was able to observe the activities of the organisation and therefore answer questions of how they developed strategies for community led approaches for dealing with the crises that the community faced. What I achieved through a combination of drawing together different disciplines and methods was to bridge the gap between critiquing the current situation and contributing to projects that sought to work towards a more sustainable future.

I used a range of qualitative research methods within the combination of ethnographic and action research approaches. In section (3.5 and 3.6), I outline how I used several methods from participant observation, interviews of staff and volunteers, workshops, as well as creating action groups to create a range of locally based activities. As the research took place during the COVID-19 pandemic, I discuss the impact that this had on the research approaches (3.7). After exploring the methods that I used, I finish by discussing some of the broader aspects of the research approach in terms of my own positionality (3.8), data analysis (3.9), the ethical considerations that my research had to navigate (3.10), and finally some of the issues that I encountered withdrawing from the research site (3.11).

3.2 An interdisciplinary research approach

This research takes a distinctive, interdisciplinary approach by drawing on substantive insights and methodological approaches from sociology and human geography. An interdisciplinary approach was a good fit for the topic that I was exploring, as bringing together different strands of knowledge and approaches to research is a useful way of tackling the complex problems that the world faces, such as climate change (Burawoy, 2013). An interdisciplinary approach provided a range of perspectives and approaches that impacted upon forming the research objectives, questions, and the ways that I went about the research (Wright, 2021). Working across disciplines supported the central aim of the research, to contribute towards understandings of the barriers and opportunities that there are for tackling the climate emergency at the community level, as I was able to integrate the ideas and approaches contained in both disciplines (Serrao-Neumann et al., 2015). What motivated me was to develop a research project based on applied practice and how research can contribute towards solving practical problems (Angelstam et al., 2013).

As my research question was about exploring barriers and opportunities for taking climate action at the community level, there was substantial cross-over between the two disciplines, as both are concerned with the impacts of, and efforts to create change within the constraints of the prevailing socio-economic system. Sociologically, I am interested in the interaction of the state and market with civil society and the power dynamics that are evident within these interactions (Burawoy, 2005). Human geography is also concerned with neoliberalism, and this perspective contributed to my research as I explored how neoliberalism operated at a community level (Pickerill, 2019). Most importantly, both disciplines seek to support efforts for transformation through advocating for a more equal society in which people can participate and thrive (Burawoy, 2005; Pickerill, 2019).

The ethnographic methods (see 3.5) of participant observations and interviews supported my research to contribute towards critiquing the impacts of neoliberalism (Burawoy, 2005a). Through action research methods (see 3.6), I was able to play an active role in the community that I researched, and my research was able to support the aims and objectives of that community (Gibson-Graham, 2008). In this way, my research was interdisciplinary, and drew on insights and methods from sociology and human geography. By bringing together critical sociological and human geography processes and literatures, this research makes an important contribution to methodological thinking, as through applying both disciplines through insights and research methods I was able to synthesise the different disciplinary approaches (Neef, 2005). My research contributed to furthering thinking by critiquing the impacts that political, economic, and social structures had upon the strategies, activities and tactics that were employed in my research setting. However, I was able to go further and use the insights that were developed through ethnographic approaches to inform community level strategies for tackling the climate emergency and building alternatives to neoliberal approaches. Thus, my research was about the interaction between barriers and opportunities for people to create change in their local context.

3.2.1 The sociological dimension of the research

A sociological lens led me to a particular interest in the ways in which social policy, through austerity and COVID-19, impacted upon the community that I was researching, and the collective responses that the community developed in response. This was important during a time of crisis and a sociological approach enabled me to explore questions of collective power at the community level (Wacquant, 2016). I tied this into broader ideas of neoliberalism, a key concern of sociology, and to how those at the community level attempt to navigate the inequalities that are produced within neoliberalism, how they respond to the pushing of the market into more aspects of society, and how people organise to develop resilience to the negative impacts that they face (Burawoy, 2005; 2015). Through this insight, I wanted to understand how organisations can contribute towards urban sustainable environments that tackle the climate emergency, which was about combining understandings of the barriers with

understandings of the types of opportunities that the political, economic, and social structures generate (Cottam, 2018). Sociological approaches were important for my theoretical framework of community resilience as they provided insights into the collective conditions that were generated by the social policy context, as well as insight into agency and vulnerability at the community level (Wright, 2021).

3.2.2 The human geography dimension of the research

From a human geography perspective, the research approach was focused on exploring understandings of the role that community organisations can play in developing alternatives that challenge the current status-quo and contribute towards tackling the climate emergency. Urban sustainable futures thinking is concerned with creating, imagining, and co-producing inspiring alternatives to the current urban reality (Chatterton, 2019). Climate change represents a fundamental challenge to social structures and there is a great need to imagine effective responses (Brulle, 2015). Therefore, by playing an active role in supporting the development of community action and building community resilience more broadly, human geography approaches in my research supported the development of academic knowledge of how, with regards to climate change mitigation, we might respond more effectively at a community level (Norgaard, 2018). Thus, as well as critiquing the current situation through sociological enquiry, I was interested in developing community action that could inform the practices of the people and the organisation in which my research took place. This was through focusing on important social issues that mattered to people in or associated with my case study organisation (Cresswell et al., 2018).

3.2.3 How I brought sociology and human geography together

I wanted to understand the issues that existed in the community, the links to place, and how solutions could be developed at the community level (Pickerill, 2019). Alongside this, I am interested in how a focus on place-based responses, in which people are not merely victims but are attempting to assert their autonomy, work together to build their community, and attempt to explore the possibility of developing alternatives to market, led to the development of strategies and practices for achieving change in their local area (Gibson-Graham, 2003). Thus, an interdisciplinary approach supported meeting the research objectives and answering the research questions. Sociologically I was able to explore the barriers for effective climate action, and human geography ideas were used to look at the types of opportunities that were evident at the community level for effective community action for tackling the climate emergency. By drawing together literatures and methods from sociology and human geography, I could critique the current situation by exploring issues of power, inequality, and the impacts of social policy. In terms of meeting my research objectives, I used empirical evidence to understand how a community organisation was responding to intersecting crises at the community level. Through this approach I could answer my overall research question, "How are people coming together within the case study organisation to tackle climate change, alongside the social crises generated by austerity and the COVID-19 pandemic?". Answering this research question entailed a focus on the structural causes of the crises that the community faced, alongside understandings of the types of futures that they were attempting to build.

3.3 Ethnography and action research as the key methodological approaches of this research

3.3.1 Ethnographic methodological approach

A key component of my research was immersion within the settings that make up my case study organisation. I wanted to become familiar with the surroundings and practices to gain an insight into the perspectives of those within it (Hine, 2017). This enabled the development of a theoretically informed and rich account of those practices (Hine, 2017). This ethnography explored the social processes that took place within the various settings of my case study, with an interest in how they reflected and supported their strategic approach, theory of change, and informed the activities that were undertaken by the case study organisation (Denzin, 2006). To increase my understanding of the organisation, participation and observation across their

programmes and activities was vital (see 3.4 for detail of the methods). Rich description of the experiences and practices of people and organisations that engage in action can lead to an appreciation of the conditions that shape the possibilities open to those seeking social and political change (Mahler, 2006). Through an ethnographic approach I was able to connect questions of how the organisation functioned with why it functioned the way it did (Tilly, 2007).

An important aspect of my ethnography was being flexible based on what I was seeing, both in terms of theory and towards what was happening in the day-to-day activities and broader operations of the organisation. Through this I was able to be on the lookout for surprises that revealed "rich points" for exploration (Agar, 2006). Within my research, I used an iterative approach to ethnographic inquiry and was open to pursuing topics and angles that I had not decided in advance, pursuing themes based on a growing understanding of the organisation and the political and social context in which they operated (Srivastava and Hopwood, 2018; Benzecry and Baiocchi, 2017). A key part of my research was to understand the impacts of this broader context on the strategies, approaches, and activities of the organisation. A further element of my iterative approach was that repeat observation helped to focus the study on what was really happening, so I funnelled down from the array of observations until repeat observations were no longer revealing new patterns (Agar, 2006).

3.3.2 The action research methodological approach

The second overarching methodological approach was action research. This involved working with the case study organisation, their volunteers, and supporters, to develop climate action projects and activities based in their community. This connected the action research to the human geography element of this research through highlighting how space and place were important dimensions of participation (Kindon et al., 2007). Developing action research within my study contributed towards my first objective of understanding the barriers and opportunities for effective community action for tackling climate change. As my case study organisation worked across multiple issues, using an action research approach enabled me to develop projects that had a specific climate

focus. I analysed the projects, the processes, the aims, strategies, and activities, which contributed to answering the overall research question in terms of how people came together within the case study organisation to tackle climate change. Whilst there are many ways that answering this question could be approached, action research added value to the research as it focuses on developing participation and a form of inquiry that foregrounds action to address issues that the community themselves highlight (Reason and Bradbury, 2001). Another aspect that made action research a good way to meet the objectives of this research was that it entails working towards social change through action, which aligns with objective 1 (see 1.2.1) and is committed to an ethos of sharing and learning between the researcher and those participating in the research (see 1.2.3) (Macdonald, 2012).

As with the ethnographic side of the research, the action research was about collecting rich and meaningful data from which to build theory (Duesbery and Twyman, 2020). This strand of the research used participatory approaches to bring together people who wanted to create social change and work on the issue of tackling the climate emergency at a local level (Savin-Baden and Wimpenny, 2007). Using a collaborative approach to action research meant I could explore the barriers and opportunities for effective climate action (objective 1). I could also gain an understanding, both from inside KVDT and those that took part in the action research groups about how the climate emergency, and strategies to tackle it, intersected with the other crises that were impacting on the community (objective 2). The action research processes and the strategies that were developed supported the research objectives, the overall research question, as well as contributing to answering questions about strategies to build community resilience, especially in reference to developing symbiotic and interstitial strategies.

3.3.3 Combining ethnography and action research

Ethnography and action research fit well together as qualitative processes. Through ethnography the researcher can be a participant and observer, which means that the action research can be based upon the understandings gained through participant observation (Duesbery and Twyman, 2020). This was certainly true in my case, where

the action research did not commence until three months into the fieldwork, after several observations and interviews had been conducted (see 3.5 for more detail). The action research programme that I worked on contained climate change mitigation focused initiatives and the findings include analysis of the processes and the outcomes achieved from the projects undertaken. In line with the values underpinning the research, the aim was to generate projects and approaches that were experimental and action orientated (Gibson-Graham, 2008). This enabled the development a programme of work to contribute towards the objectives of the case study organisation. Thus, this strand of the research was aimed at making a small contribution towards creating the world that we want to inhabit (Gibson-Graham, 2008).

3.4 A case study approach

A case study is defined as "an in-depth description and analysis of a bounded system" (Merriam, 2009, p. 39). Whilst this can be approached in many ways, in this research I explored the chosen organisation's strategies, its programs, activities, and the processes that make up the organisation (Creswell et al., 2018). Furthermore, I analysed these activities in relation to their goals, as well as how the broader political and social context in which they operated impacted on how successful they were at achieving those goals. In this research, the "bounded system" was the Kirkstall Valley Development Trust, a community organisation based in Leeds. Whilst this was one case, the aim was to contribute towards a critical understanding of how communities are responding to the intersecting crises that they faced through austerity, COVID-19, and the climate emergency. These are issues that resonate more broadly than with just this community, which is a key element of using a case study approach (Yin, 1993).

With a focus on the intersecting crises, within a theoretical framework of community resilience, immersing myself within KVDT through ethnography and action research enabled me to explore in depth how the different elements of community resilience interacted, co-existed, and in some instances limited one another through the various strategies, projects, community programmes, and in the motivations of the people that

made up the organisation. Therefore, whilst my research is focused on a specific organisation, its findings can contribute towards theory and broader understandings of how community led strategies emerge within the neoliberal context of the UK. Through ethnography and action research, I was able to develop research that is "richly descriptive" (Merriam, 2009, p. 39). This rich description was achieved through studying one case in great depth and applying my interdisciplinary approach. I was able to relate what I saw through immersion in the research site to sociological ideas of how people developed resilience in a time of crisis, state withdrawal, and the dominance of market thinking (Burawoy, 2005; 2015). I was also able to use a single case to look at how, in this environment, people sought to create alternatives at the community level (Chatterton, 2019). Thus, the findings from my case study can contribute towards theory and broader understandings of how community led strategies emerge within the neoliberal context of the UK.

3.4.1 Developing the research through co-production with the case study organisation

According to Horner (2016), co-produced research entails an equal partnership between academic and non-academic participants across all the phases of the research. Within this definition my research was not co-produced, as the overall focus of climate change, the research questions, and the subsequent theories were not developed in partnership with the case study organisation. However, within this research many aspects were co-produced, with members of the organisation helping to inform the direction of the research, the research outputs, and the intended impacts of the action research. Once in the field, the research approach was one of flexibility and a focus on action through partnerships (Campbell and Vanderhoven, 2016). Through the understandings that I gained through ethnographic immersion, building relationships and familiarity with their work, I could work with the key staff members to shape the conduct of the research, so that the research fitted with the vision and aims of the case study organisation (see 3.4.4 below for more detail of the aims).

A key dimension of my collaborative method was being flexible towards developing approaches and partnerships based upon what I was seeing and learning through my

engagement with KVDT. For instance, during my research I worked on three funding bids, as it became apparent that securing funding was of vital importance to ensuring that the organisation could survive. I supported this in a practical sense, as this work helped KVDT meet their needs, and this work also contributed towards my research findings about how they operated in relation to the ever-advancing market (Burawoy, 2005; 2005a).

The direction and impacts of the research were emergent, non-linear, and responsive to what was happening in the research setting (Darby, 2017). I felt throughout the research that I could contribute towards KVDT's work and that their established position as experts in their local community contributed towards the research process. As Darby (2017) highlights, a case study partner can bring expertise and experience to the research project. I recognised within this that the people working for and with KVDT had an expertise about their organisation, the community that the research took place in, how to create change through their work, and that this provided valuable insight and direction during the research process (Dryzek et al., 2019). Often, as the project progressed, this was about dialogue between myself and the people that I had gotten to know in the organisation. I could share my ideas with them, my ideas were used by them to inform their work, and I was also able to test my ideas and adapt them based upon conversations and input from people in KVDT.

3.4.2 The limitations of a single case study

Through a case study I was able to develop an in-depth analysis of a single case. As Yin (1993) states, this is with the intention of exploring broader phenomenon, in my case of neoliberal governance and community resilience in the face of it. The knowledge that is derived from this is partial and context specific. This means that the vulnerabilities that other communities are tackling, the types of organisations that they develop, how they prioritise, and the approaches that they take may differ. Thus, my research was context specific in terms of an unprecedented pandemic and place specific. This means that a similar organisation outside of the UK, in another area of the UK, or even within the city of Leeds, may generate different results.

3.4.3 Sampling

The decision to work with the case study organisation was purposive sampling, as they are an established organisation with experience of working at a grass-roots level (Moser and Korstjens, 2018). By focusing on one case, this type of purposive sampling was homogenous, as the aim was to investigate the group in considerable detail (Emmel, 2013). Working with the case study organisation supported my first two objectives. Firstly, understanding the barriers and opportunities for effective community action for tackling the climate emergency and secondly, using empirical evidence to understand how a community organisation is responding to intersecting crises at the community level. These objectives highlight my motivation to explore climate action at the community level but as part of understanding the wider context that the action was taking place in. Through my case study organisation, I wanted to contribute to a climate agenda that sees climate action as part of a broader range of actions to "tackle social and economic inequalities" (Howarth et al., 2021, p. 5). By choosing them I could contribute towards understandings of the interactions between climate and non-climate activity, and how they support and inhibit one another in a period of crisis (Tiratelli et al., 2021).

3.4.4 How the case study organisation functioned

KVDT, having launched in 2016, are officially registered as a "not for profit community benefit society". A community benefit society exists to "serve the broader interests of the community" (Co-op, n.d.). There are over 900 development trusts in the UK, which makes KVDT a case study of an organisation that is part of a broader movement (Development Trust Association Scotland, n.d.). Trusts develop with specific reference to their contexts, so differ in many aspects from each other. However, "While there is no one model for Development Trusts, they do have common characteristics of being concerned with the regeneration of an area, not for private gain, aiming for long term sustainability, and community based and accountable" (Wilcox, 2004). KVDT had a strong vision and strategy that supported their ideas for community transformation, but

also implicitly left space for programmes of work that supported vulnerable people, without necessarily seeking to develop transformative action. This was articulated in their strategy as tackling pollution, the climate emergency, and social inequality alongside developing facilities and activities to support elderly people, young people, and vulnerable groups.

In their strategy, KVDT outlined a broader approach to supporting the community, building an inclusive community, and building community led sustainability. This meant that much of their approach was inspired and informed by asset-based community development (ABCD). ABCD is an approach to community development that focuses on developing the assets and strengths that exist in the community, rather than starting from looking at perceived deficits (Scott et al., 2018). Assets that are built can include skills, networks, institutional capacity, and place-based assets (Kretzmann and McKnight, 1993). This made KVDT a good case study for developing ideas about community resilience, as many of these assets align with important dimensions of resilience as outlined in section 2.5.

During the research period, KVDT operated from two sites, including the community centre, commonly referred to as "Unit 11" and the Kirkstall Valley Farm, which was a Community Supported Agriculture (CSA) project. Within the organisation there were a mixture of formal and non-formal structures, with a constitution, as well as steering groups, tasks groups and more informal groups that developed, delivered the work, and created priorities. As a community benefit society, they were part of the co-operative movement. This meant that members, whether farm members, KVDT members, or KVDT shareholders, could vote in matters of KVDT. The organisation was comprised of an elected board of directors of eight people from the local community and they had three paid staff at the beginning of my research, but this rose to ten paid staff during my research. During COVID-19, the KVDT volunteer list grew to around 350 people from the local area and there were also roughly 250 members.

As a development trust, KVDT were working to support the community, which was evident in their programmes, such as their work with children and families, coffee mornings for older people, as well as events that they organised around things such as Halloween, Easter, Bonfire Night, and Christmas. People were also able to volunteer at the community centre or on the Kirkstall Valley Farm. The farm depended on volunteers to play key roles in the strategy and operational groups, as well as people becoming involved in planning and maintenance on the farm.

Shortly before my research began, KVDT shifted their work to play a prominent role in the COVID-19 pandemic response as the official 'Community Care Hub' for their local area. For this, they worked in partnership with the council to support people that were vulnerable due to the social impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. This meant that embedding my research in the group enabled me to answer research questions that focused on how community led responses to the climate emergency took shape within the broader crises that communities were dealing with. As well as their extensive experience of working in their community they had ambitious plans and ideas for generating local transformation, including for increasing sustainability. This was evident through the Kirkstall Valley Farm as well as in ideas that they were pursuing to regenerate two derelict former mills in their local area. This made them a good case for understanding community led strategies for creating transformation. This range of projects, programmes, strategies, and ways of organising provided the opportunity for me to explore how they worked in their local context and connect it to the broader political context (Horner, 2016).

3.5 The ethnographic methods used and how they contributed towards the results

The two ethnographic methods that I employed were participant observations of the case study organisation and interviews with key people in the organisation. Through this, I was able to understand KVDT and their approaches. My fieldwork took place over roughly thirteen months from June 2020 to July 2021. During this period, I engaged in a range of different activities to immerse myself within day-to-day work of the case study organisation, combining participant observations and interviews to generate data and develop a "thick description" of what was happening within the organisation (Merriam, 2009).

3.5.1 Participant observation method

I conducted participant observation at all levels of the organisation. A brief overview is provided in Table 1 (below).

What I	Dates	Brief description
observed or		
took part in		
Board	Sept 2020-	I attended eight board meetings. The first two as an
meetings	Dec 2021	observer and six as a participant and observer. I
		continued to attend board meetings after the official
		research period ended.
		The board meetings focused on overseeing the running of
		KVDT and setting the strategic direction of the
		organisation.
Annual	Nov 2020	There were two AGMs that I attended. The AGMs were
General	Oct 2021	an opportunity to showcase KVDT's work to supporters
Meetings		and for supporters to raise questions, vote on issues, and
(AGM)		input into the direction of the organisation.
Farm	Feb 2021-	I attended six meetings of the farm groups. These groups
strategic and	June 2021	were overseen by the farm director and attended by farm
planning		volunteers. The issues ranged from oversight of the farm,
group		finances, strategic direction, and practical aspects of
		running and developing the farm project.
COVID-19	Sept 2020-	I observed the food distribution work at the Unit 11 hub.
food	June 2021	Through this, I spent time with those running and
distribution		volunteering on the project.
After School	April-July	This was a COVID-19 project to create a space in which
Club	2021	children and families could interact, with some
		educational elements. It took place on the farm.

Volunteering	March	I volunteered as a COVID-19 food deliverer. I also, on
activities	2020-Sept	occasion, did supermarket shopping, dog walking, and
	2021	medicine delivery. This was mainly done once a week
		throughout the course of the COVID-19 pandemic.
		I also volunteered on the farm, planting vegetables on
		several occasions in the spring and summer of 2021. This
		enabled me to speak with the growers and farm
		volunteers.
KVDT	Sept 2020-	I attended several events, such as a scarecrow trail, a
events	Sept 2021	Halloween event, Easter egg trail, and Christmas events
		that took place on the farm or at Unit 11.

Table 1

As the table above shows, I observed and participated in activities at all levels of the case study organisation. By viewing activities, from board level to volunteering, I could document what happened in KVDT through spending time in the natural settings of the organisation (Hammersley, 2018). As my research questions focused on the 'how' of the work of KVDT, and how this related to the political and economic environment in which they operated, through observation I could focus on what people did and why they did it (Hammersley, 2018). By observing the organisation across the different levels, I was able to gain an understanding of the perspectives of people that set the direction of the organisation, those that volunteered their time, and those that were paid employees. This was important as organisations, such as KVDT, have multiple objectives and ways of carrying out their work (Eliasoph, 2011). Through observing them over a long period, I was able to see how different strategies developed, how constraints changed, how that was perceived by people across the organisation, and how their motivations informed priorities and activities.

The range of activities I observed and participated in enabled me to build relationships with people in KVDT. This ethnographic approach supported the development of

research that explored the culture of the organisation through understanding the day-today activities and practices. Through analysis, I was able to connect these practices to the strategies and ambitions of the organisation, based upon an understanding of the context in which they were developed. I was able to look at the various aspects of how the organisation developed community resilience, how they constructed meaning from their activities, and how their activities were shaped by the broader environment in which they operated. As Luhtakallio and Eliasoph (2014) argue, this deep immersion enabled me to "open windows" on what was happening in the organisation. This enabled me to answer research questions about the barriers and opportunities within a community organisation for tackling the climate emergency alongside the other challenges that they faced.

3.5.2 Interviews as an ethnographic method

As well as participant observation, my ethnographic approach also involved carrying out ten thirty minutes to one hour long individual interviews with the KVDT board members, paid staff, and volunteers (see Table 2 below for a brief overview). I conducted two interviews with KVDT board members, both around one hour in length. My intention was to conduct interviews in person but this was impacted by COVID-19 restrictions, as well as availability of people. Therefore, I conducted one board member interview in person and one online, using Zoom. I carried out three interviews with KVDT paid staff, all in person, and these ranged from forty minutes to one hour in length. I did interviews with the board and paid staff before progressing the interviews with volunteers. In part, this was practical as I had built a relationship with the board and paid staff due to the types of events that I was observing and it took longer to do so with volunteers. I did carry out five interviews with volunteers, three of which were in person and two of which we conducted online, using Zoom.

Type of	Number/how	Dates	Aims
interview	conducted		
KVDT	One in person	October	Understand how change happens through
Board	interview at	2020	KVDT
members	participants place		
	of work		Get an understanding of how KVDT functions –
			both on a strategic level and in the day-to-day
	One online		
	interview using		Understand people's motivations for being
	Zoom		involved in KVDT
			Get ideas about how this project can contribute
			towards local sustainability and climate action
KVDT paid	Three in person	October	Understand how change happens through
staff	interviews at the	2020	KVDT
	KVDT community		Cat an understanding of how K) (DT functions
	hub		Get an understanding of how KVDT functions –
			both on a strategic level and in the day-to-day
			Understand people's motivations for being
			involved in KVDT
			Get ideas about how this project can contribute
			towards local sustainability and climate action
KVDT	Three in person	March	
volunteers	interviews at the	2021-	Get an understanding of how KVDT functions in
	KVDT community	Мау	the day-to-day
	hub	2021	

Two online	Understand people's motivations for being
interviews using	involved in KVDT
Zoom	
	Get ideas about how volunteers see the role of
	KVDT in supporting the local community
	Understand how volunteers see the issue of
	climate change and climate action

Table 2

I recorded the interviews and the transcribed them afterwards. Transcription enabled me to develop an accurate record of the interviews and was the first stage of the process of analysing the interviews (see more on the analysis process in Section 3.9). For each interview I was able to highlight themes that were relevant to my research questions and create categories based on this (Merriam, 2009). I used comparative analysis to see which categories and themes were recurring in the interviews and relate those to the categories that I was developing through my participant observations (Coffey, 2018). See Annex A for an outline of the interviews and a list of questions that I used. However, the interviews were conversational and I adapted the questions depending on responses and created follow up questions to ensure that I was able to draw out the views, ideas, and experiences of those that I was interviewing.

The semi structured interviews contributed to multiple elements of the research. For instance, they contributed to the problem definition that informed the development of the action research agenda. The interviews helped to shape the research questions, as well as providing rich data about KVDT and the local community, from a range of perspectives. The board members had important knowledge and experience of the organisation, its strategies, and activities, thus giving me and an insiders' view (Kings and Horrocks, 2010). By interviewing paid staff, I was able to gain an understanding of the day-to-day aspects of how the organisation was run through the eyes of those that were running it. An important aspect of my research objectives and questions was to gain insight into how KVDT sought to improve life in the local area and mobilise the

community towards that end. The perspective of volunteers was an important dynamic in gaining an understanding of what a better local area looked like to them, what role they saw KVDT playing in this endeavour, as well as what they felt the organisation should prioritise. As a key objective of my research was based on creating climate action, it was also useful to understand the motivations of the volunteers for being part of KVDT, to see how climate action fitted alongside other reasons that they had for giving their time to support the work of KVDT.

Through the interviews, alongside the observations that I was undertaking, I learned about the organisation, information that I used to shape the workshops that formed part of the action research element of this research (Moser and Korstjens, 2018). The interviews focused on people's personal experiences within and understandings of KVDT, and the social processes involved in the workings of the organisation (Kings and Horrocks, 2010). The interviews produced situated and contextual knowledge based on people's perspectives (Mason, 2002). I also used the interviews to get people's ideas on what my action research should focus on. This was to ensure that the projects that I developed, and the observations that I generated, were specific to the context (Mason, 2002).

3.6 The action research methods used and how they contributed towards the results

There were two central components of the action research method. The first was a workshop (see Annex B for an overview) that I devised and ran with KVDT supporters and the second was the action groups that I created. The first of these, The A65 Sustainable Travel Group (The A65 Group), was created as an outcome of the workshop and the second, the Kirkstall Craftivists, was developed in collaboration KVDT. The workshop, and subsequent action groups, were designed to achieve a specific goal, give people the opportunity to learn more about the climate emergency and create an environment in which people could participate and influence the direction of the projects (Orngreen and Levison, 2017). See Table 3 for a brief overview of all action research methods.

Action research	Dates	Brief description
method		
Workshop 1 – 'The	November	An online workshop attended by between 20-30
zero carbon	2020	people to build on the KVDT 5-year sustainability
challenge'		strategy
(See Annex B for		The workshop consisted of all group and breakout
an overview)		discussions to identify the local challenges and to get
		ideas for action around key areas of transport, energy,
		green space, and making KVDT more sustainable
		The researcher wrote up the meeting notes, contacted
		participants and proposed the creation of The A65
		Sustainable Travel Group
A65 Group	November	A group of around ten people, with meetings regularly
meetings	2020-	attended by between four-six people met bi-weekly for
	December	over one year to create active travel projects within the
	2021	local area.
		Researcher captured the research data from these
		•
		meetings either through diary reflections, meeting
		minutes, as well as writing a terms of reference for the
		group, a theory of change, and a strategy for the group
		We also fundraised for the group to buy e-bikes and
		materials to support our Clea Air Day event
Kirkstall Craftivists	November	Researcher met with other craftivist groups, conducted
	2020	research about Craftivism and fundraised to create the
	June	group
	2021-	

	Deember 2021	The group met once a month to create sustainability projects
		Wednesday Walker – met once a week on guided walks around the valley
		Green Hearts Project – KVDT took part in a national campaign prior to COP 26
A65 offline events	February	Guerilla Gardening – Researcher attended two
	2021-	different events that did path clearing, litter picking and
	December	wildflower planting
	2021	
		Clean Air Day – Researcher attended two events, one
		to make signs about reducing car use and another for
		Clean Air Day
		E-bike project – Group loaned out e-bikes to KVDT supporters
Workshop 2 –	March	KVDT online meeting online with Leeds City Council
Transport	2021	department of transport representative.
Consultation event		
strategy		The format was a presentation from the council
		followed by small breakout groups and a main plenary.
(See Annex B for		
an overview)		The discussions focused on getting clarity about the
		ambition of the strategy, people's ideas for what was
		needed at the city level and at the local level.

Following the meeting researcher created shared
6 6
documents to draft a response to the Transport
strategy.
This response was shared with attendees for comment
•
before being redrafted and submitted by the
researcher.
The researcher shared the response with the local
The researcher shared the response with the local
councilors and through the formal process.

Table 3

3.6.1 The importance of the workshop in developing the action research

Part of the value of the relationships that I built with KVDT staff was it helped to create the overview and goals of the action research workshop that was conducted. The aim of the workshop was to bring together the multidisciplinary skills that existed in the KVDT staff team, volunteers, and supporters to analyse the question of what community led responses to tackling the climate emergency could focus on. For instance, the KVDT staff team and I decided collaboratively on the categories that we discussed in the workshops, which were active travel, increasing greenspace, and community energy. The first element of this was to use the participatory approach of a workshop to bring clarity to the problems to be tackled (Sufi et al., 2018). The workshop was a means to develop the practices, generate ideas for the projects, and delve into the complexity of creating change (Orngreen and Levinsen, 2017).

I had two aims for the workshops. Firstly, I wanted to solicit ideas for what problems we could address and what a programme of work could look like. Secondly, I wanted to begin to create programme documentation, such as a logic model, timeline, and project delivery plans. Thus, the workshop was structured to set out the climate problem, elicit ideas for what this meant to people in the local area, before finally generating ideas for local actions that we could develop together. The workshop highlights how participation

and co-production were central aspects of the research process. For instance, I wanted to ensure that my design process was participatory, in terms of defining the zero-carbon challenge in the local context, ensuring that outcomes were built with the support of those involved, and that we collaboratively generated ideas on activities to carry out.

As a researcher, I used the workshops in an ethnographic way to uncover relevant factors relating to my broader theoretical perspectives (Orngreen and Levinsen, 2017). For instance, in the workshop I began by clarifying the crisis of climate change before creating small groups in which people could discuss some of the barriers and opportunities that they saw for contributing to tackling it at the local level. During the workshop, most of the energy was towards the transport group, in terms of the number of people that attended that session and the number of action ideas that were generated. Therefore, I decided to prioritise this area and we decided to form The A65 Sustainable Travel Group (The A65 Group) to develop actions around these issues. The workshops also generated outputs in terms of the write up summary, the logic model that underpinned the activity, as well as agreement on which area to focus on. Following the workshop I developed a campaign proposal, framing the overall problem that we wanted to tackle. This information was captured and used as data to contribute towards answering the research questions. This workshop grounded subsequent work within this local expertise and the desire to satisfy local needs (Oosterlynck, 2018).

The workshop took place online and was part of a broader event, with the first part being dedicated to the launch of the KVDT Sustainability Strategy '20-'25. This meant I had forty-five minutes to run my session, which was a smaller amount of time then I would have liked for such a session. However, this was the most sensible and practical way to deliver on the twin priorities of KVDT, to launch their strategy and develop activities. Due to the pandemic, and the various levels of social distancing rules that were in place throughout the period of my research, like much of my action research, this event took place online. The issue of time is relevant here as there was a feeling that KVDT could not run too many events. A few weeks before this workshop there was the Annual General Meeting, and there were concerns raised internally about event fatigue. This related to the fact that it was a small pool of people from within the broader

supporter lists that engaged actively in the running, management, and design of KVDT. There was around thirty people in the session for the introduction to the strategy, twenty-four people who watched my "zero-carbon challenge" presentation, and twentyone people who took part in the group discussions in the breakout rooms.

The event was promoted through existing KVDT email and social media channels. I was able to make use of their email list of around 1,200 people, their Facebook page of around 500 people, and their Twitter account with around 900 people. I knew in advance that this would lead to what one KVDT leader described as the "community of engaged" taking part. This highlights a limitation on reaching out more broadly to more marginalised people in the process of co-design and collaboration, which was heightened by the restrictions of the COVID-19 pandemic. Added to this, I was working with KVDT on a broader event and so was reliant on them for promotion, which was useful due to their institutional reach but also limiting. KVDT did not have a coordinated online promotion approach, with different people being responsible for different elements, such as Facebook and Twitter. This meant that it was difficult to reach beyond KVDT's core audience and engage with others.

3.6.2 Developing the action research groups and how they contributed towards the research

The main element of my action research was The A65 Group. The group ran for seven months during my fieldwork and continued working together for over a year after my research ended. The group comprised a core membership of six people from the local area. We met bi-weekly throughout, and when COVID-19 restrictions allowed, we organised a range of activities and events. This included a workshop with Leeds Council to discuss the draft transport strategy, guerrilla gardening events, a Clean Air Day event, developing an e-bike project, and supporting each other in street level activism through street parties, road closures, and path clearing. Other people joined the group for activities, such as other local groups and residents taking part in the guerrilla gardening, and around twenty KVDT supporters taking part in the workshop with Leeds City Council on their draft transport strategy consultation.

I chaired the group, but it was a collaborative approach to carrying out the work, deciding on areas of interest, and creating priorities for the group. The group functioned through participation and collaboration and the processes of the group and the activities that we undertook contributed towards the research data. Once The A65 Group was set up, in the initial meetings we co-produced a Terms of Reference, a theory of change, and an action plan. Once we had carried out actions, we reviewed them as a group, and came to consensus about which activities to pursue next. This was done without hierarchy and with mutual respect between the researcher and those taking part in the research (Campbell and Vanderhoven, 2016). The main data generated was about ideas, strategies, and tactics for building community resilience and what this says about community led approaches for tackling the climate emergency. The diary extract below gives an idea of how the group was set up and the role that I played as a researcher and activist within this.

Following the workshop and ahead of the first meeting I began to draft a Terms of Reference for the travel group, using the outcomes of the workshop as the foundation. This was to create a basis for discussion within the meeting. I then used it as a form of collaboration where we could work on the document and agree it together. This was a pragmatic choice based around the fact that we were restricted to meeting online. Whilst I wanted this group to be about developing action, it was important that it had a sense of self, a collective identity needed to be formed and we needed clarity around the problems that we wanted to tackle and how to go about tackling them. This was to ensure that our actions were strategic, we could make use of our limited resources, and that the group worked and promoted values of collaboration, solidarity, and social justice.

Developing the projects involved asking what the group would like to do and how they would like to do it (Cottam, 2018). Moulaert et al. (2014) defines outcomes as improvements in social relations and collective empowerment. The key outcomes that this process led to were social learning, collective action, and mobilisation for achieving grassroots led alternatives for a sustainable future (Oosterlynck, 2013). The main research outputs from The A65 Group were project plans that we developed collaboratively, observations that I logged based upon what happened during the meetings, the observations taken from the activities that we undertook, as well as the

thoughts, feelings, opinions, and ideas of the group members that contributed (Macdonald, 2012). This data was grouped within the emerging themes from the ethnographic work and used to either refine or further the themes that were developed (see more on data analysis in 3.9).

The second action research project was the Kirkstall Craftivists project, which was designed using the understandings that I had gained from the ethnographic element of the study. The key learnings that informed this project were the social impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and the KVDT objective of finding ways to bring people together, tackle social isolation and build a sense of community. Craftivism is a form of activism that uses craft-based activities to allow people to express themselves, voice opinions, and challenge the status-quo (Freeman, 2010). It is a gentle form of activism intended to appeal to people that do not necessarily see themselves as activists or are not comfortable within traditional activist settings (Corbett, 2017). This project was developed through collaboration with Amy, a leader of KVDT. Amy and I felt that this type of activism would work well with KVDT's community and would support the organisation's priorities as well as the research agenda.

In the early stages, Amy and I connected with an established craftivist group in Leeds to discuss how we might get involved in their work. The initial project that KVDT supported was a "Green Hearts project" that aimed to raise awareness of and push for more ambition at the COP 26 United Nations International Climate Change Conference taking place in Glasgow in November 2021. I worked with a small team to develop this project, before securing funding to run a craftivism project through KVDT. For the Craftivism project, we employed two event leads and hosted the events at the community hub, one of the few community spaces in the valley, encouraging more people to engage with the space and develop relationships within it. This project was seen as benefitting KVDT by helping to build the vibrancy of the space through facilitating a new kind of activity within the area. Once the group was set up, it self-managed to decide on activities and how it would function. An interesting outcome of this was that as well as supporting activities

that sought to generate local sustainability, the group also carried out activities supporting other areas, like refugee rights.

3.7 The impact of COVID-19 on the research fieldwork - how my field site was on and offline

The research coincided with the COVID-19 pandemic and the lockdown and social distancing measures impacted upon how social research could be conducted during this period (Hine, 2020). For practical purposes during restrictions, and to approach the research with an intention to use all the tools available, the field site in my research was a blend of physical and virtual spaces (Burrell, 2009). In terms of offline fieldwork, throughout the pandemic I volunteered on the COVID-19 food distribution and as restrictions eased, I was able to spend time in the Unit 11 community hub. Through the spring and early summer of 2021, I took part in activities at the Kirkstall Valley Farm, such as the vegetable planting and the after-school club. As these activities were outside, they could continue despite restrictions that were in place to limit interaction indoors. My interviews were a mixture of online and offline, with seven in person and three online. COVID-19 had a big impact on my research as it dictated how my ethnographic immersion could take place. Many aspects of KVDT activity took place online, for instance, KVDT board meetings and the farm strategy and planning meetings took place online using Zoom.

In relation to the action research, COVID-19 also shaped the approaches that I took and influenced the data that that I generated. Working online impacted the development of The A65 Group, as over the first three months, due to social restrictions, we were not able to carry out offline actions. To limit this impact, I shifted some aspects of the research to focus more on the strategies that we developed rather than the activities that those strategies led to. However, The A65 Group did carry out some in person activities, such as guerrilla gardening and Clean Air Day. Therefore, I did generate data on activity, although not as much as envisaged when the research began. We also carried out an online activity with Leeds City Council to respond to their draft transport

strategy. As stated above, ethnography is about deep immersion and COVID-19 did limit my opportunities to interact with the people that joined The A65 Group. This meant that it took longer to form relationships and gain understandings. Thus, COVID-19 limited the study in terms of how observation could be carried out and how I could forge the relationships that are essential elements of ethnography and action research. The following extract from my diary (see 3.9 for more detail on how I recorded my data), written after the action research workshop, explored this.

The key issues of online research that I am seeing are about the barriers that conducting this type of participatory research has. Zoom is a forum that presents challenges to inclusivity, you need a device, you need confidence to interact in this type of forum, and this could put people off. Joining a set piece event needs time and people that work irregular hours or have caring responsibility might find it difficult to attend such an event. It was also difficult on Zoom to develop relationships between people, and it is these relationships and personable interactions that can be fundamental components of developing activity. As the event lead it was difficult to "read the room" as I was staring at a computer screen and this made it challenging to find ways to build bonds between myself and the participants, and the participants with each other. It was difficult to know the overall impact of this on the outcomes of the meeting.

There were four further challenges that were apparent within my online research. Firstly, as identified in section 3.6.1, and highlighted in the diary extract above, outreach to people not already engaged in KVDT was challenging and engaging in an online workshop has both a technological barrier as well as other barriers, around things such as confidence. Secondly, as the extract highlights, but was also an issue when attending other KVDT meetings, playing a participatory role within observations when the meetings were online could be difficult (De Seta, 2020). Thirdly, a challenge in The A65 Group was building group identity and enabling the development of bonds between people. Fourthly, in both the interviews and the meetings, despite people having cameras, it was difficult to read social cues and body language, which are important aspects of communication (Janghorban et al., 2014). Thus, across interviews, observations, and action groups, uncovering the practices, a key dimension of what I was researching, was difficult, as people adjusted to carrying out previously in-person activities online. However, using online methods provided a set of tools that enabled the

research to take place. The blend of online and offline approaches meant that, despite the social restrictions of the COVID-19 pandemic, I was still able to generate rich data and develop projects that supported an exploration of my research questions.

3.8 Positionality and reflexivity within my research

Whilst not seeking to become a full insider to KVDT, playing an active role allowed me to remove the insider/outsider dichotomy to build rapport and gain greater insight into the culture under observation (Rubin, 2012). To achieve this, as Hine (2017) argues, I was an outsider who could spot practices of interest and an insider to the extent that I empathised with the norms, values, and practices of those I was immersed with. To generate the outcomes, I was involved in and planned workshops, meetings and activities as important methods of documenting and analysing the group dynamics and culture. What my immersion with KVDT showed was that as well as the need to not treat insider/outsider as a dichotomy or mutually exclusive, my position relative to the group changed during the period of my research.

This change was in part due to the relationships that I formed and because I became more knowledgeable about the organisation and the context within which they worked. Through this, I became a more valuable member of the group in terms of how I could support the organisation. This was either through organising workshops, engaging with other community organisations, engaging with the council on behalf of the organisation, or through the understandings that I was developing through my research activities. In terms of Hine's (2017) argument, being an outsider enabled me to support the organisation to reflect on their practices and approaches and to help them to refine those to increase their impact in some areas. As my fieldwork went on for over one year and took place during a period of crisis and ongoing uncertainty, reflecting on practice during a time when strategies and projects were in flux was valuable for the organisation. My positionality shifted throughout my research as my understanding of the organisation increased, my roles in the organisation changed, and due to the relationships that I was able to develop with people (Gelir, 2021).

By empathising with their ambitions, I was able to help KVDT to achieve those ambitions in some areas, such as supporting projects, strategy development, and through fundraising. This shows that the insider and outsider dichotomy needs to be broken down, as I did not have a single status with the group. Rather, I had an interrelated set of statuses that affected my perspective (Merton, 1972). This aided my study as the strongest revelations come from being part of the flow and rhythm of social interaction (Juris, 2007). My aim in immersing myself in the research site was to breakdown the distance between myself and the organisation and therefore I do not claim that this research is value free (Kings and Horrocks, 2010).

My positionality within the research was multidimensional, ambiguous, and shifted both over the course of the research and within the different dimensions of the research (Coghlan and Brydon-Miller, 2014). This was in part because I was conducting ethnography and action research. My positionality was more akin to what Herr and Anderson (2005) describe as existing on a continuum from outsider to insider and was difficult to define. Within the action research setting, the groups that formed the study were initiated by me and I took part either in leadership or participatory roles alongside others. In The A65 Group the relationship could be described as insider to insider in which people were co-learning and generating collective action (Herr and Anderson, 2005). This entailed working together to form action plans, organise activity and collaborate on developing an agenda (Herr and Anderson, 2005). As part of my role, I project managed the creation of projects, so was responsible for overseeing key programme documentation and delivery plans for this work. I also chaired meetings of The A65 Group and helped to organise activities. My research was interested in strategies for change, looked at issues such as social empowerment, and this entailed reflecting on both the practice of generating action and the actions themselves (Herr and Anderson, 2005). This was to support the research objectives of exploring what the processes, strategies and activities demonstrated about creating local change for tackling the climate emergency. My positionality within The A65 Group was that of a coinquirer seeking to create change, explore opportunities, and addressing problems that were identified through the research process (Coghlan and Brydon-Miller, 2014).

The ethnographic and action research approaches created partial knowledge, developed in a specific context, and as I was the researcher generating this knowledge through collaboration, it required me to be reflexive towards my own understandings and appreciate the expertise of those that I was researching with (Rose, 1997). My background impacted on my understandings both prior to the research being carried out and during the conduct of the research. I had a professional background working at a large International Non-Governmental Organisation (INGO) for over ten years. In this role I worked on many international advocacy campaigns, worked on fundraising from institutions, and project managed large-scale projects. Skills that I developed in my previous roles were useful for KVDT, and whilst community organising operates very differently, I brought some of those approaches to my research. For instance, at the outset of The A65 Group we developed a Terms of Reference and a Theory of Change, which are important components of developing advocacy campaigns. Equally, my previous work meant that I started from a mindset that I wanted to contribute towards creating positive change through my research and immerse myself in the organisation to contribute towards this (Gibson-Graham, 2006).

Positionality and reflexivity "are tools to explore the impact of the researcher's identities and correlated emotions on field access and data collection, which in turn influence the results of the study" (Fort, 2020). Throughout the study, I was conscious that my research was an interaction between my developing theoretical understanding, professional experience, and expanding knowledge (Kings and Horrocks, 2010). In some ways this means that there is a limit to the generalisations that can be made from this research. Another element linked to this, that adds to the specificity, was that I was an individual researcher and therefore my own positionality and reflexivity impacted on access and data collection, which impacted on the results of the study (Fort, 2020). This adds to the idea that this knowledge is partial, as my own experience as a researcher, as well as my professional background of working on campaigns and advocacy within an INGO, impacted upon the approaches I took and the analysis that I developed.

An aspect of what Fort (2020) describes as my identity in relation to the organisation, those that I was working with, and the emotional attachments that I had generated

through my fieldwork, related to exiting fieldwork. This was not a straightforward process, and this withdrawal process has informed the results of the study (Michailova et al., 2014). This is because my positionality continued to shift once the official fieldwork was completed and emotionally, I was still engaged with many of the people and processes that I had been observing and taking part in. This continued engagement meant that I was still contributing to KVDT and the projects that I had developed. This related to the emotional attachments that I had formed with the people involved and because I was aware that power dynamics are important in qualitative research. If I had simply left after collecting the data that I needed I felt I would be abandoning those that had supported the research, given their time, and had invested themselves in the projects that we created (Michailova et al., 2014). By remaining involved, I was still seeing elements of the phenomena that I had observed and that I was in the process of categorising and conceptualising through my data analysis and the writing process. As Fitzpatrick (2019) notes, projects are never finished, and my proximity to the research site, my relationships with those that I was researching, and my commitment to a research approach that wanted to bring about social impacts in terms of benefitting those I was researching, meant that my positionality and reflexivity continued to develop once the official research period had ended. This impacted on the overall study, as I continued to observe phenomena as I was categorising, analysing, and writing about.

3.9 Data Analysis

3.9.1 Data analysis development through building a data set

For the data analysis part of my research, I was guided by Merriam's (2009) approach for analysing data in qualitative research, as data collection and analysis were simultaneous processes during my fieldwork. This guided the development of the study, in terms of which areas to focus on. I developed a broad range of data from several different data collection methods as outlined in this chapter. This meant that I built a complex data set based on participant observations, interviews, workshops, action group meetings, the projects themselves, and their outputs. The project outputs included funding bids that I took part in writing and analysis of the activities that we undertook. I captured the data in several ways. Firstly, I wrote a diary following every visit to the field site, after every board meeting and action group meeting. By doing this, I could capture what I was seeing whilst it was fresh in my mind.

As the research progressed, I used comparative analysis within the data sets, be it the interviews or my own participant observations (Coffey, 2018). I also conducted analysis across the data sets, for instance comparing emerging patterns that were coming through the action research with ideas people had articulated in interviews and my own observations. I transcribed the interviews, which enabled analysis to begin through the transcription process. In the workshops, people wrote notes, which I could analyse later alongside my diary reflections. Following the workshop with Leeds City Council, with participants from the workshop we co-wrote a contribution to their draft transport strategy, which I also used as data in the research.

Based on this comparative approach throughout the fieldwork, the first step in my data analysis was to categorise the information into themes, a process also known as coding (Creswell et al., 2018). This enabled comparison between different pieces of data, the development of descriptive and interpretive themes based on my own observations, thoughts, and ideas, as well as themes I was drawing out from the data derived from the range of methods that I was employing (Thorne, 2000).

3.9.2 Constructing categories and coding

Constructing categories is an inductive process in which the researcher develops a "classification system reflecting the recurring regularities or patterns in your [sic] study" (Merriam, 2009, p. 181). This coding and classification process was useful in the initial ethnographic stages of my research due to the detailed descriptions that I was generating through my observation diary based upon my participant observations (Creswell et al., 2018). As I showed in 3.9.1, I was able to also compare patterns between my observations, interviews, and the action research methods that I was conducting. This first stage of categorisation enabled me to develop a form of descriptive analysis and break that data down into distinct categories, which can also be described as themes (Angrosino, 2007). From my observations, I was able to draw out themes in terms of broad categories, such as the impact of COVID-19 on the organisation, how they worked with the council, and the importance of space and place.

This enabled me to develop interview questions (see Annex A) that dug further into these themes. By developing categorisations early in the field work I was able to make links between the different data sets that I was developing (Coffey, 2018).

As I gathered more data, I reviewed the categories based on repeat visits to the various field sites, the interviews, workshops, and action research (Burawoy, 2003). Through repeat visits, as well as the process of developing the action research component of my study, I was able to refine categories, add further categories and subsume categories into one another based upon the themes and patterns that were emerging (Merriam, 2009). For instance, as the research progressed, I developed the original categories into new themes such approaches to community, space and place, being political, ambition and the everyday. I further developed these as I built my data set. This process was a combination of my own descriptions, interpretations, and systematic analysis derived from the data I was collecting, so that my findings reflected the complexity of the research setting (Coffey, 2018).

3.9.3 Moving to deductive analysis and data saturation

The third step in the data analysis process was a move to a more deductive approach once the categories were beginning to stop generating new insights and meanings (Merriam, 2009). This stage still entailed testing the categories against the data and it began during the data collection and continued once all the data was there to be analysed. As the research progressed, patterns and themes were repeated, or developed, but new themes were not emerging and this is how I knew that I had reached data saturation (Coffey, 2021). In this stage, I revisited the data that I had collected throughout the fieldwork to ensure that I had a rigorous and systematic approach to utilising all the relevant data (Coffey, 2021). The deductive stage of categorisation and analysis, just like the inductive phase, was a complex undertaking as I had a range of data types that were collected across different settings. Once I had finished my field work, I then moved to the process of applying my categorisation to a theoretical framework.

3.9.4 Finalising a theoretical framework and the final thematic categories

Once I had formally finished my fieldwork, I began to analyse my findings further, which involved revising the themes and finalising the themes that I would use by connecting them to my theoretical framework (Merriam, 2009). The final stage of data analysis within my study was theoretical analysis (Angrosino, 2007). In this stage, I took the descriptions, concepts, and categories and began a further refinement process in which I sought to relate how the component parts fitted together within a theoretical framework. Whilst I had explored several potential theoretical approaches prior to my fieldwork, and this had been an important dimension of my data analysis once in the field, once I had a complete data set, I revisited potential theoretical approaches on which to base my findings. Through this, I decided upon the final categorisations based around understanding the data through the lens of community resilience theory and undertook a final thematic categorisation based around the core ideas of community resilience as outlined in Section 1.4. In this section, I outline two theoretical approaches that I explored before deciding to use community resilience as the main theoretical approaches.

A potential theoretical approach that I looked at prior to the field work beginning was applying the capability framework for climate mitigation activity. The capability approach focuses on people and group needs, their capacities to satisfy those needs and how this relates to wellbeing (Sen, 2001, 2005). Capabilities approaches focus on the ends of well-being, for instance being nourished, confident, participation in political decisions and community activities that enhance people's lives (Kronlid, 2014). That made it a potentially useful framework for operationalising within this study, as it could enable me to frame climate action, and the ability to carry out mitigation activities, as issues of social justice, explore how to generate inclusive and socially acceptable community level transformations, with a focus on increasing the wellbeing of those involved (Kronlid, 2014; Demski et al., 2019).

In the early stages of the research, I kept in mind Sen's approach and deliberated on whether to frame interviews and workshops around creating a list of capabilities, which would lead to a research approach of generating projects that explored how people's

needs and wellbeing could be met through activities. However, following initial observations and discussions with KVDT leaders, I decided not to pursue this theoretical and methodological approach for two key reasons. Firstly, as this research took place during the COVID-19 pandemic the organisation was already stretched (as I discuss in Chapter Four) and I decided that the methodology required would be too intensive with a small team. Secondly, and related to this, the organisation was interested in practical community level approaches that linked to how they currently organised and so a more flexible approach to action research, through broader workshops and action groups, was a better fit for the organisation as it was more in line with their goals and their ways of working. As much of KVDT's work was framed by the context of crisis and based on community level strategies for tackling these, community resilience offered a theoretical framework that was closer to the reality on the ground.

A second theoretical approach that I explored in relation to my research data, before my fieldwork began and then once it had ended, was social movement theory. Whilst KVDT were not a social movement, some aspects of social movement theory were still relevant to them, as social movement theory seeks to explain how people and groups are presenting a challenge to the current status-quo (Crossley, 2002). Furthermore, many social movement theorists argue that social movement theory can encompass a broader range of actors than those that identify as social movements (Della Porta, 2015). Social movement ideas were applicable to my case study as they focus on understandings of collective action and how grass-roots organisation can drive social change within society (Lozano, 2018; Fuchs et al., 2016). Social movement theory offered the opportunity to explore how KVDT could be viewed as part of this kaleidoscope, the theories of change they developed, and the alternatives that they generate at the community level.

One aspect of social movement theory that held particular promise was resource mobilization theory, which seeks to understand the importance of resources in terms of people, time, and money (amongst others) to understand why some grievances rise to prominence and gain traction within contentious politics (Crossley, 2002). Giugni and Grasso (2018) argue that the internal characteristics of the organisation, internal structures, the amount of resources that they can deploy and degree of organisation inform the strategies that organisations pursue, and the types of political approaches that they undertake. This relates to the goals of the organisation, the scope of work both thematically and in terms of geographic level, and the types of political challenges that they are prepared to make. There was potential to deploy resource mobilisation ideas within this in my research, as many of the categories that I developed related to resources in terms of money, community assets, and people, alongside how KVDT interacted with the council. Therefore, in a broad sense I was interested in how the availability and deployment of resources impacted upon KVDT's strategies and tactics.

Whilst social movements, and the contentious politics that they engage in, are developed by alliances of ordinary citizens, often in informal networks, where I decided that social movement theory did not fit with my data was that the aim of social movements is broadly to mobilise people in sustained interaction with opponents (Crossley, 2002). Whilst this can take a range of forms, social movements engage in political contestation in a broad sense (Della Porta, 2015). In line with Mouffe (2014), these networks or organisations should be involved in a range of counter-hegemonic practices opposed to current neoliberal approaches by forging conflict with dominant practices and beliefs. Whilst, as I show in Chapters Five and Six, some practices of KVDT were about developing alternatives to current neoliberal practice, the organisation did not see itself as a social movement, many of those involved did not see themselves as political actors, and many of their activities were not in line with key characteristics of social movement ideas. Therefore, I needed a theoretical framework that could encompass a broad array of strategies, activities, and motivations, some of which were seeking transformation and others that were about simply making life more bearable in a time of crisis. Therefore, community resilience combined with the ideas of Olin Wright (as described in Section 1.4) provided a better fit with the data that I had collected.

Once I had settled on community resilience as the theoretical framework that I would deploy, the final task of my data analysis was to finalise the themes and categories that I would use. This entailed relating the categories that I had created to the core concepts

that would be explored. Firstly, I looked at how categories such as community assets, working with the council, being political etc related to the ideas contained within community resilience as adaptation. I revisited the data set that I had built in line with this. Secondly, I repeated the task looking at community resilience as transformation alongside Olin Wright's ideas about symbiotic and interstitial strategies for achieving change (see Section 1.4 for more detail). This process gave me my final thematic data set in line with the community resilience theoretical framework.

3.10 Ethics

Ethical considerations were important throughout the research process, from decisions at the design, conduct, writing phases, as well as in disseminating findings as they developed (Markham and Buchanan, 2012). As ethnographic work changes over its course, from creating a research design to responding to emergent phenomena, it presented ethical difficulties that I had to manage. Ethical considerations were practical and because of the values that underpinned the research approaches. In practical terms, I focus on the role of gatekeepers, informed consent, and privacy issues. From a values perspective, I discuss benefits of the research, dissemination of the findings throughout the process, the outcomes of the research, the decision to name the organisation in the research, and finally ending the fieldwork and withdrawing from the research site.

3.10.1 Building trust and the role of gatekeepers

An important aspect of my access to the case study organisation was that my supervisor was a board member of the organisation when my research began, this presented an ethical element before the case study had been chosen. This dual role, as part of the research team and the organisation, helped to build trust between myself and the case study at the beginning of the research. My supervisor introduced me to the organisation, but I had to make a presentation to the board about the proposed research before they then voted on whether to allow the research to take place. My supervisor recused himself from this decision to avoid a conflict of interest. An important way of limiting the impact of this type of gatekeeper role was that once the research

began my supervisor did not control the topics or findings of the research (Sanghera and Thapar-Bjorket, 2008).

Trust between the researcher and participants is key to building the relationship (Emmel et al., 2007). Alongside the connection of my supervisor to the case study, I already had experience of being involved with their work through previous workshops between Leeds University and KVDT, participating in 'Kirkstall Valley grants' awards evenings, and by volunteering in their COVID-19 mutual aid programme prior to my fieldwork beginning. Alongside the role of my supervisor as an initial gatekeeper, these other interactions formed a strong component of gaining access to the organisation by building relationships and trust. It demonstrated to them that as well as seeking to fulfil my research objectives, I was actively interested in their work and wanted to contribute towards the aims of the organisation.

3.10.2 Informed consent

Informed consent was an important dimension of the ethical approach I undertook (Hammersley, 2018). Informed consent can be defined as, "the individual understands what the goal of the research is and what they are agreeing to do, the potential risks and benefits of taking part, and have details of alternative options that may benefit them" (Eynon et al., 2017, p. 23). Whilst retaining flexibility within the research process, I was transparent at all stages about the nature and purpose of my study, before, during and after I left the field, and treated informed consent as a continuous process throughout (Boellstorff et al., 2012). When taking part in groups, meetings, chats, and forums I made my research status clear (De Seta, 2020). I ensured that group and individual consent could be withdrawn, and this was especially important as the research evolved over the time that it was being conducted (Eynon et al., 2017). This was done by being open and transparent about my role, as well as continued dialogue between myself and people within the organisation about how the research was progressing and what the findings were.

Within ethnography there is an ethical consideration around privacy, anonymisation and the grey area of private and public information (Hine, 2017). With regards to identifiable information of the research participants, I anonymised names and roles. Ensuring complete anonymity is challenging as there is the chance of deductive disclosure by people who are familiar with the research participants (Eynon et al., 2009; Boellstorff et al., 2012). This is especially true in a small organisation where the people are well known to each other (Guenther, 2009). Creating complete anonymity of people in a small organisation is unachievable, as the board, paid staff, and volunteers are familiar with each other and the roles that they undertake (Saunders et al., 2015). However, I made people aware of this at the outset of my fieldwork, before interviews, and during group discussions. To minimise the identification of individuals I also removed job titles and have classified people as either KVDT leaders, volunteers, or A65 group members throughout the research. Leaders are people who were either paid staff or board members. Volunteers are people that volunteered either in the community hub, farm, or as part of the action groups. I gained consent for publishing, even when altering identifiable details, when the information was revealed in private chats with me, discussions in the groups that I set up, or in the interviews obtained on or offline (De Seta, 2020).

Ethnography follows the routine aspects of social life to build a narrative that unearths the social structures that guide it, but this can also lead to uncovering more private and sensitive information (Boellstorff et al., 2012). As the case study organisation was a small and tightly knit organisation, I stayed away from discussing people's personal lives in the research and focused on the work, strategies, and approaches of the organisation and of the action groups. However, through the interviews, observations, or in the action research, I came to know many of the people well and we shared lots of personal information with each other. People would tell me personal stories, especially in terms of personal circumstances that motivated them to be involved in community work. To respect people's privacy in a complex research setting, I have not used these stories and instead focused on people's ideas for what an organisation like KVDT could achieve, what local activism meant to them, and what strategies and activities they wanted to undertake to achieve their goals. I have tried to reflect these with honesty and

accuracy, whilst all individuals may not agree with all aspects of my analysis, I approach my writing in a way that respects all the individuals who took part in this study.

A key ethical dilemma was the issue of privacy within a semi-public space (Hallett and Barber, 2014). When I spent time at the community hub or on the farm, privacy in a public space was an important consideration in my ethnographic work. This was especially important as many of the volunteers and staff were used to having me around during my fieldwork, as ethnography is deeply immersive (Duesbery and Twyman, 2020). I was constantly aware of the expectations that people attached to the different venues and the context of the venues. For instance, I would not take quotes from conversations that I overheard, I would ask if it was OK to use information people gave me about their work, and I would be clear when I was speaking to them if I wanted to use the information for my research (Markham and Buchanan, 2012). It was important that people could feel comfortable in the spaces of KVDT, especially as it was a time of stress during the COVID-19 pandemic, so I had to be mindful of people's expectations within different spaces, so this means that my research was led by how the users defined public and private areas and I respected their expectations of privacy (Boellstorff et al., 2012).

For ethnographic research, building relationships of trust are key and even in a public forum people can feel that they are within a trusted community (Eynon et al., 2009). This issue of privacy in public has no simple answer but through taking precautions and being aware of the intricacies of privacy in public settings, online and offline, I could minimise risk to people that are in the research setting (Nissenbaum, 2009). My guiding ethical principal in this area was to be led by what the research participants deemed important and always be aware that there are group cultures and individual expectations regarding privacy (De Seta, 2020; Markham and Buchanan, 2012). Thus, in the research I discuss strategies, activities, and ideas that I observed and how the work supported community resilience. However, I only use direct quotes from interviews or meetings where it was made explicit in advance that this may happen. If I was involved in a group activity, such as arranging deliveries, when I attended a craftivist session, or

the after-school club, I may have used observations in my findings, but I was clear not to use quotes, names, or identify individuals that took part in those groups.

3.10.3 The decision to use the real name of the case study organisation

In agreement with KVDT board and leaders I have used the real name of the organisation in the research. There are two reasons for this decision. Firstly, the research was guided by participatory principles, and this extended to whether to use the name of the organisation. In discussions throughout the research, from when it began to right up until its finalisation, I had dialogue with KVDT about whether to name them, and it was their wish for me to do so. The leaders and volunteers who took part were proud of their work and pleased that it was getting attention through this research. Therefore, out of respect for those that took part in the research I have used the name of the organisation (Manzo and Brightbill, 2009). I was clear with volunteers and leaders that this would happen ahead of interviews and in the action groups, and they were happy to take part on that basis. Naming the organisation was done with an ethic of seeking to give voice to the organisation and to empower them to decide on whether they wanted to be named (Giordano et al., 2007). It also gives them a voice in the research, rather than muffling that voice behind a pseudonym (Giordano et al., 2007).

The second aspect of the decision to use the real name of the organisation relates to contextualising the research within the location that it took place (Nespor, 2000). For instance, KVDT's work was during a time of crisis that impacted differently in different locations and their work sought to focus on improving their community. In my research I refer to interactions with the local council, efforts to acquire mills, and their work on the farm and in the community centre. If I removed their name but referred to them as being Leeds based, anonymisation in this context would have been relatively weak. It would be easy to deduce the organisation as there are few development trusts in Leeds and none have a similar profile of work or community spaces. Therefore, there would have been limits to anonymisation in this research (Stein, 2010). As part of my research approach is to relate their work to the local context through looking at council initiatives, approaches, and policies it would have decontextualised the research to remove the

location. Once again, it would have also been easy to deduce that it was Leeds and then it would only be a small step to working out the specific organisation. Therefore, to give voice, respect autonomy, and contextualise my research I have used the name of the organisation in conjunction with their wishes.

3.10.4 Ensuring benefits of the research for those that took part

Ensuring that the case study organisation benefited from the research was an important objective of the research and an important ethical consideration for my study. This was approached in two ways. Firstly, the research was embedded within KVDT and responsive to their needs (Pain et al., 2011). For instance, research activities were developed through the combination of ethnographic and action research processes, and this entailed deliberation with people at various levels of the organisation (Darby, 2017). This deliberation was carried out through a combination of participant observations and in interviews. This informed my research agenda and ensured that my research activities included elements that would benefit KVDT. This had practical implications for the direction that the research went in. For instance, from the ethnographic side I focused much more on their work to tackle the social impacts of COVID-19 and the impact that the pandemic and funding model had on the organisation than I had intended to prior to my fieldwork commencing.

An example of how I sought to further my research and benefit the organisation was that during my time with KVDT I worked on three funding proposals to support their work. This was not something that I had envisaged before the research took place. However, through my ethnographic work, funding became an area of interest and an area that I understood to be important for KVDT. Therefore, I was able to use my skills to support KVDT to fundraise, which was essential for the organisation. However, this also meant that funding models and their implications became a larger area of my study than I had intended at the outset. Thus, my work in this area contributed towards the organisation and created data to answer my research questions. Researchers often gain more from their research than participants but seeking ways that the group could benefit, in collaboration with them, was a key task (Boellstorff et al., 2012). This

collaborative research approach created processes and outcomes that would prove beneficial to KVDT, which was important to the research objectives and the ethics that guided my research.

Another aspect of the ethical component of benefits of the research is timeliness, as producing academic work is a slow process (Pickerill, 2014). I was able to use other forms of representation of my work and the ideas underpinning it through project outputs, workshops, presentations, and through contributions to the KVDT board. This ensured that they realised benefits in a timelier way (Pickerill, 2014). This was achieved through dialogue with KVDT staff members and the board to ensure that the learnings of the study were communicated with them on a regular basis. This served two purposes. Firstly, it ensured transparency in the research process, so that they were aware of the theoretical dimensions and the findings. Through communicating the research during the fieldwork, I could ensure that the research direction continued to benefit KVDT. By being open about my findings, the arguments that I was developing and conclusions, I could maintain informed consent and build and maintain trust. Secondly, by reporting regularly on my research activities I was able to ensure that we looked to maximise practical benefits directly from the work I was undertaking. For instance, when we developed an event through The A65 Group for Clean Air Day, we were able to support a separate event developed on the Kirkstall Valley Farm.

A significant benefit of the research process for KVDT was simply having the extra capacity that I brought to the team. The importance of this is highlighted in Chapter 4, when I look at the impacts of the intersecting crises of neoliberalism and how they can stretch small teams. It is also relevant within Chapter 6, where I discuss the issue of time, and how voluntary associations can struggle to get time commitments from people to support their work. Ethnography and action research particularly lend themselves to benefitting the organisation as creating projects and activities can support the goals of the organisation and generate valuable projects towards that end.

3.10.5 The ethics of withdrawing from the research site

The research approach did create an ethical dilemma around my withdrawal from the research site and disentangling myself from the organisation. As Iversen (2009) shows, the relationships that researchers develop are significant, so withdrawing once I had the necessary data felt like it had real consequences for KVDT and for the action groups that I was involved with. For instance, KVDT still wanted to use my skills to work on funding bids, to support the board in overseeing KVDT, and for me to continue contributing to the projects that I ran with The A65 Group. This meant that from an ethical standpoint I could not simply stop all my activities with the organisation. Therefore, I continued to support KVDT and those that I worked with on local activism once the research was formally concluded. This related to one of the benefits of the research for the organisation being about having capacity to generate and manage projects that support the community.

Whilst I felt that I had reached sufficiency with the data required to answer my research questions, my withdrawal was also based on the practical aspect of the constraint of finishing my research within a given timeframe (Snow, 1980). However, I still felt responsible to many people in KVDT and The A65 Group as I had built relationships and bonds with them over the course of the research (Ortiz, 2004). As the work of the organisation and action groups was ongoing and not designed to be timebound this gave me a "sense of unfinished business" (Snow, 1980, p. 105). Another aspect of this was that, in line with my approach to data analysis, my ideas about the data continued to change once my research period had formally ended (Fort 2020). This meant that my understandings of the organisation altered. By continuing to input into the organisation through the board, working on funding, and leading The A65 Group I was able to use these understandings in a practical way to support KVDT and their work. As Snow (1980) argues, research is often viewed as a process, but to those that I was immersed with, collaborated with, and developed action with, I was another person that was helping to support the community and create local level action for tackling the climate emergency. Those needs did not change because of my research schedule, so ethically I felt compelled to remain part of activities as best I could. I felt responsibility towards

those that I had spent time with and collaborated with over the course of my research (Fitzpatrick, 2019).

3.11 Conclusion and next steps

In this chapter I outlined how my research used an interdisciplinary approach that brought together sociological and human geography literatures and methods. My key methodological approaches were based on ethnography and action research. Through immersion within a case study organisation, I gained an understanding of the structures, strategies, activities, motivations, and ideas the guided the case study organisation (Merriam, 2009; Cresswell et al., 2018). Following this, I set out how this immersion informed the development of the action research, which was focused on developing strategies and activities for achieving place-based climate action. To support this methodological approach, I used a broad range of methods focusing on participant observation, interviews, workshops, and analysis of programmes and activities. I then highlighted the impacts that COVID-19 had on my research through social restrictions and the need to conduct many elements online. I discussed my own positionality and how that affected the results. Finally, I explored a range of ethical considerations from informed consent, naming the organisation, ensuring the case study organisation benefitted from the research, and how I navigated withdrawing from the fieldwork.

Having outlined the literature that informed my study and the methods that I used to conduct my study; I shall now move on to discussing the findings. I have broken down the findings into three chapters, each relating to a specific research question. I begin with Chapter 4, looking at how KVDT developed community resilience by working in the existing political, economic, and social structures. I focus on how the strategies, approaches and projects involved in responding to austerity and COVID-19 highlight many important aspects of community resilience as adaptation. In Chapter 5, I explore community resilience as transformation and outline their approaches to social empowerment alongside developing symbiotic and interstitial strategies. Finally in Chapter 6, I look at how working in ways that seek to tackle vulnerability and support community transformation relate to the climate emergency and look at the strengths and limitations of tackling the climate emergency through this form of community organising.

Chapter 4 – Community resilience through adaptation to austerity and COVID-19

4.1 Introduction

This chapter is focused on the 'how' of working within the current political and economic structures to build community resilience during austerity and the COVID-19 pandemic. In this chapter I explore how KVDT worked within the political and economic structures to develop the community organisation, what vulnerabilities they tackled, and how at organisational and community levels they adapted to this environment and supported the community to cope. To understand how this occurred within my research setting, I draw together the relationship between top-down resilience governance approaches and bottom-up community level approaches (Jospeh, 2013; Deverteuil et al., 2021). Through this, this chapter contributes to my research goal of developing a critical account of community resilience as experienced on the ground by exploring the role of social and economic policy in shaping the context of adversity and vulnerability within the community (Wright, 2021). I look at strategies and plans that were developed and how the organisation interacted with the state to seek out opportunities to build the organisation and support the community. Finally, I am interested in the limitations of this approach and how dealing with multiple crises within this policy environment can diminish as well as strengthen community resilience (Harrison, 2013). To contribute to the overall research question, this chapter has a main question, 'How did the community organisation support adaptation to the impacts of austerity and COVID-19?

Working within the structures predominantly led to a focus on adaptation resilience, which is about adjusting to a new normal within existing structures but can go beyond merely coping to include some non-transformative elements (Twigger-Ross et al., 2014; Wright, 2021). What I demonstrate is how adaptation works in three important ways. Firstly, the organisation was adapting to the policy environment to meet its own needs for resources. This thrusted them into the marketized system to secure funds and acquire places to operate. Secondly, these resources enabled the organisation to

support the community to adapt to the prevailing policy environment and the social impacts felt through austerity and COVID-19. These social impacts were felt through loss of services, the rise in poverty, and the dwindling of the welfare safety net that made many people vulnerable during the COVID-19 pandemic. Thirdly, acquiring resources and building capacity to self-organise in response to austerity proved important for dealing with the unexpected crisis that was caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. I contribute towards literature on community resilience as adaptation through an exploration of how austerity and the COVID-19 crisis intertwined and were felt at a community level (Arrieta, 2022).

This touches on important debates about the nature and extent of neoliberalism through austerity and COVID-19 policy and the social impacts of this policy environment. I explore the ways in which the need for adaptation strategies were shaped by the impacts generated by the policy environment of austerity and COVID-19. Therefore, the first part of the framework that I employ is to look at austerity policy and how its community level impacts shaped the strategies of KVDT. Austerity entailed a reduction of state intervention and social support, a pushing of market-based approaches into more spheres of society, a deregulation of the labour market, and a growing stigmatisation of those who relied on welfare support (Donoghue and Edmiston, 2020). This was an expansion of the neoliberal approach of rollbacking the functions of the state and a rolling out of markets into new areas of social life (Aiken et al., 2017). Austerity politics meant that there were fewer resources available for local councils, creating a fragility within the local state, which limits its reach and has diminished its power (Cottam, 2021). Despite a call for communities to show resilience and fill the gaps created by the retreat of the state, communities need state support to step into the gaps in provision, and the state needs to provide support to solve practical problems that austerity and COVID-19 created. A key component of community resilience is "the existence, development, and engagement of community resources" (Magis, 2010, p. 401). Throughout this chapter I explore how KVDT worked within this environment to acquire those resources and how they adapted their approaches to succeed within it.

To explore arguments about the nature, extent and limitations of resilience, section 4.2 goes into depth about the programmes and activities that the organisation created using the resources they acquired. This section focuses on the key strategies that were developed to support the community to react to and recover from austerity and COVID-19. Building on the strategy of acquiring resources, I detail their programme of work alongside outlining the impacts and vulnerabilities that KVDT were tackling. I briefly touch upon their programme prior to COVID-19 before outlining the COVID-19 response that took place during my fieldwork. In partnership with Leeds City Council, KVDT became the Kirkstall Food Hub during the pandemic. In part, the COVID-19 response from the Leeds City Council was due to necessity as the local state was less able to meet the needs of their constituents after over a decade of austerity budget cuts, but also shows a willingness to harness the energy of local communities to help tackle the complex challenges that local government faces (Cottam, 2021). The evidence I present on how the COVID-19 response unfolded within the community setting adds to understandings of the role of mutual aid through the pandemic and what service delivery means in this context of emergency. I argue that this work did not politicise the problems the community faced and had elements of more charity like and service orientated approaches. However, this is not to dismiss this work, as it was vital in helping people to survive. Working in this way enabled KVDT to support the community by promoting other values such as compassion and a community building ethos. Section 4.2 builds on my community resilience framework by demonstrating the links between adaptation and coping within a community setting.

In section 4.3, I look at some of the strengths of strategies that I characterise as community resilience as adaptation. In section 4.4, I look at how working within a context of limited resources puts constraints on the organisation and how this can diminish their ability to build resilience in an environment of vulnerability and crisis. This chapter also contributes towards debates about the concept of resilience itself. For instance, I look at whether this approach pushes a neoliberal agenda and supports the status-quo at the expense of creating more radical change (Joseph, 2013; Derickson, 2016). I outline the constraints that the neoliberal context places upon the options that those working within my case study perceive as open to them. I add to understandings

of the relationship between resilience notions as promoted by the national and local governments and community led responses to the crises that they are dealing with (Deverteuil et al., 2021). I do this by detailing the tension between how national and local governance operates, by pushing short-term solutions that fix the symptoms and not the causes of the problems communities face, and how this leads to a situation in which community organisations are working towards the agenda of the local council, often existing in a situation of precarity. This leads to a key argument that this environment is not conducive to the community organisation establishing strong foundations on which long term change can be built.

4.1.1 The data and analysis used to inform the findings in this chapter

The analysis and findings in this chapter are based upon my ethnographic work and is comprised of comparisons between the different forms of data collected, which was thematically analysed through the descriptive and interpretive themes based on community resilience as adaptation. The findings are based on my own observations, thoughts, and ideas, as well as themes I was drawing out from the data derived from interviews, participant observations, and conversation that I had with key people throughout the fieldwork (Thorne, 2000). In section 4.2, I discuss funding in relation to community resilience as adaptation and base my arguments on information I gained from participant observation, such as board meetings, planning meetings, and discussions I had with key staff when spending time in the community hub. As Coffey (2009) notes, in ethnographic studies, a close analysis of the data is combined with the researcher's own interpretations and understandings gained through spending time immersed within the research site.

As outlined in section 3.9.1, I was able to also compare patterns between my observations, interviews, and the action research methods that I was conducting. Within the themes based on community resilience I had a large data set that comprised of descriptive analysis (Angrosino, 2007). In section 4.3, I draw on interviews for more direct quotes, the quotes I use are either indicative of broader sentiments or capture specific views from individuals that were prominent in setting the direction of KVDT and their strategic approach. To draw the interview data out into arguments and conclusions

I compare the thrust of what people said to general observations that I made, interactions I had, meetings of the board that I attended, and my own reflections from being part of the organisation. This combination of information means that my findings are based upon analysis between the ethnographic data sets.

Diary reflections help to capture the essence of conversations that I had when in the hub during COVID-19. My own reflections on KVDT's COVID-19 work are based on participant observations, conversations, and interviews. The findings and conclusions that I present in section 4.3 are based on a combination of analysis of these data sets, which includes my own perceptions and the ideas that I was generating whilst immersed in the settings of KVDT. Therefore, my findings in this chapter are based on a combination of my own descriptions, interpretations, and systematic analysis derived from the data I has collected (Coffey, 2018).

4.2 The austerity policy environment and acquiring resources to support the community

Neoliberalism took shape in the UK during the Thatcher government of the 1980's, and through New Labour reforms under the guise of state modernisation neoliberal ideas continued to be rolled out into more aspects of how state provisions were run (Fuller and Geddes, 2008). Following the first major neoliberal crisis of the twenty first century, the 2008 financial crash and the subsequent great recession that followed, neoliberal ideas would be pushed even further by the Conservative and Liberal Democrat coalition government (Farnsworth and Irving, 2018). This was done through austerity, which entailed budget cuts and a shrinking of the functions of the state to pay off the debts created by bank bailouts (Farnsworth and Irving, 2018). In the UK, this entailed a reduction of state spending on social services and local government, a more punitive welfare regime, and less focus on the state as a force for redistribution (Hall, 2019; Lobao et al., 2018). Between 2009-2019 Local authorities were particularly badly hit with an 86% cut for the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (Johns, 2020). In Leeds, between 2010-2020 there was a cumulative cut of around £1.7 billion in the council's budget (Beecham, 2020). These cuts to local council budgets were severe, compounded by the increase in demand for services, and accompanied by

a transference of responsibility for dealing with impacts of unemployment, ill-health, disability, and old age away from government and towards individuals, communities, and local councils (Bailey et al., 2015).

During this period of austerity, the concept of resilience rose to prominence in government policy and discourse (Donoghue and Edmiston, 2020). The challenges of dealing with the social impacts of poverty and austerity were framed around the idea that communities could rise to meet them if the government stepped out of the way (Harrison, 2013). This was typified by David Cameron's "Big Society", which aimed at making individuals and non-state actors take on more responsibility for tackling social problems, under the belief that community groups, amongst other actors, could fill the void left by the retreat of the state (Wright, 2021). The government called for meaningful participation by people within communities to tackle social problems and deliver services that were previously seen as the responsibility of the state (Wright, 2021). Civil society, third sector, and community organisations were seen by the government as potential partners to fill the gaps and lead on tackling local issues (Macmillan, 2013). Resilience became a way for the government to describe how communities could overcome the challenges that they faced (Wright, 2021; Harrison, 2013). This top-down resilience agenda demands that communities help themselves during emergencies, become more self-reliant, and adapt to the adverse contexts that they face (Mackinnon and Derickson, 2013; Joseph, 2013).

Part of KVDT's strategic approach to this policy environment was to work with the state and other actors to obtain the resources they needed to support the community. The overall thrust of austerity was a reduction in state spending but there were opportunities for community organisations to acquire resources to support their work (Macmillan, 2013). The aim for KVDT was to work within the system to mitigate some of the impacts of austerity and support people to cope. Working within the current system was a key component of KVDT's strategic approach as it enabled the development of community resources by pursuing opportunities to acquire funding, build partnerships, and develop community infrastructure, which are key dimensions and foundations of community resilience (Magis, 2010; Lerch, 2015). Funds enable communities to build capacity,

networks, and institutions of support that can be rooted within the area (Twigger-Ross et al., 2011). KVDT were a small but growing organisation during the period of my fieldwork. Their finances were built upon short-term and multi-year contracts from a range of sources. Their main source of grant funding was from the National Lottery Community Fund, and they received smaller grants from various trusts, foundations, and contracts from Leeds City Council. Like many community organisations, securing funding was central to everything from survival through to supporting their daily activities and programmes. Therefore, understanding the funding of KVDT underpins all the other elements of their work.

The funding approach from the state is a continuation of the broader government resilience agenda. This can be characterised as communities taking responsibility for and acquiring the resources to build their own resilience and take ownership of dealing with their problems (Donoghue and Edmiston, 2020). By working with a range of established actors to secure money, KVDT had to compete for contracts and grants and demonstrate efficiency of delivery (Evans et al., 2005). Thus, adaptation in this context was about working within the logic of the market and the government resilience agenda (Jospeh, 2013). The key funding that supported KVDT was a large grant from the National Lottery Community Fund. This funding was for the establishment of KVDT, giving them the finances to develop the community centre, employ staff members, and create programmes and activities to support the community. The National Lottery Community Fund is an important provider of money to communities, a key aim of the fund is to support community resilience by enabling communities to develop community infrastructure, local assets, and develop shared spaces in ways that are non-profit making (Igbal and Hall, 2021). KVDT were awarded a grant in 2016, as their work was seen to support this aim. The idea underpinning this fund is that communities could develop important community infrastructure in which services could be delivered, and community bonds could be formed and strengthened (lqbal and Hall, 2021).

This approach to supporting community organisations can be viewed in relation to the government agenda of rolling back the state and the removal of services. This money provides funds for communities to step into the gaps that were created through the

austerity programme and reduce the costs of delivering those services for the state (Caffentzis and Federici, 2014). The National Lottery Community Fund is overseen by the Department for Culture Media and Sport and the funding body echoes much of the governmental approach to community through the "Big Society", "When people are in the lead, communities thrive. People understand what's needed in their communities better than anyone" (National Lottery Community Fund, 2020, p. 3). The quote highlights how the discourse is based on communities taking the lead and that resources are there to help them build autonomy, which is not dissimilar to KVDT's approach. What the approach to funding also demonstrates is that even in a time of a rolling back of the state there is a recognition that money is required to build social infrastructure and enable social networks to form, which are key elements of building community resilience (Magis, 2010; Berkes and Ross, 2013). However, this cannot distract from the fact that by seeking to work within existing structures, organisations like KVDT are operating in an environment in which market-based approaches and logics of competition and public-private partnerships dominate (Jospeh, 2013).

KVDT also secured money from a range of trusts, foundations, and the local council. These tend to be smaller in nature and programme specific. As well as the COVID-19 mutual aid fund (see 4.3.2 for more), there was other small pots of money from the council for the 'Energy Heroes', 'Healthy Holidays', and the 'After School Club' that KVDT ran. The latter three programmes were focused on children and aimed to fill a gap that austerity had created for poorer families with child centred activities, food provision, and educational support work. KVDT's strategic approach of working with the council and adapting to this funding and programme delivery environment has important implications for the types of programmes that could be developed, as I demonstrate in section 4.3. One of the important aspects of this approach from the council was that the funding tended to be project specific and therefore short-term and limited in how it could be spent. I will discuss the implications of this in sections 4.3 and 4.4.

One of the important things that the funding enabled was for KVDT to acquire spaces in which they could work. In the simplest terms, as Karen, a KVDT leader told me, "You need the places to get the people together to achieve things." Prior to receiving funding

from the National Lottery Community Fund, they did not have a base, with meetings taking place in coffee shops or in people's homes. This has two important implications. Firstly, Amy, a KVDT leader, told me, "It makes it difficult to develop large scale work." Secondly, as was made clear in my first meeting with Clive, a KVDT leader, "it gives you an identity and a home within the valley, from which you can build your profile and become known." These quotes demonstrate how acquiring funding was important for helping them to reach people that might benefit from their work and to become more visible to potential funders. Developing community infrastructure was also seen to provide the opportunity to generate income, as they could hire out the buildings and the land. This can play a role, as Amy told me, in spending less time chasing money and more time on focusing on delivery. For the period of my research, KVDT was based across two sites, a community centre, and The Kirkstall Valley Farm. Acquiring funding to support these community spaces was vital, as they were the key resources of KVDT and central to their community building ethos.

Within a policy environment that called for communities to be resilient in a context of reduced state support and a pushing of market-based approaches, KVDT sought to work within this context to acquire resources to support self-organisation. This demonstrates how they built community resilience through adaptation to this environment and attempted to build a strong institution that could fill gaps, deliver services, and exist within neoliberalism. Despite a call for communities to fill the gaps created by the retreat of the state, communities needed state support to be able to build community institutions that could support people in their local area. Within the KVDT context working in this way was important to secure funding for the organisation, develop community spaces in which their work could be carried out, and through this work develop relationships with other local actors that could support the community. For the local council it enabled them to still provide services but reduce the costs of delivering those services (Caffentzis and Federici, 2014). This illustrates the relationship between top-down and bottom-up approaches to community resilience. KVDT wanted to tackle vulnerability and the state wanted to find new and cheaper ways to support other actors to tackle vulnerability. In this way, the two approaches converge, driven together by the twin processes of rollback and roll out neoliberalism.

126

4.3 Dealing with vulnerabilities and the strategies developed to tackle them

4.3.1 The intersecting crises that the community faced

Having explored how KVDT generated the funding to develop community infrastructure and a programme of work, in this section I outline how the focus of community resilience as adaptation was dealing with impacts of the economic and social policies that were developed during austerity and the COVID-19 pandemic. I demonstrate how the strategy of acquiring resources helped to develop capacities that could be drawn upon to navigate austerity and the COVID-19 pandemic. This is an important aspect of community resilience, as resources acquired for other purposes can be useful in different crises that the community faces (Twigger-Ross et al., 2014). I support a growing body of literature that aims to re-politicise these struggles by exploring the political conditions that necessitated the need for resilience (Deverteuil et al., 2021). The following diary extract from the first day of my fieldwork shows the intersecting nature of the crises that KVDT were responding to.

It was my first day at the community centre, Unit 11 as it is known, to meet with Amy and Yvonne, two of the KVDT leaders. The community centre is a repurposed shop with a main room for the activities and a small backroom that has been turned into a kitchen and storage area. There is no functioning office. so the kitchen is where we come to talk and "get away from it" in Amy's words. I want to learn more about Kirkstall, the organisation, and about how climate change fits into their work. They describe Kirkstall as an area with no centre, with major road arteries that cut through it and cut it off from itself. This, they say, makes it tough for people who are on the margins of society, poor or lonely. These people, they tell me, are not part of how Leeds sees itself as a vibrant, growing, and affluent city. I ask them about how sustainability and climate change fits with their current priorities. Amy leans in and says, "the issue is, if you stop many of the people that live around here and tell them that you are going to tackle pollution, or cut cars, or whatever, and that would be great for their health, and they would live longer. Most would tell you they are not interested as their life is pretty shit." We talk some more, and it becomes clear that the COVID-19 pandemic has made problems worse, but the roots go back further. As Amy says, for many, life was not great before COVID-19 came along.

My research was primarily exploring the potential for climate action within a community setting. However, what was evident from the outset of my fieldwork was that developing climate action would have to take account of the other challenges that the organisation was tackling, as was evident from the diary extract on my first day. This would also entail understanding the strategies that the organisation undertook towards its broader work. This is an approach that is advocated by many thinkers and activists. For instance, Klein (2014) argues that meaningful climate action within the community must take account of the broader injustices and inequalities that people face. Working in this way has been advocated by those such as Raworth (2017), who argues that as well as lowering emissions and reducing our impact on the planet we must work in a way that improves life for people who are not having their needs met. Taking aside the conception expressed about what tackling climate change involves, which I will deal with in Chapter 5 and Chapter 6, this extract highlights two key points around the motivation of those working at KVDT. Firstly, tackling poverty and supporting those in poverty or feeling marginalised. In the discussion that we had, that I paraphrased in the above extract, they talked about poverty and isolation alongside one another. There is also a sense of abandonment from the council, which I noted as them feeling that they are supporting people who are not part of how Leeds sees itself. The other element is building a sense of community. This was expressed as Kirkstall being an area with no centre, and due to poverty, or feeling disconnected, people were not engaged or lacked opportunities to build community.

The environment of austerity played a key role in creating poverty and marginalisation, as across local government there were many rounds of cuts in the decade after the financial crisis began, leading to inevitable service reductions. These reductions have impacted upon the council's ability to support communities, with lower-income groups feeling the main impacts of national level austerity (Lowndes and Gardner 2016; Taylor-Gooby and Stoker, 2011). Within the KVDT context this was significant, as through austerity services that people relied on were cut, as the following quote from my interview with Yvonne highlights,

"The fact that people have got somewhere to come [is significant] because, you look at Kirkstall, where is there to go? Nowhere. We've got no library, no community centre...there's just absolutely nothing here."

In the Kirkstall Valley, the library was closed during austerity and the quote demonstrates how a lack of community infrastructure, in this case the library and a community centre, were seen as examples of how the austerity policy environment was impacting on community services. The reference to there being "absolutely nothing here" is aimed directly at the lack of services and community infrastructure, after a decade of cuts and little investment in these sorts of facilities. Within KVDT they wanted to take a lead on stepping into the gaps that austerity had created to remedy the fact, as Yvonne put it, "there's just absolutely nothing here." Whilst the government agenda was for communities to rise to the challenges and fill the gaps, it was its own policies that were creating problems for communities to deal with. As well as specific issues, the broader sense that I got from observing KVDT and interviewing people was that a key issue from KVDT's perspective was a sense of a lack of community that was created by the austerity drive. As Karen, a KVDT leader told me in her interview,

"I think Kirkstall has not really had a heart, it's not really had a centre, you know. It's a massive housing area [and] it's got some facilities, but it's not really had a heart to it. [KVDT want to] Create a community where there isn't really a big community at the moment."

This relates directly to having community services and places that the community can come together. In this way, the rollback of the state in an environment in which urban areas are given over to corporate interests, with the privatisation of land and facilities (Chatterton, 2019), was making it more difficult to create a community. This was a key motivation for the strategies of community resilience that KVDT employed and adapting to the broad neoliberal thrust was an important way of trying to tackle the vulnerabilities that it created.

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic Unit 11, which was only secured in August 2019, had provided opportunities for local groups to meet and hosted local activist meetings, a knitting group, a board games evening, yoga classes, and children's groups. In the six

months prior to COVID-19 KVDT had delivered 92 sessions with over 1733 participants and they had recruited 14 regular volunteers. In many ways, the community centre and its activities conform to what Oosterlynck et al. (2013) describe as emerging pragmatically in response to people's basic needs not being met. In this instance, this was around creating spaces locally in which people could interact socially without having to spend money, and creating dedicated community spaces in which community activities could take place. Primarily, these spaces were designed to meet a social need and to create an environment in which new social relationships could be developed (Ayob et al., 2016). It was summed up in an interview with Michael, a KVDT volunteer,

"Making the library a welcoming place, which I think was the most important part [of my role] because people, particularly sort of older people would come in, "what's this here?" "Oh, it's a library" [I would tell them], you can sit and read here, or you can take books home, you don't have to bring them back, or whatever. You can bring different books back. We started to get a regular flow of people and because the library was just the other side of the wall from where the little kids played, we got the older folk in sort of watching the little kids for a bit, and then they'd come in and sort of talk about it with us in the library, and have a cup of tea and sit and read, and it was nice and warm. It was a really, sort of welcoming set up."

Whilst having a library area in the community centre helped to adapt to the loss of that service, it had a wider value in providing, as Michael put it, a welcoming place where different social groups could interact. The informal nature of the community centre, or the hub as KVDT referred to it, was evident in the above quote. The idea of creating a welcoming space was important to KVDT, as it was seen to help tackle isolation and as a way for bringing different social groups together. The following quote from Amy sums this up,

"I expected us to be all about older people because that's the isolation, there's no library in Kirkstall but it wasn't. We get a lot of older people in here at normal times, but it wasn't [the only group that used our spaces] it was younger people on maternity leave etc., because they don't know anyone in the same situation, so they feel isolated and lonely."

What this approach demonstrates is that KVDT were working to fill gaps created by the rollback of the state, but they were not simply trying to deliver a service. Their approach

supported community resilience through tackling vulnerability, which in the above quotes was linked to social isolation, and increasing wellbeing by developing a social community in which people could be supported (Christakopoulou et al., 2001). Although this approach does not challenge the structural issues that people faced, and the scale is small, it was about compassion and caring, and as Karen said, bringing people together to create a community,

"They're really creating a community in Kirkstall, you've got the farm and the hub were, you know, it's [KVDT] becoming a place where people can come together to make it better for everybody really. To me, that's what KVDT can achieve."

Thus, KVDT were not simply delivering services that were formally the responsibility of the government (Aiken, 2016), they were building relationships with people and spaces for people in which relationships and a sense of community could develop.

4.3.2 Dealing with the social impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

So far, I have outlined how the prevailing policy environment of austerity shaped KVDT's strategic approaches and informed the social problems that motivated their work. However, my fieldwork took place during the COVID-19 pandemic, so it was the response to the social impacts created within this that dominated KVDT's work during my research period. As outlined in section (2.6.3), the COVID-19 pandemic was an emergency that required a rapid response at national and local levels. It was a public health emergency, but it created a social and economic crisis as it intersected with the social, political, and economic conditions that had been created within the UK through austerity (Wright, 2021). The COVID-19 pandemic response highlights many important aspects of community resilience. Firstly, I will highlight how the KVDT response illustrates many aspects of community resilience as adaptation, as the organisation took a lead in their local area supporting people, adapting their activities and ways of working to meet this immense challenge. In terms of how their work supported the community, I show how this was more closely related to community resilience as coping, as they attempted to ensure that people could manage during the pandemic and overcome the many difficulties that it created (Keck and Sakdapolrak, 2013). Wilding (2010) argues that resilience is a metaphor in which many different actions can be contained, the

examples in my research supports this idea and show how organisations can shift between different actions and approaches at different stages of the crisis.

One of the important elements of the COVID-19 pandemic response was that it highlighted how the state could intervene in major ways, something that prior to the pandemic was seen as very unlikely (Mair, 2020). Outside of public health impacts, the main feature of the initial stages of the COVID-19 pandemic was an increase in food insecurity across the country, as over two million people deemed vulnerable to the health impacts of the virus were asked to shield (Tiratelli and Kaye, 2020). This required mobilisation at the national level, through food packages for those asked to shield. Councils were responsible for distribution within their area, and many created their own schemes to expand the criteria towards those that had to self-isolate or were deemed as not having access to food due to poverty (Lambie-Mumford et al, 2021). In Leeds, the council model that developed was one of partnership with newly created 'Community Care Hubs', with the specific intention of empowering the hubs so that they could take a lead in responding to the needs in their area (Gordon et al., 2022). This response was unprecedented in scale, required co-ordination, and large amounts of resources (Lambie-Mumford et al, 2021). Without any previous experience of emergency response or food aid, KVDT became the 'Community Care Hub' for Kirkstall.

Working with the council was important within the KVDT context, as across the country, it was difficult for informal networks to maintain the prerequisite resources to provide for the needs or maintain their efforts over the eighteen months of the pandemic (Tiratelli and Kaye, 2020; Curtin et al., 2021). However, as Amy said, this was not straightforward,

"When COVID hit I said to the council, "whatever you need just tell me." And they were nervous because we were an organisation with one employee for four days a week saying that we'd provide food parcels for Kirkstall, saying yeah, we can do that and I had to say to them if we feel out of our depth, I'll tell you and I won't let it all go to pot."

What is evident from this quote was that KVDT were able to pivot their work and respond to need quickly, which was essential in the early stages of the pandemic (Tiratelli and Kaye, 2020). In this sense, there was an element of their response as

slightly informal and spontaneous, having no previous experience of this type of emergency work. As you may expect with the rapid onset of an emergency, this does not mean it all went smoothly. As Richard, a KVDT leader, and one of the people that helped to manage the food hub in the initial stages said, "at the very start when we were looking at doing food distribution in the Kirkstall area, we started out a little bit disorganised, learning as we were going along." In this first phase of the pandemic, it was common for organisations to struggle to adapt due to "uncertainty and panic" (Lambie-Mumford et al., 2021, p. 9).

Another dimension of the initial stages of the pandemic was the uncertainty in KVDT about whether they could rise to meet the needs of the local area. This was outlined in the quote from Amy above, as she referenced that they were a small organisation. As Richard's comment shows, they learned as they went along. Overall, this also sheds light on the impacts of austerity, as the council were left with few options in terms of local partners that could support the community in a time of need. This speaks to what Cottam (2021) identifies as the fragility in the local state and the need to look at new ways of working following budget cuts and reduced capacity. In KVDT, at the beginning of the pandemic, they were able to adapt and adjust to the impact and changing circumstances that COVID-19 created, which are central characteristics of community resilience as adaptation (Twigger-Ross et al., 2011).

When I began my fieldwork in July 2020 restrictions had eased and the food distribution operation was at a much lower level than during the first few months of the pandemic. However, much of the activity was still focused on food insecurity and the pandemic response, as the following diary extract outlines.

At the entrance to Unit 11 there was a table with pay as you feel goods; tins of beans, tomatoes and soups sit alongside bags of pasta and cereals. Behind that are volunteers doing a range of tasks; filling trolleys and bags with food ready for the deliveries, phoning people to check what they need, cleaning fridges, a mother and daughter were making scarecrows, the beautician preparing her small cubicle behind a couple of office divides. There is an area with children's books that looks like it has been out of action some time, piles of school clothes are heaped over them all. The kitchen is crammed with rows of shelves filled with food, nappies, sanitary, and household cleaning products.

The community hub had been envisaged as a place for the community to come together, a place in which KVDT could actively build a sense of community. However, as the diary extract above highlights, it had been transformed during the pandemic into the 'Kirkstall Valley Food Hub'. When COVID-19 became an emergency and the lockdown began, KVDT staff believed that they had a vital role to play. Their strategy was to work with the council, other local organisations, and businesses, to support the community. Through their local councillors they offered their premises to the local authority for COVID-19 response work to address emergency community needs. Despite the uncertainty and anxiety of operating in this period of heightened risk, the organisation, its staff, and volunteers committed themselves to do whatever was needed. As the diary extract above shows, the community centre had been transformed to carry out the COVID-19 response. KVDT had only recently secured this space but without it they would not have been able to play their vital role in the pandemic, highlighting how resilience relies on the development and engagement of resources (Magis, 2010). In the KVDT context, resources in terms of the council funding and their community space enhanced their resilience capacity (McCrea et al., 2014). Without these resources they would not have been able to play the role that they did in the pandemic response.

The needs that were identified during the social emergency of COVID-19 had their roots in the policy approaches of neoliberalism and austerity. The furlough scheme was introduced to support incomes and jobs, however, many people in the lowest paid jobs or insecure work still suffered through losing their jobs, reduced hours, and in the early stages of the pandemic there was confusion as to who was entitled to what levels of state support (Sandor, 2021; Wilson and Buzzeo, 2021). KVDT's support was needed, as it was people in less secure work who saw their sectors shut down, with many unable to access government support, certainly in the initial weeks, which meant they turned to other forms of community support to help them cope in the COVID-19 emergency (McDoland and Sandor, 2021). Thus, the COVID-19 exacerbated existing vulnerabilities because of previous government policy and the conditions within the labour market (Sandor, 2021).

One of the defining features of the response to the pandemic was the rise of what was called mutual aid. This was a broad term that was used to encompass both informal and the more formal responses that developed in communities across the country. Mutual aid has been traditionally defined as "informal groups of people that came together spontaneously to support vulnerable people in their communities" (Curtin et al., 2021, p. 2). There is currently debate about the nature and extent of COVID-19 mutual aid groups in terms of their relationship to the state, their level of politicisation, their organisational characteristics, and the level of reciprocity that existed within them (Mould et al., 2022; Singh Dhillon, 2020, O'Dwyer, 2020, O'Dwyer et al., 2022). Thousands of groups formed in the early stages of the pandemic (O'Dwyer, 2020) and they completed a range of tasks, "supplying food and medicine, connecting with people who feel isolated, and organising community resources for the benefit of all" (Tiratelli and Kaye, 2020, p. 7). Like many others, as well as food delivery, KVDT provided signposting to services, hot meals, food shopping, prescription collection, and a range of other types of support, including emotional. In KVDT's case, as Amy told me, this work was carried out in line with their ethos of "we get the job done." In the KVDT context, there was a relationship between community resilience as adaptation and community resilience as coping. At the organisational level, KVDT adapted the organisation, its focus, and ways of working to respond to the crisis. However, the aim, certainly in the initial phase of the pandemic, was to support people in the community to cope.

Loss of jobs, reduction of hours, and difficulty with getting benefits meant that, as was seen across the country, demand for KVDT's support was high. In the first four months of the pandemic, between March-July 2020, they delivered over 2,500 food parcels and close to 5,000 hot meals. Their volunteer lists grew, and they recruited a part-time coordinator for the emergency response. Volunteers delivered food, collected prescriptions, did supermarket shopping, and undertook a range of activities to support the community. An uplift in community engagement is common across emergencies as people want to do their bit and support people that they perceive as vulnerable (Wright, 2021). The KVDT example, both in how the organisation grew through community involvement and how they organised their response, shows how people were coming

together to support the wellbeing of others. KVDT attributed some of this to the furlough scheme, as it gave some people more time to engage in community work. As Berkes and Ross (2013) argue, developing networks and relationships is an important characteristic of resilience, and the volunteer network that KVDT developed was essential to their pandemic response and a vital component of community resilience in the COVID-19 crisis.

The work of KVDT does not fit neatly into either mutual aid or more charitable service orientated types of support. As was evident in the quote from Amy, they were not a food distribution organisation prior to the pandemic and pivoted to meet local needs within a spirit of "whatever you need just tell me." They were also not a large organisation and relied on a growing volunteer network to deliver the community care response. Lack of sufficient staffing levels was identified as one of the risks of them taking on the role of being a food hub. Therefore, KVDT's response had formal and informal dimensions, people volunteered to show solidarity with others at a time of crisis, so it cannot be dismissed as a form of mutual aid, but it does not have some of the characteristics identified, as the focus was on service delivery rather than politicisation (Wein, 2020).

The sudden stopping of economic activity created an immediate social and economic crisis for many people across the country. For the people that turned to KVDT, not knowing where else to go, it demonstrates how precarious work, a feature of the neoliberal state (Harvey, 2005), left people vulnerable in the initial stages of the pandemic. Precarious work is defined as, "employment that is uncertain, unpredictable, and risky from the point of view of the worker" (Kalleberg, 2009, p. 2). This is entangled with neoliberal policy prescriptions that were expanded through austerity that resulted in the,

"flexibilization of the labour markets, insecurity, uncertainty, and risks across social strata. The implications include a shrinking of worker rights and informalisation through outsourcing, temporary jobs, sub-contracting, and related processes" (Jorgensen, 2016, p. 961).

Despite employment levels recovering after the financial crisis of 2008, the decade that followed saw almost one in five workers remaining on low pay and average real wages remained below 2008 levels (Clarke and Cominetti, 2019). Another feature of the jobs

recovery in this period was a rise in 'atypical' roles "'such as self-employment, zero hours contracts or agency work" (Clarke and Cominetti, 2019, p. 7). These types of roles are common in certain sectors, such as hospitality, and within certain groups, such as single parents (Clarke and Cominetti, 2019). Thus, those in precarious employment were exposed to greater financial risk during the pandemic (Sandor, 2021). This was highlighted in an interview with Michael, who volunteered at the hub throughout the initial stages of the pandemic,

"I was standing there, there was all the fruit veg that we had at the time (points over his shoulder) and there was a couple standing outside, sort of looking in and you got a lot of people thinking what do they do in there and they'd been standing there for ages, so I went out and said, "It's Kirkstall Valley Food Hub" and the woman started crying, tearing up. They said they'd both lost their jobs that week and they didn't know what to do. You can't leave them standing there, you've got to [help], [so] invited them in, had a chat with them. At that time, we had loads of advice sheets on who to get in touch with. If you haven't been in that position before you don't know what to do. So, this is the number to phone for food, these are the numbers [for other services]. We gave them two or three food packages to take with them. That, I felt, this is what this place should have been all about helping people like that. That was just a one off, they never came back again, I suppose they got sorted out. They said that they both got paid weekly and balanced it so that they had enough to get by and nothing else. They were living week to week. We got quite a few people like that. When you get a mother coming in with the kids and the mother's coming crying because she can't feed the kids that really hits you. And we had a lot of younger people as well coming, late one evening they said I don't get my money until the Friday, and this was the Tuesday and I've got twenty pence. I said, "don't worry about that, hopefully this will be enough until Friday." We got a lot of those little one-off things at the beginning."

This is one example among many of how they gave food and other types of support to people that came to the hub or contacted them outside of official council referral schemes. It demonstrates that KVDT did not simply deliver the service that was stipulated in their contract and that they supported anyone who came to them in need, without necessarily directing them through official routes. Their approach was a form of universalism, they trusted people when they said they were in need and built an atmosphere of care and social connection (Shabi, 2021). A second related issue that

the above quote illustrates graphically, through the reference to twenty pence in her pocket, an interaction that clearly had an impact on Michael emotionally, was that low pay meant many people were already living week to week, managing tight finances but getting by, although unable to cope if there was an unexpected shock or disturbance. A combination of squeezed wages, rising costs in areas such as housing and childcare, and little access to state financial support had left millions of people in the UK "vulnerable to sudden changes in income" (Finch, 2016, p. 17). I raised this with Yvonne when I was at Unit 11 ahead of doing my food deliveries, highlighted in the following diary extract.

We sit drinking a cup of tea and chatting between her phone calls to find out what food and other essentials people needed delivering. She tells me that there are broadly two main types of people that need KVDT's support. Firstly, there are those that have lost jobs or been furloughed. These people, she says, were already living week to week and did not have any slack. These people need the food deliveries because they do not have the money to support themselves.

This chimes with the broader national experience and demonstrates how, like many other third sector organisations, KVDT were not just helping people cope with the impacts of lockdown. KVDT were helping them cope as the impacts of the last decade of service cuts, precarity, and lack of state support intersected with the public health emergency. The intersection of broader neoliberal policy had made many people more vulnerable to this crisis. In one board meeting there was an exchange about the priorities of KVDT. Amy talked of having no capacity to focus on their broader strategy and said that she spent her time worrying about children going to bed hungry. She tells me in a later conversation that she lays awake at night worrying about it. Increased financial hardship was a common experience across the country with many people getting into debt, struggling to pay bills and other housing costs, or skipping meals (Summers et al., 2021).

Many of the people coming to KVDT in the early weeks of the pandemic were new to the benefits system, as it was the decrease in money that pushed those who lived week to week, such as the young people with twenty pence in their pocket, that struggled to adjust to their new financial situation, as many of their costs were fixed and budgeted based on their work income. The pandemic brought many new people into KVDT's orbit, which again was common for many third sector organisations, as a broader range of people needed support (Edmiston et al., 2021). This was noticed by KVDT, with Amy telling me that for those that had been on universal credit before the pandemic, it was not that bad. She pointed to the twenty-pound uplift in Universal Credit and how, with socialising prohibited, people could not spend money on many things that they would before the pandemic. However, for those in low and insecure work that found their circumstances changed by the pandemic, there was considerable hardship, especially as they waited the five weeks for their first Universal Credit payments (Summers et al., 2021). This demonstrated how the broader context of the welfare system shaped how the social impacts of the pandemic were felt and therefore shaped the priorities and strategies of KVDT. The top-down neoliberal agenda that called for communities to be resilient during austerity shaped the social impacts of the pandemic, played a significant role in creating the conditions in which councils were responding, which created the conditions in which councils were operating.

In the conversation I had with Yvonne she mentioned a second broad grouping that were relying on KVDT for support, people who had other problems, such as mental health issues, difficult home lives or some such. Yvonne told me that she speaks with these people, often at great length, and often they phone her at all hours of the day and night. She says that these people were already falling through the cracks, as services were stripped back during austerity, they were already isolated and lonely, and the COVID-19 crisis had made it worse. Yvonne feels that the time she spends talking to them, listening to them, and finding services for them is more important than the food. When I speak to Yvonne or overhear her talking to people on the phone, I can sense that for these people she has warmth, caring, and understanding. This ties in with the ideas that Amy and Yvonne had talked about in my initial meeting with them, as a fraying of community social support structures were already creating a situation of isolation for many. This was heightened during COVID-19 within the Kirkstall Valley, as across the country, with forced social distancing, isolation, guarantine, and the shutting down of social space that lockdown entailed (Williams et al., 2020). The pandemic was experienced by many as losses of interaction, income, structure, and routine, which was

especially prevalent in the impacts on the mental health and wellbeing of people struggling with low-pay or precarious jobs, as well as of older people (Williams et al., 2020; Robb et al., 2020). As South et al., (2020) observed more broadly, the work of KVDT in providing practical or emotional support in this complex public health emergency contributed to community resilience in supporting people to cope with the crisis.

Throughout the pandemic I volunteered on the mutual aid support scheme, doing a range of tasks from supermarket shops, dog walking, medicine delivery, to my regular weekly food deliveries. On these, many of the people would ask me about the council system that gave them access to this food. Many did not know how to navigate the system, and they would worry about the deliveries stopping. They were not sure who to speak to so that they kept receiving the food and many did not know their rights and what they were officially entitled to. In these short interactions people were worried about catching the potentially lethal virus, many of them were older and talked of health complications that increased their risks. This stress was compounded by the stress of not knowing how long food support would last, and a fear that it could be taken from them. For many people, this support was a lifeline without which they would not be able to cope or potentially survive.

To return to the quote from Michael, "They said they'd both lost their jobs that week and they didn't know what to do." As was common across the UK, many of those that found themselves needing state support at the beginning of the pandemic were new to the system (Summers et al., 2021). As Michael told me, "If you haven't been in that position before you don't know what to do." Although the government boosted the capacity of the Department for Work and Pensions to cope with the unprecedented demand that the pandemic created, many people still needed other types of support to navigate the system and understand eligibility and entitlement (Robertshaw and Edmiston, 2021). Information signposting, such as was delivered by KVDT, was a crucial part of supporting people during the pandemic (Curtin et al., 2021). However, from the position of the person needing support, they had to navigate a benefits system that they were unfamiliar with or did not understand. People also had to navigate a local system for

food provision, and as my experience showed, often it was one that they did not understand. Other support services that people had relied on before the pandemic were closed or went online. The role of KVDT in taking the time to talk to people, as was highlighted by Yvonne, support them, and help them through these processes within this complex web of systems was invaluable to vulnerable people.

KVDT also showed flexibility within how they approached providing food to those that came to them through the council. One of the criticisms of the government and council food box schemes was that they lacked "suitability, variety, nutritional quality and duplication (sic)" (Gordon et al., 2022, p. 4). One of the advantages that KVDT had, due to its farm and the relationships that they developed with local businesses, was that they recognised this and rather than just delivering what was in the contract, they made efforts to add variety and suitability to the boxes that they delivered. This was a source of immense pride in the organisation and as Michael said, they "found treats for people." The following diary extract highlights how they supported wellbeing through food delivery.

I was at the hub preparing to make my deliveries when a car arrives loaded with Christmas food, stuffing, cranberry sauce, angel delight, biscuits. We start making up food parcels. Everyone starts helping unload the car and putting items in boxes. We add in food bags from the "normal delivery" that is food provided through the council. KVDT take these parcels and add in the other food that we have unloaded, "so that people get variety. You can live off what they send but it's not great." Michael tells me as we put the packages together. KVDT add in other items that they have sourced through the partnerships that they have developed with local business and other organisations, such as the churches. We add in fresh food that they have sourced as well as toiletries, nappies, virtually any essential that the people they support say they need.

It was not just about ensuring people had the food they needed to survive, it was about compassion, treating people as individuals and being respectful to people's situation and needs. During the third phase of the pandemic, that started in late 2020 following the emergence of a new COVID-19 variant, the numbers of people needing food parcels began to rise again as people shielded, were forced to isolate, and businesses closed once more. KVDT once again began delivering food aid to large numbers of local people. What the above diary extract demonstrates is that local organisations built

partnerships, there were elements of solidarity with other actors in the local area, and that supporting people's needs and wellbeing were important dimensions of the emergency response.

Strong place-based organisations like KVDT were a critical component of developing community resilience during the initial stage of the pandemic. In the Kirkstall Valley there was no other organisation willing or able to provide the support at the scale required. As a locally based organisation that worked in partnership with other local actors and with volunteer lists of local people, they had intimate knowledge of their local area, all the way down to individual streets and households. This enabled them to respond quickly and flexibly to local needs, which could differ even in one suburb. KVDT also knew which services existed locally, so could signpost people effectively. Local knowledge, effective signposting, and ability to mobilise volunteers were key elements to enabling people to cope in the COVID-19 emergency (Curtin et al., 2021). The initial stages of the pandemic demonstrated how the COVID-19 social crisis overlapped with the impacts of austerity. This was evident in terms of the vulnerabilities that people entered the pandemic with, in terms of employment, poverty, and precarity, but also the situation that the council found themselves in, in terms of funding and ability to provide services. From the KVDT perspective, building community resilience in this complex environment required adaptation to both the political context and the social context in an environment of uncertainty. What the examples offered in this section highlight is how KVDT's demonstrated community resilience as adaptation in this response and how much flexibility and perseverance was required by the organisation in such a challenging crisis.

4.3.3 Phase two of the pandemic and building community resilience

The pandemic response lasted for over eighteen months and went through various phases of lockdowns and easing of restrictions. KVDT undertook a range of strategies for supporting the community and the varied needs that arose at different stages of the pandemic. Following the initial emergency phase from March-July 2020, restrictions began to ease. As the number of people needing food deliveries reduced, KVDT could

focus on other types of support that the community needed. Within phase two, I focus on how the KVDT response shifted to what KVDT leaders characterised as building community, which was identified before the pandemic as a vital component of KVDT's strategy. The focus in this section will be on the work with children and families and the Christmas food deliveries that KVDT undertook in December 2020. Underpinning this work was the partnerships with the council, local schools, businesses, and the work of the network of volunteers and groups that were part of KVDT. This means that this work builds on the idea of what community resilience as adaptation meant in the context of the ongoing and evolving crisis of COVID-19.

There were two important strands of the families work during my research period. The first was an after-school club and the second was a holiday scheme called 'Healthy Holidays'. Both schemes were primarily supported through council funding, which was designed to support children impacted by COVID-19, and support families during the school holidays. Karen, a KVDT leader described what she saw as the aims of the projects,

"I'd say that this is providing elements that are missing for some children in terms of their wider education. Children will only learn when they're happy children."

This quote highlights how for the council the scheme was about helping children to catch up with education that they may have missed due to school closures during the first lockdown period, but that KVDT were interested in delivering the programme in a way that supported children's broader wellbeing. Karen also built in what she saw as an appropriate education element,

"I've gone for building in skills that will support them in their education...So we're doing a lot of STEM challenges and themes that they must think about, and problem solve. So, we're building in learning behaviours. It's not in itself going to catch up their maths and English skills."

Both quotes show how KVDT could interpret the scheme and deliver it in a way that they felt would have the biggest impact, within the agenda set by the council. The council was worried that school closures and home teaching had impacted upon children from poorer families and that children in lower income groups were falling behind in education, due to difficulties that some faced through lack internet access or access to devices, meaning that they had not continued their education during the period of lockdown and home schooling (National Literary Trust, 2020). Karen's reference to STEM (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics) is because this was a priority area for the council. The education initiative from the council can be seen as an attempt to help children bounce back from the impacts of the pandemic on their education. Karen's comment, "It's not in itself going to catch up their maths and English skills", highlights the perceived limitations of how a twice weekly two-hour club can achieve this but her reference to "happy children" illustrates how KVDT could implement the project in a way that focused on children's wellbeing rather than seeing the club as an extension of the school curriculum.

Another aspect of the after-school club that surprised Karen was that,

"We seem to be getting a lot of families with key stage one children who have only got one child...and I think that it's a social thing as those families are really feeling the isolation more than the bigger families."

This demonstrates the different challenges that families faced during this time. The education groups took place on the farm, so it was a safe outdoor environment in which children and parents could socialise, with parents sharing stories about home schooling and the challenges of the pandemic with others in a similar position. The 'After School Club' was more about wellbeing of children and parents, enabling them to get out of their homes and have activities, when most children's activities were still closed. This also supported those who were in financial difficulty as they were free. Once again, this demonstrated how access to funds to support the work was crucial, yet in delivering the work KVDT responded to what they saw as the need in their area, focused on wellbeing and provided spaces in which social relationships could develop. This highlights how building community resilience as adaptation through delivering projects on behalf of the council required working to the council's agenda but that those leading this work in the community could develop broader strategies that met the needs of those that interacted with those services.

At the September 2020 board meeting there was an update on the 'Healthy Holidays' programme and how it was a success as it provided meals and gave families an activity

to do together. 'Healthy Holidays' over the summer of 2020 saw KVDT provide lunches for school children and activities down on the farm, responding to the broader worry across the country at the time that increased poverty would lead to parents not being able to afford meals during school holidays. Over the summer of 2021, over one thousand people made use of the scheme. Versions of the scheme were also run during half terms, Christmas, and Easter holidays. The scheme also enabled KVDT to foster links with local schools and organisations in the area. Schools were able to refer children on free school meals and KVDT began conversations with the schools about how the farm could be used to support their curriculum work once COVID-19 restrictions eased. Other organisations close to Kirkstall also developed schemes and KVDT were able to share their learning and resources with those organisations to support them. The farm space gave families in an inner-city area the opportunity to enjoy green space and learn about issues around food and farming. This became vital during the COVID-19 pandemic as it provided an outdoor area for the school's programme, this meant that it was able to run for longer periods when there were tighter indoor restrictions. Once again, demonstrating how community resources could be repurposed to support community resilience in a time of need.

In the run up to Christmas 2020 KVDT built on their experience of food aid to run a scheme that focused on community building and supporting the wellbeing of vulnerable people. This was through special Christmas meal deliveries and activities, which KVDT paid for through their own money in partnership with a local business and other community organisations in the area. People across the valley could nominate someone to receive a special Christmas hamper. Here is my diary entry from taking part in this.

When I arrived early at the hub it was buzzing with Christmas music blaring out, someone painting a floor to ceiling picture of Kirkstall Abbey in a Van Gogh starry night theme. In the kitchen, puddings are being assembled and turkey dinners are being plated. Each person gets a meal, pudding and two gifts. One of the gifts is a blanket that has been knitted by the *Hookers and Clickers*, a small group that meet in the community hub to knit and socialise. There are soaps for women and a box of biscuits for men. There are more volunteers than normal, people wrapping presents, writing cards, preparing meals, and putting the packages together. There are 135 deliveries over the week. An ice-cream van

transports the meals and a man dressed as a reindeer and one as an elf hand out parcels. People are grateful when I give them the packages, some do not seem to know they are getting them, why or who they are from. However, they are happy, and it does not feel that it is just for the food, or the presents, it seems to be that someone has thought of them, that someone cares. The following week KVDT build a sled that will be towed around the valley by the ice-cream van, with a Father Christmas in it and Christmas music. What this shows is that KVDT were about more than providing a service, they looked for ways to bring the community together, support the community and let people know that others cared, as well as trying to find ways to brighten up the area with fun activities and events.

As well as the strains that were placed on the organisation, COVID-19 was seen to provide opportunities for an organisation that was still in many ways in development. It was felt that rising to the challenge of being the council's mutual aid partner had, as Amy said, "put us on the map" with the council and demonstrated their ability to deliver on a key area of work, one in which they had no experience leading into the pandemic. These activities significantly raised their profile within the valley as new volunteers signed up to support the work, more local people engaged with KVDT, and it enabled them to strengthen links to local schools and other organisations that ran mutual aid schemes across the city. The COVID-19 mutual aid approach and the success of the response points to the potential of community power to respond to the great challenges that we face (Tiratelli and Kaye 2020). This case study demonstrates how organisations can be adaptable, pragmatic and can be partners for change if given the right support. Rather than being an approach that lacks inspiration (Derickson, 2016), my evidence suggests that community resilience as adaptation is actively built, requires pragmatism, imagination, and can provide essential support during the crisis.

Throughout the pandemic, KVDT's approach demonstrates how they straddled the dichotomy of informal, formal, organised, and spontaneous, outside of and working with the state (Singh Dhillon, 2020). In a formal sense, they worked with the council to support the community, but they were not set up to do this work, instead pivoting from their earlier strategy to help the community cope in the COVID-19 emergency. The policy framework and financial support from the state enabled this. However, the

evidence provided points to the fact that this partnership approach with not-for profit actors created a response that was not just about meeting the need, as KVDT went further to support wellbeing and develop strategies to build community. Whilst not getting out of the giver/receiver dichotomy in the food deliveries, KVDT did try to support people's wellbeing and the underlying ethos of KVDT meant they practiced a form of universalism. There were also elements of the informal in how they approached their work, and they could prioritise values of compassion and caring, which are important components of developing alternative futures (Chatterton, 2019). This adds to community resilience thinking and broader analysis of the community led pandemic response. It shows how understandings gained in one phase of the crisis were used to inform a broader programme of work in later phases, as people tried to adapt and cope. Many studies focus on the impact of food, or loss of finance, but this case study demonstrates the intersecting causes of those issues and how the response was attentive towards the intersecting social impacts. Strategies to support people to cope in the emergency phase built organisational knowledge and expertise that informed efforts to adapt at the later phases and bounce back as the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic continued to unfold.

4.4 The limitations of community resilience in relation to austerity and COVID-19

This section looks at some of the limitations of community resilience as adaptation, as was evident in my research setting. I extend my critical conception of community resilience and contribute towards understandings of how despite efforts at self-organisation, structural causes can perpetuate vulnerability and deplete resilience in the current context (Wright, 2021; Harrison, 2013). This draws on ideas of how processes of community resilience, when generated at the community level, are shaped and, in many ways, limited by governmental policy and resilience agendas (Deverteuil et al., 2021). In terms of top-down resilience, I draw out how this form of neoliberal governance created vulnerability through a culture of short-termism that sought to treat the symptom and not the causes of the problems. In doing so, this form of governance further embeds precarity within communities and hampers efforts to build strong and long-lasting

organisations. Within this section, I build on the arguments of this chapter by showing how it is a form of governance that seeks solutions to problems within a narrow framework that draws people and organisations into the market, thus supporting roll out and rollback neoliberalism, and to an extent it disciplines how organisations can act. I draw on experiences towards the end of my fieldwork, from an away day with three leaders of KVDT, funding bids that I helped to write, the transition out of COVID-19, and the forced move from Unit 11 to new premises. These insights demonstrate how community resilience is tested and constrained within the organisation and in the community that they are trying to support. The following diary extract from the away day highlights what KVDT saw as the key issues as they emerged from COVID-19.

I organised an away day with three of the KVDT leaders, Amy, Karen, and Yvonne. The aim was to support them to develop a one-year operational plan. We start by discussing the challenges that they face and immediately the talk turns to the fact that they are a small team working to tackle a myriad of problems. They are painfully aware of the need that exists within the community and talk about the precariousness of people's lives and a feeling that the community lacks a voice and power to make change happen. They are passionate when they talk about how they want to face these challenges, but they are aware of their limitations to do so, due to the size of their team and the scale of the task. They acknowledged that this means that often they focus on being reactive, and do not have the time to complete training and undertake rigorous planning. They also discuss the challenge of "worrying that we'll have a roof over our heads." Next door to the community centre is a charity shop and they are interested in extending into KVDT's premises and could take their rolling six-month lease off them. KVDT cannot stop this, an acknowledgement of the precarious situation they are in as an organisation when it comes to their home. They also worry that whilst the National Lottery funding and the COVID-19 funding have enabled them to establish the organisation, much of the money is short term for specific project delivery. They also cannot run money generating activities at scale due to the pandemic and the government-imposed restrictions.

This extract highlights three important themes. Firstly, how the ongoing crisis continued to create vulnerability in the community and how trying to support the community through this could overwhelm the organisation, which relates to Harrison's (2013) idea that we need to think about how responding to crisis can enhance but also make people, or in my research an organisation, less able to be resilient. Secondly, existing

within the marketized environment created precarity for the organisation in important ways, in terms of financially and in terms of the security of their community space. Thirdly, and related to the first two points, as the council looked to move on from COVID-19 emergency work, rather than exploring how to build back better, it was an attempt to return to business as usual. Thus, the approach from the council was much more akin to resilience as bouncing back than resilience as transformation, which risked leaving people vulnerable in the face of crisis (Donoghue, 2022; Deverteuil et al., 2021).

The limitations of KVDT's ability to keep responding to adverse situations is highlighted in the above extract as issues were raised in terms of "the myriad of problems", the small team, and the fact that they felt they were often reacting to events. This links to the negative side of resilience, as people and communities are expected to keep responding to crisis after crisis (Derickson, 2016). The COVID-19 pandemic work placed a great strain on the organisation, with key volunteers and staff working twelvehour days six days a week in the early part of the pandemic response. Burn out was a common feature within mutual aid groups as the pandemic dragged on for eighteen months (Fernandes-Jesus et al., 2021). This was a risk for KVDT, as it was difficult to sustain the early surge in volunteer numbers and commitments, especially as people's time commitments changed due to home schooling or returning to work. This is common across many types of emergencies where early enthusiasm dissipates over the course of the emergency (Wright, 2021). This demonstrates that when thinking about community resilience over a longer period it is important to look at how it is generated, how it is sustained, and how it may diminish over the course of a crisis. The factors that may cause the latter may be due to circumstances in the community but may also be driven by factors outside of their control.

KVDT were proud and passionate about the work that they did with food distribution during COVID-19. The KVDT leaders talked in the away day about being a small team and working within a local context that stretched them. The issues that people faced before the pandemic, of poverty, precarious work, and social isolation, were still prevalent and the need to support the community to cope and adapt to this environment was still a priority for the KVDT leaders. In the longer term, this could impact on the

transformation agenda of the organisation as resources were focused on dealing with immediate needs rather than on transformation. This was especially relevant moving out of the emergency stage of the pandemic as the council sought ways of managing just under £118 million of a budget gap in 2020-21 (Golding, 2020).

Despite the mutual aid scheme winding down in June 2021, in the final weeks of my field work, the council sought to make a short-term fix to help people that still relied on food aid support. KVDT became a community partner in developing a new food distribution scheme between July 2021-March 2022. This model was described as a "community anchor" approach in which community organisations are multi-purpose (Henderson and McWilliams, 2017). In this case providing food support and signposting people to relevant services for other issues that they faced. Where this work differed from the COVID-19 food hub was that they created a "Food pantry" model. The idea was that people no longer received deliveries but that they came to a hub and paid a small fee of £3.50 and received about £20 worth of food. At one board meeting, when this was discussed, there was concern that they may not know that the most vulnerable were being supported. This was because people may have not engaged with the council, which links to KVDT's earlier experience of food support when people in need would be referred to them from a range of sources. There were also practical concerns, such as people not being able to get to the hub as it was not close to a bus stop. There was also a lack of clarity from the council and in KVDT as to what success would look like. In the initial stages, the pantry was supporting around thirty-five families a month. KVDT were concerned, as Amy put it, that this was a sticking plater to a bigger problem and was about developing services without the necessary investment. This approach placed KVDT in a position of delivering services, in a context of crisis management, rather than tackling the structural inequality that caused this crisis (Henderson and McWilliams, 2017).

Coming out of COVID-19, rather than innovative approaches from the council, this extension of food aid can be seen as a continuation of the top-down resilience approach that seeks to draw people and organisations into the market while others deliver services on behalf of the state (Donoghue, 2022). In discussions with Amy, she told me

that the concern from the council was that the food delivery model during the COVID-19 emergency had created dependence, which speaks to the idea that people in poverty need to be disciplined by being drawn back into the market (Donoghue and Edmiston, 2020; Donoghue, 2022). It also shines a light on the broader top-down view of supporting communities through the crisis and beyond, as by dispensing with broader support, it demonstrated that the overall aim of the council was for communities to bounce back to something equating to earlier functioning before COVID-19, rather than looking at how they could use the emergency to build back better.

With a looming cost of living crisis, KVDT were concerned that people would be negatively impacted, which links to the rise of in work poverty, rising housing costs, inflation, and soaring energy costs in the UK (Hourston, 2022). As the UK moved out of worst of the COVID-19 health crisis, the insecurities of low pay, lack of services and job insecurity that exacerbated the social impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic were still prevalent and creating stresses and strains at the community level. The rollback of the state and the rollout of neoliberalism created a situation in which community organisations post-COVID-19 were still delivering services and supporting those that fell through the gaps and cracks of provision.

The range of strains felt by the broader community and individuals during COVID-19 created a situation in which the approaches identified in the KVDT strategy around community transformation, with high ambition for tackling problems like the climate emergency had to fight for time and space whilst the organisation dealt with the many difficulties that existed in their local context. This points to potential limitations for the role of community organisations in tackling the climate emergency in the short term, as other emergencies, such as austerity and COVID-19 take on a greater urgency in the daily approaches that organisations take. This was evident in the away day that I ran, were the ethos of "we get the job done and we react to the needs" was expressed. In a time of social need this was understandable and comes from a place of being concerned primarily with people, and that activities needed to benefit people. In effect, this led to a situation that was quite reactive to events. Time and resources were focused on relieving immediate pressures within the community and alleviating direct

problems that people faced, at the expense of having the space to focus on broader questions of transformation.

4.4.1 The impacts on the community organisation of the neoliberal policy environment

A second element that threatened to deplete resilience was the vulnerability and precarity that the organisation faced. This was primarily caused by having to exist in an environment that prioritised market led approaches. This was evident in the funding model, which was a consistent issue throughout the period of my research. As the COVID-19 mutual aid funding wound down funding issues became more prominent towards the end of my research period. Due to this, more of my fieldwork time was taken up supporting the organisation with identifying funding opportunities and contributing towards writing funding bids. During my research I worked on three funding bids, two of which were successful and one that was not.

Towards the end of my research period the National Lottery Community Fund grant was ending and KVDT applied for a follow-on grant from the funder. As the funding was substantial and up to five years, it could be a vital resource for many community organisations in the country. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic the funder had pivoted towards the agenda of supporting communities towards building back from its adverse impacts. For KVDT, this follow-on grant was vital, without it they would be in a financially perilous state within six months. When preparing the funding bid, we discussed how vital it was to enable KVDT to continue to provide its core programme and important services for the community. There was real concern that without it, as Amy said, "we won't be able to keep the lights on." Thus, the funding model of shortterm grants and project specific grants meant that KVDT, like community organisations across the country, existed in a state of precarity, which consumed the time and energy of the organisation and made long-term planning more difficult.

This precariousness emanated through the organisation and led to a focus on the shortterm. It also impacted on the development of funded projects as budgets were stretched and barely covered the work that was needed. Often many of the staff delivering on these projects worked more than the stipulated hours that were funded. Another effect was that even if projects were successful and KVDT could see that it met a need, if the council or the trust involved decided to discontinue that funding stream, then it would simply have to cease. In a broader sense the funding model adhered to what Aiken (2016) identified as community groups becoming neoliberalised in the sense that they fill in the gaps created by the roll back process, and the roll out process entrenches market principles within community. Another way that this was evident through funding was that to prove their success, reporting was often based on how many people were reached, which speaks to the desire to quantify (Aiken, 2016). KVDT were not passive in this process and they also in part judged their success through how many people they reached, whether being proud of being able to deliver twenty to thirty food parcels a day during the pandemic, or the number of families attending their events. Demonstrating to funders that they could meet their objectives was important, and did influence how projects were developed and assessed, therefore conforming to these dominant values was perceived to be necessary. However, as I have demonstrated, this must be balanced against the fact that in KVDT's case the funding also enabled them to build relationships with the community, ways of working that could foster relationships, and processes that pushed back against these dominant values. Thus, it can be seen as correct to argue that "the preferred form of knowledge becomes abstract, disembodied and fungible" (Aiken, 2016, p. 20). However, it is not correct in the KVDT instance to see this as replacing more relational forms of knowledge within the organisation itself.

The funding model also limited the types of programmes that could be created. The programme funding that I have outlined can be categorised as supporting adaptation, coping, and bouncing back. One key barrier that was evident during my research was based around the idea of being political. The National Lottery Community Fund does not allow money to be used for political activity or lobbying. The council funded projects that I have discussed throughout this chapter focused on remedying the negative impacts of austerity and COVID-19. This made it difficult to use this money to challenge the structural causes of those problems. By relying on council funding, they were in a position were publicly challenging the council could risk the relationship with the council and the funding on offer. In discussion with Amy, we talk about the council, she stated

that she would be reluctant to "call out" the council publicly and would prefer to do it behind closed doors. This highlights how focusing on vulnerability and working with the council does limit the organisation and work to discipline them in terms of what they feel able to say and do.

Towards the end of my field work an issue that had been bubbling up throughout the early part of 2021 came to a head. KVDT had been on a rolling tenancy agreement with the commercial owners of the Kirkstall Retail Park. This was useful for KVDT, as their short-term finances meant that they were unable to commit to a long-term lease. However, this meant that they existed under the risk that their home, as they called it, could be taken away from them, which it was at the end of June 2020. This highlighted how community organisations were not exempt from the precarity that the market-based system created more broadly within society. A larger charity was able to offer the owners a higher rent and therefore KVDT were left in the position of needing to find a new home for their operations. This created a lot of stress and uncertainty within the organisation.

At a time when they were also planning and writing funding applications for the next stage of the COVID-19 mutual aid support a significant amount of time was spent on trying to find new premises. This was not an easy task as one of the reasons that KVDT came into existence was due to the lack of community orientated places. This meant that there was not an abundance of potential locations for them to move to. Once a location was found KVDT had to pack up Unit 11 and move everything across to the new site. With no budget in place to support this, it relied on volunteers helping to take down shelves, pack up all the stuff, and help transport it. KVDT tried to keep the programme going during this period and were successful for a while but the stress that this placed on their capacity to organise events, and with staff starting to feel burned out from the competing demands of the move and the programme, the decision was taken to suspend activity for a few weeks. The farm also suffered from precarity, although the lease for the farm was for five years. However, although that was only officially signed towards the end of my field work period, it was already in the minds of the KVDT leadership that there was no guarantee that the council would extend this, especially if a

commercial developer offered more money than KVDT could afford. Hence, there was a sense that they had to demonstrate the value that the farm added, in the words of Adam, a KVDT leader, make it "politically toxic not renew."

The farm illustrated the complexity of working with the council, funders, and businesses. Many of the meetings that I attended of the farm strategic and task groups, as well as board meetings, were taken up with discussing and trying to navigate the arduous processes that they had to go through to advance the project. One of the key issues that persisted for a few months was signing the lease with the council. KVDT recognised that the council was stretched but there was a long delay on getting it through. This had knock effects as other funding streams were reliant on this lease being signed, which meant that there was uncertainty as to whether they could hire a grower or undertake structural work for things like developing vegetable storage for the winter. The delays in signing the lease, and the uncertainty of who in the council was responsible, how they could get them to move the process on, created a lot of stress within the farm group.

This stress was compounded by the fact that for other elements of the farm work they also had to file applications for planning permission, for instance to build polytunnels, there was uncertainty over the boundary edge, which needed to be agreed with the council, impacting on growing space. To make this project work they had to work with both the council and private companies. Other issues came up during the period, such as the bridge to the farm needing to be reinforced, problems with water pipes and each required separate processes and decision-makers to be resolved. This highlighted the fragmented and bureaucratic nature of decision-making, a complex environment that KVDT had to navigate to develop the farm. The combination of ongoing crises, short-term funding, short term leases, and complex bureaucracy, embedded a precarity within the organisations and led to short term decision-making and prioritisation that made tackling more long-term problems more difficult. What the farm example highlights, is that KVDT had a vision, were providing community leadership, and attempting to self-organise in the community, these are important elements of being able to develop resilient communities (Walton et al., 2013; Magis, 2010). However, my research shows

that when pursuing ambitious projects whilst also having to adapt to succeed in a policy environment that makes creating community led change complex to achieve, developing resilience is hard work, without guaranteed success, and this in large part is due to structural barriers and hurdles that skilled community operators must be able to navigate.

4.5 Conclusion

In this chapter, I have explored how the intersecting crises of austerity and COVID-19 have generated a range of negative social impacts that required tackling. Before looking at how they seek transformation in the following chapter. I have explored how they have worked within current structures focusing on adaptation and coping as key elements of their resilience strategies. In the first section I outlined how the policy environment of austerity and the extension of roll out and rollback neoliberalism created impacts at organisational and community levels. Added to this, the discourse of top-down resilience from the government was used to justify the withdrawal of the state. This discourse supported the rollback neoliberal approach and focused on getting communities and individuals to be responsible for dealing with social issues and delivering services (Hall and Lamont, 2013; Aiken et al., 2017). Within roll-out neoliberalism much state action is focused on creating markets in areas that they do not exist, for instance welfare provision, healthcare and much that is traditionally thought of as public sector (Harvey, 2005). The social impacts are felt at a community level through a reduction of service provision, increased poverty, deregulation of the labour market and an increase in vulnerability through precarity (Harvey, 2005). Furthermore, there was a feeling in KVDT that what they were tackling was a broader sense that the area had no heart, or that it was difficult to build community in the austerity environment. This was exacerbated during the COVID-19 pandemic as this crisis intersected with the impacts of austerity to create a new social emergency. During this time, the organisation had to support the community to react to, cope with and attempt to adjust to the new reality of the COVID-19 emergency.

Despite a call for communities to fill the gaps created by the retreat of the state, communities needed state support to step into the gaps in provision and the state provided support to solve practical problems that austerity and COVID-19 created. Therefore, the first key strategy observed was to build resilience through acquiring community resources in terms of money and to develop community infrastructure. Across all three phases of the COVID-19 pandemic these resources were key elements that enabled KVDT to respond. Resources are a key component of community resilience but do not themselves create resilience (McCrea, 2014). As Amy said, without Unit 11 KVDT would not have been able to play the role of mutual aid partner. Without the Kirkstall Valley Farm they would not have been able to support social activities and the education programme, due to the nature of social distancing restrictions. The money to secure these spaces was not acquired to support an emergency, but it was able to be repurposed to do so. This demonstrated how building institutional capacity and non-commercialised spaces within the area were key to facilitating the emergency response.

The organisation worked in partnership with the state on a range of programmes. This was particularly evident during the COVID-19 pandemic when KVDT became the mutual aid partner. The council facilitated the locally led work and supported it financially but dispensed with a top-down approach and supported a more community driven and relational form of delivery (Tiratelli and Kaye, 2020). This showed that during an emergency there could be gaps in roll out neoliberalism that those seeking bottomup approaches could exploit. Whilst having many elements of service delivery and charitable style giver/receiver approaches the KVDT COVID-19 mutual aid work was impressive in its scale, its breadth, and its longevity. What was evident was a compassion, caring and various forms of universality. As the COVID-19 pandemic dragged on there were efforts at supporting the most vulnerable and building community, most notably through a programme of work for young people. Whilst not getting out of the giver/receiver dichotomy KVDT did try, where possible, to support people's wellbeing. In Leeds, the council model that developed was one of partnership with the community care hubs and this empowered the hubs to respond to the specific needs in their location (Gordon et al., 2022).

The response demonstrates that adapting to a shock and disturbance like COVID-19 can provide space to foster values outside of dominant neoliberal approaches. Whilst much of this activity was focused on providing people's necessities, the staff and volunteers prided themselves on going beyond what was stipulated in the contracts and doing all they could to do more than meet basic needs. Their approach was a form of universalism, they believed people when they said they were in need and built an atmosphere of care and social connection built on trust (Shabi, 2021).

The policy environment shaped strategies of community resilience as adaptation and created barriers that threatened to overwhelm the organisation and limit its ability to build community resilience. This could be seen in three ways. Firstly, the organisation had to continue to respond to the crises and negative social impacts generated by neoliberal approaches. This was seen through austerity, COVID-19 and continuing crisis as COVID-19 restrictions eased. Secondly, the form of governance meant the organisation existed in a marketized environment (Joseph, 2013). Thus, top-down approaches meant that they were vulnerable as they existed in an almost perpetual state of precarity and competed for resources in terms of money. Due to the governance approach this money was short term or project specific, ensuring that the long-term future of the organisation was not secure. Much of this money was used to deal with the symptoms of the problems rather than tackle the structural causes. Thirdly, the community spaces that they developed were not secure, for instance they lost the tenancy on their community hub and the farm contract was only for five years. Another aspect of this environment was that they must deal with bureaucracy and council processes, which is time consuming and uncertain, thus limiting their ability to focus on more transformative change. In this way, the political and economic context in which they operated created vulnerability, exacerbated crises, and threatened to diminish and deplete community resilience.

Chapter 5 – Community Resilience as transformation

5.1 Introduction

This chapter is focused on answering the second sub question, what where the key strategies developed to build community resilience as transformation? In its simplest sense, community resilience as transformation is a proactive process with communities taking ownership of the need to change through developing strategies to challenge the status-quo in response to crisis (Twigger-Ross et al., 2011; O'Brien, 2012). The aim of this research is to contribute towards community resilience theory by exploring the 'how' of community resilience in a community setting. To do that, I draw upon elements of resilience frameworks that are relevant to my ethnographic observations and the action research that I undertook. My research illustrates how community organisations can attempt a range of approaches to transform their local area and that their projects of transformation start from a position of being broadly defined against the status-quo. To contribute to the literature and theory of community resilience I apply thinking of Eric Olin Wright (2010; 2018). His work enabled me to demonstrate how strategies of community resilience as transformation can employ symbiotic and interstitial approaches to creating change at the community level. In this chapter, I build on the work of Keck and Sakdapolrak (2013) to demonstrate how community resilience can be future orientated and pre-emptive in responding to the need to change in the face of intersecting crises.

There are three core components to community resilience as transformation in my research. The first is based on social empowerment, and I look at how this was developed in the organisation based on values of collaboration and solidarity (5.2). The idea was to create an environment in which people could develop social relationships and contribute towards developing ideas for change (Mathie and Cunningham, 2003; Moulaert et al., 2005). In this chapter, I demonstrate that social empowerment based on values is actively produced, gives a voice to people, and enables them to explore their agency, which are important dimensions of community resilience as transformation (Deverteuil and Golubchikov, 2016). Section 5.2 explores how within the organisation

KVDT were developing community resilience through increasing agency and selforganisation (Berkes and Ross, 2013; Walton et al., 2013). I argue that approaches to self-organisation in a community organisation can also be an interstitial strategy. This is evident in approaches to hierarchy, empowerment, and methods of organising (Pickerill, 2019). My participant observations, interviews, and the action research projects that I developed enable me to explore how processes of social empowerment are developed in the community setting. Through the work of Twigger-Ross et al., (2015), I connect the idea of social empowerment to community resilience as transformation. I show that developing participation and collaboration supports community resilience as transformation by dealing with community concerns, influencing the local agenda, and creating strategies based on these elements.

The second and third components of community resilience as transformation are based on Eric Olin Wright's (2010; 2018) conception of interstitial and symbiotic strategies for achieving change. This supports one of the ideas running through this research, that neoliberalism is an incomplete project and community led approaches to tackling crises in this environment can exploit the gaps and contradictions in how neoliberalism is applied (Deverteuil, 2015). By working interstitially, in the cracks or on the margins of this incomplete neoliberal project, community organisations can grow and exert their power and make changes that improve life in the here and now (Chatterton and Pickerill, 2010). In this way, an interstitial approach has strong elements of creating autonomy within the community (Pickerill, 2019). Symbiotic approaches are when the interests of the powerful and those seeking change converge and they work together to solve practical problems (Olin Wright, 2010). In this chapter, I apply this to how KVDT, a community actor, were either empowered to or attempted to collaborate with local actors in the form of the local council and local businesses. Whilst Chapter 4 dealt with how they worked within current structures, which often involved collaboration with local powerful actors, the difference here is that KVDT were attempting to affect more fundamental change in their local area.

I connect their interstitial and symbiotic strategies to a community resilience lens. In section 5.3, this is shown through the development of community assets (Berkes and

Ross, 2013; Walton et al., 2013). Where community resilience supports this is through exploring how asset acquisition and development was a response to problems associated with neoliberal model of urban development, such as the dominance of market approaches. Transformation in this context was about seeking to develop spaces outside of the market and for community benefit (Gibson-Graham, 2006; 2008). I will highlight this through the example of the Kirkstall Valley Development Farm, which is a form of Community Supported Agriculture (CSA). This section also focuses on the partnerships that KVDT attempted to develop with local actors to bring neglected buildings back into community control. There was also a strong interstitial focus in this work, and I use the example of the Kirkstall Valley Farm to demonstrate the relationship between interstitial and symbiotic approaches. I do so by demonstrating how acquiring an asset through a symbiotic approach can further interstitial approaches to community transformation. This interstitial project contributed towards community resilience through building a diverse and innovative economy (Berkes and Ross 2013).

In section 5.4, I look at efforts to engage and mobilise the community in neighbourhood activity, outside of KVDT controlled spaces. This involved engaging in political processes to increase agency within the community, alongside building networks with other local actors. This work was centred around efforts to develop active travel in the local area. Once again, I demonstrate links between symbiotic and interstitial approaches to creating change by exploring the political opportunity that was created through Leeds City Council declaring a climate emergency in 2019. I demonstrate how people used this to engage the council and how the declaration of the climate emergency provided a context in which people could come together to develop projects in the cracks and on the margins of the neoliberal system (Macgregor, 2021). This work was climate focused but also sought to tackle other problems that were discussed in Chapter 4, around social isolation, and the perceived neglect of the local area. An important contribution that my research makes to understandings of community resilience as transformation is through highlighting the links between social empowerment, interstitial, and symbiotic strategies for transformation.

5.1.1 The data and analysis used to inform the findings in this chapter

In this chapter, I combine my ethnographic data of observations and interviews with the data that I collected from my action research, which includes the workshops, the action group meetings, and data from the activities that we carried out. In section 5.2, I combine personal observations from meetings that I attended with quotes from interviews with KVDT leaders and volunteers. By doing so, I build up arguments about community resilience as transformation, using quotations that directly show the ideas and views of the people involved, with my own reflections based on attending meetings, such as the various farm group meetings that I observed. I use interview quotes, particularly in relation to the farm (5.3), from people that were leaders on the farm project, to give a sense of their ideas about how it functioned and the role that it could play in relation to alternative approaches to agriculture. I use these quotes and apply them to my community resilience framework to create arguments and conclusions, which was a dialogue that I undertook between observations, interviews, and the theory that I applied (Burawoy, 2003).

In section 5.4, I base my analysis and the findings on the action research strand of my fieldwork. Whilst this data is primarily diary reflections that I made at different stages, such as after events like guerilla gardening and Clean Air Day, I also use information that was captured from the workshop events, which is a combination of inputs from participants and my own reflections. I analyse the meeting notes that I created during The A65 Group meetings, which were shared with participants to ensure that they were accurate accounts of what was discussed. The workshops and meetings were based on a participatory approach, which involved developing practices, generating ideas for the projects, and working together on the complex task of creating change (Sufi et al., 2018; Orngreen and Levinsen, 2017).

5.2 Developing social empowerment within KVDT through practices and social relationships

One of the broader problems that was identified in Chapter 4 was that people in KVDT believed there was a lack of community in the area. As I argued, KVDT tackled this by creating an organisation that supported ways in which the community could come together through community events, as well as supporting people during the COVID-19 pandemic through emergency food distribution. Drawing on my participant observations and my action research with The A65 Sustainable Travel Group (The A65 Group), in this section I show how building a sense of community through collaboration was an important dynamic in the organisation. In this section, I argue that in the KVDT context, the emphasis internally was on increasing collaboration through meaningful activities and building a sense of community through social connection, autonomy, and social recognition (Olin Wright, 2018). This collaboration helped to generate different forms of solidarity that were fostered between the organisation, the volunteers, and amongst the volunteers themselves. Secondly, the processes that KVDT developed and that I developed through action research were important in generating practical ideas for action by empowering the community through involvement (Berkes and Ross, 2013). This was important in further enhancing the social connections, in the generation of ideas for transformation, and in providing a supportive environment of collective endeavour. In this section I explore how social relationships can be an important dynamic within community resilience as transformation.

5.2.1 Collaboration for social connection, developing autonomy, and social recognition

Since 2019, KVDT has involved over 350 people as volunteers from the communities around Kirkstall. Their volunteering scheme aimed to enable people to use their skills to support community development. In Unit 11 and the farm collaboration was important for making people feel valued and supported and various structures were put in place to aid collaboration within the workings of KVDT. For instance, the farm had a strategy group and operational group were volunteers and members could come together to

manage and carry out the workings of the farm. While the structures of the various aspects of the organisation felt fluid and continued to develop throughout the course of my research, as the organisation expanded and priorities changed, collaboration was an aspect that was important to the volunteers. When I attended the farm strategic meeting in which they were reviewing the governance structures, there was concern from some of the participants that the proposed changes took away from elements of collaboration on the farm. As Peter, a KVDT volunteer said during the meeting in reference to collaboration, "It's part of the reason that I'm involved." This comment gave a sense that it was not just the outcomes that people wanted to be part of delivering, they wanted to feel a sense of working with others in a shared endeavour. Peter's comment demonstrated how he wanted to feel that he was connecting with others and that he could contribute to the overall direction of the farm. This matters in developing an environment in which alternatives can develop, as building alternatives is both about the methods and the destination (Oosterlynck et al., 2013).

KVDT itself was not a flat structure, there was hierarchy that existed from the board, paid staff through to the volunteer network. The sense that it was a shared endeavour for those involved was a key component of the dynamic that existed. As Chloe, one of the volunteers during the COVID-19 pandemic told me in her interview:

"There should be no reason for, not that there would be, any reason of hierarchy or anything, you know what I mean, this should surely be the purest sense of being a team and acting as one."

This comment demonstrated the collaborative and non-hierarchical atmosphere that existed within the Unit 11 community hub amongst the volunteers. This chimes with many of the conversations that took place in the various farm groups that I attended and was highlighted by Peter's comment above. In the farm meetings people spoke of wanting to work together and feel empowered by being involved in their work with KVDT. This speaks to three essential elements that demonstrate why the fostering of social relationships in the process of building alternatives is important. Firstly, the approach and processes contrast sharply with the capitalist and neoliberal approach to work and structuring of society more broadly. The capitalist world is dominated by

alienating work and individualism, meaning that people are often disconnected from the work that they do and those that they work with (Graeber, 2018). Secondly, alternative approaches to structuring the organisation and the work of the organisation help to foster a sense that another way of doing things is possible. What the comment from Peter demonstrated was that this was important for motivating those people that chose to offer their time. Thirdly, as was alluded to in the comment by Chloe about the purest sense of team and acting as one, this was based around the link between the processes inside the organisation and the outcomes that people felt they were working towards in the community. There was a sense in discussions that if people wanted to create alternatives in the outside world, then alternative ways of functioning must be developed to realise that. In this sense, there is a link between alternative processes and alternative outcomes. In this way, people are co-operating both for their own and others' well-being, in a spirit of reciprocity, and this took the approach into one of fostering solidarity (Olin Wright, 2018).

Within the volunteer network there was further evidence of building solidarity, using the situation of COVID-19 to generate solidarity within the organisation and between the organisation and the volunteers. As discussed in Chapter 4, KVDT, like many organisations delivering COVID-19 mutual aid work, struggled to find ways to move out of the service provision role and into one of reciprocity with those that relied on food support. In the volunteer network there was evidence of using the situation of COVID-19 to generate internal solidarity inside the organisation. This was evident between the volunteers, and between the KVDT leaders and the volunteers, were a spirit of support and reciprocity was a key concern of the KVDT leaders. Like in many parts of the country, KVDT's volunteer network grew during COVID-19. More people wanted to support their community due to the nature of the pandemic forcing a shutting down of many aspects of society, therefore allowing them to use their free time to volunteer, as was shown by the example of Chloe,

"I wanted to get involved because it's a time I was furloughed from a bar I was working at and I knew the bar would start opening when things were lifted, and it felt so far away, and I guess it was [as] there was still two months left [of

lockdown]. I just love being around people and being part of a team and I also selfishly love being busy, and I kind of go crazy when I'm not being busy."

It shows that an organisation like KVDT has many types of people, some that have political aims and others that come to it from enjoying, as Chloe said, being part of a team. As was discussed in Chapter 4, many of the volunteers were motivated by helping people and making the area a better place for vulnerable and marginalised people who were struggling. What this demonstrated was that KVDT played a role in fostering collaboration within the community by playing a facilitating role in the community self-organising, with inclusion and belonging as important impacts (Berks and Ross, 2013).

Another dimension of the volunteering was the relationship between the organisation and the volunteers. I have discussed some of the volunteer's motivations for being involved but the motivations of Amy, a KVDT leader, were interesting and further our understandings of collaboration in this context. An important dimension of the volunteering approach of KVDT was to provide people with skills to help them to get a job. I was often told by Amy that she did not want people to volunteer for years, she wanted to support them so that they could flourish beyond KVDT. In this way, KVDT were actively building community resilience, as an organisation providing a space to support marginalised and vulnerable people, with the aim that they could contribute to making the area a better place to live and improve their own circumstances. For Amy, the work of KVDT through the volunteer network was also about empowerment of those people that got involved. During my interview with her she tells me about one volunteer who came to KVDT to escape a difficult homelife. Amy tells me that this person was low on confidence and self-esteem. Volunteering at KVDT enabled her to feel useful and develop friendships with other volunteers. It was with delight that Amy told me that she was flourishing within the organisation. In her interview Amy showed her attitude to supporting volunteers,

"You've just got to build relationships with the ones who want to stay and want to be part of it. There's nothing worse than people who are volunteering and feeling like they are names and faceless and just, just there for being a dog's body. That's not OK."

Thus, for Amy the work with volunteers was about giving voice, supporting education, and training, and using the institutional capacity of KVDT to develop people's skills. KVDT saw their role as not just making use of volunteers but supporting them to gain skills, experience, and to help them to use these to move on from the organisation and get jobs. This was a two-way relationship, KVDT benefited from people's input and the volunteer process contributed towards enabling people to thrive outside of KVDT. In this way, there are strong elements of developing solidarity within KVDT internally, even if the COVID-19 response struggled to develop this more broadly. This speaks to important elements of developing alternative processes from Olin Wright's framework. It supports social connection and social recognition between the KVDT volunteers and KVDT leaders.

Another aspect of solidarity inside the organisation was between the volunteers themselves. This aspect of solidarity speaks to the ideas of cooperation between people for mutual benefit, which is integral to solidarity (Olin Wright, 2010; 2018). This chimes with the community aspect of collaboration that Peter talked about in the farm group, but it goes further than a community of people working on a range of tasks to improve the community, it was about the importance of cooperation and mutual support to improve wellbeing amongst the participants, and that takes it into a form of solidarity. The following diary entry supports this idea.

I arrived one Tuesday just to see if there was anything that needed doing. There was an impromptu birthday celebration in the kitchen for a volunteer. I get handed a plate with homemade chilli and rice, there are dips, salads, bucks' fizz, and a cake. All the volunteers are tucking in. Over lunch, we chat about parenting difficulties during lockdown, about how COVID-19 and lockdown has affected us personally. People are open, sharing, they are seemingly friends primarily. They are people from the area, and they rely on each other for support and practical help. This aspect matters to them, they are creating an internal community as well as volunteering to support the wider community. Unit 11 and farm are more defined by the relationships of the people within them and how the personalities of the people are embodied in how the place is run. It feels like a second home for the volunteers, and they are all clearly close.

Creating an environment in which trusting and respectful relationships can develop is a key component of community resilience (Walton et al., 2013). In KVDT, this way of thinking about community was based on shared interests, developing bonds, and outside of a market orientated conception of organisation (Moulaert and Nussbaumer, 2005). In a community resilience framing, drawing together people can create social cohesion through engagement and participation (Twigger-Ross et al., 2011). In terms of people that benefitted from the work of KVDT, I set out in Chapter 4 how they aimed to tackle the negative social impacts generated by the intersecting crises of austerity and the COVID-19 pandemic, such as increased poverty for individuals, precarity due to uncertain work, food insecurity, and the social isolation that was felt at the community level during the COVID-19 crisis (McDoland and Sandor, 2021; Hwang et al., 2020). Internal collaboration supported those aims in several ways. As the examples used in this section demonstrate, volunteering enabled people to develop skills and to be part of a community in which belonging and fulfilment of need were met through co-operation (Forjaz et al., 2011).

5.2.2 Collaboration to generate practical ideas for transformation

Within the organisation, KVDT built an agenda for transformation in their local area through developing new practices (Twigger-Ross et al., 2015). Analysing their approaches can further understandings of community resilience as transformation thinking as deliberate processes are developed to create pathways for change (Skerratt, 2013). In this section, I focus on how collaboration was a core element to priority setting, planning, and strategy development. This collaborative approach was important, and I demonstrate how it became a vital component of developing The A65 Group and the Kirkstall Craftivist project. Having shown how the process of developing new practices based on collaboration and co-operation mattered for internal organisation, I now want to explore its contribution towards external strategies and tactics (Moulaert and Nussbaumer, 2005). This links to the development interstitial and symbiotic strategies (see 5.3 for more), as well as linking to community resilience. Social empowerment is a key component of community resilience as transformation, as using ideas, knowledge, and capacities that exist in the community can aid the development

of community initiatives that build responses to a range of issues based on the concerns and priorities that matter to the community (Twigger-Ross et al., 2015).

I have already outlined the participatory methodology that I used to develop my action research in Chapter 3, showing how framing the problems and deciding on priority areas were key elements. Therefore, in this chapter I draw out how collaboration was important for the development of The A65 Group and deciding upon the types of actions that were taken. As discussed in Chapter 3, collaborating on the Terms of Reference, vision, strategy, and creating activity were important for increasing participation and for fostering social relationships amongst The A65 Group. This was because using the skills, experiences, and ideas of people set the direction of the group and informed the areas of focus. Both The A65 Group and the Kirkstall Craftivists were informal networks based on an emerging idea of the problems the groups wanted to tackle, and what a better place to live would look like. This extract from my observation diary explored this.

To foster collaboration in the group, at the third meeting, two members presented their areas of interest. Jackie presented her street level activism and Valerie presented her masters research on e-bikes. Both presentations were used to generate activities around the group carrying out street level work, in the form of guerrilla gardening and to develop an e-bike scheme. The reason for the latter was that, in the workshops, the gradient of the valley had been raised as a barrier to active travel. Following the presentations, the group decided collectively and through consensus that we should focus activity based on these two areas.

This extract highlights how collaboration was a process of people coming together to agree on shared priorities (Tiratelli et al., 2021). It demonstrates that whilst the overall focus of the project was decided, following a workshop with the broader community, this was not the end point for the process to create pathways for change (Skerratt, 2013). In line with Twigger-Ross et al., (2015) using collaboration to develop community resilience was achieved through building on people's areas of interest, their knowledge, and their skills.

In the Kirkstall Craftivists, collaboration was also a central element. As discussed in Chapter 3, this project was planned by a small core team who set the broad parameters and applied for the funding. However, once the group was established, a key component was collaboration. This was done in the sense of deciding on areas to focus action and the types of action that would be undertaken. For instance, creating "welcoming cards" for refugees, knitting activities, making benches in support of a local campaign, sourcing materials to make the activity, working together on the activities, and deciding what to do with the actions. Thus, both groups demonstrated how collaboration was developed to empower people, further their involvement, and generate practical ideas to tackle problems. As Ayob et al., (2016) argue, this form of collaboration was about fostering new types of social relationship, in this case in a community setting, which aims to generate innovative ideas, focused on solutions that have a positive communal benefit.

Initially, the Craftivist group was set up to focus on local and place-based climate orientated sustainability projects. Once the group was established and functioning it was self-managed based on collaboration. As the example of welcoming cards for refugees shows, people in the group broadened out the remit to also be about developing action on what they saw as the most pertinent issues in that moment. The fact that the group decided on acting in other areas, such as supporting refugees and local activists who were trying to get benches returned to a local shopping centre, demonstrated how for people in the area, climate action was seen as part of a broader effort to increase connections locally and support other important issues. When thinking about developing activities that include social empowerment, this example demonstrates that the outcomes may differ from the initial intentions of those organising the groups. This links social empowerment and community resilience as transformation through highlighting how change is non-linear, and how what is important is a mix of a long-term vision and a focus on activities that develop community participation (Burch et al., 2014; Twigger-Ross et al., 2015).

In The A65 Group, collaboration was important for generating ideas and creating an environment that could support people through the difficulties of creating change. For instance, Jackie was interested in street level activity, and she wanted to have temporary road closures for a street party. Her broader aim was to reduce traffic in her

neighbourhood, and she wanted to create a low traffic neighbourhood. Her efforts centred around building community on her street and using political engagement to achieve changes. Another group member, Rachel, wanted to close a road near where she lived, as it served primarily as a "rat run." Both people contacted the council to push for the changes. Initially, group members shared ideas on how to approach neighbours and councillors about the proposed changes. When the two group members were having difficulty in getting the changes, the group was there to provide support, to help keep them motivated, and to be a place where they could share their frustrations and feelings as the processes unfolded. Thus, fostering social relationships, a supportive environment, and collaborative approaches were important dimensions of community resilience as transformation. This was through generating practical ideas, involvement, and social connection, which could then support developing activities based on people's concerns and priorities (Norman, 2012; Berkes and Ross, 2013; Norman, 2012; Olin Wright, 2018).

In this section, I argued that in the KVDT context the emphasis internally is on increasing collaboration through meaningful activities and building a sense of community through social connection and social recognition (Olin Wright, 2018). This could be seen within the volunteer network, where collaboration was an important motivation for people that gave their time. Through this collaboration different forms of solidarity were fostered between the organisation, the volunteers, and amongst the volunteers themselves. Fostering solidarity was a key component of developing social empowerment as it enabled people to play an active role in how the group functioned and generated reciprocal benefit. The second part of this section focused on how collaboration was an important dimension of generating practical ideas for action by empowering the community through involvement (Berkes and Ross, 2013). This further enhanced social connections, helped to generate ideas for transformation, and produced a supportive environment of collective endeavour. Social empowerment and efforts to expand agency underpinned the wider programme, which was important in attempting to generate community resilience as transformation. I will now discuss this further, exploring strategies of transformation through community asset building and community activism.

5.3 Generating community resilience as transformation through community asset building

In this section, I discuss two different examples of community asset building that are relevant to thinking about community resilience as transformation. Firstly, I discuss KVDT's attempts to acquire former mills to create a sustainability centre, a permanent base, and develop social housing. I explore how the strategies employed to do this required symbiotic engagements with the council and local businesses. The second project that I discuss is the Kirkstall Valley Farm. This project demonstrates how, once they have advanced projects symbiotically, they can develop interstitial projects in the community. The KVDT strategy sets out their plans for developing community assets,

"By 2030, we will have established a portfolio of community resources and assets to promote community-led sustainability in the Valley. We are committed to sustainability in its many forms; protecting the environment, promoting social equality and also allowing people to thrive."

The projects to renovate old mills alongside this ambition demonstrated that they were attempting to build community assets with the purpose of developing shared spaces outside of the commodified, privatised and market driven paradigm of contemporary capitalism, spaces in which needs could be met and community autonomy could be built (Bresnihan and Byrne, 2015). The statement also shows that, like many communities, "They wanted to work together to bring about the social, economic and environmental futures collectively envisioned" (Derickson, 2016, p. 162). Generating community resilience through community asset building was a process that could support sustainability and environmental goals, as well as areas such as social equality. This highlights that community resilience, when community led, can be broad based and tackle many of the issues that communities face.

5.3.1 KVDT's symbiotic engagements to acquire community assets

As a former industrial area, there are many places in the Kirkstall Valley that are former industrial mills. With the decline of the industries that used these mills, many of sites have been left to fall into disrepair. This is thought of as negligent by many people in

KVDT. This negligence is perceived to be because of the desire by the council to sell the land for maximum profit, with private developments for housing or office space being seen as the most likely purchasers. This links to the problems that were identified in Chapter 4, namely that within urban development pro-growth economics and a desire to strengthen and further market practices through neoliberalism prevents communities taking ownership of their local area, and can lead to neglect (Chatterton, 2019). The following quote from Jacob, a KVDT leader, illustrates where many in KVDT lay the blame for this situation,

"[It is] Entirely the fault of the council officers. The mill has a negative value, and the community is saddled with the incompetence of the council development department."

It is the dominance of the market and market thinking that has created this problem and created a barrier to the community taking transformative action within their area. This is an important dimension of my critical conception of community resilience, and one I shall explore further in chapter 6. It highlights the structural constraints to creating change and building alternatives for organisations seeking to work within, against and beyond the current system.

Developing community assets was a key part of KVDT's strategy for two reasons. Firstly, it would give KVDT a permanent home, which as discussed in Chapter 4, plays a role in giving the organisation an identity from which a profile can be built, which is a vital foundation of resilience (Lerch, 2015). Secondly, in line with Bresnihan and Byrne's (2015) analysis, claiming space for community use and ensuring it remains outside of the market led approaches of contemporary neoliberalism can be a key part of building alternatives. KVDT's efforts to realise the projects sheds light on the symbiotic approaches to transformation that they undertook to develop community assets. The following extract from my observation diary, taken during a KVDT board meeting, highlights this.

The discussion moved on to the KVDT presence within the valley and their desire to find a permanent home at Abbey Mills. This is a long-term plan to develop community housing and a headquarters for KVDT. There are two interesting things happening here. It makes their current home at Unit 11 feel like a temporary location or a steppingstone. There is good reason for this, as they are at the mercy of landlords and cannot develop it, so it feels precarious to the board. However, they are running into problems in acquiring the new sites due to a funding short fall and demands of the council around an access road. There was quite a lot of annoyance with this situation, and dismay and anger at the council who are thought of as having an obligation to support a development that is for the community and sustainable. There was a sense within the board that the council almost owe the area due to what the board perceive as them having done a terrible job of managing buildings in the area. There are quite a lot of disused mills that have fallen into disrepair, and KVDT see this is as mismanagement by the council.

To advance this project KVDT combined an approach that sought to empower the community and then work with the council to reach agreement on the development. To do this, KVDT issued shares so that residents could buy a share within the organisation and the money generated would be used for the project. KVDT also got grant funding from a partner organisation. However, as was discussed at the board meeting, this money was not enough to buy the land outright at market value and carry out the work required to transform the site. Therefore, KVDT entered discussions with the council to attempt to reach an agreement that would work within these constraints. What can be seen in the board discussions was that KVDT were appealing to the council to work symbiotically with the community, based on a commitment to regenerating the area and supporting community development, rather than regeneration based on market principles. It was an attempt to forge a partnership with the council based on principles that run counter to privatisation, commodification and marketisation. Added to this, it was an appeal to the council to pursue alternative priorities, in this case community benefit.

Another process underway was to develop St Anne's Mill with a sustainability centre. To progress this project KVDT were in discussion with a locally based major corporate partner to work together to develop the project. This was a long-term process and there were uncertainties about the corporate partners willingness to embark on this project, due to the impact of COVID-19 on the finances of the business, and uncertainty as to what the ambitions of the owners of the corporation were within the Valley. KVDT board members committed a lot of time to this project and entered numerous rounds of

discussion with the corporate partner. Within this, KVDT realised that they were relying on an appeal to the partner to commit to regeneration and transformation, and that this was outside of direct corporate interests.

Both projects shed light on the limits and difficulties of attempting to build community assets through symbiotic approaches. It demonstrated a limit to the power of community organisations vis-a-vis the council and private companies, in this instance when the outcome was to create community projects that would take assets out of the market to be developed for community benefit. The ongoing struggles that KVDT had dealing with the council and private companies also demonstrated the opaqueness of decision-making and a lack of a framework for decision-making to support community benefit. I will explore this further in Chapter 6, by looking at the relationship between top-down governance and community led efforts to create place based changed. In this section, I will now demonstrate how once an asset is acquired symbiotically, it can be developed to generate interstitial change.

5.3.2 Interstitial strategies to develop community assets - the Kirkstall Valley Farm

Whilst during my research KVDT were not successful in acquiring permanent sites, a community asset that they leased from the council was in operation. The Kirkstall Valley Farm demonstrated the link between symbiotic and interstitial approaches. It does so, in the sense that having got agreement from the council to develop the land as a form of Community Supported Agriculture (CSA), KVDT could then develop the community asset in an interstitial way. CSA has grown in popularity since around the 1980's. The aims are to produce food locally, connect consumers to the growing process, connect consumers to the farmers that grow their food, reduce risk for farmers, and increase ecological sustainability within food production (Goland, 2002; Feagan and Henderson, 2009).

Having outlined in section 5.1 how collaboration was an essential element of the functioning of KVDT, and the farm within that, I now outline how the farm contributed to community resilience as transformation. The outcomes that this project worked towards were greater autonomy for the community, developing a more sustainable alternative

food system outside of the market, bringing space back into the public domain, and building a sense of community. The project also illustrated the messy nature of building alternatives, as it had to balance competing demands between wildlife, agriculture, and community priorities. The farm demonstrated how an approach of collective property, social production, and social organisation could build alternatives beyond capitalism in the here and now (Chatterton and Pusey, 2020). This can help go beyond the dominant logic of individualism, alienation, greed, and self-interest that defines much of the current status-quo (Olin Wright, 2010).

The Kirkstall Valley Farm demonstrated how community assets could show the possibilities that exist to create local transformation (Gibson-Graham, 2006). The Kirkstall Valley Farm was part of an interstitial strategy, as it was being built in the gaps of neoliberalism to develop a social economy "in which voluntary associations in civil society directly organize various aspects of economic activity" (Olin Wright, 2010, p. 140). I demonstrate how the benefits of this approach were social and focused on helping the community (Bergman et al., 2010). Whilst working within current structures enabled this project, this project was based around an interstitial strategy of change. It demonstrated how KVDT aimed to build spaces which "counter the processes of enclosure and increasingly disentangle our lives from the market and the state" (Caffentzis and Federici, 2014, p. 101). When speaking to Adam, a KVDT leader, I put it to him that KVDT were trying to build a local level alternative within urban agriculture that could display how things could be different. His response was interesting,

"That's exactly it. The food system going forward has to be community led. That's how I see it. Because of the labour intensity we need to move away from a system where you're producing food commercially."

Adam was linking the approach of Kirkstall Valley Farm to CSA approaches more generally, by promoting it as an alternative to the capitalistic form of organisation within industrial agriculture. In this way, it was part of the broader tradition of CSA, as it functioned "in contrast to market structures, economies of scale, and short-term profit maximization which tends to undermine environmental integrity" (Feagan and Henderson, 2009, p. 204). In Adam's comments he was clearly thinking about the future, when talking about "the food system going forward" and "we need to move away

from". This shows the links between this interstitial strategy and community resilience, as community resilience as transformation has an eye on potential future crises and attempts to counteract them through developing alternatives in the present (Keck and Sakdapolrak, 2013).

The benefits of CSA are seen in terms of the relationship between growers and consumers (Goland, 2002). In the KVDT example, the growers were not professional farmers looking at alternative ways of managing a private farm. Instead, it was a community endeavour based on voluntary association. Thus, as a CSA it represented the development of an economic activity outside of the dominant market led approach and contributed to social well-being and environmental regeneration (Gibson-Graham, 2008). Adam acknowledged that within the current agriculture, which is dominated by market-based and profit driven principles, this model would not be promoted, due to approaches to labour that meant it was not scalable,

"It doesn't scale, it's a really labour intensive, you can't mechanise it much, it's all got to be done by hand."

Thus, this project stands in opposition to the dominant neoliberal system that sees competition as the key mechanism for developing new products, production methods, and organisational forms (Harvey, 2005). It also stands in contrast to the idea that social life should be built upon pro-growth economics (Chatterton, 2019). This is an important dimension of building alternatives, as it can help strengthen community by pushing back against the presence of the market and market thinking (Olin Wright, 2010). As the comments from Adam shows, the aim was to showcase an alternative model rather than scalability. In this way, it was important for community resilience in the sense that it highlighted strategic thinking, as the aim was to transform their community whilst demonstrating the viability of alternative forms and institutions (Walton et al., 2013; Keck and Sakdapolrak, 2013).

The farm's very existence meant that a large tract of land was run for community benefit and therefore not commodified or used to generate profits that leave the local area. It also tackled the issues, as Adam put it, that people are disconnected from how their food is produced, and that large scale industrial farming is part of the unsustainable practices that drive the climate emergency (Springmann et al., 2018). More than that, it was another aspect of building an alternative to a fast-paced urban lifestyle within cities, disconnected from the natural world (Chatterton, 2019). This was by creating low-tech seasonal food production that relied on people as the major input.

Developing the farm in an inner-city area was important for showcasing an alternative model of food production. The farm was cultivated on a forty-acre area of land tucked behind a major arterial road that runs through Kirkstall. In their thinking, KVDT were attempting to demonstrate that supporting the future populations will require new areas to be opened-up to farming. In this way, the farm was an attempt to create a local model that highlighted how a new food system could be built on unusual or in unexpected places. This was primarily by demonstrating how new, and in some ways unexpected areas of land, could be given over to farming. Most importantly, it aimed to show how farming could be conducted in a way that was outside of the profit driven environment. This style of CSA was a form of production that was more balanced with the environment in which the food was produced. As Adam says,

"A lot of it is done over time and in balance with the ecosystem."

Typically, there is a stronger focus within CSA's on supporting the broader ecological environment (Goland, 2002). Part of this balance, in the Kirkstall Valley Farm, was that the farm contributed to ecological sustainability due to less reliance on chemicals. Another dimension was that the KVDT farm was producing seasonal vegetables that were for residents, a central component of the CSA approach (Lang, 2010). Therefore, it was contributing to sustainability through the reduction of food miles, less use of agrochemicals, and the commitment to supporting ecology through land management (Saltmarsh et al. 2011). Using an interstitial approach, the Kirkstall Valley Farm was a grassroots project that was a response to unsustainable mainstream agriculture and envisaged more sustainable approaches to the production and consumption of food (Seyfang and Longhurst, 2016). Whether talking about producing food locally, creating a more community led model, or balancing food production and environmental concerns, it was clear that the alternative food system that Adam envisaged, that the farm

represented, was about moving away from the current dominant commercial farming approach.

Resilience is about a balance of a "healthy environment with a vibrant economy and social justice" (Cahill, 2010, p. 262). The farm played a role in this, as it had to generate revenue to support its costs, revenue that remained within the area, which contributed towards creating a local economy. As well as providing locally produced seasonal vegetables to people the KVDT CSA was a key part of building community resilience. As Adam said,

"they're much more productive in terms of the volume of food that you can produce per acre but they're also productive beyond that in terms of community cohesion, because it's so labour intensive it becomes a shared endeavour."

The KVDT CSA model was strong on the community dimension. As is common across CSA's, people in the KVDT model did not buy food per se but became a member of the farm through buying shares, with an upfront fee and set price, which entitled them to a share of the produce that was grown (Lang, 2010; Schnell, 2013). Developing a CSA in an urban environment means that it is part of a broader movement of urban agricultural food cultivation that includes community gardens, urban farms, and guerrilla gardening, amongst others (see Tornaghi, 2014). Urban agriculture movements aim to experiment through generating new collaborative forms of work that contribute towards meeting social need and developing community empowerment (Cumbers et al., 2018). As I have noted, volunteering was a strong component of the KVDT CSA model, with strategic and planning groups as core elements of the structure, as well as the work being volunteer led.

During the period of my research, the farm was in its initial stages of development but towards the end of my research the first "veg boxes" began to be delivered to people in the local community. Another interesting contribution to the community dimension was that KVDT were keen to ensure that the benefits of the farm produce could be enjoyed by people with lower incomes. Thus, as part of the share offering people could sign up for a "solidarity share." This meant that they paid a small amount extra, and this money was used to subsidise vegetables for other families that may not have been able to

afford the cost of a share in the farm. The farm produce was also used within the COVID-19 food response to supplement packages for people in the area. A final dimension that sought to strengthen the role of community within the farm was that shareholders automatically became members of KVDT and had voting rights over decisions on the farm. Thus, the farm contributed to community resilience as transformation through attempting to reduce vulnerability, foster solidarity, create a strong local institution, and develop networks of people that acted for community benefit (Twigger-Ross et al., 2011; Twigger-Ross et al., 2014).

Another aspect of sustainability within the farm was that it represented an attempt to preserve wildlife and biodiversity. The Kirkstall Valley farm corresponds to what Arbell et al. (2020) describe as the messy nature of community challenges to market logics through alternative forms. This was due to the process of developing the farm, its structures, the co-production elements, as well as the external ambition of the farm. As Adam said,

"You have to balance the wildlife, we have to balance the food production, we have to balance the community all together because that's what you're trying to prove to people it's possible to do. Because that's the route to future sustainability."

It was clear in the discussions that took place within the farm group that balancing the three priorities of community, wildlife, and food was a constant task. As such, the different areas often fell into tension within one another. As Adam said,

"At the end of the day the wildlife aim is to preserve wildlife at all costs and every time you plant crop, you're destroying habitat. Every time you cut something down, you're destroying habitat. That's a constant battle about what's acceptable and what's not, and what you're going to do about it. Community is the same, they want space as well."

The tensions were in part due to the collaborative nature of the groups that managed the farm. It sat within the broader structures of KVDT, which had a community development focus, but many of the people involved in the farm planning and strategic groups were motivated by different ecological, agricultural, and wildlife concerns. As well as offering opportunities for people to come together and volunteer, the farm supported the broader community programme through hosting 'Healthy Holidays' and 'After School Club'. This was one way in which Adam saw the farm playing a broader role in KVDT,

"I think it's part of the whole [the farm] because it dramatically increases our footprint. So, if we're trying to increase community spaces the farm instantly brings a massive, extra amount of pure space."

The 'Healthy Holidays' programme enabled children to visit the farm, eat nutritious meals, they took recipes based on the farm produce home with them, and they learnt about growing food. The Kirkstall Valley is a densely populated area, with many people living in terraced and back-to-back housing. As has been noted, the busy roads make much of the area uninviting for residents, as the space is dominated by cars. During the COVID-19 pandemic KVDT were concerned about social isolation and people's mental health following lockdown. By developing the farm space as a community asset KVDT could support community resilience by creating a community space in which people and families could come together.

What the farm highlights, is that self-organisation was an important aspect of this interstitial project, but that this it was difficult thing to navigate and balance between generating an alternative farming model, supporting wildlife, and supporting the community. The farm was a resource that could enhance the capacity to generate community resilience, which is an important dimension of resilience (McCrea et al., 2014). It also showed that community resilience relied on developing community resources through local networks of volunteers coming together in a strong institution (Twigger-Ross et al., 2011). This example adds to thinking about how resilience relies on creating, developing, and engaging resources (Magis, 2010). Through combining a symbiotic approach to securing the farm with an interstitial approach to how it was developed, what my research illustrates is that how community resources are created and managed is complex and requires skill, vision, and compromise.

5.3.3 Connecting the strands of strategies to develop community assets

What KVDT hoped to achieve by developing community assets was a process of collective opening of space in which people could take control (Bresnihan and Byrne, 2015). The aim was to contribute towards urban transformation as an "escape from the state-capitalist enclosure of the city and the creation of alternative social practices" (Bresnihan and Byrne, 2015, p. 38). The mills provide an example of how KVDT approached working symbiotically. The first stage was to build collaboration within the community to gain support for acquiring the mills and formulating a community plan for what do with them one they were under community control. Following this, KVDT then engaged with more powerful stakeholders to attempt to redevelop assets in ways that could contribute towards community resilience. Their ideas centred on creating social housing, a permanent base for the community organisation, and a sustainability centre. What the examples of the mills demonstrated is the problems of working symbiotically in a neoliberal environment that is dominated by market led solutions and the power of private capital (Harvey, 2005; Arbell et al., 2020).

The projects identified point towards the messy nature of working in this fashion, as well as the potential limitations of symbiotic engagement. It also highlights an important element of community resilience as transformation that builds on Deverteuil et al., (2021) idea of the co-constituted nature of resilience. Building community assets aims at making the community stronger, more autonomous, and better able to deal with current and future crises. However, even if KVDT were able to mobilise the community in support, their ability to create this form of community resilience was dependent on more powerful actors acting outside of neoliberal thinking and in support of community resilience for transformation, with much of the power in the former. I will return to this in Chapter 6, where I look at community power in the neoliberal system and what this says about the role of community in tackling the climate emergency.

Viewing CSAs as part of a community resilience agenda, and the example of the Kirkstall Valley Community Farm, can add to community resilience theory. The

development of the CSA was a response to the climate emergency and the desire to transform farming away from unsustainable practices. KVDT also wanted to transform urban land towards more sustainable and ecologically friendly uses, and to do so in a collaborative manner that built community ownership. This project highlighted the links between symbiotic and interstitial strategies and how the latter can develop out of the former. It also showed that once interstitial projects were developed, success still required the support of the council. Therefore, despite being an interstitial project, it was never really divorced from the system that it was attempting to transform. Thus, despite, in a Twigger-Ross et al., (2015) sense, wanting to take ownership of the need to change, the neoliberal system still put in place limits on building autonomy and community resilience as transformation.

5.4 Community activism to develop active travel

The projects that I focus on in this section outline community resilience as transformation based upon the action research elements of my study, The A65 Group and the Kirkstall Craftivists project. Through The A65 Group the aim was to take local level action that contributed towards challenging the dominance of cars within communities. It was based on the need to reimagine urban space for people, where alternatives to cars as the dominant form of transport could exist (Chatterton, 2019). The second action research project was the Kirkstall Craftivists project, which was part of creating activities that provided opportunities for people to come together after the COVID-19 pandemic. As discussed in Chapter 3, craftivism is a form of activism that uses craft-based activities to allow people to express themselves, voice opinions and challenge the status-quo (Freeman, 2010). It is a gentle form of activism intended to appeal to people that do not necessarily see themselves as activists, or are comfortable in traditional activist settings (Corbett, 2017).

Building community resilience as transformation through tackling problems associated with transport, most notably the dominance of cars in communities and cities, is a key component of finding solutions to the climate emergency, as transport emissions are a significant percentage of domestic emissions in the UK (CCC, 2018). The domination of the car in cities is responsible for several modern ills, for instance roads deaths, pollution, greenhouse gas emissions, and streets given over to cars ahead of the people that live there (Chatterton, 2019). Moves towards reducing carbon in transport primarily focus on low-carbon technologies and behaviour change through individual choice (Marsden et al., 2014). What is required is fast and radical change across transport, but the transport sector is characterised by inertia, whether in planning policy, infrastructure, or technology (Oldbury et al., 2022). It is against this background that the community activism element of my research took place.

The approaches of The A65 Group and Kirkstall Craftivists were experimental, the politics of the groups were not fully formed at the outset, but developed through activities (Pickerill, 2021). Whilst the groups experimented with types of actions and areas of focus, one of the important aspects was that the groups focused on projects and approaches that were practical and achievable, which Berkes and Ross (2013) argue is an important dynamic in developing effective resilience strategies. The ethos in the groups was based on showing that people could play a role in tackling the climate emergency by coming together to improve the quality of life in the local area, rather than simply being about reducing carbon. Thus, the groups wanted to generate change in the everyday (Chatterton and Pickerill, 2010). Adapting ideas that already existed, using knowledge of the local area, and building on the experience of group members were key to the projects that were developed (Farmer et al., 2018). This work contributed towards community resilience as transformation through a focus on improving the quality of the local environment, increasing community attachment, and through expanding agency. A key part of this process was to engage people to show that the community in which they live could be different if people acted together. Through engaging in the political process people attempted to exert influence on their local area. The engagements that I outline ranged from city-wide political processes to neighbourhood and street level changes. I show how groups linked local issues, such as transport and active travel, to the climate agenda. The aim was to contribute towards tackling the climate emergency alongside other issues that people faced.

5.4.1 Participating in political processes for climate action

Participating in politics is an important aspect of creating alternative futures and developing community resilience (Magis, 2010; McCrea, 2014). In this section, I explore community resilience through engaging in politics and how, in line with Brown and Westaway (2011), people became active in the development of their local area through engaging with political processes to push for change. In Olin Wright's framework (2010: 2018), having a say over the decisions which affect you is an important dimension of achieving change through expanding democracy. I begin with the Leeds City Council declaration of a climate emergency and the participatory processes that they developed in the form of the 'Big Conversation'. I demonstrate how this decision and process created a political context in which those seeking transformation towards dealing with the climate emergency could operate. In my research setting, this led to interstitial projects that aligned with some of the ideas from earlier sections around building collaboration, attempts to assert agency by building autonomy, and build networks within the community and more broadly. There was a symbiotic element in approaches to local activism through attempts to influence the council. The aim was to push for stronger action to deal with the climate emergency by focusing on creating stronger and more vibrant communities. Where this symbiotic engagement differs from what was evident in community asset building, was that it was attaching to a council led process for tackling the climate emergency. I demonstrate that interstitial and symbiotic approaches reinforced each other and helped to shape one another.

In Leeds, the Leeds City Council (LCC) declared a climate emergency in 2019, aiming to be carbon neutral by 2030. The Leeds City Council Climate Emergency declaration called for the active participation of communities and people to make Leeds a better place to live (Leeds Climate Commission, 2019). In 2019, the council also convened a Leeds Citizen Jury to recommend priorities for carbon reduction, and transport was their number one priority. They recommended that extensive positive action be taken to make the use of private cars a last resort (Bryant, 2019). The importance of transport within the move to net zero was a significant reason it became a focus area in the

community workshop that I ran. The mission of The A65 Group aligned closely with the aims of the council. The group defined theirs aims as follows,

"Through the A65 Sustainable Travel Group, the people of the Kirkstall Valley will be engaged so that we can imagine, collaborate, design, and carry out activities aimed at achieving an increase in active travel - walking, cycling, scooting and public buses. This group also aims to lobby for a reduction of car usage on the A65 and its feeder roads. This will support community transformation towards net zero by 2030 and further social and climate justice within the valley."

This statement highlights the three important components of community resilience as transformation that my research identifies. Firstly, it highlights social empowerment through engagement, collaboration and developing activity. Secondly, this activity would be interstitial through carrying out activities in their local area. Thirdly, the group looked to engage with the council, a form of symbiotic strategy. Finally, while the aim was to make changes in the here and now to improve the local area, it highlighted how this was part of playing a role in tackling the climate emergency. Therefore, it furthered community resilience through network building, community mobilisation, taking part in politics, and attempting to take ownership of making changes in a future orientated approach (Twigger-Ross et al., 2015, McCrea, 2014, Keck and Sakdapolrak, 2013).

During the period of my research, Leeds City Council released a draft transport strategy and undertook a consultation process with individuals and community groups. This can be seen as a more participatory and relational approach to problem solving (Cottam, 2018). The council recognised that there was a gap between the climate change targets and what the strategy would achieve. The council were reaching out to community groups to push for further ambition and to highlight gaps in the current strategy. The Leeds City Council vision for transport has an impressive ambition of making Leeds a city where you don't need a car (Connecting Leeds, 2021). A key aim of the project to engage the council on the consultation process was to empower the community to create a community led response. A representative of the council came to an online workshop, with around twenty KVDT supporters, to talk through the different components of the strategy. Following a talk from the council, I ran a workshop to get people's ideas on what the strategy should address. Following this, a response was drafted collaboratively. This process highlights how we undertook a symbiotic approach with the council but also used it to support the broader aims of KVDT to empower the local community to engage in political processes. This was about raising the voice of people and was underpinned by the values of democracy, in terms of Olin Wright's (2018) conception of people having a say over decisions that affect them.

Whilst this was a city-wide process, when working with other members of The A65 Group to frame the workshop, it was agreed that it was important to get the views and ideas of people across the Kirkstall Valley, to ensure that the area had a strong voice, and the ideas reflected changes that people wanted to see in their locality. This meant that the aim was to create a response informed by people's experiences locally. An important dimension of this was about how a city-wide process must take account of how life could be improved in local areas. This is evident within the following extract from the response.

"We are especially excited about the ambitions to make Leeds a city where you don't need a car and the focus on "creating healthier streets, spaces and communities." These have the potential, in our view, to transform life, both for local residents in the Kirkstall Valley, as well as those in the wider area."

What was evident through the workshops and in the above extract was that this form of symbiotic engagement was based upon being constructive with the council, rather than a politics of antagonism. This extract also supports the wider KVDT strategy of supporting transformative action that can make life better for people through creating stronger communities, rather than an approach that looks at forcing people out of cars. This ties in with Olin Wright's conception of equality, in the sense of creating communities in which people can thrive (Olin Wright, 2018).

Another element of the response was to link into the ongoing crisis of COVID-19. The response put forward the idea that the council should dispense with a top-down approach once it was time to implement the strategy. Instead, the response proposed that the council should work with communities to co-produce the changes. This speaks to the ideas of furthering social empowerment and increasing power within communities around a progressive and change orientated conception of what communities could be. This can be seen in the following extract.

"Communities, like those in the Kirkstall Valley, are facing many challenges - the COVID recovery, the climate crisis, and for too long an economy and planning system that does not meet their needs or focus on their well-being. To meet these considerable competing challenges, we would like to see bolder ideas, and bolder approaches to realising these ambitions, that put social justice and co-production at the centre."

Other aspects that were addressed were around improving active travel infrastructure, redesigning neighbourhoods, and taking into consideration the needs of people who did not have a car.

"Many people, especially less well-off people, already do not have a car so reflecting that and understanding how to make Leeds a city that better meets their needs through a focus on improving neighbourhoods should be central to the transport strategy. This requires greater focus on things like improving bus services, making them cheaper and greener. In the Kirkstall Valley context, improving the ability to move within and across the local area, rather than the focus on moving in and out of the city centre. It also requires more ambition on active travel infrastructure and an e-bike revolution. This should work towards the realisation of the 15-minute neighbourhood across Leeds, something that would improve life for many people in areas such as the Kirkstall Valley."

This symbiotic engagement demonstrated how a community-based group could work collaboratively with its supporters and local decision-makers to increase agency within the political process, especially when there was a political opportunity and structures within which this engagement could take place. The above extract shows how the group focused on aspects around how to tackle the climate emergency alongside building a better future. This better future was defined quite broadly and involved elements such as the council being guided by the needs of people in the valley, more active and vibrant communities, and more active travel. There was also a desire for social and climate justice to be at the forefront of the transition to zero carbon. As I go on to show, this engagement supported activism at different levels, from influencing the council to street level activities. Whilst these activities had modest potential, as Macgregor (2021) says, there is value in operating at the cracks and the margins.

Mobilising and creating conditions in which people can engage with the political decisions can be empowering and renew belief in the political agency that exists within

a community (Poupart, 2007). Olin Wright (2010) identified that within capitalism people do not have a say in many of the decisions that affect them. This creates an urban environment in which many feel the political and business elites are doing things to them and not in their interests. Often, these decisions are based on furthering the interests of capital and privatise the spaces that people rely on for their well-being (Chatterton, 2019). Having agency within the political process and being able to influence decisions that affect the community is an important part of community resilience (McCrea, 2014). What I have shown in this section is that the move from the council to recognise the climate emergency and create participatory processes does create space for communities to develop symbiotic engagement. What came out of this process was evidence that at the community level there was support for expanding council level ambition for climate action. A second dimension was how people promoted ideas of improving their areas as part of a broader city-wide transformation. I now go on to discuss how this fed other approaches to tackling unsustainability within transport.

5.4.2 Linking activity to broader issues and COVID-19 recovery

Part of the contribution that this research makes is through showing how community resilience can be developed in a period of interesting crises. An important aspect of this in my research was that strategies and activities served a dual purpose. Firstly, strategies sought to tackle issues from the social impacts of austerity and COVID-19, such as a perceived lack of community and social isolation, which required supporting the community to cope through community resilience as adaptation. Secondly, in tackling these issues, there was a focus on how community resilience could serve to act as a catalyst for transformation. For instance, KVDT obtained funding to develop a craftivist project, which was framed as supporting the project people could come together to self-organise, talk, meet, and take a range of types of community action. It was experimental and centred around people in the community building new relationships through KVDT facilitated events. Craftivism is about bringing people together in an activity that uses a gentle form of activism focused on well-being and mindfulness (Corbett, 2017). Thus, as well as taking political action for sustainability and a more

climate friendly area, the idea was to bring people together to tackle social isolation, which was identified by KVDT as one of the key social impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. Once the project began, it was community led, as KVDT volunteers and supporters used the first event to discuss what they would like to do as part of the project, how they would like to organise, make decisions about how they proceeded, and decide on topics and actions.

The group began, as envisaged, as creating a local voice dealing with issues around sustainability. An important element was that the crafts developed would be bright and colourful and be taken out into the community, to highlight the issues and bring local art to communal spaces across the valley. In this way, it supported the broader approach that KVDT undertook by aiming to show how through the local activism things could be different. An activity that was developed through the craftivism project, linked to the transport strategy consultation event, was a campaign to 'Save Kirkstall Footpaths.' There were several footpaths that were under threat from being removed as public rights of way, unless there was evidence that they were used as footpaths.

The 'Save Kirkstall Footpaths' project had two parts. Firstly, at the monthly Craftivist meeting people made colourful knitted decorations and signs that were placed at some of the paths. This alerted people to the risk and asked them to contact the council. The second element was that a group was created, the 'Wednesday Walkers'. Every Wednesday this group would meet to walk some of the paths and then sign to say that they had done so. The walk was promoted as a chance for people to get together with others in a COVID-19 secure environment, have a group walk, and enjoy their area. It was seen by KVDT as a chance to promote an activity that was healthy, brought people together, and contribute towards enabling active travel in the local area. This project demonstrated how community resilience involved leadership from KVDT, using the organisation to secure funding, bringing people together, taking a political action, supporting people's wellbeing, and building a sense of community post-COVID-19. This approach sought to build community resilience through increasing feelings of attachment to the area, improving facilities, and enhancing social connection (Forjaz et al., 2011).

5.4.3 Interstitial action at street level

People in The A65 Group were determined to focus on action. The actions supported community resilience as transformation, as the group developed activities that, however modestly, worked towards a vision for a better future (Wilding, 2012). Through street level activity the group wanted to support improving neighbourhoods. This work had three dimensions. Firstly, activities like street closures and street parties were seen as a way of creating car-free spaces and bringing people together. Secondly, there was a desire to increase green spaces. Thirdly, the group wanted to highlight the problems of pollution. The different strands of this work highlight interesting elements of working in the gaps and on the margins of the current system. It also adds to understandings of the outcomes that those working within a community setting want to achieve, as people and the groups wanted to contribute to carbon reduction, but also sought to improve life for people by showing how their neighbourhoods could be different. The approach attempted to foster participation to create more active neighbourhoods as part of zero carbon planning. The projects demonstrate the contribution of innovative, niche, and experimental approaches to community resilience (Wright, 2021).

One of the activities that The A65 Group undertook was guerrilla gardening to create wildflower meadows. Guerrilla gardens are defined as activities that "beautify the neighbourhood, increase local diversity, and provide food for people, animals, and insects" (Flores, 2006, p. 241). As is common in guerrilla gardening, the approach was to identify underused strips of land and turn them into what the group called wildflower meadows (Adams and Hardman, 2014). We picked a location that was alongside a congested road and close to an area of social housing. People were keen to plant in this area as it was seen as neglected by the council due to its location alongside a busy commuter road. We connected with neighbourhood groups and met to plant flowers and clear an overgrown footpath, making it easier for people to choose to walk. The activities involved litter picking, removing weeds, marking the path, and planting wildflower seeds.

In discussing what this activity meant to the people involved, participants spoke about the importance of showing that people cared, that the area could be different, that it did not need to be ugly, overgrown, and neglected. There was also satisfaction that groups of local people could be mobilised to act. The action showed that it was possible to take control of small areas of land and that the places that people lived could be reimagined. Thus, through guerrilla gardening we were working at a very localised level within the cracks and margins (Macgregor, 2021). It demonstrated an important dimension of community resilience as transformation, as people attempted to explore and increase their agency and their capacity to shape their local area for the better (Berkes and Ross, 2013; Drydyk, 2013). By connecting and working alongside other groups and mobilising residents, it demonstrated solidarity via working together for each other's and broader community benefit. Whilst guerrilla gardening does not directly reduce carbon, The A65 Group felt that it contributed towards the agenda for climate action as part of the ambition to make Leeds a better city in which to live.

The second type of street level activity that The A65 Group members focused on was attempting to get street closures, either as permanent changes or for street parties and communal activities. This type of activity could be seen as having both interstitial and symbiotic dimensions. For instance, one of The A65 Group members was lobbying for a road closure on an area of land where the road was next to a play park, was often used for parking by people visiting a nearby site, and this road cut between two fields that children played in. Closing the road, it was argued, would increase safety for children, make the area more people friendly, and it would remove a road that was primarily used to avoid congestion on the main road that ran parallel to it. On the road closure near the park there was push back from some residents of a nearby housing estate, as those residents used the road to avoid congestion on the busy main road nearby. Following this, the council refused to sanction any further work on this project. A second project undertaken was to support street parties on the street where Jackie lived. This was promoted as a way for people to come together after the COVID-19 pandemic, free up road space for children to play, build a sense of community, whilst showing people what it could be like if the road space was not dominated by cars. Jackie hoped that this would be a way of building support for turning the road into an active travel

192

neighbourhood. To make the road closure and the street parties happen, it required support from the council, showing the symbiotic nature of this approach. However, after an initial event was held, there was some complaints from a small number of residents and therefore the council would not allow anymore events, saying that there had to be unanimous agreement.

During the response to COVID-19, like in communities across the country, what I showed in Chapter 4 was that the community was able to come together and take drastic action. As Wright (2021) observed, in part this was because people felt they were acting out of necessity in the face of a large-scale emergency. However, these community resilience as transformation projects demonstrated that, as the climate emergency is still in many ways perceived as a future threat, it was more difficult to create radical change. As argued in Chapter 1, my research was a combination of a place-based community and a community based on progressive values seeking to create alternatives. However, the street level actions highlight the tension that exists in this. In line with Skerratt (2013), through collaboration the action groups wanted to develop pathways for change. Berkes and Ross (2013) argue that people can be empowered through involvement and that resilience strategies often focus on projects that are practical and achievable. This was certainly evident in the examples that I have provided and, in many ways, led to small-scale and a highly localised focus. However, despite working on projects of this type, and projects that were in line with the council's own ambitions for a reduction of car use and building more vibrant communities, there was no mechanism to resolve tensions that existed between those seeking change and residents who wanted to keep the status-quo. I shall explore this further in Chapter 6, relating it directly to the climate emergency. Therefore, the two road closure projects demonstrated current limits for those wanting to create more sustainable communities through symbiotic and interstitial approaches.

Building on the street level projects, I want to highlight how this form of interstitial activism supports what Chatterton (2019) describes as the need to lock down unsustainable activity and unlock imaginative responses. I do this through a 'Clean Air Day' event, an annual event to raise awareness about pollution, that The A65 Group

held. The A65 Group ran an event at a busy intersection outside KVDT community hub. For the event, the group produced signs highlighting the issue of pollution and promoting active travel. The signs were visible to people walking along the street and to people in their cars travelling through the area. However, the event was more than awareness raising. For the event, the group set up a bike garage where people could bring their bikes and get them cleaned and have maintenance carried out. While bikes were being fixed, there was time to have conversations with residents about climate change, active travel, and get their views on what was needed to encourage more people to take up active travel options. There was a reading corner and placard making for children, the children were taught about the importance of clean air and encouraged to make signs that they could take home and put in their gardens. This type of interstitial approach worked as a way of promoting active travel options and highlighting the impact of using cars, as well as attempting to inspire others, for instance cyclists and children, through positive activities. Tiratelli et al., (2021) describes this as a "virtuous circle" in which there is both peer pressure and inspiration, which are important dynamics in climate action.

The event brought together different streams of the work outlined. It raised awareness of pollution and linked current forms of transport to climate change. When discussing the event with The A65 Group members, Jackie said it was important to do it somewhere busy as lots of people would see it. This was not only in the sense that it might encourage them to think about their car use, but it also showed "that people in the area care about these issues." This adds to the idea that the outcomes were to foster collaboration in the community, challenge people to think about their choices, and bring the community together towards a positive vision of how the community could be different. This links the different threads within this chapter about developing collaborative activities, the idea of bonding through solidarity within the group, and generating connection towards place through a positive idea of how people in the community could work together to create change. Thus, it was about reducing the domination of the car and unlocking an idea of how the community could imagine alternative ways that it could function.

Twigger-Ross et al., (2015) argues that community resilience in relation to climate change depends on developing participation, interest, and engagement. Alongside this, it must deal with community concerns, connect to, and influence the local agenda. The e-bike scheme that The A65 Group developed conforms to these elements and adds dimensions in terms of being pragmatic and opportunistic, which my research shows are important dimensions of proactive community resilience strategies. The A65 Group pursued an opportunity to obtain a grant to buy two e-bikes. This tied in with a barrier that was identified in the initial workshops, the gradients of the Kirkstall Valley. Many people felt that this made it difficult for people to cycle. Also, there were few bus services that crossed the valley, as most of the bus service focused on moving people into and out of the city centre. Therefore, many people felt that they had no choice but to use their cars. A potential solution to this was e-bikes, however the costs were seen as prohibitive. Therefore, Valerie had seen an opportunity for a small amount of funding for community activity and the group submitted a bid for the funding to buy two e-bikes. The idea behind the project was to loan the bikes to KVDT supporters so that they could try them out and see the difference that they could make in their daily trips around the local area. A further strand of the project was that people would keep a diary and highlight the benefits and some of the difficulties that they found. The A65 Group would then use this information to lobby the council to improve infrastructure in the area. Whilst this project was small, it was about demonstrating the barriers that people faced in taking more sustainable transport options, as well as giving people the opportunity to try out a different type of active travel.

Due to funding delays the project was only just starting when my research period ended. However, some of the early feedback was based around difficulty in storing the bikes, due to their size, and many people living in terraced back-to-back housing, as well as concerns over security of the bikes due to a lack of safe storage around the area, considering how expensive the bikes were. On the positive side, early participants noted how the bikes made a difference in terms of short journeys that "feel a little long to walk" and how rather than taking the car, the bikes made these journeys easy and quick.

5.4.4 Connecting the strands of community activism

What was important within community resilience as transformation through street level activities, through The A65 Group and the Kirkstall Craftivists, was tackling the issues that people faced and playing a role in making the area a better place to live, with a stronger sense of community (Christakopoulou et al., 2001). The Leeds City Council's declaration of a climate emergency provided an important context and gave impetus to the groups to push for local solutions to problems around car dominance and active travel. This entailed symbiotic engagements with the council, as well as developing interstitial approaches. Seeking opportunities to support transformation across different areas and at different scales enabled the groups to push for more ambition and test different areas, such as pushing for street closures. This approach also enabled network building, thus contributing towards collaboration, and altering social relationships, which as I showed in 5.2, was an important dimension of community resilience. Street level actions also sought to expand agency within the area and generate community power. Community resilience approaches provided opportunities to link climate and broader social justice issues (Twigger-Ross et al., 2015). Working in this way was a dynamic process that integrated climate action with the broader challenges that people faced (Klein, 2014; Wright, 2021). Street level action aimed at challenging the status-quo and building alternative ways of being and doing. The approaches were not static, there was opportunism, and approaches were not based on fully formed blueprints, as people felt they were acting from necessity (Pickerill, 2021). However, the ethos was based on creating thriving communities, rather than simply reducing carbon.

5.5 Conclusion

Within this chapter, I demonstrated how KVDT's approaches to community resilience pushed beyond adaptation and towards community resilience as transformation. This work had climate mitigation at the fore but went beyond that to account for the wider issues within the community (Twigger-Ross et al., 2015). Developing community resilience in terms of transformation, seen as owning the need to change (Twigger-Ross

et al., 2014), can be difficult in the face of intersecting crises and tackling their social impacts in the present. The key research question in this chapter was, within KVDT what were the key strategies developed to build community resilience as transformation? I showed that the three key strategies that were developed were social empowerment, interstitial, and symbiotic strategies for developing community resilience. Whilst the projects that I highlighted to support the exploration of the strategies had different aims, ranging from developing CSA, through to supporting neighbourhood and street level activism, there were commonalities that I drew out and linked to the community resilience as transformation framework. As many of the projects had a combination of interstitial and symbiotic approaches, I disentangled the different elements based upon aspects of building community resilience.

As my research is interested in the "how" of community resilience, I began the chapter by asking how are processes for social empowerment developed in the KVDT context? This required looking at the internal workings of the organisation and action groups to discuss how they worked towards developing agency and self-organisation by building social relationships based on collaboration, which are important dimensions of community resilience (Berkes and Ross, 2013; Walton et al., 2013). What I demonstrated was that KVDT were developing processes that aimed at expanding agency so that people and the organisation could build a social community and foster a sense of belonging (Christakopoulou et al., 2001; White, 2010). Through generating connections between KVDT and the volunteer network, the organisation was able to foster a spirit of collaboration and solidarity that aimed at altering and developing social relationships within the group. This contributed towards community resilience as transformation by playing a facilitating role in the community self-organising, with inclusion and belonging as important impacts (Berks and Ross, 2013). The second dimension was how collaboration was an important dynamic in generating ideas and creating pathways for change (Skerratt, 2013). This was evident within KVDT and through The A65 Group, and the Kirkstall Craftivists. These projects, in line with Twigger-Ross et al., (2015), showed that developing participation and collaboration could support community resilience as transformation by dealing with community

concerns, influencing the local agenda, and creating strategies based on these elements.

The second part of the chapter looked at the strategies for change that these processes worked towards, through acquiring and developing community assets. This explored how KVDT developed interstitial and symbiotic strategies as part of their approach to community resilience. This involved creating or attempting to create spaces outside of market control and for community benefit. I looked at what engagements with local business and political actors hoped to achieve in terms of transformation. This demonstrated the first dimension of the symbiotic approach of KVDT, as they engaged with local actors to find ways of working in partnership to try and develop local buildings for community benefit. A proposed housing project and sustainability centre were seen as ways that inequality and the climate emergency could be tackled in the local area. This symbiotic approach built on ideas of social empowerment and increased agency as KVDT attempted to forge partnerships with the council and a local business to turn former mills into community assets. I then highlighted the links between symbiotic approaches and interstitial approaches with the example of the Kirkstall Valley Farm. Kirkstall Valley Farm was an interstitial project developed out of a symbiotic agreement with the council to lease the land to KVDT, in return KVDT created a CSA that also functioned for community benefit. Within this CSA, the project was co-produced and comanaged (Caffentzis and Federici, 2014). KVDT were developing the farm to bring about sustainable change within food production, whilst also creating broader socially desirable change from the community upwards (Kirwan et al., 2013).

The third part of the chapter looked at reimagining the local area through neighbourhood and street level action. This explored how building networks and engagement with political processes were key elements of community resilience (Berkes and Ross, 2013; Magis, 2010). In line with Wright (2021), the resilience strategies and activities were experimental, niche, and attempted to deal with the intersecting crises that the community faced, including contributing towards tackling the climate emergency. Once again, this entailed a range of symbiotic and interstitial

approaches. Symbiotically, there were projects that expanded agency by engaging with democracy to raise the voice of people within the area. In line with Olin Wright (2010) and his symbiotic strategy, projects engaged with local political programmes aimed at supporting the council's approach to rising to the challenge of the declaration of the climate emergency. Once again, using local knowledge and experience was important to this engagement and informed ideas for change that emerged (Farmer et al., 2018). As within KVDT, The A65 Group and Kirkstall Craftivists focused on the pragmatism of building alternatives (Chatterton and Pickerill, 2010). The core principles of the groups were based on reducing reliance on the car to meet the Leeds climate targets for 2030, and neighbourhoods playing an active role in shaping this. This grounded approaches in the every-day and supported symbiotic and interstitial strategies that had one eye on the present and one on the future.

Having explored community resilience as adaptation in Chapter 4 and community resilience as transformation in Chapter 5, I now turn my attention directly to the climate emergency. In Chapter 6, I take a broader look at the implications of community resilience when thinking about the climate emergency. I explore how neoliberal governance impacts on community level approaches, and the potential and limitations of community to play a role in the urgent and radical shifts that need to take place in the coming decade. I look at how the interaction of the different strands of community resilience impact on climate action and I develop arguments about the role that community action can play in tackling the climate emergency.

Chapter 6 – Community resilience and tackling the climate emergency

6.1 Introduction

Having outlined community resilience strategies in relation to adaptation and transformation, I now turn to the question of what my case study suggests about tackling the climate emergency through community action. To do so, I build on key themes that I have developed and contribute towards a critical understanding of community resilience as it applies to current approaches to tackling the climate emergency at the community level in the UK. I show how climate related policy and discourse at the national and city council level created barriers and limitations for community action and impacted upon perceptions, ambitions, strategies, and the tactics of KVDT in relation to climate policy aligns with the broader policy agenda in the UK. Following this, I focus on community resilience, as illustrated through the work of KVDT, and draw together adaptation and transformation resilience through exploring the interaction of adaptation and transformation resilience activities.

To explore the relationships between the policy environment, the social context that it created, and community responses to tackle the crises that they faced, or as Deverteuil et al., (2021) frame it, the co-constituted nature of resilience, I apply Olin Wright's concept of social power. He describes social power as, "power rooted in the capacity to mobilize [sic] people for cooperative, voluntary collective actions of various sorts in civil society" (Olin Wright, 2010, p. 121). I apply the idea of social power to link together the different strands of community resilience, as it enables me to draw together community strategies focused on tackling vulnerabilities and support community adaptation, alongside more transformative strategies that seek to develop community autonomy and challenge the current status-quo. I show the interaction of the two strands of community resilience as transformation. Following that, I explore what the strategies of transformation suggest about the role that community led, place-based approaches can

play in tackling the climate emergency. Finally, I look at the question of time, in the sense of the urgency of acting towards net-zero versus the difficulties of generating community action, and the limits of social power to bring about the scale of change required.

Sections 6.2 and 6.3 contribute towards the question of the role of community organisations in tackling the climate emergency by linking neoliberal governance approaches to climate change and how they support or limit community organisations responses to the climate emergency. It is the neoliberal policy environment which sets the political and economic context in which community efforts at climate mitigation take place. This matters in the context of an organisation that pursues a range of strategies that work within, with, and beyond the current political, economic, and social structures. In 6.2, I argue that national level climate governance does not provide a strong national framework for tackling the climate emergency and hampers local council and community climate mitigation action. In section 6.3, I look at local council level approaches, building on the argument from Howarth et al., (2021), that there is a lack of a comprehensive framework between the local council and community organisations for creating climate related transformation. I add to this argument, showing in practical terms how this lack of a framework limits the ability of community actors to achieve ambitious change that could have greater impact on tackling the climate emergency.

In Section 6.4, I look at how the work of KVDT contributes towards understandings of what community action means, by relating their efforts to generate community resilience to questions of the climate emergency. The key area that I explore in this section is what their approach to generating community resilience in an environment of intersecting crises tell us about the limits of climate action within this setting. To explore this, I look at the interaction of KVDT's approaches to adaptation and transformation to show how mobilising people and meeting people's needs is a mixture of tackling vulnerability and working to increase community autonomy. This entails looking at the mixture of short-term approaches to meet the considerable need, against the longer-term ambition of achieving change at the community level. Overall, activity in this setting is context specific, in terms of supporting the community through crises, and tackling

specific impacts in their local area. Therefore, in section 6.4, I look at the interaction between dealing with structurally created vulnerabilities and attempts to generate and build social power within the community.

In section 6.5, I look at how climate action sits within attempts to build social power through creating a strong local entity that can support the community. This leads to a further contribution of this research to understandings of what this action represents, arguing that it is not political in the sense of antagonism, but the politics emerges around issues and through action. This means that climate action within this setting must be informed by this context and understanding of the opportunities and barriers that exist. The final issue that I discuss, in section 6.6, is the issue of time within climate mitigation. Overall, while there are many positive contributions that community level action can have, which must be harnessed as part of transforming communities as part of the move to net-zero, my research suggests limitations on the likelihood of achieving ambitious targets within the timeframe that the climate emergency demands.

6.1.1 The data and analysis used to inform the findings in this chapter

This chapter has two key dimensions of analysis related to the findings, which contributes to the overall research question, "How are people coming together within the case study organisation to tackle climate change, alongside the social crises generated by austerity and the COVID-19 pandemic?" The process for developing the arguments and representing the key findings is partly done by using ideas and interpretations, drawn from across the ethnographic and action research data, in relation to the community resilience framework.

The first dimension, in 6.2 and 6.3 begins with an outline of the broader climate policy nationally and locally in which community climate action is taking place. This analysis sets the context of my thinking and I relate this to data that I collected, for instance interviews with KVDT leaders and volunteers. For instance, in 6.2.1 I use comments made by Richard, a KVDT leader, who talks about incremental and non-transformative change. Whilst his comments were not necessarily representative of everyone in KVDT's views, he was a prominent figure in the organisation when my fieldwork began,

so they do reveal an attitude that existed in the organization, which can also be compared to findings in Chapter 4 regarding community resilience as adaptation. My overall analysis approach employed comparative analysis of the different ethnographic data sets.

In section 6.3, I relate the local policy context and approaches with some of the activities that I observed throughout my research, such as the Kirkstall Valley Farm and the activities that were generated as part of the action research, such as guerilla gardening and street closures. In 6.3.1, I use a combination of interview responses from KVDT leaders and my own participant observation reflections from attending 'After School Clubs' and the COVID-19 pandemic response to relate the different strands of data to one of my key arguments, that community climate action should be understood within the intersecting nature of the crises that communities are facing. The arguments and conclusions in 6.2 and 6.3 are based on my interpretations of the KVDT data in relation to the broader policy environment.

The second important dimension of my approach in this chapter draws together the analysis of Chapters 4 and 5 to explore the relationship between community resilience as adaptation and community resilience as transformation (6.4). I draw this together to look at the potential contribution of community climate action. I use ideas that I thematically analysed from participants in interviews, conversations with people that took part in the action research, the action research projects themselves, and participants views on what those projects meant and what projects the groups should undertake. I use this information to build my ideas about the role that community organisations can play in 6.5 before highlighting some barriers around time (6.6), the latter based on my own ideas and interpretations gained from my experiences of both ethnographic and action research.

6.2 The climate policy environment

In this section, I outline the key dimensions of the national climate policy agenda, linking it to the broader governmental approaches of rolling-back state functions and supporting

the primacy of the market over concerted state action (Peck and Tickell, 2002). As critics have noted, this sits well with a government resilience agenda for limited state intervention in the crises that people face, as well as promoting individuals as responsible for dealing with social problems (Joseph, 2013). I argue that this policy environment impacts upon how some people within KVDT viewed the problem of the climate emergency and the potential role that KVDT could play in finding community level solutions. I also link this to the work of Willis (2020, 2020a) to show that the lack of urgency within national government filters down to the community level. This is important due to the varied pressures that the intersecting crises of austerity, COVID-19, and latterly the "cost of living crisis" were creating for people and community organisations. I argue that the pressures from the more immediate crises, and the fact that communities are grappling with these without adequate state support, suggests limitations upon the impact that communities can have on tackling the climate emergency.

6.2.1 The national policy environment and its impact on climate action at the community level

The IPCC continues to sound the alarm that without more ambitious mitigation action at all levels the 2015 Paris Agreement commitment of preventing warming of 1.5 or 2 degrees will not be met (Grubb et al., 2022). The next decade is key if we are to limit the impacts of climate change, and the recent report from the UK Climate Change Committee (CCC) on progress in reducing emissions sets out the scale of the task ahead:

"Embedding climate action across society. Reducing emissions and adapting to climate change will require a whole-of-society endeavour. Success will require the public to be engaged in the challenge, building public consent for the changes with a broader understanding of what is required and why" (CCC, 2021, p. 10).

To achieve transformation, we need profound changes across the whole of society (Shove, 2010). In the UK, the Climate Change Act (2008) and recent commitment to net zero by 2050 set ambitious targets. However, this does not guarantee that the UK will makes the changes required at a national political level (Lockwood, 2013; CCC, 2019).

Indeed, with a focus on marketisation within climate solutions, faith in technocratic solutions, and a depoliticised response to climate action, the UK government is part of a broader trend of pushing non-transformative solutions that draw attention away from more substantial and effective measures (Bludhorn, 2015; Lamb et al, 2020). Therefore, what is missing is a plan for how to engage people and communities in this vital task. There are key national barriers, as climate change is presented as manageable, there is no clear strategy for hitting the ambitious targets, and there are too many uncertainties in how the UK will move at the pace required (CCC 2021; Willis 2020a). Howarth et al., (2021) goes further and argues that there is a lack of a clear national framework for achieving national targets and a lack of framework to support council level and community action. Furthermore, there are a lack of resources available to meet the challenge (Marsden et al., 2014).

In April 2021, ahead of hosting COP26 the UK Prime Minister Boris Johnson, in a speech at the World Leaders Summit, displayed many of the elements of what Lamb et al. (2020) termed discourses of climate delay. Johnson touted technological solutions, especially around unproven carbon capture and storage, and for net-zero flying, all within a paradigm of green growth. He pointed to the fact that the UK has cut emissions by around 42% on 1990 levels whilst seeing the economy grow by 73% (Johnson, 2021). This green growth paradigm pushes technological solutions, downplays the scale of change, and pursues solutions that preserve the neoliberal approach of marketisation, commodification, individualism, and the protection of capital (Schmid 2019). It presents a rosy picture, with little discussion of the far-reaching implications of climate change or the changes that are needed (Lamb et al., 2020; Willis, 2020). This policy and discourse environment has impacts at the community level, which was evident in my research. KVDT is not monolithic and there are a broad range of views within the organisation, as well as a broad range of motivations for people being involved. For instance, Richard, a KVDT leader who was instrumental in setting up the COVID-19 food hub told me,

"We have environmental issues that we all have to face there's absolutely no escaping that, my take on it is that we have to deal with it in a more sort of practical, realistic manner.... I was going to say a gradual, gradual reduction in

sort of fossil fuel usage but at the same time preserving the way of life that we currently have. Let's do this as efficiently, [be as] non-disruptive as we can."

Richard's comment speaks to what Willis (2020) noted, that the national political environment has a knock-on effect for the public, as many feel that climate change cannot be such a threat if the government is not taking a lead with a coherent strategy. Firstly, he acknowledges the issue, saying that "we all have to face" the problem of climate change. Much like the government, he talks about a gradual reduction and "preserving the way of life." The ideas of "efficiency" and being "non-disruptive" add to the sense of a business-as-usual approach, without the need for urgent and major changes being carried out. In this sense, this approach is in line with the governmental approach and a belief that climate action can be achieved without too much disturbance of the status-quo, through making small, gradual adjustments.

Another element of the government approach within climate change, and more broadly as was seen through austerity policy, is to make individuals and groups responsible for tackling social problems (Joseph, 2013). Once again, within my research there was examples of how the discourse of the primacy of individual action, over structural approaches to tackling the climate emergency, was evident. When discussing with Amy, a KVDT leader, what approach climate work within KVDT could take, ahead of developing the action research element of my project, she thought that it could focus on educating children. This seemed sensible as KVDT had strong projects supporting education. Amy's idea was to educate children so that they could inform and pressure their parents. This would be around things like turning off plugs, not filling the kettle too much when making a cup of tea and so on. This demonstrated an idea of climate action focused on influencing personal choice and individual change, rather than a focus on tackling the structural issues (Brownstein et al., 2022). Whilst the two do not have to be mutually exclusive (Brownstein et al., 2022), it does sit in opposition to the collectivist strategies that underpin KVDT's approaches to achieving change.

In resilience terms, the national policy environment highlights how within the climate emergency there is a relationship between top-down government policy, discourse, and community responses. Or, as Deverteuil et al., (2021) would argue, how the two are co-

constituted. This backs up Willis (2020a) in that the top-down environment does not create a national policy or discourse framework that supports the urgency needed to tackle climate change. Thus, in this way the national political context created barriers to building transformative solutions (Bailey and Wilson, 2009). The ideas that I highlight from Richard and Amy suggest the ways some of those barriers express themselves in how the problem is viewed and the approaches that are advocated.

6.3 Local approaches to tackling the climate emergency – the Leeds context

6.3.1 The council moves towards recognising the climate emergency

Much of the onus for climate action has been shifted to the local council level (Howarth et al., 2021). Here, there is some cause for optimism, as ambition has been raised in many parts of the country. As of 2020, 74% of District, County, Unitary & Metropolitan Councils, and eight Combined Authorities/City Regions had declared a 'climate emergency' (Howarth et al, 2020). Within climate change at a local level, there have also been moves in recent years to experiment with new institutional models that foreground partnerships and inclusivity (Howarth et al., 2021). This can be seen through citizen's assemblies and climate juries that have happened across the UK. These are promising developments that can make citizens central to democratic decision-making (Cherry et al., 2021). Those that have analysed the assemblies and juries have concluded that this form of deliberate democracy, in which citizens are informed of the issues and debate them, often leads to more ambitious and far-reaching policy recommendations (Cherry et al., 2021).

Leeds City Council undertook a 'Big Conversation' and ran a citizen's jury before declaring a climate emergency, committing to net-zero by 2030 (Leeds City Council, 2019). The climate jury was commissioned, and a representative sample of local people were given evidence from academic, policy and business experts before making recommendations for action. This demonstrates a willingness to look at innovative approaches to citizen engagement and policy development within climate change. This is a form of symbiotic strategy between the council, citizens, academics, and businesses to create a participatory approach to the climate emergency. Like in many councils, the need to shift the focus to dealing with the pandemic shortly after the climate emergency declaration has slowed down the momentum that was built up through the participatory processes (Howarth et al., 2020). This speaks to another theme that runs through this research, that crises intersect and that this impacts on tackling the climate emergency at several levels and in multiple ways.

Upon declaring a climate emergency, Leeds City Council stated the following:

"Challenging as it is, the future also holds out the prospect of a better city with good housing, improved transport, healthier lifestyles and a greener, more attractive environment. The vision can only be achieved with the active support of the citizens of Leeds, public and private sector institutions, the third sector and national government" (Leeds City Council, 2019, p. 8).

The Leeds climate emergency declaration demonstrates both the scale of the challenge and an acknowledgement of how changes are needed across all aspects of how the city functions and people live in it. It also shows that the change cannot be achieved from a purely top-down policy approach, and needs active participation and collaboration of people, business, and civil society (Howarth et al., 2021). In Chapter 5, I argued how this declaration was useful in providing direction and framing for the climate action work that KVDT undertook. For instance, the prioritisation of active travel by the Leeds citizen jury was used to support the idea of pursuing active travel through the creation of The A65 Group. I also discussed how the political opportunities that the focus on the climate emergency created led to a range of symbiotic strategies, such as the engagement with the council on the transport strategy consultation, as well as engagement with individual councillors and council departments on areas such as road closures. Thus, community organisations can use the space and opportunities that the climate emergency declarations create to support and legitimise their own efforts at transformation, both working with the state and outside of it. It can also provide a focal point to mobilise supporters to begin building alternatives to the current status-quo at the community level. This shows that there is a local policy environment that tentatively supports the idea of a more collaborative approach between the council and community.

As I argued in Chapter 5, engaging in the political processes is important for community resilience, as it can increase social empowerment and expand agency. However, I argue that what this looks like and how community is operationalised within this collaboration, is ill-defined and uncertain. This is a barrier towards communities playing an active role in shaping the changes needed to meet the ambition of the climate emergency declaration. The examples of the KVDT engagement with the council on the draft transport strategy is illustrative of a wider problem that inhibits action in a variety of ways. Despite engaging in the council process, including hosting a workshop, which the council attended, as well as sending the community response to the department, and all the council representatives of the area, that was the end of the process. The framework for engagement was about informing what will remain a top-down council driven process. In Olin Wright (2010) terms, this was not part of a broader move to shift power away from the state and towards the community, the problems of which I will now explore.

6.3.2 Council-community interaction lacks a framework for transformation

Despite moves towards more participatory processes as outlined in 6.3.1, there lacks a proper framework for this engagement between council and community groups, which is essential to make the urgent changes that are necessary to rise to the climate emergency (Howarth et al, 2021). I argue that despite community led efforts to engage in building community resilience as transformation in the face of the climate emergency, the governance approach remains a significant barrier. On the other side of this, my research demonstrated that small moves to prioritise community led climate initiatives could make a significant difference in efforts to meet the ambitions of the climate emergency declarations. At multiple levels, my research provided examples of innovative, imaginative, ambitious, and experimental approaches to building community resilience. From the COVID-19 emergency response, the plans to acquire community assets for a sustainability centre and social housing, the Kirkstall Valley Farm, and across more micro-level actions like guerrilla gardening and street closures, it was evident that the community wanted to take ownership of creating change. To build on Howarth et al., (2021), I argue that what is lacking at the local level is a framework that

shifts power into the civil society or to the community level. This is evident when viewed through the approaches that KVDT undertook to community resilience and it makes tackling the intersecting crises of austerity, COVID-19, and the climate emergency more difficult. In essence, it limits our ability to tackle the climate emergency.

In The A65 Group, when we discussed ambitions in the early meetings there was enthusiasm for working towards the creation of active travel neighbourhoods. This supported the twin aims of reducing car usage and transforming neighbourhoods. The group researched what was needed to make this happen, looking at creating a community consultation process, going door-to-door to discuss with residents, and creating community meetings to develop proposals for the council. However, on further investigating this idea, and speaking with active travel campaigners across the city, we realised that this idea would not be worth pursuing. There was no process for building a partnership with the council, the council already had areas that they were working on for active travel, so lacked capacity. Therefore, if the community led on conducting community engagement, the council would then do their own consultation, meaning our evidence would be irrelevant. What this evidence points to is a lack of a comprehensive framework in which community and the local council can come together, share knowledge, experience, and build a joint endeavour to create action (Howarth et al., 2021, Willis, 2020a). This furthers understandings of what Deverteuil et al., (2021) call the co-constituted nature of community resilience. What I add is that top-down governance approaches inhibit community resilience, even in an environment where people are actively working on transformation in response to the climate emergency and working towards the stated ambition of the council.

The examples from Chapter 5, where Rachel, a volunteer, petitioned her councillor to close one specific road and Jackie, another volunteer, tried to get permission to occasionally close her road for street parties, points to a gap in local level approaches from the state for creating progressive change that reduces car use and opens space for community activity. This is despite the council acknowledging that both car reduction and community space are part of tackling the climate emergency and making communities better places for people to live. This ties in with an issue that was raised in

Chapter 4, how fragmented decision-making within the council makes pursuing community led work slower, less likely to succeed, and more arduous. Decisions and processes were handled in different departments, by different people with different views, there lacks a commitment to enabling communities to create even small-scale change that supports the ambitions of dealing with the climate emergency. There was a lack of will and processes in place to match the climate rhetoric with a policy environment that could support transformation.

The Kirkstall Valley Farm illustrates important aspects of how there is potential for symbiotic partnerships between the council and community organisations, but also a lack of a framework for transformative climate action that hinders community efforts. As argued in Chapter 5, the farm was an interstitial project that required symbiotic partnership with the council. As was noted in 6.3.1, there have been moves by Leeds City Council towards more participatory approaches for tackling the climate emergency. The example of the Kirkstall Valley Farm also points to the fact that community organisations could work with the council to develop a symbiotic strategy for achieving community level change. Besides agreeing to the farm, local councillors have been supportive of KVDT's ambitions on the farm. The farm provides a good example of how council and community partnerships can achieve important change that develops community resilience and plays a role in contributing towards more sustainable communities. However, the examples of the two mills projects, that KVDT struggled to realise in the time of my research, suggests that the council approach to supporting projects with the potential to create community transformation is guite ad-hoc, rather than being a step-change in the council's relationship with community led strategies for transformation.

Despite the farm aiming to be part of developing an alternative food model, it was not completely removed from the market. The farm had to generate income to cover the rent, and for the different things that were needed for its running, such as food storage, polytunnels, and other equipment. As Amy, a KVDT leader said in a planning meeting, "[KVDT] need a productive farm that can stand on its own two feet." This highlights how projects aimed at transformation are still in some ways subject to capitalist pressures.

KVDT have leased the land off the council and there was concern that when the fiveyear lease runs out, the council would not renew it. As Adam, a KVDT leader said,

"My aim is to make sure that this project is absolutely politically toxic not to renew. So, it really does drive me. I have to make sure that the council are happy to give us that land to get us established and I have to be sure that we can demonstrate what we're doing in a clear and effective way."

This quote shows the tensions that existed and points to some of the constraints of working in partnership with the council. Firstly, the comment about demonstrating what they are achieving highlights the importance of the farm being able to raise the funds to support itself. Secondly, it meant that within this Community Supported Agriculture (CSA) project they had to show the council that the community element was strong and easily demonstrable. The combination of showing financial viability and a strong community benefit would, in Adam's words, make the lease "politically toxic" not to renew. Therefore, despite the project focusing on developing alternative food models and strengthening community, it still ultimately required the council to support it. Thus, in many ways it had to operate like a business in terms of finance but with community organising principles. A local framework that prioritised and supported alternative sustainable models, in which council backing shifted power to communities in a way that limited precarity, would provide a mechanism to unleash the creativity, ambition, and the innovation that exists in many communities around the country.

6.3.3 Climate emergency within intersecting crises

Having looked at how climate policy approaches at the national and council levels impacted on community action, I now look at what approaches to austerity and COVID-19 suggest about the opportunities and barriers for tackling the climate emergency through partnerships between the council and community organisations. This is to highlight how climate action is part of a broader issue of intersecting crises, and to explore the types of community resilience that council approaches favour. Having identified weaknesses in the council approach to supporting transformation, I argue that the experience of dealing with the cutbacks of austerity and tackling the social impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic shows that they favour a framework of council-community cooperation that is short term and promotes reactive forms of community resilience in coping and bouncing back (Twigger-Ross et al., 2015; Sakdapolrak, 2013). The combination of the intersecting crises and the types of community resilience that is favoured through council policy approaches suggests a limitation in what can be achieved for tackling the climate emergency.

The process of austerity and the roll back of the state in response created a budget crisis in local government and reduced their capacity to provide services that communities relied upon (Bailey et al., 2015; Lowndes and Gardner, 2016). As Cottam (2021) argues, this compromised local state power and reduced innovative responses to problem solving, within a philosophy that favours market led approaches. Amy explained how she perceived this and how it impacted upon the work of KVDT,

"So, there is the service delivery and filling in the gaps that the council can't but it's about making people understand that it's not the council that is choosing not to. The council has been hammered and their income is bad, and also that they [people] deserve better and that they can ask for that and demand [it]."

Amy's comment suggested four things. Firstly, it showed a sympathy towards the council's position as they have been "hammered" and that "their income is bad." This is in relation to the impacts of austerity, COVID-19, and government cuts to local councils, which almost led to Leeds City Council declaring bankruptcy (Johns, 2020). Secondly, it suggested that Amy is not expecting a step change towards a more transformative and forward-thinking approach from the council. In part, this informed the motivation for KVDT to focus on building their own responses to the intersecting crises, which points to the interstitial strategies that they developed (see 5.3.2). However, the sympathetic tone is indicative of why KVDT could partner with the council on projects ranging from the 'After School Club' to the COVID-19 response. Thirdly, it showed a certain level of empathy towards the council's situation, rather than viewing them as an adversary, despite the social problems that KVDT were remedying in their locality. The comment from Amy points towards the idea that KVDT see themselves as having to develop community resilience as adaptation and support the community to cope through service delivery and filling in the gaps of council provision. This comes on the back of COVID-19 exacerbating many of the issues that austerity created. Fourth, the final aspect to

highlight in the above quote is that people "deserve better" and that they should "ask for" and "demand" it. This points to the desire in KVDT for community transformation in response to crisis. Within this quote are the tensions and desires to pursue multiple strands of community resilience by KVDT, which I explore in 6.4.

The national and local level political response to COVID-19 demonstrated "how quickly and effectively governments can intervene to completely reshape society and lifestyles" (Howarth et al, 2020; p. 1108). During my research, in many conversations that I had there was an optimism that this meant that things could be done differently, that rather than a constant push to reduce state intervention, the state could become a force for tackling the crises communities faced. During the COVID-19 pandemic lifestyle changes due to lockdown and the shutting of many areas of the economy caused a lowering of greenhouse gas emissions in many sectors in the UK (CCC, 2022). However, once the economy opened-up many of those sectors saw a rebound and an increase in emissions to pre-COVID-19 levels or greater (CCC, 2022). In meetings, people spoke of how COVID-19 had shown how a reduction in car use could transform our streets, that mutual aid could become a way for communities to support each other, and that some of these ideas could help to guide how we tackle the climate emergency. However, those sorts of comments and ideas represent the idea of community resilience as transformation, yet in Amy's comments there is an acknowledgement that what the council wanted from the likes of KVDT was "service delivery" and "filling in the gaps".

Despite COVID-19 demonstrating that there could be radical change in how the national government, council, and community interacted to deal with a public health and social crisis, this did not translate into a fundamental transformation over the long term. The top-down resilience agenda in this instance was short-term and centred on supporting the community to cope during lockdown and bounce back to something equating to previous functioning once the COVID-19 crisis slowed. Despite recognising the positive dimensions of the partnership approach to funding, complemented by community-led delivery, Leeds City Council felt continuing to support community organisations in this way around the issues of food insecurity, was unsustainable in the long term due to

their internal structures and their accountability to central government (Bachmann, 2022).

This COVID-19 experience points to the short-termism that exists, the funding crises that local government face, and the lack of a real framework for long-term collaboration and partnership between the state and civil society. This suggests that it is unlikely that such a partnership environment will emerge to work on climate mitigation, and despite some moves towards participatory processes, they are unlikely to result in significant shifts for large-scale transformation for tackling the climate emergency. The council approach to generating community resilience in the face of austerity and COVID-19 demonstrated that in prioritising coping and bouncing back, it was not an attempt to shift power to civil society or community organisations in a long-term and transformative way. As I argued in 6.3.2, this suggest reasons for pessimism about the role that communities can play in tackling the climate emergency through symbiotic strategies for transformation.

6.4 How community resilience as adaptation can limit transformation and what this says about tackling the climate emergency at the community level

Having summarised what the climate change and broader neoliberal policy environment suggests about tackling the climate emergency through community level approaches, demonstrating the opportunities and constraints that this environment generated, I return to KVDT's approaches to tackling the intersecting crises of austerity, COVID-19, and the climate emergency. Specifically, I explore what their approach to generating community resilience within an environment of intersecting crises tell us about the challenges of climate action in this setting. This entails drawing together community resilience as adaptation and transformation to argue that what underpins the work, and connects the two, is the idea of generating what Olin Wright (2010) describes as social power. Social power, as a concept, can underpin understandings of KVDT's efforts at building community resilience through tackling vulnerability, adapting to the political, economic, and social context, and their more anticipatory and future looking climate change work. Highlighting the ways that community resilience as adaptation and

transformation co-existed, and interacted within one another, adds an important dimension to what building community resilience for tackling the climate emergency means.

The work of KVDT focused on creating change through community-led processes that worked within, against and beyond the current dominant neoliberal policy environment. This has important implications for the nature of climate action that emerged in this community setting. Chatterton and Pickerill (2010) demonstrated that you must take a nuanced view to understand those that are taking part in local activism over every-day struggles. This is because people in this setting may act against capitalism, but they are not set apart from the present, and their efforts at building alternatives are likely to be messy. Community resilience can help us to understand how KVDT were mobilising people for cooperative, voluntary, collective actions through the interaction between tackling with structurally created vulnerabilities and attempts to generate and build community autonomy that various strategies developed and unfolded.

In 2.6.3, I discussed how analysts proposed the idea that a range of community activities that do not necessarily focus on climate action can still be useful for creating an environment in which climate action can emerge. For instance, developing community capacity to influence public services, influencing policy in non-climate areas, projects that tackle issues such as community cohesion and food poverty, could all increase community capacity and community influence (Tiratelli et al., 2021; Howarth et al., 2021; Evans, 2022). My research supports these ideas, showing how social empowerment, engaging in the political process, and acquiring community assets, can all have climate action benefits. However, my case study also points to ways that the political, economic, and social context influences strategies, forces community level actors to adapt to this context, and that this can hamper efforts towards tackling the climate emergency.

In Chapter 4, I argued that KVDT were trying to work within the current political and economic structures and that this led to community resilience approaches characterised as adaptation to austerity, COVID-19, and supporting the community to cope during

COVID-19. To tackle vulnerability to the social impacts of these crises, KVDT worked within the market system and filled in gaps that had been created through withdrawal of the social provision in key areas, for instance delivering educational activities and developing community infrastructure. This work was viewed as necessary by KVDT due to a political environment in which the retrenchment of the welfare state was accompanied by a rhetoric of self-help and self-sufficiency (Dagdeverin et al., 2020). In Chapter 5, I looked at KVDT's approaches to building an organisation and environment that could facilitate community resilience as transformation. This was through fostering an internal environment in which social empowerment could grow, using symbiotic and interstitial strategies to build community assets, and foster community activism to create change at the community level. Thus, their approaches combined solving immediate problems using short-term remedies with more ambitious long-term projects. The projects focused on community resilience as adaptation still sought ways to bring the community together and build social power, which can create a context more favourable for generating transformative projects (Tiratelli et al., 2021; Evans, 2022).

What was evident throughout my research was that KVDT took a pragmatic approach and like many others seeking to create change in the here and now this involved struggles and bargains (Chatterton, 2018). As I noted in Chapter 4, in the initial meeting that I had with Amy, when we discussed issues like traffic congestion and the resultant pollution, it was put to me that if we told many of the people that KVDT interacted with that by cutting traffic and pollution we could increase life expectancy, many would simply shrug and say that they do not care. This was linked to people not enjoying fulfilling lives in the present. This supports Evans (2022) view that climate benefits can be additional to tackling what people see as more pressing concerns. Amy's view informed the strategies that KVDT undertook, for instance with the Kirkstall Valley Farm the main aim was to create an alternative model of farming through CSA and locally produced food. There was also a desire to maximise the potential of the farm for community support work, such as running education programmes on the farm. The latter was not primarily about climate change, and there was tension that it could detract from the primary function of the farm. However, building the community benefit aspect was seen by Amy as essential for maintaining council support for the project. This

highlights how working in the system involved struggles and bargains, but how projects focused on transformation could create space for projects focused on adaptation.

One of the arguments that I have developed builds on Harrison (2013), that increased community vulnerability caused by structural issues can undermine community resilience. This was certainly the case with the impact that the COVID-19 emergency response had on the organisation, as it stretched KVDT's resources and pushed them into a more traditional charity service delivery mode that continued beyond the pandemic response. Added to this, the precarity in the organisation due to a lack of permanent home and the constant need to acquire funding meant it was difficult to make long-term plans. Furthermore, many of the funding opportunities were for projects more closely aligned with helping the community adapt to or cope with the social impacts of the crises generated. This, I argue, hampered efforts to develop more transformative change, as resources and time were absorbed by these projects and short-term issues, which limits the role that community organisations are likely to play in tackling the climate emergency. It is this interaction, between a desire to create longterm change and the need to deal with short-term issues that means we should not be overly dismissive of community action to challenge neoliberalism and play a role in tackling the climate emergency, nor should we be overly celebratory or optimistic about what can be achieved.

An important dimension of a focus on short-term projects or working in an emergency context like COVID-19, was how it impacted on the motivations of those that were involved in the organisation, as well as on the types of strategies that the organisation pursued. I interviewed Richard, a KVDT leader who had been involved with KVDT for several years, and his motivation and view on the role of KVDT was interesting,

"Well, KVDT is a slightly different beast in as much as I didn't necessarily join it so much for the change side, almost more of a support [approach], I think. In my eyes you're more or less maintaining the status-quo."

Within this he referred to the work with children and families, as well as the COVID-19 response. What this demonstrated is that a policy environment that pushes resilience as a top-down governance technique, and that expects communities to absorb crises, does

filter down to some of those that are motivated to be involved in a voluntary association, such as KVDT. This can be seen broadly, in terms of KVDT's overall mission, but also impacted upon how Richard viewed the role that KVDT should play in tackling climate change, which as I showed in 6.2.1 was to support a "non-disruptive" approach. Another interaction during a KVDT board meeting related to this, showing how even those who see KVDT as playing a role in community transformation were pushed towards community resilience as adaptation approaches. When discussing creating time for focusing on the strategies of developing community assets through acquiring two derelict former mills, Amy responded that she spent her time "worrying about children going to bed hungry." Therefore, within KVDT there was a balance between short-term immediate priorities to tackle vulnerability and longer-term more transformative change strategies. The COVID-19 public health and social crisis was an example of how that balance could be tipped towards focusing on community resilience as adaptation and short-term priorities to help the community to cope, at the expense of long-term transformation.

The fact that KVDT continued to focus on working to support vulnerable people after the COVID-19 pandemic response ended suggests that the more immediate crises have continued to push the organisation in this direction. The policy environment that Joseph (2013) argued demanded communities adapt to state withdrawal in the time of austerity, was still the dominant approach that resurfaced after the COVID-19 pandemic. For instance, as the UK moved on from the COVID-19 crisis, another crisis began to emerge around the cost of living, as energy costs grew rapidly, inflation rose, food bills increased, and wages did not keep pace (Hourston, 2022). This meant that KVDT were still focusing on supporting a local food pantry many months after the project was supposed to have ended. It also meant that their plans for the winter of 2022-2023 were focused on turning the community hub into a "warm hub", so that people who could not afford to heat their homes would have a warm space that they could use. Community organisations being pushed into a service delivery role has important implications for the potential role that they can play in tackling the climate emergency. My research shows that following COVID-19 small community organisations continued to grapple with a tough social, political, and economic environment in which community resilience

was tested, stretched, and potentially depleted. Without a strong framework from national or local government for tackling the climate emergency, small community teams will struggle to manage competing demands, as community needs grow, finances become stretched, and they are forced to make tough decisions between long-term projects and short-term support.

As we have emerged from the COVID-19 pandemic, rather than innovative approaches to state and civil society partnership that can help us to "build back better", civil society, third sector, and community organisations such as KVDT still needed to play a role as partners of the state in filling the gaps and leading on tackling local issues. This aligns with the government resilience agenda that calls for communities to help themselves during emergencies, become more self-reliant, and adapt to the contexts that they face (Mackinnon and Derickson, 2013; Joseph, 2013). Or, as Derickson (2016) would argue, top-down resilience requires communities to keep taking knocks and coming back from them. The case of COVID-19, and the subsequent cost of living crisis, are evidence of this.

What is important to note is that KVDT wanted to work on projects like the COVID-19 Food Hub, the food pantry, and other projects that supported the community. The COVID-19 work also, in the words of Amy, "put us on the map" with the council and demonstrated that KVDT could deliver on important work. This led, in some respects, to a lack of desire to challenge the council publicly, an approach that sought to establish themselves as a credible partner for the council, and as highlighted in 6.3.3, when Amy spoke about the council getting "hammered" by cuts, empathy towards the difficult position that the council was in. As Amy said,

"Sometimes I am really critical of Leeds City Council, and I would never, would never slag them off publicly, it would always be behind closed doors."

This comment seems to point to how working with the council can lead to depoliticised responses to the problems that communities face and supports the view that top-down resilience from the government and council can work to discipline those that interact with them (Donoghue and Edmiston, 2020). However, what my research suggests is that working in this way to tackle vulnerability was perceived within KVDT as a way to

generate social power. This was through increasing the power of the organisation with the council, or "putting us on the map" as Amy said about working with the council on the COVID-19 response. This reputation was seen as important and could increase KVDT's influence with the council. By becoming a knowledgeable and experienced voice for the community, it could increase their ability to shape the community. This was by becoming a stronger organisation in the area, and through increasing their visibility and presence. Thus, this supports the idea that projects that are not necessarily transformative can increase social power, in this case by seeking to use the experiences and relationships developed through the COVID-19 response to increase influence, support more people, and find ways to bring the community together.

The complexity involved in trying to increase social power through tackling vulnerability and working with the state placed the organisation in a difficult position. However, it speaks to what many theorists of contentious politics acknowledge, that in the age of neoliberalism, progressive movements often find themselves wanting more state intervention to protect people from the negative social impacts generated by the market, rather than less (Bauman 2007; Della Porta, 2015). In reference to the implications for climate action at the community level, it certainly reinforces what Howarth et al., (2021) describe as needing a strong framework between the local state and community for achieving climate-based transformations. What my research shows is that this framework must be broader than simply actions to lower carbon and must work with communities to address the vulnerabilities that they face in their specific contexts. Under a community resilience framing, this should be based on conceptions of community resilience as transformation, rather than seeking adaptation, coping, or bouncing back to an unjust status-quo.

Another aspect of the COVID-19 response was that it enabled KVDT to build relationships with other organisations across the city and within the valley. Building networks is an important dimension of social power and community resilience (Olin Wright, 2010; 2018; McCrea, 2014). During COVID-19, this included being part of a citywide network of community care hubs that worked with the council through a partnership model that fostered a community led approach to delivering this critical work

(Bachmann, 2022). KVDT was able to develop new relationships with local businesses, schools, churches, and other community organisations. Whilst this does not change the key point that the work was fundamentally about delivering a service on behalf of the state, it demonstrated the complexity of how community resilience is developed, and how a crisis such as COVID-19 can have unintended consequences for organisations.

For KVDT the unintended consequence was moving them into a new area of work, and with an ongoing social crisis post-pandemic, the relationships with schools, churches, and other local organisations have strengthened their capacity to support people and families. In one way, this detracts from tackling the climate emergency, as it pushes KVDT into an ongoing service delivery role. However, it also develops community resilience through interaction between civil society groups and between civil society groups and others within their area, the relationships that form have the potential to build community strength (McCrea, 2014). This is important within the neoliberal context, where public institutions are under threat (Klein, 2014). Developing strong networks of progressive institutions is an important dynamic of developing community for actions of several types (Berkes and Ross, 2013). The relationships created across civil society have the potential to play a vital role in tackling the climate emergency (Klein, 2014).

Within resilience literature, I have acknowledged the critique of resilience, that it is used to push neoliberalism and its logics, that it is uninspiring, upholds the status quo, and that there is a dark side to promoting resilience, as it can perpetuate inequality (Joseph, 2013, Derickson, 2016; Bourbeau, 2013). This critique of resilience has value in its critique of top-down resilience, and I support the implicit desire of those thinkers for radical action focused on transformation. However, in dismissing actions that fail to push for transformation creates a high bar for what type of activity is deemed acceptable (North, 2017). Equally, it ignores the fact that by understanding community capacities to create community resilience and to challenge more powerful actors and structures, as well as the limitations that they face, can help us to build a more complete understanding of urban struggle in the present (Wright, 2021; Deverteuil, 2015). By

demonstrating throughout this research that community resilience can, in line with Twigger-Ross et al., (2015), contain proactive and reactive elements, as well as showing that community resilience as adaptation and transformation interact, in ways that can limit or enhance transformative potential, I show that community resilience as built in the community is complex and nuanced.

Within KVDT, projects and strategies of adaptation and transformation co-existed. Sometimes the strategies were quite separate, and, in some instances, they fed off each other and supported one another. This supports the Chatterton and Pickerill (2010) view that working within a community setting to achieve change is "messy". In effect, KVDT wanted to mitigate some of the worst impacts of the neoliberal environment in which they existed by building an organisation and structures that could minimise some of the negative consequences for people and the community (Ryan, 2015). It also demonstrated a desire to own the need to change and how community organising could be built around this (Twigger-Ross, 2015; Brown, 2014). This intentional approach could support practices that contradicted neoliberalism and create spaces that existed beyond it (Magis, 2010; Deverteuil and Golubchikov, 2016). In the case of KVDT, this was articulated as sustainable action to tackle the climate emergency through tackling local problems, whilst promoting social equality in an innercity area. However, the needs generated by austerity and COVID-19, alongside the lack of a comprehensive political framework for creating changes, limited the ability of KVDT to enact this vision and saw them move between proactive and reactive forms of community resilience.

6.5 The role of community-based action in tackling the climate emergency

In this section, I look at how the form of community led place-based climate action that was evident in my research can contribute towards tackling the climate emergency. To do so, I want to add to two key debates in climate literature and contentious politics literature, to position my research and the nature of the community action within broader climate debates. Firstly, this entails exploring whether this activity is political in nature. Secondly, I relate this to building community led alternatives. This supports an important

argument of this chapter, that a key element of climate action in this setting was about starting from the context of the community, namely the interplay between tackling vulnerability and building alternatives. A second argument is that a key element of climate action in this type of setting should be based on locally contextualised knowledge, vision, strategy, and opportunity. This develops an approach to building community resilience based on efforts to create a "positive sense of place" (Wilding, 2011, p. 2). This work can become "the 'seeds' of transformation" (Burch et al., 2014, p. 469). Building on this idea, I argue that it does not necessarily create linear change for dealing with the climate emergency.

Chatterton and Pickerill (2010) observed when working with local groups in Leeds that many groups, and individuals in those groups, did not clearly articulate against an opponent. As discussed in section 6.4, KVDT's approaches moved between community resilience as adaptation and transformation. It was in this context that their efforts to tackle the climate emergency existed. In this section, I relate this to broader discussions about climate action and contentious politics in a neoliberal environment. Many people dismiss the potential of community action to challenge the neoliberal status-quo of market domination and individualised solutions, that it is easily co-opted into this environment, and their practices reinforce, strengthen, and further the advance of the very forces that they are acting to negate (Swyngedouw 2011, 2014). There are clear connections between this dismissal of the potential of community action with critiques of resilience, such as by Mackinnon and Derickson (2013), who argue that resilience approaches do not tackle structural inequalities and perpetuate domination.

In line with Mouffe (2014), thinkers such as Swyngedouw (2011, 2014) argue for an overtly politicised response by groups seeking to challenge neoliberalism. This entails networks or organisations being involved in a range of counter-hegemonic practices opposed to current neoliberal approaches, by forging conflict with dominant practices and beliefs. To Mouffe (2014), being political entails challenging the configuration of power relations within the social structure, based in part on antagonism between competing visions, through which a struggle emerges. Climate action in KVDT did not conform to this notion of being political. However, the politics emerged through issues

and action. There were efforts to challenge power, but the focus was on transformation through developing a positive sense of place based around a positive sense of what the future could be (Wilding, 2011; Jeffrey and Dyson, 2021). This places community action within a setting such as KVDT outside of this antagonistic approach, but I argue that there is still a significant role for this style of community led response in tackling the climate emergency.

6.5.1 Contributing to climate action through creating a positive sense of place

Climate action in KVDT sat within attempts to build community resilience as transformation. The symbiotic and interstitial strategies outlined in Chapter 5 were important for developing, or seeking to gain ownership of community assets, influencing local political processes, and looking for opportunities to generate local activism. Here, I draw out what this tells us about the nature of climate action within KVDT. Secondly, this work demonstrated the importance of improvisation, how protected institutionalised community spaces could further action, and how actions were aiming to have a wider societal impact within their area (Jeffrey and Dyson, 2021).

As discussed in Chapter 5, the Kirkstall Valley Farm was a project that developed an alternative non-market-based economy through CSA. This project aimed to increase social power through increasing autonomy over economic activity in relation to local food production. It also sought to build social power through the acquisition of land to develop community assets, with a focus on community benefit over profit. To develop this project, in the initial phase KVDT had to interact with the state to secure land. This enabled them to turn this land into community space, outside of the market. Thus, increasing the community control within the area. When combined with thinking about their efforts to secure other sites for community ownership, it presents a picture of developing social power in relation to politics and the economy through the transfer of assets to community control (Lent and Studdert, 2021). Another dimension of the projects to develop and control community assets was that they were about "developing new forms of place-based identity and community" (Cumbers et al., 2018, p. 134).

These transformative projects represented a sense of building a progressive community and strengthening community autonomy.

What linked community resilience as adaptation and community resilience as transformation was that both approaches were seeking to build social power through bringing the organisation closer to the community, demonstrating that their area could be different, and that the community does have strength within it. The political, economic, and social context created barriers in terms of realising ambitions, but KVDT were pragmatic. Whilst they were pursuing a vision, it was a spirit of wanting to prove that they could achieve important outcomes that made their local area a better place to live that motivated them. The farm played a key role in this as Adam, a KVDT leader, put it,

"I remember at the start of the farm project people saying to me, "there's no way you'll be able to start a farm in the middle of a city, that's just insane"It can be done, you've just got to get in and see how it can be done and if you can put that out to other people and sort of inspire them to do it."

What Adam's comment demonstrated was that KVDT were experimental, that they hoped to inspire others in the community, and people in other communities. In this way, approaches to climate action through a broad-based community organisation were about understanding the local context, both the vulnerabilities and opportunities that existed, and generating community led transformation through a variety of means. The Kirkstall Valley Farm and the attempts to develop and control community assets demonstrated that the nature of climate action within a community setting could be ambitious. It intertwined ideas about creating community led sustainability through building a strong institution, alongside being opportunistic and being prepared to improvise (Jeffrey and Dyson, 2021).

An important aspect, which creates uncertainty about how effective community action for tackling the climate emergency can be, is that there was no certainty of success at the outset of the farm or any other ambitious projects. What may appear to be gaps and opportunities that the community can exploit, may turn out not to be. This is an important dimension of my argument, as it highlights structural constraints in creating change and building alternatives for organisations seeking to work within and beyond the current system. The ongoing struggles that KVDT had in their unsuccessful attempts to acquire former mills demonstrated the opaqueness of decision-making, and a lack of a framework for interaction between the state, business, and civil society to support community benefit, shift power to the community, and tackle the climate emergency.

What the strategies, perceptions, and ideas that existed in KVDT can add to understandings of community led climate action is the idea that it must be informed by the context of the community, the crises that they are tackling, and how it combines making a difference in the present, with an eye on long-term transformation. A meeting that I had with Natalie, a volunteer who was interested in joining The A65 Group, highlighted another dimension to this. The following extract is from my meeting with Natalie and taken from my observation diary.

Within the discussion, Natalie was interested in ideas around 'Play Streets' and 'walking to school days.' We talked about my research and how it fits into climate and sustainability. Natalie made the point that talking about climate change and sustainability "often goes over people's heads and that you have speak to them about the things that matter in their lives." This chimed with discussions that I had with Jackie, were we discussed children having the chance to play out and how cars ruin this, how car parking clutters the streets, or ruins the verges. Jackie felt that tackling this was a way to engage people in ideas of more sustainable practice and improve life for people at the same time.

In a community organisation with a broad focus there was a balance between what the climate science tells us needs to happen, in terms of speed and nature of the changes required, the desire to take political approaches, and the need to meet the community within their context and understandings. It was from this basis that context relevant strategies and activities could be developed. Natalie argued for this approach, talking about how climate change could be abstract, or concepts of sustainability would not engage people unless it spoke to things that mattered in their lives. This was evident in The A65 Group, as the group wanted to focus on actions that reduced car usage in the Kirkstall Valley, yet activities began to centre on how people could play a role in improving their area and neighbourhoods. Through engagement with the council and developing interstitial projects the group supported alternative ways that people could move around their locality, which could be seen in activities like path clearing and the

'Save Kirkstall Footpaths' campaign. Thus, the politics conformed to Wilding's (2011) notion of generating a positive sense of place, and the politics shifted depending on the different opportunities and activities that were being pursued.

Through The A65 Group there were interesting dimensions to what climate action within a community organisation looked like. Firstly, the group was autonomous from KVDT, but it was able to leverage the institutional capacity of KVDT. For instance, KVDT as an organisation could support funding bids, through KVDT the work of the group could be promoted, new members recruited, and KVDT facilities hosted meetings once COVID-19 restrictions lifted. The activities that the group focused on contrasted with the dominant state approach to tackling climate change that I have characterised as technocratic, market led, and tend towards individualisation within solutions for the climate emergency, such as a focus on individual practice or people's carbon footprints (Bergman et al., 2010; Paterson and Striple, 2010). The goal within the group was to create progressive change for a more people friendly and environmentally friendly local area. In many ways, reflecting the relative power of the group to the state and economy, the work undertaken was action focused, experimental, and aimed to contribute to the beginnings of a broader transformation (Burch et al., 2014).

In one meeting of The A65 Group, we discussed the types of actions that we should undertake. Valerie, buoyed by the success of the wildflower planting, felt that this was the scale that the group should operate at, in her words to get "quick wins". Valerie thought that this could be achieved through activities like finding ways to make the "everyday walking routes more attractive and appealing." Whilst it is important to acknowledge the small-scale of this type of activity, I do not think we should dismiss it. For the group, it was playing a small part in challenging the dominance of the car in their community and asking questions about what public space was for and who it was for. Jackie commented, "We're not brought up to think of public space as belonging to the community." For her, actions like path clearing, wildflower planting, and litter picking were about "Inspiring people to care about public spaces." The group perceived its role in supporting active travel by contributing to minor changes that could remove barriers that people faced when choosing between the car or active travel. As Jackie put it, "It's lots of little problems that makes walking around the neighbourhood undesirable." This highlights that this form of activity contributes to developing alternatives through what Chatterton (2019) argued, that a key part of transformation is about making changes alongside developing new narratives about how things can be different.

In The A65 Group the activities and types of solutions that people supported were about contributing to creating a positive sense of place and looking to remove barriers that prevented people from taking sustainable options. As well as the smaller actions that used the interstitial strategies outlined in Chapter 5, there was also a desire to support larger-scale change. For instance, the group was interested in how infrastructure was needed to enable people to take active travel options, such as an affordable public transport system that was fully integrated, and active travel infrastructure like dedicated cycle lanes, improved road surfaces, and safe bike storage. Through the transport consultation the group wanted to enable people in the area to articulate what the positives and alternatives could look like to current unsustainable travel practices. This was an approach to climate action based upon tackling the barriers that existed in the local area, through mobilising the community to play an active role, with a positive sense of place. It was an approach that was interested in how people and the community could thrive, and how we could tackle the climate emergency through this, rather than looking at individuals and their choices. This is a different form of politics, one that seeks transformation through improvisation, opportunism, and tied to an idea that communities can play a role by coming together to create change in their local community.

Through engaging with broader political opportunities and moments for climate action, KVDT and The A65 Group were able to create new connections, both with other organisations and with political processes from the international to local level. For instance, KVDT connected with an established craftivist group to discuss how they could work together. The initial project that KVDT supported was a "Green Hearts" project that aimed to raise awareness and push for more ambition at the COP 26 International Climate Change Conference, which took place in Glasgow in November 2021. The idea was that people would make green hearts, which could then be sent to

MPs calling for them to support more ambition. This was an experimental project to explore how KVDT could mobilise people to engage in the political process and to create new networks. By engaging with other networks, KVDT were fostering social connections across the city. KVDT were also mobilising supporters to act and connecting supporters to the global dimension of the climate emergency. Climate action in this setting did not always have to have a sole focus on climate change and climate change mitigation (Lent and Studdert, 2021). What the examples in this section illustrate, was that the "how" of community resilience was about the range and depth of community connection, built on self-organisation, shared values, and connections between people and place (Berkes and Ross, 2013).

6.5.2 Different perspectives of community-led approaches within KVDT

In interviews, I broached how people in KVDT thought about being political, to get a sense of the range of perspectives that existed in the organisation. For instance, when I was interviewing Yvonne, a KVDT leader, I asked her what challenges KVDT could make to local or national government. Her response was, "For me it's more about the community." She went on to discuss how KVDT should be about bringing people together and talked in terms of activities for people and spaces for people to mix. Richard, a KVDT leader, went further,

"I'm not interested whether you're Tory, Liberal [Democrat], Labour, hard-left or whatever, erm, I'm not interested anymore. It's too, too irrelevant I would argue. I don't want it to be a political organisation, and if it became that we were, and we started to have political aims, then I'd step back. But I don't think anyone wants that."

Yvonne and Richard's comments are interesting, and indicative of many of the responses that I received when I raised this subject in the interviews. Firstly, there was a tendency to frame the answers around the idea of party politics. Secondly, there was Richard's comment that he did not "think anyone wants that." This ties in with Yvonne, who when pushed on this reverted to talking about KVDT as a place for community. This ran through the organisation, from board members, paid staff, to the volunteer network. In Chapter 4, I related my interview with Michael, a regular volunteer before

and during COVID-19, when I asked about the difference that KVDT could make to people in crisis, he talked of helping people that needed food, people who turned up at the hub with nowhere else to go. He thought that KVDT should be an organisation that supported vulnerable people and provide a space for emotional support, saying "that's what KVDT should be about."

The prevalent attitudes convey a sense of how the environment in KVDT created the opportunity to pursue strategies of community resilience that do not challenge the status-quo. When contrasted with Adam's ideas about the farm being part of building an alternative food system and his attitude of "it can be done", it points to how the organisation can incorporate community resilience as transformation and community resilience as adaptation. Where the two approaches converge is that the main objective was to build a sense of community, a strong community that tackle the problems it faces, and bring the community together. When applied to efforts to tackle the climate emergency, this suggests that climate action in an organisation such as KVDT occupies a niche space between contentious politics and state led strategies.

An important dimension of the contribution that the KVDT form of place-based change could make to tackling the climate emergency was that for many people involved in KVDT this type of community action complemented other forms of activism. As Schlosberg and Coles (2016) observe, individuals may take part in more than one type of struggle so may not be ideologically committed to particular tactics or levels of politicisation. I spoke to Jessica, a volunteer, she was interested in regenerative practice and community work and had been involved in the wildlife group, the vegetable growing group, and subsequently became engaged in volunteering on the COVID-19 pandemic response. Outside of KVDT, she was a committed activist on a range of causes, from activism that she described as focusing on anti-fascist work, through to supporting refugees and LGBTQIA+ activism. For her, being involved with the work of KVDT complimented her other forms of activism, as it was "actively doing something, fun to do [community activities] with other people of the same mindset." For her, working with KVDT was important as, in her words, it was a way to "empower individuals" and "gives people an opportunity to learn more."

The ideas of building community that run throughout this research also motivated people, like Jessica, to be involved with the work of KVDT. As the example of Jessica or Jackie in The A65 Group shows, many of the people involved were also involved in a range of other groups and movements. From neighbourhood planning groups, Extinction Rebellion, professional campaigning organisations as paid staff, or volunteering with other networks or action groups. Being involved in KVDT appealed to people because it was different to those groups, and the nature of the climate action was different, due to being place-based and focused on building a sense of community and improving their community. Some people were motivated by questions of global justice. For instance, during COP26, out of frustration with being unable to achieve change through the council, Rachel, an A65 group member commented,

"we're asking people [in the global South] that don't have enough to eat to make big changes and stop things like deforestation and we can't even close a small road because it makes some people unhappy."

KVDT offered a broad array of ways that people could be involved. From supporting the development of a CSA, volunteering in the education programme, being in the community hub to talk to people that came in for a cup of tea, to engaging in activist activities. Taken together, these examples of how different people viewed taking voluntary collective action through KVDT demonstrated that there was a broad range of ways that it could appeal to people. Rather than a focus on ideologies or a fixation on working in, against, or beyond capitalism, people were drawn in by supporting their community and creating a strong place-based community. The strength within KVDT was that it could appeal to people who liked agriculture, nature, community support, those who linked local action to climate justice, or people motivated by place-based activism. This meant that a range of transformations could be developed, and a range of strategies pursued. Undoubtedly, as Chatterton and Pickerill (2010) argue, this means that understanding this is messy. However, I argue that it is this messiness that demonstrates how this type of approach to creating change can sit alongside social movements or overtly political approaches.

The politics within groups aiming to challenge the status-quo and build alternative ways of being and doing were not static. In line with Pickerill (2021), the politics did not need

to be fully formed, especially when people felt they were acting from necessity. Their approaches were not necessarily ideological in their opposition, and alongside adapting to life under neoliberalism, they pursued a range of tactics that, even if not deliberately, slowed and replaced capitalism within the community (Chatterton and Pusey, 2020). KVDT practiced a politics based around how people and the community could tackle the climate emergency together, by focusing on how to make the area a better place to live. This is a different form of politics, and one that can play a significant role in the climate emergency, by generating community resilience as the starting point.

6.6 Time, the neoliberal policy environment and community action for the climate emergency

As outlined in 6.2.1, urgent action is needed to reduce carbon and limit global warming. When thinking about the role that community led strategies can play alongside international, national, and local policies to move towards net zero, time is an important element of how effective the activity is. Therefore, I finish this chapter with analysis of the relationship between time and the processes, strategies, and the likely impacts that community led action of the type outlined in my research can make. I begin by placing this in the context of the national and council level policy environment and the contradiction between the need to move at pace to tackle the climate emergency and the lack of urgency for dealing with the challenge, as well as a lack of long-term policy planning and direction (Willis, 2020). In community-led approaches to tackling the climate emergency, there are three important dimensions in relation to time. Firstly, attempting to pursue symbiotic strategies in the current political and economic context was time-consuming and there were many uncertainties and barriers to success. Alongside this, the range of challenges mean that community resilience as adaptation could limit the time that KVDT had to pursue more ambitious plans. Secondly, I broadly support arguments that participatory approaches that foreground social empowerment, and tackle a range of problems that communities face, is important (Howarth et al., 2021; Tiratelli et al., 2021; Evans, 2021). However, community organising processes take time to develop and the impacts of projects that are derived from this form of

organising do not necessarily have a carbon reduction benefit. Thirdly, due to the many pressures that people faced during the COVID-19 pandemic, there was difficulty mobilising the community due to the time pressures that people faced in their lives in this time of crisis. These time related factors as important for assessing the role that community action can play in the climate emergency.

6.6.1 Time and the neoliberal policy approaches to the climate emergency

Top-down policy approaches that favour technological change and individual responsibility over collective transformations are unlikely to happen at the speed required (Lamb et al., 2020). This is an issue of the dominance of neoliberal policy and the favouring of markets, market led responses, and an individualisation of the problem of the climate emergency (Bludhorn, 2015). As discussed throughout this research, an important characteristic of neoliberalism is that it is not a complete plan for governance (Peck and Theodore, 2012). One of the impacts of this for national government approaches is that they lack the framework for long term decision-making that is necessary for dealing with the climate emergency (Willis, 2020; Howarth et al., 2021). Long-term planning and decision-making are vital for tackling the climate emergency, to give confidence to business and communities about the direction of travel, as well as to ensure that time is given for policy impact to be felt (Bray and Ford, 2022). Another aspect of the problem with a top-down policy model for dealing with the climate emergency is that politicians do not feel significant pressure to prioritise tackling the climate emergency and often de-prioritise it in favour of other more short-term priorities (Willis, 2018; 2018a). This creates a political environment in which leadership for radical change is lacking, and that without this the public either do not understand or are unwilling to accept many of the changes that are required (Willis, 2020; 2020a).

The prevailing policy environment makes it difficult to develop and implement action at the necessary speed that the climate emergency demands. This policy environment hampers efforts at transformative change outside of a belief in solutions that can be found within the narrow parameters of marketisation, commodification, endless growth, and exploitation of natural resources (Middlemiss, 2014; Chatterton, 2016). In terms of Howarth et al., (2021) argument, that there is a lack of a framework from national to local and local to civil society, my research demonstrated how this hindered bringing about change at the community, neighbourhood, and street levels. As the case study of KVDT demonstrated, community organisations and activists struggled to engage the council to make progressive changes in line with the priorities of the council's own climate emergency. In my research, this was evident in issues such as creating low traffic neighbourhoods and acquiring community assets. The case of developing community assets highlighted the impacts of governance that favoured capital and the private sector and suggested a limitation to developing community resilience through asset development. The aspect of time is relevant, in the sense of policy priorities and processes acting as barriers to achieving changes at the community level in line with, and with the urgency, that the climate emergency demands.

6.6.2 Time, community resilience, and climate related transformation

As I have discussed throughout this research, efforts to build alternatives at the community level were difficult in a time of intersecting crises. Across a range of areas, the KVDT experience of working with the council was time consuming, bogged down in bureaucratic processes, and the broader funding model for community organisations meant that there was precarity within the organisation and within the projects undertaken. Examples throughout this research, whether working on funding proposals or with the projects to take ownership of or develop community assets, these projects took time to develop. Whilst the projects to develop the farm and the mills pointed to interesting approaches to developing community resilience in the face of the climate emergency, there was the issue of uncertainty as to what the outcomes of these strategies and approaches would be. By their very nature, community organisations that often rely on volunteers, have limited resources, are often overstretched, and have limited power (Middlemiss, 2010). Without a policy framework in place that enables communities to be well funded, take control of local decisions, and supports them to develop community assets, time consuming projects are undertaken with little certainty of success.

6.6.3 Time and developing participatory processes for tackling the climate emergency

The third dimension of time that was important within my research setting, and links to potential barriers for a community led response to the climate emergency, was the issue that developing community resilience processes that foreground participation, consensus, and creating new forms of social relationship, are themselves time consuming. However, a key component of generating alternatives is through increasing social power, and in a voluntary setting this should be done through developing new practices based on collaboration and co-operation (Olin Wright, 2010; Moulaert and Nussbaumer, 2005). Building alternatives was both about the method and the impacts that those methods aimed to foster (Oosterlynck et al., 2013). Building a participatory approach was vital, as there was no certainty of success, and even if you fail through limpact, you have still contributed in some way towards transformation through altering social relationships and developing new ways of engaging people in innovative action (Moulaert et al., 2014). However, this can be a slow process when urgent and farreaching change is required.

This issue of time within developing collaborative methods was evident from my research. My fieldwork was around one year in length, and it took time to understand KVDT as an organisation, through this understanding I developed the action research component of my fieldwork. As I found, participatory processes are slow, as priority areas need to be agreed and creating frameworks in which groups operate takes time. Once the groups were set up, relationships had to be developed and become established, the group had to build consensus around a vision, a strategy, which actions to take, and where to focus effort and limited resources. Linked to this was the idea discussed in this chapter of developing contextually informed actions that are meaningful to those participating. This meant supporting activity that responded to either unmet need or priorities that were established by the community. As discussed by Tiratelli et al. (2021), this can mean that even with a climate focus, not all activity has a direct impact on tackling the climate emergency. Climate activity is part of a broader swathe of actions that seek to generate social power, and this means that action is not solely focused on carbon reduction. When viewed alongside the need to tackle the

intersecting crises of neoliberalism, this means that there is a need to be realistic about the contributions that this type of community action can make in the short term.

6.6.4 Time and the pressures on people through the intersecting crises that communities face

Across this research a range of issues have been explored that come together to point towards time as a barrier for people who want to engage in collective action. There was nuance within this, for instance KVDT's volunteer list grew during the COVID-19 pandemic due to an increase in free time through lockdown and the furlough scheme for many of the volunteers. However, many others, especially women, struggled during the COVID-19 crisis, as issues such as home-schooling, or increased caring responsibilities, meant that they had to focus their time on caring priorities (Power, 2020). For instance, Mary wanted to join The A65 Group, as she was passionate about reducing cars in her local area, but she had to drop out to care for her mother. Natalie wanted to join but she had a young family and a job that meant that she worked irregular hours. Thus, for several reasons of time-pressure both did not feel able to commit to contributing to the group. Developing change at the community level is a lengthy process that requires energy and commitment. The nature of paid work in the UK, with insecure jobs, low pay, and precarious employment makes it more difficult for many people to pursue volunteering for the collective good (Graeber, 2018). As the COVID-19 crisis receded, it has been replaced with other crises, such as the cost of living crisis, that will continue to exert pressure on many people and leave people without support for tackling the range of issues that they face, this will inevitably place more burdens on people, and make creating strong community-led movements for tackling the climate emergency difficult in many communities. This speaks to how efforts to create community resilience are hampered by top-down government resilience agendas, and that these agendas, rather than strengthening the capacity of communities to generate resilience, deplete it further (Harrison, 2013).

6.7 Conclusion

The empirical data and arguments developed in this chapter contribute towards the concept of community resilience by exploring the co-constituted dynamic between top-down policy prescriptions and community responses in the face of crises (Deverteuil et al., 2021). By applying this idea to current approaches to tackling the climate emergency at the community level in the UK, I add to understandings of community resilience by showing how this environment created barriers and limitations for community efforts to tackle the climate emergency. In section 6.2 and 6.3, I explored the question of the role of community organisations in tackling the climate emergency by asking how do neoliberal governance approaches to climate change support or limit community organisations responses to the climate emergency? I argued that national level climate governance does not provide a strong national framework for either tackling the climate emergency through local council initiatives, or for communities to play a role within climate mitigation.

Based on the argument from Howarth et al., (2021), that there is a lack of a comprehensive framework between the local council and community organisations that want to support action on the climate emergency, I showed the practicalities of how this policy environment limits the ability of community actors to achieve ambitious change that could have greater impact on tackling the climate emergency. Despite the climate emergency declarations by many local authorities and the beginnings of some participatory approaches at the council level, there still lacks a comprehensive framework to support transformation at the community level. In many ways, council led processes still aim to develop a top-down climate response through policy rather than community empowerment. The COVID-19 pandemic response demonstrated that a much stronger partnership approach is possible, but participation was still based on the council's priorities, and was limited in scope and nature.

I contribute to a critical understanding of community resilience by demonstrating how broader neoliberal approaches have depleted resilience (Harrison, 2013). Through exploring community-led approaches that generate community resilience within an

environment of intersecting crises, I looked at the limits of climate action in this setting. I looked at the interaction of KVDT's approaches to adaptation and transformation to show how mobilising people and meeting people's needs is a mixture of tackling vulnerability and working towards creating place-based transformations. I built on Olin Wright's (2010) conception of social power to link the two aspects of the work. Through this idea, I showed how KVDT attempted to mobilise people and resources both to support the community to cope and adapt to the context of austerity and COVID-19, alongside developing strategies that could create transformation in their community in a range of areas. This was evident in Community Supported Agriculture as well as in the interstitial projects that The A65 Group developed. My research furthers ideas of community resilience by showing the relationships between the different strands of community resilience and how they can support and inhibit one another. For instance, I argued that the intersecting crises of austerity and COVID-19 pushed KVDT into strategies and projects that focused on community resilience as adaptation at the expense of community resilience as transformation.

A further contribution of this research is to understandings of what this action represents, arguing that it is not political in the sense of antagonism (Mouffe, 2014). However, the politics emerged around local issues and through locally targeted action. This meant that this type of community-led approach for climate action compliments other forms of more contentious actions. The type of climate action identified in my research was primarily about generating a positive sense of place (Wilding, 2010). Furthermore, the politics shifted depending on the different opportunities and activities that were being pursued. The strategies incorporated ideas about creating community led sustainability through building a strong institution, being opportunistic, and based on improvisation (Jeffrey and Dyson, 2021). I argued that this was still a vital component of tackling the climate emergency and that, in line with Pickerill (2021), projects should be valued for what they achieve, not what they lack. In some ways, as Burch et al. (2014) argue, the main contribution is that the work can become the beginnings of transformation without necessarily creating linear change for dealing with the climate emergency.

The final aspect that I looked at was the issue of time in relation to the urgency of the need to take climate action and the difficulties of taking this action in a neoliberal policy environment. A lack of urgency at the national level in the UK, a narrow range of proposed solutions that rely on market thinking and technological fixes, means that change is not being created at the speed required. At the community level, dealing with intersecting crises depletes resilience and prevents organisations dedicating the time needed to develop climate action. Attempting to pursue symbiotic strategies in the current political and economic context is time-consuming and there are many barriers to success. Alongside this, building participatory approaches takes time to develop, and mobilising community is difficult due to the time pressures that people face in their lives in this time of crisis. Having outlined the findings of my research, I now move on to the conclusion and show how I answered my research questions, met my objectives, and what my research contributed to closing gaps in existing knowledge.

Chapter 7 – Conclusion

7.1 How my findings answered the research questions

The overarching research question was, "how are people coming together within the case study organisation to tackle climate change, alongside the social crises generated by austerity and the COVID-19 pandemic?" What my research demonstrated was that in KVDT, a Community Benefit Society in Leeds, people were coming together to attempt to build a strong community organisation that could tackle the vulnerabilities that were created by austerity and exacerbated by COVID-19. Alongside this, KVDT were trying to build a more sustainable urban environment that could play a role in tackling the climate emergency. The approach that KVDT undertook to tackling the climate emergency was through symbiotic strategies that entailed working in partnership with the state, and interstitial strategies in the gaps and margins of the neoliberal system. Through a qualitative research approach that combined ethnographic and action research methodologies and methods I was able to show how KVDT built community resilience to the various crises. By developing ideas based on community resilience as adaptation and community resilience as transformation I demonstrated that KVDT had an approach to the intersecting crises that combined working inside and outside of the neoliberal system.

By developing the idea of community resilience, I showed how top-down governance approaches created vulnerability and impacted on community approaches to tackling the range of crises that the community faced (Wright, 2021; Deverteuil et al., 2021). My research employed Twigger-Ross et al., (2011; 2014; 2015) strands of resilience to show how strategies to tackle the climate emergency were part of broader community resilience work. This work was focused on community resilience as adaptation and community resilience as transformation. I illustrated how KVDT worked within current political, economic, and social policy structures and that this required community resilience as adaptation so that the organisation could succeed in this environment. This was evident through their attempts to secure resources to support the community, develop programmes of work that tackled vulnerability, and deliver services on behalf of the state. Alongside this, KVDT were attempting to create transformation in their local area based on creating strategies for change that involved symbiotic and interstitial strategies.

What was interesting about the KVDT case was that the different strategies of transformation could be co-present within individual projects. My research demonstrated the complex relationships between the policy approaches contained in austerity and COVID-19 and community responses. By applying the lens of community resilience, I was able to show the complex relationships between the different strands of resilience as adaptation and transformation. I showed that these relationships could enhance as well as detract from one another. This research provided evidence about the role that communities can play in ongoing efforts to tackle the climate emergency, but neoliberal approaches of governance create many barriers that must be overcome. To answer the overarching research question, I had three sub-questions, which I discuss now.

7.1.1 How did the case study organisation support community resilience as adaptation to the impacts of austerity and COVID-19?

Chapter 4 answered the question, how did the case study organisation support community resilience as adaptation to the impacts of austerity and COVID-19? To contribute to the concept of community resilience as adaptation, I began by looking at how the social crises were generated by the policy approaches of austerity, which created vulnerabilities that were exacerbated following the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. Thus, this research began by exploring the intersecting crises of austerity and COVID-19 and the range of negative social impacts that were felt at the community level. It argued that the social crises were generated by the policy environment of austerity and the extension of roll out and rollback neoliberalism. Connected to this was the discourse of top-down resilience from the government that justified the withdrawal of the state and supported the neoliberal approach of getting communities and individuals to be responsible for dealing with social issues and delivering services (Hall and Lamont, 2013; Joseph, 2013; Aiken et al., 2017). The social impacts were felt at the community level through a reduction of service provision, increased poverty, deregulation of the labour market, and an increase in vulnerability through precarity (Clarke and Cominetti, 2019). In KVDT, they linked these issues to a broader impact of a lack of community, which was expressed by people in KVDT through statements such as the area "had no heart", or that it was difficult to build community in the austerity environment. The COVID-19 pandemic intersected with the impacts of austerity to create a new social emergency, due to a series of national lockdowns and the shutting of many aspects of the economy. There were two key arguments that I developed when looking at the neoliberal policy environment. Firstly, the UK government called on communities to show resilience and fill the gaps created by the retreat of the state. However, at the community level, community organisations such as KVDT still needed state support to step into the gaps in provision. Secondly, whilst the overall direction had been a reduction in services and welfare provision, the state still provided support to solve practical problems that austerity and COVID-19 created.

After setting the context through analysis of top-down neoliberal approaches, I highlighted KVDT's responses, looking at how they adapted to this prevailing neoliberal policy environment and attempted to work within it to build the organisation through acquiring resources. This was evident in their approaches to securing funding for their programme work, such as the education programme, and to secure community spaces, "Unit 11" and the Kirkstall Valley Farm. Once the COVID-19 pandemic began, the infrastructure that they had developed through acquiring resources was used to support the community through the COVID-19 emergency. During the COVID-19 pandemic, their community resilience approaches were based around supporting the community to cope by working in partnership with the council. By playing the role of the local Community Care Hub, the organisation supported the community to react to, cope with, and adjust to the new reality of the COVID-19 emergency. This meant that they supported people through food distribution, shopping, education programmes, collecting medicine, and attempting to create some projects that built social connection. An interesting dimension of the COVID-19 response was that Leeds City Council facilitated

the work and supported it financially, but it was locally led and community driven (Tiratelli and Kaye, 2020).

The COVID-19 work demonstrated that during an emergency, new forms of partnerships could be developed between community organisers and the council to meet people's needs during the crisis. KVDT's COVID-19 work was primarily based upon service delivery and pushed the organisation into a charitable style giver/receiver dynamic. However, the KVDT COVID-19 mutual aid work was impressive in its scale, breadth, and its longevity. How KVDT responded to COVID-19 shows that within adaptation resilience there was also space to foster values outside of dominant neoliberal approaches. Much of the activity was focused on delivering people's necessities, but the organisation was proud that they went beyond their contractual obligations and used their role to try and build community strength and connection during a period of social isolation.

Finally, I looked at how developing adaptation resilience by working in the current structures presented significant limitations, which hindered and depleted community resilience efforts. I argued that it was the dominant top-down political and economic approaches that exacerbated vulnerability. There were four key ways that the policy environment shaped KVDT's strategies of adaptation and created barriers that threatened to overwhelm the organisation and limit its ability to build community resilience. Firstly, KVDT were responding to the crises and negative social impacts generated by neoliberal approaches, as was seen through austerity and COVID-19. As COVID-19 restrictions eased, a new crisis was forming around "cost of living" that meant that KVDT were continuing to tackle structurally created vulnerabilities. The second important aspect was that governance approaches meant that attempting to work within the system, to acquire resources and deliver projects, required KVDT to conform to a marketized environment (Joseph, 2013). This made the organisation itself vulnerable, existing in a state of precarity as they competed for the resources that they needed to function. Many of the contracts that they relied upon for their programme work and to support paying rent and wages were short term or project specific, this meant that the long-term future of the organisation was not secure.

The third limitation of this top-down approach was that many of the projects were designed to deal with vulnerability through coping before bouncing back to normality, rather than tackle the structural causes and support more long-term transformation. Finally, the short-term funding approach existed in the marketized system, this meant that the community spaces that they worked so hard to develop were not secure, which was highlighted during my research as they lost the tenancy on their community hub and the farm contract was only for five years. Working within the structures meant dealing with bureaucracy and council processes, which was time consuming and lacked certainty of outcome. This limited their ability to focus their small team and limited resources on more transformative change. Therefore, the political and economic context in which they operated favoured community resilience as adaptation over transformation, generated vulnerability, created and exacerbated intersecting crises, and could deplete community resilience.

7.1.2 Within KVDT what were the key strategies developed to build community resilience as transformation?

I showed that KVDT developed approaches to community resilience that pushed beyond adaptation, primarily through actions that contributed towards place-based approaches to achieving community transformation. In line with Twigger-Ross et al., (2015), I demonstrated that community resilience as transformation also tried to tackle the wider issues within the community, as identified in Chapter 4. I showed that the organisation promoted an array of transformations, from the types of social relationships that they wanted to foster inside the organisation, developing alternative economic futures through Community Supported Agriculture (CSA), and neighbourhood and street level changes based on activism projects. I linked these different approaches to community resilience as transformation. Based on the work of Olin Wright (2010; 2018), I showed that the projects had a combination of interstitial and symbiotic strategies. The evidence provided was drawn from my ethnographic work and from the action research projects that I developed during my fieldwork. The first dimension of exploring the key strategies that were developed to build community resilience as transformation necessitated a focus on the internal workings of the organisation and action groups. This led to analysis of how they worked towards developing agency and self-organisation by building social relationships based on collaboration (Berkes and Ross, 2013; Walton et al., 2013). There were two important components of this approach. The first was how developing new practices were designed to build community resilience through creating an environment in which social relationships could be fostered and transformed (Mathie and Cunningham, 2003). This was evident through the different structures that existed from the board, the farm strategic and planning groups, and the volunteer network that delivered the COVID-19 community support work. Internally, KVDT were able to generate solidarity, as people were co-operating both for their own and others well-being (Olin Wright, 2018). Solidarity and collaboration were central dynamics of community resilience as transformation in KVDT. Their approaches to internal management ran counter to the individualism and alienation that are by-products of neoliberal approaches (Olin Wright, 2010).

The second important dimension was focused on how processes and practices aimed to develop strategies and ideas for building alternatives at the community level (Moulaert et al., 2005). Within this, I argued that collaboration was an important dynamic in generating ideas and creating pathways for change (Skerratt, 2013). Social empowerment through collaboration underpinned strategies for transformation that ran counter to the dominant neoliberal logics, policies, and approaches. I built on the work of Twigger-Ross et al., (2015) to show that developing participation and collaboration supported community resilience as transformation. This was through collaborative approaches to develop strategies that were focused on dealing with community concerns, influencing the local agenda, and using the knowledge, motivations, and ideas that existed in the community. This was achieved through developing networks of people and bringing together local participants, using the knowledge from the local context so that projects were formed by people's experience (Farmer et al., 2018).

Building on how KVDT was organised, I answered research questions based the external strategies of KVDT and their interstitial and symbiotic approaches (Olin Wright, 2010; 2018). The aim of these strategies was to create spaces outside of market control and for community benefit. Using Olin Wright's framework added depth to the ideas of community resilience as transformation. Building on the work of Chapter 4, I returned to how KVDT attempted to develop community assets. Firstly, I used the example of the Kirkstall Valley Farm, which was an interstitial project developed out of a symbiotic agreement with the council to lease the land to KVDT. The CSA was co-produced and co-managed, it aimed to create sustainable change within food production alongside broader socially desirable change, through strengthening the community (Caffentzis and Federici, 2014; Kirwan et al., 2013). The Kirkstall Valley Farm contributed in line with Gibson-Graham (2006; 2008) and how community could be a site of local transformation for creating new economic futures within a politics of possibility.

Throughout this research, I was able to highlight potentials and limitations of attempting to pursue symbiotic strategies. KVDT attempted to forge partnerships with the council and a local business to turn former mills into community assets. The aim was to transform disused spaces into community assets to solve practical problems around housing and sustainability. However, they were unable to achieve these goals, either because of an inability to buy the property at the market value or because the private business wanted to develop the land for its own ends. My research provided practical evidence that demonstrated how efforts at bringing assets into community control and outside the market were hampered by neoliberal policy approaches and priorities. Neoliberal governance, that seeks to push the market into more aspects of society and forces community organisations to compete in a market environment for assets, hindered efforts to develop community resilience as transformation.

My action research provided further insights into the questions of what symbiotic and interstitial strategies could look like for community resilience. The projects that I initiated through The A65 Group and the Kirkstall Craftivists were interested in reimagining the local area through neighbourhood and street level action, building networks, and engagement with political processes (Berkes and Ross, 2013; Magis, 2010). Supporting

the work of Wright (2021), these projects highlighted that community resilience as transformation involved strategies and activities that were experimental and niche, whilst tackling various aspects of the social crises that existed, including contributing towards tackling the climate emergency. Symbiotically, there were projects that engaged with democracy and raised the voice of people in the area. The A65 Group and the Kirkstall Craftivists, like KVDT's broader programmes, were action orientated and experimental. The groups attempted to deal with issues like the domination of the car in urban environments, highlighting barriers that people faced in taking more climate friendly active travel options. The groups developed projects that attempted to reimagine what their local areas could be, through activities like guerrilla gardening and road closures. The approaches and strategies were grounded in the every-day, with one eye on improving life in the present and one eye on our collective futures.

7.1.3 What do the community resilience approaches outlined in this research suggest about tackling the climate emergency at community level?

The data and arguments developed in Chapter 6 contributed towards an empirically informed account of what the community resilience approaches outlined in this research suggest about tackling the climate emergency at community level. It supports Deverteuil et al., (2021) argument that resilience must be viewed through the interaction between top-down and bottom-up resilience. Where my research added to the concept of a critical conception of community resilience was by demonstrating the impacts that top-down approaches had on the generation of community approaches in relation to the climate emergency. I argued that top-down approaches created limitations in community efforts aimed at tackling the climate emergency by highlighting how climate policy sits within the broader neoliberal policy framework and how national level climate governance does not create a framework in which climate action can be developed at the scale required. I also highlighted, by building on the arguments from Howarth et al., (2021), how the lack of a comprehensive framework between the local council and community organisations impeded community efforts to tackle the climate emergency through local level action.

I showed that with the declaration of climate emergencies by many councils there are the beginnings of some participatory approaches, such as the Leeds Citizens Jury. During my research, we did engage on a council led consultation for a transport strategy. The COVID-19 pandemic response showed that the council could work in a radically different way, with a much stronger partnership approach to deal with crisis. However, the participation that we engaged in, just like with COVID-19, was based on the council's priorities, and was severely limited in scope and nature. The COVID-19 partnership model, whilst impressive in scale, was short-term and sought to return to business as usual and bounce back to pre-pandemic states. In climate emergency consultations, the aim was to support a top-down climate response through policy, rather than community empowerment and autonomy. Thus, the council level approaches limited the power of communities to transform their areas.

The second element of understanding what community resilience approaches suggest about tackling the climate emergency at the community to level was to explore how climate action was developed during a period of intersecting crises. Through looking at the different strands of community resilience I was able to argue that work to focus on tackling short-term vulnerability can limit the capacity needed to focus on the long-term work of transformation. To do so, I analysed the relationship between community resilience as adaptation and transformation. This was demonstrated under the idea of social power (Olin Wright, 2010). In the KVDT context, the aims of the group mixed mobilising people to tackle vulnerability and mobilising to increase community autonomy. KVDT were working to solve short-term problems generated by structurally created vulnerabilities, alongside attempts to develop community autonomy, so that they could transform their locality in the longer term. Ultimately, they wanted to create a strong place-based organisation that could support the community based on values of collaboration, solidarity, and achieving changes that tackled isolation, inequality, and contributed towards a more sustainable local area. My research showed that efforts to build adaptation resilience and deal with vulnerability in the short-term detracted from efforts to build long-term community transformation. This is important in relation to the climate emergency, as tackling the crises of austerity, COVID-19, and the cost of living, stretched the resources of the organisation and this can come at the expense of the

more transformative projects that are more closely aligned with tackling the climate emergency.

Chapter 6 reflected on how this form of community led place-based climate action could contribute towards tackling the climate emergency. What my research illustrated was that the action that emerged within the community was not ideological or political, in the Mouffe (2014) sense of antagonism. However, the politics emerged around local issues and through locally targeted action. This action was designed to build a sense of community, look at ways to improve the local area, and to provide people with the opportunity to engage in more sustainable practice. In this way, my research highlighted what Wilding (2011) argued, that community actions are designed to build a positive sense of place. Much of the activity in the action groups, either through engaging with the council on the transport strategy, through the e-bikes project, or with the footpaths project, was to highlight the barriers that people faced that prevented them from engaging in more sustainable choices, especially around transport. In a sense, it was about building action that recognised the challenges in the specific area and seeking strategies of climate action that could improve life for people in the area. As Pickerill (2021) says, community projects should be valued for what they achieve, and I showed that community led action can complement other types of activity that may have more radical and overtly political aims.

Another aspect of the limitations of building community resilience in the face of the climate emergency was the issue of time, which I argued has four important dimensions. I explored the issue of time in relation to the urgency of the climate emergency and the difficulties that I have presented in generating action and impacts within an environment of ongoing and intersecting crises at the community level. Firstly, top-down policy approaches lack urgency for dealing with the challenge. This was evident in terms of the lack of long-term policy planning and the lack of frameworks in place to support action at all levels (Willis, 2020; 2021; Howarth et al., 2021). Secondly, when KVDT did attempt to work on transformative strategies, such as working with the council by pursuing symbiotic strategies, doing so within the current neoliberal political and economic context was time-consuming, there were many barriers to success, and

there was no guarantee that an investment of time would lead to creating long-term change. Thirdly, within my research, both through the ethnography and the action research, it was evident that a commitment to collaboration and participatory approaches take time to develop, which is a real dilemma when urgent action is needed. A commitment to collaboration means being guided by the priorities of those that are involved, and this may mean that not all action is climate focused (Evans, 2022). Finally, in contemporary neoliberalism, especially during periods of crisis, it is difficult to mobilise people in the community, as many had different pressures in their lives that demanded their time.

7.2 How the research addressed the objectives

7.2.1. Understand the barriers and opportunities for effective community climate action through a lens of community resilience

The first objective was to understand the barriers and opportunities for effective community climate action through a lens of community resilience. As the findings demonstrate, I was able to meet this objective through an analysis of the political, economic, and social drivers of those barriers and their interaction with community efforts to develop effective climate action. My research points to the need to understand how neoliberal governance more broadly, including the policy approaches and the discourse of roll out and rollback neoliberalism created negative social impacts and vulnerabilities in the community (Aiken, 2016). Through a community resilience lens, I showed that neoliberal governance was a key component of the barriers for climate action. Through my ethnographic work, I was able to uncover how working in this context and responding to the community vulnerability generated by austerity and COVID-19 had an impact on approaches taken to climate action. I illustrated that attempting to acquire resources within this context meant that KVDT existed in a state of ongoing precarity and were forced to compete in an environment that favours marketized response and resilience as coping and bouncing back.

Short-term strategies to problem solving by the council and funders made it difficult for the organisation to establish strong foundations and to develop ambitious community level projects for transformation. The impacts were seen in strategies to build symbiotic and interstitial projects, as local council priorities did not sit easily with community organising objectives. My ethnographic work, through interviews, attending board meetings, farm meetings, and observing projects, enabled me to create a picture of how this unfolded in my research and how it related directly to efforts to tackle the climate emergency. Therefore, my research suggests that there are reasons to be reserved about how effective community action is likely to be for creating the breadth and depth of change needed to tackle the climate emergency.

Despite the reasons to be reserved about community action, my research pointed to some evidence to be optimistic. Through ethnography and action research I was able to explore the opportunities for community actors to build community resilience as transformation. Donoghue and Edmiston (2020) decry resilience as a weapon to discipline people in poverty and Aiken (2016; 2017) sees interactions between the state and community as a mechanism to further neoliberal goals. My research suggests that at a local council level, within a broadly neoliberal thrust, the crises that were generated by austerity, COVID-19, and the climate emergency have exposed the contradictions created through short-term thinking and fragmented decision-making. My research highlighted how the council struggled without a long-term plan for tackling the community level crises that the neoliberal structure had generated. This created gaps that could be exploited for climate action through symbiotic and interstitial strategies, strategies which can work together in harness. For instance, Leeds City Council was supportive of the Kirkstall Valley Farm and through action research we were able to work in the margins of the system on projects such as guerrilla gardening.

7.2.2 Investigate how a community organisation is responding to intersecting crises through empirical evidence

This research contributed to the development of the idea of community resilience based upon the data that I gathered through my ethnography and action research. Wright (2021) argued that many accounts of resilience are theoretical and do not engage in empirical examples. Therefore, my research was important as it added to resilience thinking through empirical evidence generated through an in-depth study. An important contribution of my research was towards community resilience theory by applying the ideas and concepts of resilience across a range of intersecting crises. Firstly, I was able to look at the response to austerity at a community level. Secondly, I was able to look at the COVID-19 pandemic response. Finally, I was able to explore community resilience in reference to the climate emergency. Therefore, my research project gave insight into how community resilience could manifest itself in numerous ways within a single setting. My research was able to show the complexity of community resilience through an exploration of the relationships between policy approaches and discourse in the UK and how they created crises that required communities to develop resilience. My empirical example supports and furthers Deverteuil et al., (2021), by providing evidence of how the top-down approaches shaped the responses that are open to communities.

Community resilience provided a good framework in which to explore how the climate emergency intersected with other crises at the community level. From my first interactions with KVDT, it was evident that this objective was important from a research perspective and from the perspective of those that I was researching with. The intersecting crises component of the research was an essential element of how I was able to develop a critical understanding of community resilience. It was a core part of how the neoliberal policy environment generated crises, as vulnerabilities from one crisis could leave people and the community exposed to damaging social impacts from another. Tackling the range of vulnerabilities that existed in the community was central to how KVDT operated, as well as to image that KVDT had of themselves as people who "get the job done".

I was able to meet this objective by showing how the two strands of community resilience, adaptation and transformation, were present in my research and how they could both be present in a strategy or in a single project. This led to the idea that what KVDT were attempting to harness was what Olin Wright (2010) called social power, which I linked to KVDT's efforts to mobilise the community and resources to build community resilience as adaptation and transformation. Whether through observations, such as in the community hub or on the Kirkstall Valley Farm, or in the action groups

that I developed, I was able to show how from a strategy to a project level KVDT responses to tackling the climate emergency took account of the broader context and aimed to tackle the intersecting crises and the social impacts that they created.

7.2.3 Explore how a collaborative approach between the researcher and participants can contribute towards the aims of the organisation, including climate action

Many elements of this research were founded upon co-production and collaboration between researcher and participants. This was not a partnership across every phase of the research, the overarching research design, research questions, and the theoretical dimensions were created by me. However, once in the field, collaboration was essential to how the research developed. For instance, the action research was built out of the ethnography and in discussion with the KVDT leaders. Through this understanding and collaboration, the action research was designed to focus on tackling the climate emergency and support the aims of the organisation. What was evident in my fieldwork was that from the organisational perspective, one of the key benefits of the research process was the extra capacity that I brought to the organisation to support their work. I was able to contribute towards aspects such as strategy development and fundraising. Mobilising people in a voluntary capacity was difficult and responding to crises, especially of the scale of COVID-19, stretched the organisation. Therefore, having extra capacity to contribute to developing and delivering the work was an important benefit for KVDT. Thus, a combination of extra capacity and the collaborative approach to the conduct of the research contributed to the aims of the organisation.

A second aspect of how the research contributed to the realisation of the aims of the organisation was that taking part in research provided opportunities for those that were involved in the organisation to reflect upon their work and their approaches. This was possible in discussions that I had whilst undertaking participant observations, as well as through the interviews that I carried out. Since leaving the field, I remained involved with the work of KVDT, and as my research ideas developed and consolidated, I was still able to contribute to this reflection. Therefore, through a process of collaboration I was able to ensure that the research benefited the participants in multiple ways. This

253

collaboration also benefited the research, it informed the direction of the research, the outputs, the questions, and the impacts.

In the action research, co-production was central to the development of The A65 Group. The aims and strategy of the group were developed using participatory techniques and collaboration was important in developing the focus areas and the activities. Participation and collaboration contributed towards the research data, as I was able to generate data though recording and analysing the ideas, strategies, and tactics that the group used. With the Kirkstall Craftivists the idea for the group was developed in partnership with KVDT. The actions, such as 'Save Kirkstall Footpaths', were developed and prioritised through discussion with KVDT. The collaborative approach to developing the action research meant that it contributed to the ideas about community resilience as transformation, as well as supported the aims of KVDT.

7.3 The significance and implications of my findings

7.3.1 Community resilience is a complex set of processes to tackle a complex set of problems

This research contributed to a critical understanding of community resilience and demonstrated how community resilience can contribute to community efforts to tackle the crises that they face. My research findings support the idea that we must reject simplistic notions of what resilience is (Wright, 2021). In line with Deverteuil et al, (2021), the research supports the idea that community resilience should be viewed as a relationship between top-down and bottom-up conceptions of resilience. By looking at how community resilience was developed in a place-based organisation, through working with the state and outside of the state, I have illustrated how developing community resilience involved undertaking a complex set of processes to attempt to tackle a complex set of problems, which contributes towards a more nuanced understanding of community resilience. I have built on the work of Wright (2021) to show how social impacts are a result of structurally created vulnerability, such as a lack of service provision, low-pay, insecure work, social isolation, and the weakening of community structures.

By developing the strands of resilience of Twigger-Ross et al., (2011; 2015) and Keck and Sakdapolrak (2013), I showed that the community responses to this situation were multi-faceted. There was evidence of adaptation resilience within KVDT as they tried to build a strong organisation in a neoliberal context. Alongside this, they attempted to create projects of transformation, either by working with the state or developing alternatives in the gaps of neoliberalism. Therefore, what became clear was that community resilience was not just an interaction of top-down and bottom-up resilience, but it was also an interaction of different strategies of resilience. The challenges of each could support or detract from one another. This was evident in the successful response to COVID-19 pandemic, through the development of the Kirkstall Valley Farm, as well as the unsuccessful projects to take control of disused mills. What was significant about my research was that I showed how strands of community resilience as adaptation and transformation interacted and I applied this to arguments about how this impacted upon community efforts to tackle the climate emergency.

Some critics dismiss resilience as vague and unimaginative, a neoliberal construct that furthers neoliberal aims, justifies the abandoning of communities, and that it is used to discipline people living in poverty (Humbert and Joseph, 2019; Donoghue and Edmiston, 2020). Bourbeau (2013) points to the dark side of resilience, highlighting that calls for individuals and communities to be resilient can be calls for a return to an unjust status-quo. Derickson (2016) builds on this idea and argues that we should dispense with the term due to the neoliberal connotations. In terms of top-down resilience, I have shown how from the government there is enthusiasm for a certain notion of resilience. In this version of resilience, communities become responsible for tackling problems and are less reliant on state intervention (Wright, 2021). Another problematic aspect of resilience from the government is that it is often viewed as a state, rather than a set of processes, and this can lead to blaming individuals and groups for lacking resilience, implying that it is their own fault, as other individuals and communities can be resilient (Wright, 2021).

What my research contributes to these discussions is that when viewed from the perspective of communities that are developing resilience, it is a more nuanced picture

255

that emerges. Community resilience is a set of processes that are deliberately pursued, but there is uncertainty as to the outcomes from the forms of action undertaken. In some instances, such as the COVID-19 response, KVDT were pursuing the only courses of action that were realistically open to them and were aware of the limitations of their actions. Therefore, I concur with many elements of the critique of resilience when applied to how it is used by the government. Top-down ideas of resilience can help the government to abdicate responsibility for tackling crises and supporting vulnerable people, it can justify a withdrawal of the state, it is part of a discourse and policy environment that hinders transformation and supports the upholding of the statusquo. However, what my research demonstrated is that this is not the whole picture, that community resilience existed, that like many forms of struggle, it had strengths and weaknesses in the face of more powerful actors and structures, and this makes it worthy of exploration.

Where my research departs from the academic critiques outlined above is that it showed we should not simply dismiss the term and leave the terrain of resilience to those with a top-down perspective. Instead, it highlighted the importance of exploring how communities are undertaking resilience approaches. This enabled this research to use the intellectual scaffolding that the concept provides to politicise the problems and the crises that communities are facing. Within my research, I highlighted how KVDT were adapting to the overarching neoliberal political and economic environment that they worked within, and how these approaches led to some successes and some failures.

For instance, KVDT were able to work within the structures to acquire the resources to sustain the organisation and support their work. As Magis (2010) argues, the development and engagement of resources are important components of resilience. Working in partnership Leeds City Council enabled KVDT to acquire essential resources to support the community. However, working in partnership with the council also limited how KVDT could deploy those resources in some instances. As the case of COVID-19 showed, working with the council enabled KVDT to undertake a vital piece of work to support the community through the crisis. However, once the crisis receded the

256

structural causes of vulnerability that existed prior to the crisis were still there, and in many instances had been worsened. What my research added to discussions was that community resilience must be understood as a complex set of interactions, compromises, and negotiations between the community and more powerful actors. As Deverteuil (2015) argues, community resilience should not be dismissed out of hand by those seeking to understand the reality of the struggle taking place in many communities in the UK.

7.3.2. Changes at national and council level could make a significant difference to tackling the climate emergency

A significant contribution of this research was to use community resilience to show the barriers to achieving effective responses to the neoliberal generated crises at a community level. What is especially significant is when you apply this to the climate emergency. For instance, my research support Wright's (2021) assertion that communities want to be resilient. The evidence that I provided through the responses to the social impacts of austerity and COVID-19 demonstrated that communities could rise to meet the challenges that they faced. Through COVID-19, I showed how the state can partner with community organisations to solve problems. My research contributed to the work of Cottam (2018) and illustrated that when communities take the lead, a more people centred approach emerges, which can be part of reimagining the relationship between people and the state. The relationships and alliances that were built up through other work strengthened community and created conditions in which climate action could grow (Tiratelli et al., 2021). However, what I also showed was that governance approaches at national level and at local council level created significant obstacles to enabling communities to play a full role within the changes that are required to tackle the climate emergency.

Many of the council approaches, such as during COVID-19, were short-term and focused on supporting the community to cope in the pandemic before attempting to return to business as usual. Through the work of Olin Wright (2010; 2018) I added to understandings of community resilience as transformation by exploring symbiotic and

interstitial strategies. Through this, I illustrated that community organisations could be strong partners for achieving local level change. However, the partnership model that was on offer from the council, in relation to both COVID-19 and the climate emergency, was still primarily to either meet council defined priorities or to inform a top-down policy agenda. Alongside this, I captured the enthusiasm, energy and ideas that existed in the community to create more radical transformations. Therefore, my research supports the idea that if the council dispensed with a top-down model, prioritised the climate emergency, and developed mechanisms to hand control of space and decisions to the community level, then we would be able to move faster towards net zero, whilst building stronger place-based communities.

7.3.3 Community level approaches to climate action involve tackling intersecting crises

My research suggests that actions that focus on social empowerment and improving life in the local context should be central to community-led climate mitigation work. In my research setting, KVDT did not always treat the different challenges that the community faced separately, so climate action could not always be seen as distinct from other activities that aimed to improve life in the here and now. Thus, my research suggested that place-based community level climate action should begin from the context that the community finds itself in and be motivated by making transformations at the community level that help to tackle the myriad of social impacts that neoliberalism creates. My research points to the fact that this is the way to support community empowerment and further social justice within the climate movement. My research is significant because it supports arguments that communities can play a significant role in making place-based changes for climate mitigation. However, strategies for change should be developed based on understandings of what matters to communities and be integrated with practical actions that can improve life in the present, as well as thinking about the future.

7.3.4 Intersecting crises threaten to undermine the potential of climate action

Through looking at the community resilience responses to intersecting crises, I was able to contribute to understandings of tackling the climate emergency. What my research

258

showed, was that the intersecting crises were of such a scale and longevity that they threatened to diminish the role that organisations like KVDT could play in tackling the climate emergency. KVDT had a strategy for transformation that aimed at creating a more sustainable local area, they had ambitious projects, such as the Kirkstall Valley Farm, and wanted to transform two derelict mills into sustainable housing and a sustainability centre. These projects were difficult to realise within the neoliberal policy environment that favours profit and market led approaches to local development. Alongside this, vulnerability was increasing through COVID-19 and the cost-of-living crisis. What I observed within a small organisation was how the focus shifted to short-term projects to deal with the vulnerabilities that these crises created. Organisations only have limited resources, often rely on small teams, and therefore focusing on efforts to tackle vulnerability, which are admirable in many ways, can detract from efforts that focus on more ambitious and transformative projects.

7.3.5 Communities want to play a role in tackling the problems that they face

What my research points to is that communities want to play a role in tackling the climate emergency. I showed how this contribution, when based in the community, can be innovative, experimental, and action focused. I also contributed to the idea that community action is multi-faceted, it is not wedded to ideologies of being against, outside of, or within capitalism. People in the community cared about practical action that could make their areas better places to live, even if only in small ways. This creates a challenge for academics who want to work with communities on projects of transformation, as it suggests that we must step outside of disciplinary bubbles and look at how we can support a range of activities. Some of these activities will be genuinely transformative, some at the scale required for the climate emergency, and others will aim to satisfy community desires and needs in that moment.

7.4 The academic contribution the study makes

Through developing the idea of community resilience, this research makes a unique contribution towards a growing body of academic work that advances community

resilience as a concept through exploring how current structures generate vulnerability and crisis, and how communities respond through a range of strategies and tactics (Wright, 2021). Whilst I make a unique contribution that advances the concept of community resilience, in part this contribution is an advancement of other work in the resilience field. As Wright (2021) argues, much academic work on resilience is theoretical, therefore, through empirical evidence this research advanced the concept of community resilience by using it to politicise the crises that communities face. This research was developed using Twigger-Ross et al., (2011) and Keck and Sakdapolrak (2013) resilience frameworks, focusing on adaptation and transformation as the strands of community resilience that were evident in KVDT. What my account of community resilience, how they co-exist, how they support one another within community resilience, how they co-exist, how they support one another within community responses to crises, and how they can be constrained.

Some, such as Deverteuil (2015), argue that resilience should primarily be used in relation to resilience as adaptation. Derickson (2016) urges us to use the idea of 'reworking' when talking about transformation, owing to the idea that resilience is a neoliberal term that supports ideas of adaptation within an unjust system. However, in my research, I have demonstrated how community resilience can also be about transformation in the community context, and how this can be applied in relation to climate mitigation activities. What my research contributes to debates about the ideas contained within resilience is that I show how there is a complex set of interactions between top-down policy and community-developed responses, as well as between the different strands of resilience as they existed at the community level. I was able to show how processes that focused on adaptation could support the development of processes that aimed at transformation. For instance, acquiring resources through the council or other organisations to support work for adaptation could be used to support transformation. Equally, as I argued based on Harrison (2013), resilience can be depleted due to the range of crises that communities must deal with. KVDT's work to tackle vulnerability sometimes came at the expense of pursuing strategies of transformation. Bringing together the two strands of community resilience as adaptation

260

and transformation supported the development of a fuller and richer account of how community resilience is developed.

In line with Deverteuil (2015), my example demonstrated that community resilience was an important aspect of urban struggle. Acknowledging the critiques of resilience has meant that I have been cautious not to be overly celebratory of community resilience or overly dismissive. My research demonstrated across multiple crises of austerity, COVID-19, and the climate emergency, that community resilience was a viable strategy, sometimes the only realistic strategy available, and it was actively developed. A further contribution that my research makes it to show how community resilience was developed by working within the system, adapting to the impacts of the different crises, alongside efforts to create transformation at the community level.

By applying the thinking of Olin Wright (2010), I have added to the concept of community resilience as transformation by showing how organisations can pursue interstitial and/or symbiotic strategies. Combining the ideas of transformation that Olin Wright developed within a resilience framework strengthens both. Olin Wright's work was able to provide conceptual clarity as to what community resilience as transformation meant within KVDT, through exploring the different processes that were evident in interstitial and symbiotic strategies. Furthermore, I add to the work of Olin Wright, as I showed how interstitial and symbiotic strategies could work alongside each other and how they interacted within the projects and strategies that KVDT developed. This meant that my research also contributed towards human geography thinking as it demonstrated that organisations could simultaneously be working within the system and attempting to work beyond the system, which is an important and often overlooked dynamic.

Finally, this research provided an important contribution to community resilience as a concept because it demonstrated how it could be applied to thinking about tackling the biggest crisis of our time, the climate emergency. By looking at community strategies across the range of resilience strands and through what Deverteuil et al., (2021) describe as the co-constituted nature of resilience, I was able to create a thorough account of the motivations, ideas, approaches, strategies, and tactics inherent in

261

community resilience. I applied these understandings to develop ideas about what community resilience to tackle the climate emergency through place-based approaches at the community level looks like, and how it happens alongside efforts to tackle other crises that communities face. As urgent action is required over the coming decade, these learnings are useful to academics, policymakers, and community activists. Thus, my research adds empirical weight to Wright (2021) and her call for academics to use the ideas of resilience to politicise the problems that communities face, and I did so through a focus on community resilience within the climate emergency.

7.5 Areas for further research

7.5.1 Community Resilience within community climate action

This research focused on community resilience within an organisation that had a broad approach to tackling community vulnerability, generating community autonomy, and projects for sustainability. A potential research avenue that would complement this research would be to conduct similar research in a more climate focused organisation. This could range from looking at other place-based community organisations, for instance those concerned with community energy generation or transition towns and explore community resilience from their perspectives. This would create questions of how the intersecting crises of neoliberalism impact upon their ambitions, approaches, and agendas for tackling the climate emergency. This could take the form of asking how the vulnerabilities in their community shape their work and impact upon their ability to create transformation in relation to climate action.

A further aspect of this within a community resilience research agenda would be how other climate focused organisations are impacted by the neoliberal political, economic, and social structures. For instance, much research in human geography focuses on interstitial projects through the lens of actions of prefiguration, which is seen as actions that embody the future that people want to see in the present (Pickerill, 2019). Much of this research focuses on activities that are outside of or beyond the structures of neoliberalism, or within autonomous spaces (Chatterton and Pusey, 2020). However, what my research has demonstrated is that even when building interstitial projects there were still many interactions with the state and that KVDT were constrained by these interactions. Exploring the links between the state and intentional communities, community gardens, and alterative communities could be an interesting research agenda.

7.5.2 The barriers between council and community engagement from a council perspective

Another aspect that my research touched upon was the relationships between Leeds City Council and KVDT. The relationship between local governance and the community organisation was important in several respects. For instance, how they worked together to fill gaps in services, to deliver the emergency response to COVID-19, and in support of more transformational projects, such as the Kirkstall Valley Farm. In relation to climate change specifically, a research agenda could be built from Howarth et al.'s, (2021) conclusions that there is no substantial framework that exists between councils and communities for climate action. My research highlighted how this limited KVDT and the action groups from taking transformative action. This creates questions about what are the barriers to creating this type of framework at the council level? My research highlighted that there was an appetite in the community to play a full role in tackling the climate emergency, how could a framework be created to unleash and maximise this motivation? What are the changes to decision-making processes that could enable communities to take more control and take actions that support the climate emergency declarations?

7.5.3 Explore the links between social movements and place-based movements

In my research, many of the people that I engaged with, especially during the action research, were part of other movements and took part in other types of action. For instance, people were part of issue specific civil society movements, joined climate change marches, and were involved in diverse ways in actions organised by the likes of Extinction Rebellion. This opens questions of how and why activists that are involved in civil resistance or advocate more radical approaches take part in the types of

mobilisations that community organisations aspire to. This would support the agenda of this research for understanding the overlaps between different movements, several types of action, and how they influence each other.

7.6 Concluding thoughts

This research explored questions about the types of strategies and activities that community organisations can create to support efforts to move the UK to net zero in the next decade. As part of completing this PHD, I have taken part in many events that have asked broader questions, such as what policy approaches are required for net zero, or how can we bring about changes to our lifestyles in the UK. At many of these events, I would ask what role communities can play in bringing about change and I often found that the panels did not have an answer or talked of things like reducing consumption or car use. This motivated me in my empirical research to look at how KVDT attempted to develop collective community level solutions.

Through my time with KVDT, I saw that climate interventions at the community level could not be divorced from broader efforts aimed at tackling the range of crises that communities were grappling with because of austerity and COVID-19. What I also observed, through ethnography and when developing action research, was that those who volunteered their time in these sorts of endeavours were passionate and committed about making a difference to their community. However, this passion and commitment was pragmatic, and people would put their energies into a range of strategies and programmes that worked within the prevailing neoliberal structures, against the values of neoliberalism, or outside of it all together. As I have discussed, this could entail working in partnership with the council, it could involve developing resilience and adapting to the broader neoliberal context that they worked in, with the constraints that went along with that.

The people that I met were ambitious, whilst realising that the amount of power that they had to confect change could be limited by money, time, and political opportunity. Despite this, people that took part in my research also wanted to develop ambitious projects that responded to the intersecting crises of austerity, COVID-19, and the

climate emergency. This was through strategies and projects that could be transformative for their area. This highlighted to me that for those of us that are focused on tackling the climate emergency as a core goal, to promote community level action we must take account of the community context, must be prepared to work on projects that do not necessarily start from a position of tackling the climate emergency, but instead seek to collaborate with others on projects that make the local area a better place to live. This complexity may make tackling the climate emergency at the speed required more difficult, but in the experience of my research that is how communities operate and that is how community action must be built.

References

Adams D. and Hardman, M. 2014. Observing Guerrillas in the Wild: Reinterpreting Practices of Urban Guerrilla Gardening. *Urban Studies*. **51**(6), pp. 1103-1119.

Adger, N., Barnett, J., Chapin III, F., Ellemor, H. 2011. This Must Be the Place: Underrepresentation of Identity and Meaning in Climate Change Decision-Making. *Global Environmental Politics.* **11**(2), pp. 1-25

Agar, M. 2006. An Ethnography By Any Other Name....*Forum. Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, [S.I.]. **7**(4), [Online] [Accessed 10th April 2020] Available from: http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/177/395

Aiken, G.T. 2016. Prosaic state governance of community low carbon transitions. *Political Geography*, **55**, pp. 20-29.

Aiken, G.T., Middlemiss, L., Sallu, S., and Hauxwell-Baldwin, R. 2017. Researching climate change and community in neoliberal contexts: an emerging critical approach. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, **8**(4). [Online] [Accessed 3rd December 2019] Available from: <u>https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/112824/</u>

Anat, A., Rina, B., Alexander, D., Cohen Noa, B., Yehuda Ariel, B., Yafit, G., and Mor, N. 2021. Psychological Resilience, Mental Health, and Inhibitory Control Among Youth and Young Adults Under Stress. *Frontiers in Psychiatry.* **11.** [Online] [Accessed 29th November 2022] Available from:

https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.608588

Angelstam, P., Andersson, K., Annerstedt, M., Axelsson, R., Elbakidze, M., Garrido, P., Grahn, P., Jönsson, K.I., Pedersen, S., Schlyter, P., Skärbäck, E., Smith, M. and Stjernquist, I. 2013. Solving Problems in Social–Ecological Systems: Definition, Practice and Barriers of Transdisciplinary Research. *Ambio.* **42**(2), pp.254–265.

Angrosino, M. 2007. Analyzing ethnographic data. In Angrosino, M. Qualitative Research kit: Doing ethnographic and observational research. pp. 67-76. SAGE Publications.

Arbell, Y., Middlemiss, L., Chatterton, P. 2020. Contested Subjectivities in a UK Housing Cooperative: Old Hippies and Thatcher's Children negotiating the commons. *Geoforum*. **110**, pp. 58-66.

Arrieta, T. 2022. Austerity in the United Kingdom and its legacy: Lessons from the COVID-19 pandemic. *The Economic and Labour Relations Review*, **33**(2), pp. 238–255.

Armitage, D., Béné, C., Charles, A.T., Johnson, D. and Allison, E.H. 2012. The Interplay of Well-being and Resilience in Applying a Social-Ecological Perspective. *Ecology and society*. **17**(4), pp.15–15.

Arribas Lozano, A. 2018. Knowledge co-production with social movement networks. Redefining grassroots politics, rethinking research. *Social movement studies*. **17**(4), pp.451–463.

Aspinall, E. 2020. *COVID-19 Timeline*. British Foreign Policy Group. [Online] [Accessed 11th February 2022] Available from: <u>https://bfpg.co.uk/2020/04/covid-19-timeline/</u>

Atkinson, A. 2021. U.K. Spent £69 Billion Supporting Furloughed Employees. *Bloomberg UK.* [Online] [Accessed 3rd November 2021] Available from: - <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2021-10-21/u-k-spent-almost-100-billion-supporting-furloughed-employees</u>

Ayob, N., Teasdale, S. and Fagan, K. 2016. How Social Innovation 'Came to Be': Tracing the Evolution of a Contested Concept. *Journal of Social Policy.* **45** (4), pp. 635-653.

Bachmann, H. 2022. *The Community Care Hub Network throughout Covid-19*. LeedsACTS! And Voluntary Action Leeds. [Online] [Accessed 14th September 2022] Available from: <u>https://doinggoodleeds.org.uk/research-and-evaluations/leeds-acts-leeds-social-sciences-institute-research-the-community-care-hub-network-throughcovid-19/</u>

Bailey, N., Bramley, G. and Hastings, A. 2015. Symposium Introduction: Local Responses to "Austerity." *Local Government Studies.* **41**(4), pp. 571-581.

Bailey, I., and Wilson, G. A. 2009. Theorising Transitional Pathways in Response to Climate Change: Technocentrism, Ecocentrism, and the Carbon Economy. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space.* **41**(10), pp. 2324–2341.

Bauman, Z. 1999. *Liquid modernity*, Cambridge, Polity Press.

Bauman, Z. 2001. *Community: seeking safety in an insecure world*, Cambridge, Polity Press.

Bauman, Z. 2007. Liquid times: living in an age of uncertainty, Cambridge, Polity Press.

Beck, U. 2009. World risk society and manufactured uncertainties. *Iris.* **1**, pp. 291-299.

Beck, U. 2016. Varieties of Second Modernity and the Cosmopolitan Vision. *Theory, Culture & Society.* **33**(7-8), pp. 257-270.

Beecham, R. 2020. Austerity isn't over warns Leeds Council leader as £28M cuts confirmed. *The Yorkshire Evening Post.* [Online] [Accessed 6th July 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.yorkshireeveningpost.co.uk/news/politics/austerity-isnt-over-warns-leeds-council-leader-as-ps28m-cuts-confirmed-1996239</u>

Benzecry, C.E. and Baiocchi, G. 2017. What is political about political ethnography? On the context of discovery and the normalization of an emergent subfield. *Theory and society*. **46**(3), pp. 229–247.

Bergman, N., Markusson, N., Connor, P., Middlemiss, L., & Ricci, M. 2010. *Bottom-up, social innovation for addressing climate change*. [Online] [Accessed 21st November 2019] Available from: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/271214929_Bottom-up_social_innovation_for_addressing_climate_change</u>

Berkes, F. and Ross, H. 2013. Community resilience: Toward an integrated approach. *Society & Natural Resources.* **26**(1), pp. 5–20.

Blockley, D. 2015. Finding resilience through practical wisdom. *Civil Engineering and Environmental Systems*. **32(**1-2), pp. 18-30

Bluhdorn, I. 2015. Post-ecologist governmentality: Post-democracy, post-politics and the politics of unsustainability. In Wilson, J, and Swyngedouw, E. (eds), *The Post-Political and Its Discontents: Spaces of Depoliticization, Spectres of Radical Politics*. Edinburgh Scholarship Online. [Online] [Accessed 21st October 2019] Available from: <u>https://academic.oup.com/edinburgh-scholarship-online/book/21618</u>

Boellstorff, T., Nardi, B., Pearce, C., and Taylor, T. 2012. *Ethnography and Virtual Worlds - A Handbook of Method*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Bouchard, G. 2013. Neoliberalism in Québec: The Response of a Small Nation Under Pressure. In P. Hall & M. Lamont (Eds.), *Social Resilience in the Neoliberal Era* (pp. 267-292). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Bourbeau P. and Ryan, C. 2018. Resilience, resistance, infrapolitics and enmeshment. *European Journal of International Relations*. **24**(1), pp. 221-239.

Bourbeau, P. 2013. Resiliencism: premises and promises in securitisation research. *Resilience.* **1**(1), pp. 3-17.

Brand-Correa. L., Mattioli G., Lamb, W.F., and Steinberger, J.K. 2020. Understanding (and tackling) need satisfier escalation. *Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy.* **16**(1), pp. 309-325.

Bray, R. and Ford, R. 2022. *Enabling a Just Transition to Net Zero: a Manifesto for Change.* University of Strathclyde, Glasgow. [Online] [Accessed 8th January 2023] Available from: https://strathprints.strath.ac.uk/81318/

Brint, S. 2001. Gemeinschaft Revisited: A Critique and Reconstruction of the Community Concept. *Sociological Theory*, **19**(1), 1–23.

Brown K. 2014. Global environmental change I: A social turn for resilience? *Progress in Human Geography.* **38**(1), pp. 107-117.

Brown, K. and Westaway, E. 2011. Agency, Capacity, and Resilience to Environmental Change: Lessons from Human Development, Well-Being, and Disasters. *Annual review of environment and resources*. **36**(1), pp.321–342.

Brownstein, M., Kelly, D., and Madva, A. 2022. Individualism, Structuralism, and Climate Change, *Environmental Communication*. **16**(2), pp. 269-288.

Bryant, P. 2019. *The Leeds Climate Change Citizens' Jury: September-November 2019.* Shared Future and University of Leeds. [Online] [Accessed 15th October 2020] Available from: <u>https://www.leedsclimate.org.uk/leeds-climate-change-citizens-jury</u>

Burawoy, M. 2003. Revisits: An Outline of a Theory of Reflexive Ethnography. *American Sociological Review.* **68**(5), pp. 645-679.

Burawoy, M. 2005. The Critical Turn to Public Sociology. *Critical sociology*. **31**(3), pp.313–326.

Burawoy, M. 2005a. Rejoinder: Toward a Critical Public Sociology. *Critical sociology*. **31**(3), pp.379–390.

Burawoy, M. 2013. Sociology and Interdisciplinarity: The Promise and the Perils. *Philippine sociological review.* **61**(1), pp.7–19.

Burawoy, M. 2015. Facing an unequal world. Current sociology. 63(1), pp.5-34.

Burch, S., Shaw, A., Dale, A. and Robinson, J. 2014. Triggering transformative change: a development path approach to climate change response in communities. *Climate policy*. **14**(4), pp.467–487.

Burrell, J. 2009. The Field Site as a Network: A Strategy for Locating Ethnographic Research. *Field Methods.* **21**(2), pp. 181–199.

Bresnihan, P. and Byrne, M. 2015. Escape into the City: Everyday Practices of Commoning and the Production of Urban Space in Dublin: Escape into the City. *Antipode*. **47**(1), pp.36–54.

Brulle, R. 2015. Sociological Theory After the End of Nature. In *Emerging Trends in the Social and Behavioral Sciences* (eds R.A. Scott and S.M. Kosslyn). Wiley Online

Library. [Online] [Accessed 15th January 2020] Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/book/10.1002/9781118900772

Cabinet Office. 2013. *Emergency response and recovery*. HM Government. [Online] [Accessed 16th February 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/emergency-response-and-recovery</u>

Cabinet Office. 2019. Community Resilience Development Framework. HM Government [Online] [Accessed 23rd July 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-resilience-development-framework</u>

Cabinet Office. 2021. *The National Resilience Strategy A Call for Evidence*. HM Government. [Online] [Accessed 18th November 2021] Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/national-resilience-strategy-call-forevidence

Caffentzis, G. and Federici, S. 2014. Commons against and beyond capitalism. *Community development journal.* **49**(suppl_1), pp. 92–105.

Cahill, G. 2010. Primer on Social Innovation A Compendium of Definitions Developed by Organizations Around the World. *The Philanthropist.* **23**(3), pp. 259-272.

Cameron, D. 2011. *PM's speech at Munich Security Conference*. [Online]. 5th February 2011, Munich. [Accessed 26th November 2018]. Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/pms-speech-at-munich-security-conference</u>

Campbell, H.J. and Vanderhoven, D. 2016. *Knowledge That Matters: Realising the Potential of Co-Production*. N8 Research Partnership. [Online] [Accessed 12th March 2020] Available from: <u>https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/99657/</u>

Chatterton, P. 2016. Building transitions to post-capitalist urban commons. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, **41**(4), pp. 403-415.

Chatterton, P. 2019. Unlocking Sustainable Cities: A manifesto for real change. Pluto Press.

Chatterton, P. and Pickerill, J. 2010. Everyday Activism and Transitions Towards Post-Capitalist Worlds. *Transactions of The Institute of British Geographers*, **35**(4), pp.475-490.

Chatterton, P. and Pusey, A. 2020. Beyond capitalist enclosure, commodification and alienation. Postcapitalist praxis as commons, social production and useful doing. *Progress in Human Geography.* **44**(1), pp. 27-48.

Cherry, C.E., Capstick, S., Demski, C., Mellier, C., Stone, L. and Verfuerth, C. 2021. *Citizens' climate assemblies: Understanding public deliberation for climate policy.* Cardiff: The Centre for Climate Change and Social Transformations. [Online] [Accessed 25th January 2022] Available from: <u>https://orca.cardiff.ac.uk/id/eprint/145771/</u>

Christakopoulou, S., Dawson, J., and Gari, A. 2001. The community well-being questionnaire: Theoretical context and initial assessment of its reliability and validity. *Social Indicators Research*, **56**(3), pp. 321–345.

Clarke, S and Cominetti, N. 2019. *Setting the record straight: How record employment has changed the UK*. Resolution Foundation. [Online] [Accessed 15th February 2022] Available from: <u>https://www.resolutionfoundation.org/publications/setting-the-record-straight-how-record-employment-has-changed-the-uk/</u>

Coghlan, D. and Brydon-Miller, M. 2014. Positionality. In *The SAGE encyclopedia of action research*. SAGE Publications Ltd. [Online] [Accessed 8th November 2022] Available from: https://methods.sagepub.com/reference/encyclopedia-of-action-research/n254.xml

Committee on Climate Change (CCC). 2018. *Reducing UK emissions: 2018 Progress Report to Parliament Committee on Climate Change.* TSO. [Online] [Accessed 11th October 2019] Available from: <u>https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/reducing-uk-emissions-2018-progress-report-to-parliament/</u>

Committee on Climate Change (CCC). 2019. *Progress in Preparing for climate change - 2019 Progress Report to Parliament.* TSO. [Online] [Accessed 11th October 2019] Available from: <u>https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/progress-in-preparing-for-climate-change-2019-progress-report-to-parliament/</u>

Committee on Climate Change. 2019a. *Reducing UK emissions 2019 Progress Report to Parliament.* TSO. [Online] [Accessed 15th October 2019] Available from: https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/reducing-uk-emissions-2019-progress-report-to-parliament/

Committee on Climate Change (CCC). 2019b. *Net Zero - The UK's contribution to stopping global warming.* TSO. [Online] [Accessed 11th October 2019] Available from: <u>https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/net-zero-the-uks-contribution-to-stopping-global-warming/</u>

Committee on Climate Change. 2020. *Reducing UK emissions: 2020 Progress Report to Parliament.* TSO. [Online] [Accessed 12th September 2020] Available from: https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/reducing-uk-emissions-2020-progress-report-to-parliament/

Climate Change Committee. 2021. *Progress in adapting to climate change 2021 Report to Parliament.* TSO. [Online] [Accessed 15th August 2021] Available from: https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/2021-progress-report-to-parliament/

Climate Change Committee. 2022. *Progress in Reducing Emissions 2022 Report to Parliament*. TSO. [Online] [Accessed 7th July 2022] Available from: <u>https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/2022-progress-report-to-parliament/</u>

Coffey, A. 2018. Doing ethnography. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.

Connecting Leeds. 2021. *Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy.* Leeds City Council. [Online] [Accessed 15th January 2022] Available from: <u>https://www.leeds.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-travel/connecting-leeds-and-transforming-travel/transport-policy</u>

Co-op. n.d.. The Community Shares Handbook. *Co-operatives UK.* [Online] [Accessed 23rd August 2022] Available from: <u>https://www.uk.coop/resources/community-shares-handbook/2-society-legislation/21-bona-fide-co-operative-societies/211</u>

Corbett, S. 2017. How to be a Craftivist: The Art of Gentle Protest. Unbound.

Cottam, H. 2018. Radical Help: How we can remake the Welfare State. Virago.

Cottam, H. 2021. *The Radical Way_shifting the social paradigm*. Hilary Cottam. [Online] [Accessed 1st June 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.hilarycottam.com/the-radical-way_shifting-the-social-paradigm/</u>

Cox, L. 2014. Movements Making Knowledge: A New Wave of Inspiration for Sociology? *Sociology*, **48**(5), pp. 954–971.

Creswell, J.W. and Creswell, J.D. 2018. *Research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* Fifth edition / John W. Creswell, J. David Creswell. Los Angeles: SAGE.

Crossley, N. 2002. *Making sense of social movements*. Buckingham: Open University Press.

Cumbers A., Shaw D., Crossan J., McMaster. R. 2018. The Work of Community Gardens: Reclaiming Place for Community in the City. *Work, Employment and Society*. **32**(1), pp. 133-149.

Curtin, M., Rendall, J., Roy, M., Teasdale, S. 2021. *Solidarity In A Time Of Crisis: The Role of Mutual Aid To The COVID-19 Pandemic.* Yunus Centre Report. [Online] [Accessed 22nd February 2022] Available from: <u>https://www.gcu.ac.uk/</u>

Dagdeviren, H., Balasuriya, J., Luz, S., Malik, A. and Shah, H. 2020. Financialisation, Welfare Retrenchment and Subsistence Debt in Britain. *New political economy*. **25**(2), pp.159–173.

Dagdeverin, H., Donoghue, M., and Promberger, M. 2016. Resilience, Hardship and Social Conditions. *Journal of Social Policy*, **45**(1), pp. 1-20.

Darby, S. 2017. Making space for co-produced research 'impact': learning from a participatory action research case study. *Area.* **49**(2). pp. 230-237.

Dawson, M. 2012. Reviewing the critique of individualization: The disembedded and embedded theses. *Acta sociologica.* **55**(4), pp. 305-319.

De Seta, G. 2020. Three Lies of Digital Ethnography. *Journal of Digital Social Research.* **2**(1), pp. 77-97.

Demski, C., Thomas, G., Becker, S., Evensen, D. and Pidgeon, N. 2019. Acceptance of energy transitions and policies: Public conceptualisations of energy as a need and basic right in the United Kingdom. *Energy research & social science*. **48**, pp.33–45.

Denzin, N. K. 2006. Analytic Autoethnography, or Déjà Vu all Over Again. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography*, **35**(4), pp. 419–428.

Department for International Development. 2011. *Defining Disaster Resilience: A DFID Approach Paper.* HM Government. [Online] [Accessed 23rd January 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/defining-disaster-resilience-a-dfid-approach-paper</u>

Department for Energy Security and Net Zero. and Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy. 2021. *Net Zero Strategy: Build Back Greener*. HM Government. [Online] [Accessed 18th November 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/net-zero-strategy</u>

Della Porta, D. 2015. Social Movements in Times of Austerity. Polity Press.

Derickson, K.D. 2016. Resilience is not enough. *City.* **20**(1), pp. 161-166. Development Trust Association Trust Scotland. n.d.. *About DTAS*. Development Trust Association Scotland. [Online] [Accessed 24th March 2023] Available from: <u>https://dtascot.org.uk/about-dtas/about-dtas</u>

DeVerteuil, G. 2015. *Resilience in the post-welfare inner city: voluntary sector geographies in London, Los Angeles and Sydney*. Bristol: Policy Press.

DeVerteuil, G. and Golubchikov, O. 2016. Can resilience be redeemed?. *City.* **20**(1), pp. 143-151.

DeVerteuil, G., Golubchikov, O. and Sheridan, Z. 2021. Disaster and the lived politics of the resilient city. *Geoforum.* **125**, pp.78–86.

Dias, P. 2015. Is toughness a better metaphor than resilience?. *Civil Engineering and Environmental Systems.* **32**(1-2), pp. 68-76.

Donoghue, M. 2022. Resilience, discipline and financialisation in the UK's liberal welfare state. *New Political Economy.* **27**(3), pp. 504-516.

Donoghue, M. and Edmiston, D. 2020. Gritty citizens? Exploring the logic and limits of resilience in UK social policy during times of socio-material insecurity. *Critical Social Policy*. **40**(1), pp. 7-29.

Doyal, L., and I. Gough. 1991. A Theory of Human Need. London: Palgrave Macmillan.

Drydyk, J. 2013. Empowerment, agency, and power. *Journal of Global Ethics*. **9**(3), pp. 249-262.

Dryzek, J. et al. 2019. The crisis of democracy and the science of deliberation. *Science*. **363**, pp. 1144-1146.

Duesbery, L. and Twyman, T. 2020. *100 Questions (and Answers) About Action Research*. SAGE Publications.

Edmiston, D., Robertshaw, D., Gibbons, A., Ingold, J., Baumberg Geiger, B., Scullion, L. Summers, K., Young, D. 2021. *Navigating Pandemic Social Security: Benefits, Employment and Crisis Support during COVID-19.* Welfare at a Social Distance [Online] [Accessed 20th February 2022] Available from: <u>https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/173183/</u>

Eliasoph, N. 2011. *Making Volunteers: Civic Life after Welfare's End*. Princeton University Press.

Emmel, N. 2013. Sampling and Choosing Cases in Qualitative Research: A Realist Approach. SAGE Publications, London.

Emmel, N. Hughes, K. Greenhalgh, J. and Sales, A. 2007. Accessing Socially Excluded People: Trust and the Gatekeeper in the Researcher-Participant Relationship. *Sociological Research Online*. **12**(2), [Online]. [Accessed 7th January 2019]. Available from: <u>http://www.socresonline.org.uk/12/2/emmel.html</u>

Espiet-Kilty, R. 2016. David Cameron, Citizenship and the Big Society: a New Social Model? *Revue française de civilisation britannique*. **21**(1). [Online] [Accessed 15th September 2021] Available from: <u>https://journals.openedition.org/rfcb/796#entries</u>

Evans, B., Richmond, T., and Shields, J. 2005 Structuring Neoliberal Governance: The Nonprofit Sector, Emerging New Modes of Control and the Marketisation of Service Delivery. *Policy and Society.* **24**(1), pp. 73-97.

Evans, L. 2022. *Climate Conversation: Delivering a Net Zero, Climate Resilient UK.* Climate Change Committee. [Online] [Accessed 9th December 2022] Available from: <u>https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/climate-conversation-delivering-a-net-zero-climate-resilient-uk-louise-marix-evans/</u>

Eynon, R., Schroeder, R., and Fry, J. 2009. New techniques in online research: challenges for research ethics. *Twenty-First Century Society.* **4**(2), pp. 187-199.

Eynon, R. Fry, J., and Schroeder, R. 2017. The Ethics of Online Research. In Fielding, N., Lee, R., & Blank, G. (2017). *The SAGE handbook of online research methods (Second edition)*. SAGE Reference.

Farmer, J., Carlisle, K., Dickson-Swift, V., Teasdale, S., Kenny, A., Taylor, J., Croker, F., Marini, K. and Gussy, M. 2018. Applying social innovation theory to examine how community co-designed health services develop: using a case study approach and mixed methods. *BMC Health Services Research.* **18**, pp. 68-68.

Farnsworth, K. and Irving, Z. 2018. Austerity: Neoliberal dreams come true? *Critical Social Policy.* **38**(3), 461–481.

Feagan, R. and Henderson, A. 2009. Devon Acres CSA: Local struggles in a global food 21 system. *Agriculture and Human Values*. **26**(3), pp. 203–217

Featherstone, D. 2013. The contested politics of climate change and the crisis of neoliberalism. *ACME.* **12**, pp. 44-64.

Fernandes-Jesus, M., Mao, G., Ntontis, E., Cocking, C., McTague, M., Schwarz, A., Semlyen, J. and Drury, J. 2021. More Than a COVID-19 Response: Sustaining Mutual Aid Groups During and Beyond the Pandemic. *Frontiers in psychology*. **12**, [Online] [Accessed 1st November 2021] Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.716202/full

Finch, D. 2016. *Hanging On: The stresses and strains of Britain's 'just managing' families*. Resolution Foundation. [Online] [Accessed 24th November 2021] Available from: <u>https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/77602662.pdf</u>

Fitzpatrick, K. 2019. The Edges and the End: On Stopping an Ethnographic Project, On Losing the Way. *In The Lost Ethnographies: Methodological Insights from Projects that Never Were*. Emerald Publishing Limited. **17**, pp. 165–175.

Flores C. H. 2006. *Food not Lawns: How to Turn Your Garden and Neighbourhood into a Community*. Chelsea Green: White River Junction.

Forjaz, M.J., Prieto-Flores, M.-E., Ayala, A., Rodriguez-Blazquez, C., Fernandez-Mayoralas, G., Rojo-Perez, F. and Martinez-Martin, P. 2011. Measurement properties of the Community Wellbeing Index in older adults. *Quality of life research*. **20**(5), pp.733–743.

Forno, F. and Graziano, P. R. 2014. Sustainable community movement organisations. *Journal of Consumer Culture.* **14**, pp. 139-157.

Fort, E. 2020. Acknowledging the long-lasting effects of fieldwork experience: emotions and the writing process. *Field Research Method Labs*. 28tgh September 2020. [Online] [Accessed 23rd June 2021] Available from:

https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/fieldresearch/2020/09/28/acknowledging-the-long-lasting-effectsof-fieldwork-experience/

Freeman, S. 2010. How we define Craftivism. *Craftivist Collective*. 30th June 2010. [Online] [Accessed 17th March 2021] Available from: <u>https://craftivist-</u> <u>collective.com/blog/2010/06/how-we-define-craftivism-by-sophie-freeman/</u>

Fuchs, D., Di Giulio, A., Glaab, K., Lorek, S., Maniates, M., Princen, T. and Røpke, I. 2016. Power: the missing element in sustainable consumption and absolute reductions research and action. *Journal of cleaner production*. **132**, pp.298–307.

Fuller, C. and Geddes, M. 2008. Urban Governance Under Neoliberalism: New Labour and the Restructuring of State-Space. *Antipode*. **40**(2), pp. 252–282.

Gelir, I. 2021. Can insider be outsider? Doing an ethnographic research in a familiar setting. *Ethnography and Education.* **16(**2), pp. 226-242.

Gibson-Graham, J.K. 2003. An ethics of the local. *Rethinking Marxism*. **15**(1), pp.49–74.

Gibson-Graham, J. K. 2006. Postcapitalist Politics. University of Minnesota Press.

Gibson-Graham, J. K. 2008. Diverse economies: performative practices for `other worlds'. *Progress in human geography*. **32**(5), pp. 613–632.

Gillard, R, Gouldson, A., Paavola, J. and Van Alstine, J. 2017. Can national policy blockages accelerate the development of polycentric governance? Evidence from climate change policy in the United Kingdom. *Global Environmental Change.* **45**, pp. 174-182.

Giordano, J., O'Reilly, M., Taylor, H. and Dogra, N. 2007. Confidentiality and Autonomy: The Challenge(s) of Offering Research Participants a Choice of Disclosing Their Identity. *Qualitative health research*. **17**(2), pp.264–275.

Giugni, M. and Grasso, M. 2018. Alternative Action Organizations: Social Solidarity or Political Advocacy? *The American behavioral scientist (Beverly Hills)*. **62**(6), pp.778–795.

Goland, C. 2002. Community Supported Agriculture, Food Consumption Patterns, and Member Commitment. *Culture and Agriculture* **24**(1), pp. 14–25.

Golding, N. 2020. Leeds to issue s114 if proposed cuts deemed 'insufficient'. *Local Government Chronicle*. [Online] [Accessed 22nd July 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.lgcplus.com/finance/leeds-to-issue-s114-if-proposed-cutsdeemed-insufficient-18-06-2020/</u>

Gordon, K., Lambie-Mumford, H., Shaw, S., and Loopstra, R. 2022. *Local responses to household food insecurity across the UK during COVID-19 (September 2020 – September 2021)*. [Online] [Accessed 20th February 2022] Available from: <u>https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/speri/news/new-report-local-responses-household-food-</u> <u>insecurity-across-uk-during-covid-19-pandemic</u>

Gouldson, A., Harcourt, R., Lock K., Duncan, A., and Sudmant, A. 2021. Yorkshire and Humber Climate Action Plan. Yorkshire and Humber Climate Commission and ESRC Place-based Climate Action Network. [Online] [Accessed 18th November 2021] Available from: <u>https://yorksandhumberclimate.org.uk/climate-action-plan</u>

Graeber, D. 2018. Bullshit jobs: a theory. London: Allen Lane.

Grubb, M., C. Okereke, J. Arima, V. Bosetti, Y. Chen, J. Edmonds, S. Gupta, A. Köberle, S. Kverndokk, A. Malik, L. Sulistiawati. 2022. Introduction and Framing. In IPCC, 2022: *Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* [P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, R. Slade, A. Al Khourdajie, R. van Diemen, D. McCollum, M. Pathak, S. Some, P. Vyas, R. Fradera, M. Belkacemi, A. Hasija, G. Lisboa, S. Luz, J. Malley, (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA.

Guenther, K. 2009. The politics of names: rethinking the methodological and ethical significance of naming people, organizations, and places. *Qualitative Research*. **9**(4), pp. 411-421.

Gunderson, L. 2000. Ecological Resilience – In Theory and Application. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics.* **31**, pp. 425–39.

Hall, S,M. 2019. A very personal crisis: Family fragilities and everyday conjunctures within lived experiences of austerity. *Transport of the Institute of British Geographers*. **44**, pp.479–492.

Hall, P. A. and Lamont, M. 2013. *Social Resilience in the Neoliberal Era.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Hallett, R. E., and Barber, K. 2014. Ethnographic Research in a Cyber Era. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography*, **43**(3), pp. 306–330.

Hammersley, M. 2018. What is ethnography? Can it survive? Should it?. *Ethnography* and *Education*, **13**(1), pp. 1-17.

Harvey, D. 2005. A Brief History of Neoliberalism. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Henderson J., and McWilliams C. 2017. The UK community anchor model and its challenges for community sector theory and practice. *Urban Studies*. **54**(16), pp. 3826-3842.

Herr, K. and Anderson, G. L. 2005. The continuum of positionality in action research. In K. Herr, and G. L. Anderson *The continuum of positionality in action research* (pp. 29-48). SAGE Publications.

Hine, C. 2017. Ethnographies of online communities and social media: Modes, Varieties, Affordances. 401-415. In Fielding, N., Lee, R., & Blank, G. (2017). *The SAGE handbook of online research methods (Second edition)*. SAGE Reference.

Hine, C. 2020. Lockdown Fieldwork. *The blog of the department of Sociology at the University of Surrey*. [Online] [Accessed April 28th, 2020] Available from: <u>https://blogs.surrey.ac.uk/sociology/2020/04/02/lockdown-fieldwork/</u>

Horlings, L. 2016. Connecting people to place: sustainable place-shaping practices as transformative power. *Current opinion in environmental sustainability*. **20**, pp.32–40.

Horlings, L., Roep, D., Mathijs, E. and Marsden, T. 2020. Exploring the transformative capacity of place-shaping practices. *Sustainable Science*. **15**, **pp**. 353–362.

Holscher, K., Wittmayer, J.M., and Loorbach, D. 2018. "Transition Versus Transformation: what's the Difference?" *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*. **27**, pp. 1–3.

Horner, L. 2016. Co-constructing Research: A Critical Literature Review. *Arts and Humanities Research Council AHRC.* [Online] [Accessed 18th March 2020] Available from: https://connected-communities.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/16019-Co-constructing-Research-Lit-Review-dev-06.pdf

Hourston, P. 2022. Cost of living crisis. How high is inflation? What prices are increasing fastest? Why have prices increased so rapidly?. [Online] [Accessed 15th April 2023] Available from: <u>https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/explainer/cost-living-crisis</u>

Howarth, C., Barry, J., Dyson, J., Fankhauser, S., Gouldson, A., Lock, K., Owen, A., Robins, N. 2021. Trends in Local Climate Action in the UK. *Place-Based Climate Action*

Network (PCAN). [Online] [Accessed 22nd July 2021] Available from: <u>https://pcancities.org.uk/trends-local-climate-action-uk</u>

Howarth, C., Bryant, P., Corner, A., Fankhauser, S., Gouldson, A., Whitmarsh, L. and Willis, R. 2020. Building a Social Mandate for Climate Action: Lessons from COVID-19. *Environmental & resource economics*. **76**(4), pp.1107–1115.

Hu, B., Guo, H., Zhou, P. and Shi, Z.-L. 2021. Characteristics of SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19. *Nature reviews. Microbiology*. **19**(3), pp.141–154.

Humbert, C. and Joseph, J. 2019. Introduction: the politics of resilience: problematising current approaches. *Resilience*. **7**(3), pp. 215-223.

Hwang, T.,J., Rabheru, K., Peisah, C., Reichman, W., and Ikeda, M. 2020. Loneliness and social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int Psychogeriatr.* **32**(10), pp. 1217-1220.

Iqball, A. and Hall, M. 2021. *Connections make communities The National Lottery Community Fund's role in local infrastructure funding*. Community Fund. [Online] [Accessed 17th October 2021] Available from:

https://www.tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/insights/connections-make-communities-our-rolein-local-infrastructure-funding

lversen, R. R. 2009. Getting out' in ethnography: A seldom told story. *Qualitative Social Work*. **8**(1), pp. 9– 26.

Institute for Government. 2022. *Timeline of UK government coronavirus lockdowns and restrictions*. Institute for Government. [Online] [Accessed 15th February 2022] Available from: <u>https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/data-visualisation/timeline-coronavirus-lockdowns</u>

Jacelon, C.S. 1997. The trait and process of resilience. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*. **25**, pp. 123-129.

Janghorban, R., Roudsari, R.L. and Taghipour, A. 2014. Skype interviewing: The new generation of online synchronous interview in qualitative research. *International journal of qualitative studies on health and well-being*. **9**(1), pp.24152–24152.

Jeffrey, C. and Dyson, J. 2021. Geographies of the future: Prefigurative politics. *Progress in Human Geography.* **45**(4), pp. 641–658.

Johnson, B. 2021. PM statement at the Leaders Summit on Climate: 22 April 2021. *Prime Minister's Office 10 Downing Street*. [Online] [Accessed: 21/07/2021] Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/pm-statement-at-the-leaders-summit-on-climate-22-april-2021</u> Johns, M. 2020. 10 Years of austerity: Eroding resilience in the North, *Institute for Public Policy Research*. [Online] [Accessed 22nd July 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.ippr.org/research/publications/10-years-of-austerity</u>

Johnson, C., and Osuteye, E. 2019. "Data gaps and resilience metrics", in M A Burayidi, A Allen, J Twigg and C Wamsler (editors), A Handbook on Urban Resilience, Routledge, Abingdon.

Jorgensen MB. 2016. Precariat – What it Is and Isn't – Towards an Understanding of What it Does. *Critical Sociology*. **42**(7-8), pp. 959-974.

Joseph, J. 2013. Resilience as embedded neoliberalism: a governmentality approach. *Resilience*. **1**(1), pp. 38-52.

Juris, J. 2007. Practicing Militant Ethnography with the Movement for Global Resistance in Barcelona. [Online] [Accessed 3rd April 2020] Available from: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/238536021_Practicing_Militant_Ethnography_with_the_Movement_for_Global_Resistance_in_Barcelona</u>

Kalleberg, A. L. 2009. Precarious Work, Insecure Workers: Employment Relations in Transition. *American Sociological Review*. **74**(1), pp. 1–22.

Keck, M. and Sakdapolrak, P. 2013. What is Social Resilience? Lessons Learned and Ways Forward. *Erdkunde*, **67**(1), pp. 5–19.

Kings, N. and Horrocks, C. 2010. *Interviews in Qualitative Research*. Sage. Kindon, S., Pain, R. and Kesby, M. 2007. Introduction: connecting people, participation and place. *Participatory action research approaches and methods: connecting people, participation and place* (Edited by Sara Kindon, Rachel Pain and Mike Kesby). Routledge.

Kirwan, J., Ilbery, B., Maye, D. and Carey, J. 2013. Grassroots social innovations and food localisation: An investigation of the Local Food programme in England. *Global environmental change*. **23**(5), pp.830–837.

Klein, N. 2014. *This changes everything: capitalism vs. the climate*. Simon & Schuster Paperbacks.

Kretzmann, J. and McKnight, J. 1993. *Building Communities from the Inside Out: A path toward finding and mobilising a community's assets.* Institute for Policy Research.

Kronlid, D. 2014. The Capabilities Approach to Climate Change. In: *Climate Change Adaptation and Human Capabilities*. Palgrave Macmillan, New York.

Lamb, W. F., Mattioli, G., Levi, S., Roberts, J. T., Capstick, S., Creutzig, F., Minx, J. C., Müller-Hansen, F., Culhane, T. and Steinberger, J. K. 2020. "Discourses of climate delay," *Global Sustainability*. Cambridge University Press, **3**, p. e17 pp. 1-5.

Lambie-Mumford, H., Gordon, K., Loopstra, R. and Shaw, S. 2021. 'Comparing local responses to household food insecurity during COVID-19 across the UK (March – August 2020). ESRC. [Online] [Accessed 21st February 2022] Available from: http://speri.dept.shef.ac.uk/food-vulnerabilityduring-covid-19/

Lang, K.B. (2010), The Changing Face of Community-Supported Agriculture. *Culture & Agriculture*. **32**(1), pp. 17-26.

Leeds City Council. 2019. *Best Council Plan 2019/20 - 2020/21*. Leeds City Council. [Online] [Accessed 27th March 2020] Available from: https://www.leeds.gov.uk/plansand-strategies/council-plans/best-council-plan

Leeds Climate Commission. 2019. *Leeds Climate Emergency*. [Online] [Accessed 27th March 2020] Available from: https://www.leedsclimate.org.uk/leeds-climate-emergency Lent, A. and Studdert, J. 2021. *The Community Paradigm: Why public services need radical change and how it can be achieved*. New Local. [Online] [Accessed 5th June 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.newlocal.org.uk/publications/the-community-paradigm/</u>

Lerch, D. 2015. *Six Foundations for Building Community Resilience*. Post Carbon Institute. [Online] [Accessed 15th September 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.postcarbon.org/publications/six-foundations-for-building-community-resilience/</u>

Lobao, L., Gray, M., Cox, K. and Kitson, M. 2018. The shrinking state? Understanding the assault on the public sector. *Cambridge journal of regions, economy and society.* **11**(3), pp.389–408.

Lockwood, M. 2013. The political sustainability of climate policy: The case of the UK Climate Change Act. *Global Environmental Change*, **23**(5), pp. 1339-1348.

Lorenzoni, I, Nicholson-Cole, S, & Whitmarsh, L. 2007. Barriers perceived to engaging with climate change among the UK public and their policy implications. *Global Environmental Change.* **17**, pp. 445-459.

Lowndes, V. and Gardner, A. 2016. Local governance under the Conservatives: superausterity, devolution and the 'smarter state', *Local Government Studies*. **42**(3), pp. 357-375.

Luhtakallio, E. and Eliasoph, N. 2014. Ethnography of Politics and Political Communication: Studies in Sociology and Political Science. *Oxford Handbook of Political Communication.* Edited by Kate Kenski and Kathleen Hall Jamieson. [Online] [Accessed 13th April 2020] Available from: <u>https://academic.oup.com/edited-volume/34621</u>

Luthar, S., Cicchetti D., and Becker, B. 2000. The construct of resilience: a critical evaluation and guidelines for future work. *Child Development.* **71**(3), pp. 543-562.

Macdonald, C. 2012. Understanding Participatory Action Research: A qualitative research methodology option. *Canadian Journal of Action Research.* **13**(2), pp. 34-50.

MacGregor, S. 2021. Finding transformative potential in the cracks? The ambiguities of urban environmental activism in a neoliberal city. *Social Movement Studies.* **20**(3), pp. 329-345.

MacKinnon, D. and Derickson, K.D. 2013. From resilience to resourcefulness: A critique of resilience policy and activism. *Progress in Human Geography*. **37**(2), pp. 253-270.

MacLeod, M.A. and Emejulu, A. 2014. Neoliberalism With a Community Face? A Critical Analysis of Asset-Based Community Development in Scotland. *Journal of Community Practice.* **22**(4), pp. 430-450.

Macmillan, R. (2013). Decoupling the state and the third sector? The 'Big Society' as a spontaneous order. *Voluntary Sector Review.* **4**(2), pp. 185-203.

Magis, K. 2010. Community Resilience: An Indicator of Social Sustainability. *Society and Natural Resources.* **23**, pp. 401–416.

Mahler, M. 2006. Politics as a vocation: Notes toward a sensualist understanding of political engagement: Political ethnography. I: Politics under the microscope. *Qualitative sociology*. **29**(3), pp.281–300.

Mair, S. 2020. What will the world be like after coronavirus? Four possible futures. *The Conversation.* [Online] [Accessed 29th April 2020] Available from: <u>https://theconversation.com/what-will-the-world-be-like-after-coronavirus-four-possible-futures-134085</u>

Manzo, L. and Brightbill, N. Toward a participatory ethics. *Participatory action research approaches and methods: connecting people, participation and place* Edited by Sara Kindon, Rachel Pain and Mike Kesby. Routledge.

Markham, A., and Buchanan, E. 2012. *Ethical Decision-Making and Internet Research: Recommendations from the AoIR Ethics Working Committee (Version 2.0).* [Online] [Accessed 17th April 2020] Available from: <u>https://aoir.org/reports/ethics2.pdf</u>

Marsden, G., Mullen, C., Bache, I., Bartle, I. and Flinders, M. 2014. Carbon reduction and travel behaviour: Discourses, disputes and contradictions in governance. *Transport Policy*, **35**, pp. 71-78.

Marsden, T. 2013. Sustainable place-making for sustainability science: the contested case of agri-food and urban–rural relations. *Sustain Science*. **8**, pp. 213–226. Martin-Breen, P. and Anderies, J, M. 2011. '*Resilience: A Literature Review*'. Bellagio Initiative, Brighton: IDS.

Mason, J. 2002. Qualitative Researching 2nd Edition. Sage.

Matarrita-Cascante, D., Trejos, B., Qin, H., Joo, D. and Debner, S. 2017. Conceptualizing community resilience: Revisiting conceptual distinctions. *Community development (Columbus, Ohio)*. **48**(1), pp.105–123.

Mathie, A. and Cunningham, G. 2003. From clients to citizens: Asset-based Community Development as a strategy for community-driven development. *Development in practice*. **13**(5), pp.474–486.

McCrea, R., Walton, A., and Leonard, R. 2014 A conceptual framework for investigating community wellbeing and resilience *Rural Society.* **23**(3), pp. 270-282.

Merriam, S. 2009. *Qualitative Research a Guide to Design and Implementation*. Second edition. Wiley.

Mikulewicz, M. 2019. Thwarting adaptation's potential? A critique of resilience and climate-resilient development, *Geoforum.* **104**, pp. 267-282

Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government. 2019. *By Deeds and Their Results: How We Will Strengthen Our Communities and Nation*. Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government. [Online] [Accessed 21st April 2020] Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/by-deeds-and-their-results-strengthening-our-communities-and-nation</u>

Neef, M. 2005. Foundations of transdisciplinarity, *Ecological Economics*. Volume **53**(1), pp. 5-16.

Nespor J. 2000. Anonymity and place in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Inquiry.* **6**(4), pp. 546–569.

Norris, F.H., Stevens, S.P., Pfefferbaum, B., Wyche, K.F. and Pfefferbaum, R.L. 2008. Community Resilience as a Metaphor, Theory, Set of Capacities, and Strategy for Disaster Readiness. *American journal of community psychology*. **41**(1-2), pp.127–150.

McDoland, R and Şandor, A. 2021. *Making work secure: unlocking poverty and building a stronger economy*. [Online] [Accessed: 15th February 2022] Available from: <u>https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/makingwork-secure-unlocking-poverty-and-building-stronger-economy</u> Merton, R. K. 1972. Insiders and outsiders: A chapter in the sociology of knowledge. *American Journal of Sociology*, **78**(1), pp. 9-47.

Michailova, S., Piekkari, R., Plakoyiannaki, E., Ritvala, T., Mihailova, I. and Salmi, A. 2014. Breaking the silence about exiting fieldwork: A relational approach and its implications for theorizing. *The Academy of Management review*. **39**(2), pp.138–161.

Middlemiss, L. 2014. Individualised or participatory? Exploring late-modern identity and sustainable development. *Environmental Politics.* **23**, pp. 929-946.

Middlemiss, L. & Parrish, B. D. 2010. Building capacity for low-carbon communities: The role of grassroots initiatives. *Energy Policy.* **38**, pp. 7559-7566.

Moulaert, F., Martinelli, F., Swyngedouw, E. and Gonzalez, S. 2005. Towards Alternative Model(s) of Local Innovation. *Urban studies (Edinburgh, Scotland).* **42**, pp. 1969-1990.

Moulaert, F., Maccalum, D., Mehmood, A. and Hamdouch, A. 2014. *The International Handbook on Social Innovation: Collective Action, Social Learning and Transdisciplinary Research*. Ed. Frank Moulaert et al. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Moulaert, F. and Nussbaumer, J. 2005. Defining the Social Economy and its Governance at the Neighbourhood Level: A Methodological Reflection. *Urban Studies.* **42**(11), pp. 2071–2088.

Mouffe, C. 2014. By Way of a Postscript. *Parallax*, **20**, pp. 149-157.

Mould, O., Badger, A., Cole, J., and Brown, P. 2022. Mutual aid: can community fridges bring anarchist politics to the mainstream? *The Conversation.* [Online] [Accessed 15th February 2022] Available from: <u>https://theconversation.com/mutual-aid-can-community-fridges-bring-anarchist-politics-to-the-mainstream-174491</u>

Moser, A. and Korstjens, I. 2018. Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis, *European Journal of General Practice.* **24**(1), pp. 9-18.

Nissenbaum, H. 2009. *Privacy in Context: Technology, Policy, and the Integrity of Social Life*. Stanford University Press.

North, P., Nurser, A. and Barker, T. (2017). The neoliberalisation of climate? Progressing climate policy under austerity urbanism. *Environment and planning. A.* **49**(8), pp. 1797-1815.

Norgaard, K. 2018. The sociological imagination in a time of climate change. *Global and Planetary Change*, **163**, pp. 171-176.

O'Brien, K. 2012. Global environmental change II: From adaptation to deliberate transformation. *Progress in Human Geography.* **36**(5), pp.667-676.

O'Dwyer, E. 2020. COVID-19 Mutual Aid Groups Have the Potential to Increase Intergroup Solidarity – But Can They Actually Do So?. *LSE Blog.* [Online] [Accessed 23rd June 2020] Available from: <u>https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/covid19-mutualaid-solidarity/</u>

O'Dwyer, E., Beascoechea-Seguí, N. and Souza, L. 2022. The amplifying effect of perceived group politicization: Effects of group perceptions and identification on anxiety and coping self-efficacy among members of UK COVID-19 mutual aid groups. *Journal of community & applied social psychology*. **32**(3), pp.423–437.

Oldbury, K., Isaksson, K., and Marsden, G. 2022. Experimental spaces for sustainable transport - the critical role of public actors. *Experimentation for sustainable transport? Risks, strengths, and governance implications.* (Edited by Oldbury, K., Isaksson, K., and Marsden, G). Linnefors förlag, Boxholm, Sweden. [Online] [Accessed 25th November 2022] Available from: <u>https://www.k2centrum.se/en/experimentation-sustainable-transport-risks-strengths-and-governance-implications</u>

Olin Wright, E. 2010. Envisioning real utopias. Verso.

Olin Wright, E. 2018. How to be an Anti-capitalist for the 21st Century. Verso.

Oosterlynck, S, Kazepov, Y, Novy, A, Cools, P, Barberis, E, Wukovitsch, F, Saruis, T, & Leubolt, B. 2013. *"The butterfly and the elephant: local social innovation, the welfare state and new poverty dynamics".* Improve Working Papers 13/03. Herman Deleeck Centre for Social Policy, University of Antwerp. [Online] [Accessed 18th February 2020] Available from: <u>https://ideas.repec.org/p/hdl/improv/1303.html</u>

Ortiz, S. 2004. Leaving the private world of wives of professional athletes. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography*. **34**, pp. 466 – 487.

Orngreen, R. and Levinsen, K. T. 2017. Workshops as a Research Methodology. *Electronic Journal of E-Learning.* **15**(1), pp. 70-81.

Pain, R., Kesby, M. and Askins, K. 2011. Geographies of impact: Power, participation and potential. *Area.* **43**, pp. 183-188.

Paterson, M. & Stripple, J. (2010). My Space: Governing Individuals' Carbon Emissions. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space.* **28**(2), pp. 341-362.

Peck J. and Theodore N. 2012. Reanimating neoliberalism: process geographies of neoliberalization. *Social Anthropology.* **20**(2), pp. 177–185.

Peck, J. and Tickell, A. 2002. Neoliberalizing Space. Antipode. 34(3), pp.380–404.

Pickerill, J. 2014. The timeliness of impact: Impacting who, when, and for whose gain? ACME: An International E-Journal for Critical Geographies. 13(1), pp. 24-26. Pickerill, J. 2019. Radical Geography. In International Encyclopedia of Geography (eds D. Richardson, N. Castree, M.F. Goodchild, A. Kobayashi, W. Liu and R.A. Marston). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Pickerill, J. 2021. Hopefulness for transformative grassroots change. Environmental Policy and Governance. 31(3), pp. 249-251.

Pinson, G. and Morel Journel, C. 2016. The Neoliberal City – Theory, Evidence, Debates, Territory, Politics, Governance. Taylor and Francis Online. 4(2), pp. 137-153. [Online] [Accessed 1st December 2021] Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/21622671.2016.1166982

Pirgmaier, E. & Steinberger, J. 2019. Roots, Riots, and Radical Change—A Road Less Travelled for Ecological Economics. Sustainability (Basel, Switzerland). 11(7), p. 2001.

Pope, T. and Shearer, E. 2021. The Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme How successful has the furlough scheme been and what should happen next? Institute for Government. [Online] [Accessed 15th February 2022] Available from: https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publication/coronavirus-job-retention-success

Poupart, L.M. 2007. Wasáse: Indigenous Pathways of Action and Freedom. Wicazo Sa *Review.* **22**(1), pp.131–134.

Power, K. 2020. The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the care burden of women and families. Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy. 16(1), pp. 67-73.

Quilter-Pinner, H., Webster, S., and Parkes, H. 2020. Guaranteeing the right start: Preventing youth unemployment after Covid-19. IPPR. [Online] [Accessed 15th February] 2021] Available from: https://www.ippr.org/research/publications/guaranteeing-the-rightstart

Raworth, K. 2017. Doughnut economics: seven ways to think like a 21st-century economist. London: RH Business Books.

Reason, P. and Bradbury, H. (Eds.). 2001. Handbook of action research: Participative inguiry and practice. London: Sage Publications

Robb, CE., de Jager, C.A., Ahmadi-Abhari, S., Giannakopoulou, P., Udeh-Momoh, C., McKeand, J., Price, G., Car, J., Majeed, A., Ward, H., and Middleton L. 2020. Associations of Social Isolation with Anxiety and Depression During the Early COVID-19 Pandemic: A Survey of Older Adults in London, UK. Frontiers in Psychiatry. 11. [Online] [Accessed 16th February 2022] Available from:

https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.591120/full

Robertshaw, D. and Edmiston, D. 2021. Support services play a crucial role in the benefits system but are currently at risk of being overwhelmed. *LSE British Politics and Policy.* [Online] [Accessed 21st February 2022] Available from: <u>https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/welfare-support-services-covid19/</u>

Rose, G. 1997. Situating knowledges: positionality, reflexivities and other tactics. *Progress in Human Geography*. **21**(3), pp.305–320.

Routledge, P. 2017. Space Invaders: Radical Geographies of Protest. Pluto Press.

Rubin, M. 2012. "Insiders" versus "Outsiders": what difference does it really make. *Singapore Journal of Tropical Geography.* **33**(2), pp. 303–307.

Ryan, C. 2015. Everyday Resilience as Resistance: Palestinian Women Practicing Sumud. *International political sociology*. **9**(4), pp.299–315.

Saltmarsh, N., Meldrum, J., and Longhurst, N. 2011. The impact of community supported agriculture. *Bristol Soil Association*.

Sandor, A. 2021. What the first COVID-19 lockdown meant for people in insecure, poorquality work. Jospeh Rowntree Foundation. [Online] [Accessed 15th February 2022] Available from: <u>https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/what-first-covid-19-lockdown-meant-peopleinsecure-poor-quality-work</u>

Sanghera, G.S. and Thapar-Björkert, S. 2008. Methodological dilemmas: gatekeepers and positionality in Bradford. *Ethnic and racial studies*. **31**(3), pp.543–562.

Saunders, B., Kitzinger J., and Kitzinger, C. 2015. Anonymising interview data: challenges and compromise in practice. *Qualitative Research*. **15**(5), pp. 616-632.

Savin-Baden, M. and Wimpenny, K. 2007. Exploring and Implementing Participatory Action Research. *Journal of Geography in Higher Education.* **31**(2), pp. 331-343.

Schlosberg, D. and Coles, R. 2016. The new environmentalism of everyday life: Sustainability, material flows and movements. *Contemporary Political Theory.* **15**(2), pp. 160-181.

Schmid, B. 2019. Degrowth and postcapitalism: Transformative geographies beyond accumulation and growth. *Geography compass.* **13**(11). [Online] [Accessed 29th July 2021] Available from:

https://compass.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/gec3.12470

Schmid, B. and Smith, T.S. 2021. Social transformation and postcapitalist possibility: Emerging dialogues between practice theory and diverse economies. *Progress in Human Geography*. **45**(2), pp.253-275.

Schnell, S. M. 2013. Food miles, local eating, and community supported agriculture: putting local food in its place. *Agriculture and Human Values*, **30**(4), pp. 615–628.

Scott, H., Smith, B., and Schaedler, B. 2018. Disaster recovery towards resilience: contributions of an assets-based community development approach. *The Australian Journal of Emergency Management.* **33**(1), pp. 55–60.

Sen, A. 2001. Development as freedom. Oxford ; Oxford University Press.

Sen, A. 2005. Human Rights and Capabilities. *Journal of human development* (*Basingstoke, England*). **6**(2), pp.151–166.

Serrao-Neumann, S., Schuch, G., Harman, B., Crick, F., Sano, M., Sahin, O., van Staden, R., Baum, S. and Low Choy, D. 2015. One human settlement: A transdisciplinary approach to climate change adaptation research. *Futures: the journal of policy, planning and futures studies*. **65**, pp.97–109.

Seyfang, G. and Longhurst, N. 2016. What influences the diffusion of grassroots innovations for sustainability? Investigating community currency niches. *Technology analysis & strategic management.* **28**(1), pp.1–23.

Seyfang, G. and Smith, A. 2007. Grassroots innovations for sustainable development: Towards a new research and policy agenda. *Environmental Politics*. **16**(4), pp. 584-603.

Shabi, R. 2021. Anarchy in the UK? The transformative power of mutual aid. *The Guardian*. [Online] [Accessed 25th November 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2021/nov/24/left-mutual-aid-hyper-local-groups-pandemic-community</u>

Shove, E. 2010. Beyond the ABC: Climate Change Policy and Theories of Social Change. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space.* **42**(6), pp. 1273-1285.

Singh Dhillon, A. 2020. The politics of Covid-19: The frictions and promises of mutual aid. *Red Pepper*. [Online] [Accessed 16th February 2022] Available from: https://www.redpepper.org.uk/the-politics-of-covid-19-the-frictions-and-promises-of-mutual-aid/

Skerratt, S. 2013. Enhancing the analysis of rural community resilience: Evidence from community land ownership. *Journal of rural studies*. **31**, pp.36–46.

Snow, D.A. 1980. The disengagement process: A neglected problem in participant observation research. *Qualitative Sociology.* **3**, pp. 100-122

South J., Stansfield J., Amlôt R., and Weston D. 2020. Sustaining and strengthening community resilience throughout the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond. *Perspectives in Public Health.* **140**(6), pp. 305-308.

Spade, D. 2020. Mutual Aid Building Solidarity During This Crisis and the Next). Verso.

Springmann, M., Clark, M., Mason-D'Croz, D., Wiebe, K., Bodirsky, B.L., Lassaletta, L., de Vries, W., Vermeulen, S.J., Herrero, M., Carlson, K.M., Jonell, M., Troell, M., DeClerck, F., Gordon, L.J., Zurayk, R., Scarborough, P., Rayner, M., Loken, B., Fanzo, J., Godfray, H.C., Tilman, D., Rockström, J. and Willett, W. 2018. Options for keeping the food system within environmental limits. *Nature (London)*. **562**(7728), pp.519–525.

Srivastava, P. and Hopwood, N. 2018. Reflection/Commentary on a Past Article: 'A Practical Iterative Framework for Qualitative Data Analysis'. *International journal of qualitative methods*. **17**(1).

Stein, A. 2010. Sex, Truths, and Audiotape: Anonymity and the Ethics of Exposure in Public Ethnography. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography.* **39**(5), pp. 554–568.

Sufi S, Nenadic A, Silva R, Duckles B, Simera I, et al. 2018. Ten simple rules for measuring the impact of workshops. *PLOS Computational Biology*. **14**(8), pp.e1006191–e1006191.

Summers, K. Scullion, L. Baumberg Geiger, B. Robertshaw, D. Edmiston, D. Gibbons, A. Karagiannaki, E. De Vries, R. Ingold, J. 2021. *Claimants' experiences of the social security system during the first wave of COVID-19.* Welfare at a Social Distance. [Online] [Accessed 20th February 2022] Available from: <u>https://www.distantwelfare.co.uk/winter-report</u>

Swyngedouw, E. 2011. Interrogating post-democratization: Reclaiming egalitarian political spaces. *Political geography*. **30**(7), pp.370–380.

Swyngedouw, E. 2014. Where is the political? Insurgent mobilisations and the incipient "return of the political", *Space and Polity.* **18**(2), 122-136

Taylor-Gooby, P. and Stoker, G. 2011. The Coalition Programme: A New Vision for Britain or Politics as Usual? *Political Quarterly.* **82**(1), pp. 4-15.

Tiratelli, L. and Kaye, S. 2020. *Communities vs Coronavirus: The rise of mutual aid*. New Local. [Online] [Accessed 17th November 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.newlocal.org.uk/publications/communities-vs-coronavirus-the-rise-of-mutual-aid/</u>

Tiratelli, L, Studdert, J, and Morgan, C. 2021. *Communities vs Climate Change The power of local action.* New Local. [Online] [Accessed 17th November 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.newlocal.org.uk/publications/communities-climate-change/</u>

The National Lottery Community Fund. 2020. *Corporate Plan 2020-2023.* Community Fund. [Online] [Accessed 15th January 2021] Available from: https://www.tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/about/customer-service/corporate-documents

Thorne, S. 2000. Data analysis in qualitative research. *Evidence-based nursing*. **3**(3), pp.68–70.

Thorsen, D. and Lie, A. 2007. What is neoliberalism. *University of Oslo, Department of Political Science, Manuscript 2006.* [Online] [Accessed 16th January 2020] Available from: <u>https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/What-is-Neoliberalism-Thorsen-Lie/bffcfc3fb9537670f97a459649eab6ab181615de</u>

Tilly C. 2007. Afterword: Political Ethnography as Art and Science. In Joseph L., Mahler M., Auyero J. (eds). *New Perspectives in Political Ethnography*. Springer.

Tornaghi, C. 2014. Critical geography of urban agriculture. *Progress in Human Geography.* **38**, pp. 551–567.

Twigger-Ross, C., Coates, T., Deeming, H., Orr, P., Ramsden M. and Stafford, J. 2011. Community Resilience Research: Final Report on Theoretical research and analysis of Case Studies. *Cabinet Office and Defence Science and Technology Laboratory*. Collingwood Environmental Planning Ltd, London.

Twigger-Ross, C., Kashefi, E., Weldon, S., Brooks, K., Deeming, H., Forrest, S., Fielding, J., Gomersall, A., Harries, T., McCarthy, S., Orr, P., Parker, Dennis J. and Tapsell, S. M. 2014. *Flood resilience community pathfinder evaluation: rapid evidence assessment.* Defra, London, UK.

Twigger-Ross, C., Brooks, K., Papadopoulou, L., Orr, P., Sadauskis, R., Coke, A., Simcock, N., Stirling, A., and Walker, G. 2015. *Community resilience to climate change: an evidence review.* Jospeh Rowntree Foundation. [Online [Accessed 29th July 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/community-resilience-climate-change</u>

Wacquant, L. 2012. Three steps to a historical anthropology of actually existing neoliberalism, *Social Anthropology.* **20**(1), pp. 66–79.

Wacquant, L. 2016. Revisiting territories of relegation: Class, ethnicity and state in the making of advanced marginality. *Urban Studies*. **53**(6), pp. 1077–1088. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098015613259

Walton, A., McCrea, R., Leonard, R., and Williams, R. 2013. Resilience in a changing community landscape of coal seam gas: Chinchilla in southern Queensland. *Journal of Economic and Social Policy*. **15**(3). [Online] [Accessed 14th September 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.proquest.com/docview/1549953592</u>

Webster, D. and Rivers, N. 2019. Resisting resilience: disrupting discourses of self-efficacy. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society.* **27**(4), pp. 523-535.

Wein, T. 2020. *New Solidarity - How Mutual Aid might change Britain*. Dignity Project. [Online] [Accessed 15th February 2022] Available from: <u>https://dignityproject.net/mutual-aid-in-the-uk/</u>

Vale, L.J. 2014. The politics of resilient cities: whose resilience and whose city? *Building research and information: The international journal of research, development and demonstration.* **42**(2), pp.191–201.

White, I. and O'Hare, P. 2014. From Rhetoric to Reality: Which Resilience, Why Resilience, and Whose Resilience in Spatial Planning? *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy*. **32**(5), pp. 934-950.

White, S.C. 2010. Analysing wellbeing: a framework for development practice. *Development in practice*. **20**(2), pp.158–172.

Williams, S.N., Armitage, C.J., Tampe, T., and Dienes, K. 2020. Public perceptions and experiences of social distancing and social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic: a UK-based focus group study. *BMJ open*. **10**(7). [Online] [Accessed 16th February 2022] Available from: <u>https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/10/7/e039334</u>

Wilcox. 2004. *What is a development trust*. [Online] [Accessed 12th November 2022] Available from: <u>http://partnerships.org.uk/AZP/what.html</u>

Wilding, N. 2011. *Exploring Community Resilience: What is it? How Are People Building It? Why Does It Matter?* Carnegie UK Trust. [Online] [Accessed 12th July 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.carnegieuktrust.org.uk/publications/exploring-community-resilience/</u>

Willis, R. 2018. Constructing a 'Representative Claim' for Action on Climate Change: Evidence from Interviews with Politicians. *Political Studies.* **66**(4), pp. 940-958.

Willis, R. 2018a. How Members of Parliament understand and respond to climate change. *The Sociological Review*, **66**(3), pp. 475-491.

Willis, R. 2020. A social contract for the climate crisis. *IPPR progressive review*. **27**(2), pp.156–164.

Willis, R. 2020a. *Too hot to handle?: the democratic challenge of climate change.* Bristol, UK: Bristol University Press.

Wilson, T. and Buzzeo, J. 2021. Laid low: the impacts of the COVID-19 crisis on lowpaid and insecure workers. *Institute for Employment Studies*. [Online] [Accessed: 15th February 2022] Available from: <u>https://www.employmentstudies.co.uk/resource/laid-low</u>

Wright, K. 2021. Community resilience: a critical approach. Routledge.

Yin, R. K. 1993. Applications of case study research. Sage Publications.

Annex A – Overview of the interviews and list of questions

Aims of the interviews

- 1. Understand how change happens through KVDT
- Get an understanding of how KVDT functions both on a strategic level and in the day-to-day
- 3. Understand people's motivations for being involved in KVDT
- 4. Get ideas about how this project can contribute towards local sustainability and climate action

Questions for KVDT leaders

(Bold are those that I will lead with, non-bold are potential areas to explore and follow up questions).

- 1. Tell me a bit about your role in KVDT?
- 2. How does this contribute towards the changes that KVDT want to see in the valley?
- 3. What motivates you to want to work with KVDT?
- 4. Can you tell me a bit about the aims of KVDT?
- 5. What are the changes that you think the organisation wants to see?
- 6. How is this reflected in how its set up/how projects are devised and run?
- 7. What's your assessment of the political situation nationally and locally, and what impact do you think it's having within the area?
- 8. What are the main challenges facing KVDT?
- 9. How important for KVDT is trying to influence local politics and politicians?
- 10. What are the main challenges in supporting the community/and or mobilising the community?
- 11. Can you tell me a bit about how KVDT sists alongside other groups within Leeds and what value do you see of working together?
- 12. In terms of climate change, what changes would you like to see within the valley?
- 13. What excites them about this project?

- 14. What do they think we can achieve?
- 15. I;ve noticed that "the place" element takes up a lot of time/energy ie building management do you think that's fair?
- 16. There seems so many challenges that you're trying to take on, it feels there's lots of "stuff" around the organisation, how do you think it comes together?

Questions for volunteers

(Also use questions for KVDT leaders were appropriate)

- 1. Tell me a bit about your role in KVDT?
- 2. What motivates you to want to work with KVDT?
- 3. What do you enjoy most about volunteering with KVDT?
- 4. What difference do you think KVDT makes to the valley?
- 5. What changes would you like to see and how can KVDT play a role in making that happen?
- 6. What challenges do you face in giving time to being part of this?
- 7. Do you see KVDT as political?

Annex B Overview of the workshops

Workshop 1 – The Zero-carbon Challenge

Overall aim: Build on 'Community-Led Sustainability in Kirkstall Valley' 5-year strategy by identifying the zero-carbon challenge in the Kirkstall Valley

Objectives

- 1. Begin to coproduce a zero-carbon road map by identifying the key challenges and ways to tackle them
- 2. Identify what the opportunities and barriers are to change
- 3. Use an interactive and participatory approach to begin developing a plan for climate action
- 4. Identify the key priority areas
- 5. Encourage those present to be involved in developing and delivering the plan

<u>Agenda</u>

Agenda	Tools/Approach	Outcome
Introduction (5 minutes)	All group session	People clear on
 Introduce myself, my research Set out the zero-carbon challenge globally and for Leeds, using key 		what we will do and feel enthused
stats 3. Build on previous sustainability work in KVDT		
 Outline what the workshop should achieve 		
5. Set out the format		

	ſ	l .
Identifying the key challenges (5	All group	Decide on 3 areas
minutes)	Chat function	that we will
 Ask the participants to put into the Zoom chat what they see as the key areas of the zero-carbon challenge 	Call on some people to elaborate	discuss in breakout groups
	Description	Researcher to
	Researcher to	capture the
	capture the key points	different ideas
Activity 1 – Where should we end up?	Break out group	Develop the
 (15 minutes) 1. Discuss the problems we want to address and agree them as a group 2. Create a headline for what success will look like in this area 	Session 3 groups based on the agreed priority areas Identify 1 leader in each group to capture the notes and share screen in plenary Others free to move between groups	problem statement- outcome elements of a theory of change
Activity 2 – How do we get there? (15	Break out group	Develop the
minutes)	session	activities
What might some of the activities be over the next year that can get us there	3 groups based on the agreed priority areas	Uncover key elements of how

1. Think about impact in relation to the	Need: 1 leader in	we make the
problem/end results	each group,	change happen
2. Who do we need onboard/who might	capture the notes	
we need to challenge/influence to get	and share screen	Uncover what
there	in plenary	resources are
3. What resources do we need to make	Others free to	needed
this happen	move between	
	groups	
Feedback (10 minutes)	Group leaders	Everyone aware
	feedback to the	of the discussions
Each group to feedback in plenary	main group	
Next steps + Conclusions (5 minutes)	Researcher to	Consensus on the
	conclude	focus following the
1. Agree on priority area		meeting
2. Get volunteers to join action groups		
		Volunteers to be
		part of the
		development

Transport Consultation event

<u>Aim</u>

Generate a community led response to transport transformation in Leeds supporting the ambition where Leeds can become a "city where you don't need a car".

Objectives for the event

- 1. Engage people in creating a transport consultation response
- 2. Increase awareness + get new members for the A65 group

Objectives post event

1. Use this as a springboard for zero-carbon active travel planning in Leeds

Follow up email to encourage responses to Transport Consultation, KVDT response + A65 Sustainable Travel Group joining

2. Increase visibility and ability to influence council level decision-making for KVDT

Send response to councillors, travel dept, other groups in Leeds - as well as KVDT event goers and broader list

Agenda	Tools/Approach	Outcome
Introduction 10 minutes	All group session	People clear on what we will do
		and feel enthused
1. Welcome people to the		
event		
2. Outline the research		
that this event is part		
of		
3. Outline the event		
schedule		
4. Welcome Leeds City		
Council representative		
Outline of the Leeds City	Get an emoji or	People clear on the draft
Council (LCC)ambition (20	word in Zoom chat	transport strategy
minutes)	about how people	
	feel about	People have the opportunity to
	transport in Leeds	get clarity

	Presentation from	
	LCC to outline	
	transport strategy	
	Q and A	
Outline KVDT work on	Presentation from	
transport (10 minutes)	researcher	
1. Highlight some of	Q and A	
KVDT's work on		
transport		
2. Refer to previous		
workshop		
3. Introduce the A65		
Group		
Breakout group 1 (15	Set up shared doc	Crowd sourced ideas about
minutes)	for people to	what people are excited about
	capture in groups	
"What excites you about the		Crowd sourced ideas about
strategy and what would you	Researcher to	what people feel is missing from
like to see in the final	create breakout	the strategy
version?"	groups	
	Feedback in	
	plenary	
Break out group 2 (15	Set up shared doc	Crowd sourced ideas about
minutes)	for people to	what this means for the local
	capture in groups	area
"What does this mean/what		
should this look like in the		
Kirkstall Valley?"		

	Researcher to	Crowd sourced ideas about
	create breakout	what people want transport in
	groups	the local rea to look like
	Feedback in	Crowd sourced ideas about
	plenary	what people think is needed to
		make these ideas a reality
		Focus on how transport
		changes can improve life in the
		local area
Next steps (5 minutes)	Researcher to	People know how they can
	outline possible	respond individually
	ways to build on	
	the event	People know how they can be
		part of the KVDT response
		People know about and can join
		the A65 Travel Group
		People understand what KVDT
		will do with the event ideas and
		outcomes